
 

 

putting residents first 
 

 
 
 
 

 
COUNCIL 
AGENDA 

 
(Extraordinary Council Meeting) 

 
 
 

Thursday 16 September 2010 
 

 
Hammersmith & Fulham Council 





COUNCIL CHAMBER SEATING 2010/11

COUNCIL CHAMBER FOYER

PRESS

OFFICERS

OFFICERSO
FF

IC
ER

S

ANTE 
ROOM 1 ANTE 

ROOM 2

G U
EST

S GUESTS

GUESTS

ADLDS

MAYOR DEPUTY
MAYOR

CE MP

M P

GUESTS

Ma r k         L o v e d a y

P et er          
G r aham

Mich ael        
A d am

D o n ald      
Jo h n so n

Andre w    

J ohns on

O l i v e r             

C r a i gBe l i n d a    
Do n o v a n

M a t t            T h o r l e y

V i c tor i a  B r oc k l e ba nk -Fow l e r S t e p h e n  G r e e n h a l g h

N i c h o l a sB o t t e r i l l

Gr eg Smit h

L u c y  iv im y

H a rry           

P h i b b s

L i s
a  H
o m
a n

M i c h a e
l  

C a r t w r
i g h t

S t e p h e n      C o w a n

M e r
c y  U

m e h

R o r y  
V a u g

h a n

A ndr e
w        

 

J one s

C o lin  A h er n e

Alex Chalk

R a c h e l            

F o rd

G avi n          

D o n o van

A l i             

D e L i sl e

J e a n     
C a m p b e ll

I ai n  C o l eman

Adronie
Alford

Frances 
Stainton

S te v e       Ha mi l ton

P e t e r              

Tobi a s

A l e x                

K a rm
e l

Helen        

Binm or e

M
arcus              
G
inn

C a
r o l
i n e

 

N e
e d h

a m

P J  
M u
r p h

y
D a r

y l  B
r o w

n Sa l l
y  Po

w e l l

El a i n
e     

C h u m
n e r y

Ro b er t      

I g g u l d en

Tom
 Crofts

Jane Law

W e
s l e

y   
  

H a
rc o

u rt

Charlie        
Dewhirst

G e o r g i e
Co o n e y

Joe         
Carlebach

COUNCIL CHAMBER SEATING 2010/11

COUNCIL CHAMBER FOYER

PRESS

OFFICERS

OFFICERSO
FF

IC
ER

S

ANTE 
ROOM 1 ANTE 

ROOM 2

G U
EST

S GUESTS

GUESTS

ADLDS

MAYOR DEPUTY
MAYOR

CE MP

M P

GUESTS

Ma r k         L o v e d a y

P et er          
G r aham

Mich ael        
A d am

D o n ald      
Jo h n so n

Andre w    

J ohns on

O l i v e r             

C r a i gBe l i n d a    
Do n o v a n

M a t t            T h o r l e y

V i c tor i a  B r oc k l e ba nk -Fow l e r S t e p h e n  G r e e n h a l g h

N i c h o l a sB o t t e r i l l

Gr eg Smit h

L u c y  iv im y

H a rry           

P h i b b s

L i s
a  H
o m
a n

M i c h a e
l  

C a r t w r
i g h t

S t e p h e n      C o w a n

M e r
c y  U

m e h

R o r y  
V a u g

h a n

A ndr e
w        

 

J one s

C o lin  A h er n e

Alex Chalk

R a c h e l            

F o rd

G avi n          

D o n o van

A l i             

D e L i sl e

J e a n     
C a m p b e ll

I ai n  C o l eman

Adronie
Alford

Frances 
Stainton

S te v e       Ha mi l ton

P e t e r              

Tobi a s

A l e x                

K a rm
e l

Helen        

Binm or e

M
arcus              
G
inn

C a
r o l
i n e

 

N e
e d h

a m

P J  
M u
r p h

y
D a r

y l  B
r o w

n Sa l l
y  Po

w e l l

El a i n
e     

C h u m
n e r y

Ro b er t      

I g g u l d en

Tom
 Crofts

Jane Law

W e
s l e

y   
  

H a
rc o

u rt

Charlie        
Dewhirst

G e o r g i e
Co o n e y

Joe         
Carlebach



  
The Mayor (Councillor Adronie Alford) 

Deputy Mayor (Councillor Frances Stainton) 
 

ADDISON 
 
 
Alex Chalk (C) 
Belinda Donovan (C) 
Peter Tobias (C) 

HAMMERSMITH  
BROADWAY 
 
Michael Cartwright (L) 
Stephen Cowan (L) 
PJ Murphy (L) 

RAVENSCOURT PARK 
 
 
Charlie Dewhirst (C) 
Lucy Ivimy (C) 
Harry Phibbs (C) 
 

ASKEW  
 
Lisa Homan (L) 
Caroline Needham (L) 
Rory Vaughan (L) 
 

MUNSTER 
 
Michael Adam (C) 
Adronie Alford (C) 
Alex Karmel (C) 

SANDS END 
 
Steve Hamilton (C) 
Ali de Lisle (C) 
Jane Law (C) 
 

AVONMORE & 
BROOK GREEN 
 
Helen Binmore (C) 
Joe Carlebach (C) 
Robert Iggulden (C) 
 

NORTH END 
 
 
Daryl Brown (L) 
Georgie Cooney (C) 
Tom Crofts (C) 

SHEPHERDS BUSH 
GREEN 
 
Iain Coleman (L) 
Andrew Jones (L) 
Mercy Umeh (L) 

COLLEGE PARK & 
OLD OAK 
 
Elaine Chumnery (L) 
Wesley Harcourt (L) 
 

PALACE RIVERSIDE 
 
 
Marcus Ginn (C) 
Donald Johnson (C) 
 

TOWN 
 
 
Oliver Craig (C) 
Stephen Greenhalgh (C) 
Greg Smith (C) 
 

FULHAM BROADWAY 
 
 
Victoria Brocklebank-
Fowler (C) 
Rachel Ford (C) 
Matt Thorley (C) 
 

PARSONS GREEN AND 
WALHAM 
 
Nicholas Botterill (C) 
Mark Loveday (C) 
Frances Stainton (C) 

WORMHOLT AND  
WHITE CITY 
 
Colin Aherne (L) 
Jean Campbell (L) 
Dame Sally Powell (L) 

FULHAM REACH 
 
Gavin Donovan (C) 
Peter Graham (C) 
Andrew Johnson (C) 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 



 
putting residents first 

SUMMONS 

Councillors of the London Borough of 
Hammersmith & Fulham 

are requested to attend the Extraordinary 
Meeting of the Council on 

Thursday 16 September 2010 
at Hammersmith Town Hall, W6 

 
The Council will meet at 7.00pm. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8 September 2010 
Town Hall Geoff Alltimes 
Hammersmith W6 Chief Executive 



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Full Council 
Agenda 

 
16 September 2010 

 
 
Item  Pages 
1.  MINUTES  

 
1 - 22 

 To approve and sign as an accurate record the Minutes of the Council 
Meeting held on 30 June 2010. 
 

 

2.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

3.  MAYOR'S/CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY)  
 

 

4.  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  
 

 

 If a Councillor has any prejudicial or personal interest in a particular 
report he/she should declare the existence and nature of the interest at 
the commencement of the consideration of the item or as soon as it 
becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a prejudicial interest may 
also make representations, give evidence or answer questions about 
the matter. The Councillor must then withdraw immediately from the 
meeting before the matter is discussed and any vote taken, unless a 
dispensation has been obtained from the Standards Committee. 
 
Where members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance, then 
the Councillor with a prejudicial interest should withdraw from the 
meeting whilst the matter is under consideration, unless the disability 
has been removed by the Standards Committee. 
 

 

5.  ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION/COMMITTEE REPORTS  
 

 

5.1  LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK: PROPOSED SUBMISSION 
CORE STRATEGY  
 
This report seeks approval to the proposed submission Local 
Development Framework Core Strategy (appendix 1) and associated 
changes to the adopted Proposals Map (appendix 2) with a view that 
public consultation on the documents to be carried out for a six week 
period commencing in October 2010.  
 
The report notes that after consideration of representations received 
during public consultation, the Core Strategy will be submitted to the 
Secretary of State along with a number of other submission 

23 - 265 



documents identified in the Regulations for independent examination 
expected in Spring 2011.  
 

6.  SPECIAL MOTIONS  
 

 

 To consider and determine any Special Motions: 
 

 

6.1  SPECIAL MOTION 1 - RESOLUTION BUILDING SCHOOLS FOR 
THE FUTURE URGENT  
 

266 

6.2  SPECIAL MOTION 2 - THRESHOLD HOUSING ADVICE  
 

267 

6.3  SPECIAL MOTION 3 - WHITE CITY HEALTH CENTRE  
 

268 

   
 



. 

   
 
 

 
COUNCIL 
MINUTES 

 
(ORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING) 

 
 
 
 
 

WEDNESDAY 30 JUNE 2010 
 
 

Agenda Item 1

Page 1



 
. 

   

 

 
 

PRESENT 
 

The Mayor Councillor Adronie Alford 
Deputy Mayor Councillor Frances Stainton 

 
Councillors: 
 
 
Michael Adam 
Colin Aherne 
Nicholas Botterill 
Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler 
Daryl Brown 
Joe Carlebach 
Michael Cartwright 
Alex Chalk 
Elaine Chumnery 
Georgie Cooney 
Stephen Cowan 
Oliver Craig 
Tom Crofts 
 

Charlie Dewhirst 
Belinda Donovan 
Rachel Ford 
Marcus Ginn 
Peter Graham 
Stephen Greenhalgh 
Steve Hamilton 
Wesley Harcourt 
Lisa Homan 
Robert Iggulden 
Lucy Ivimy 
Andrew Johnson 
Donald Johnson 
 

Andrew Jones 
Alex Karmel 
Ali de Lisle 
Mark Loveday 
PJ Murphy 
Caroline Needham 
Harry Phibbs 
Sally Powell 
Greg Smith 
Matt Thorley 
Peter Tobias 
Rory Vaughan 
 

 
9. MINUTES  

 
The minutes of the Annual Council Meeting held on 26 May 2010 were confirmed 
and signed as an accurate record. 
 

10. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Helen Binmore, Iain Coleman, Jean 
Campbell, Gavin Donovan, Jane Law and Mercy Umeh. 
 

11. MAYOR'S/CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY)  
 
The Mayor’s Announcements were circulated and tabled at the meeting.  (Copy 
attached as Appendix 1 to these minutes). 
 
 

12. DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  
 
Councillor Powell declared a personal interest in agenda item 7.2 (Special Motion 
2 – Careers’ Centre and Carers Services) as a service user. 

Page 2



 
The following Councillors declared a personal interest in agenda item 7.7 (Special 
Motion 7 – H&F Credit Union), as follows:- 
 
• Councillors Greenhalgh and Iggulden declared that they were Members of 

the Credit Union.  
• Councillors Karmel and Hamilton declared that they were on the Board of 

the North Fulham New Deal for Communities which supports the Credit 
Union. 

 
13. PUBLIC QUESTIONS (20 MINUTES)  

 
The Mayor called on those members of the public who had submitted questions to 
the Leader or Cabinet Member to ask their questions.  The Leader or the relevant 
Cabinet Member responded. 
 
 
 

13.1 Public Question 1 - Ms Margaret Turley  
 
7.05 pm - The Mayor called on Ms Margaret Turley who had submitted a question 
to the Cabinet Member for Community Care (Councillor Joe Carlebach) to ask her 
question.  The Cabinet Member for Community Care responded. 
 

13.2 Public Question 2 - Ms Pauline Trapmore  
 
7.07 pm - The Mayor called on Ms Pauline Trapmore who had submitted a 
question to the Cabinet Member for Community Care (Councillor Joe Carlebach) to 
ask her question.  The Cabinet Member for Community Care responded. 
 

13.3 Public Question 3 - Ms Marjorie Serra  
 
7.09 pm - The Mayor called on Ms Marjorie Serra who had submitted a question to 
the Leader (Councillor Stephen Greenhalgh) to ask her question.  The Leader 
responded. 
 

13.4 Public Question 4 - Ms Desiree Cranenburgh  
 
7.09 pm - The Mayor called on Ms Desiree Cranenburgh who had submitted a 
question to the Cabinet Member for Community Care (Councillor Joe Carlebach) to 
ask her question.  The Cabinet Member for Community Care responded. 
 

13.5 Public Question 5 - Mr Bruce Marquart  
 
7.13 pm - The Mayor called on Mr Bruce Marquart who had submitted a question 
to the Leader (Councillor Stephen Greenhalgh) to ask his question.  The Leader 
responded. 
 
[Copies of all public questions submitted and the replies given are attached at 
Appendix 2 to these minutes.] 
 
 

Page 3



14. ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION/COMMITTEE REPORTS  
 

14.1 Petitions Scheme  
 
7.18pm - The report and recommendations were moved for adoption by the 
Leader, Councillor Stephen Greenhalgh. 
 
The report and recommendations were put to the vote: 
 
 

FOR        Unanimous  
AGAINST      0 
ABSTENTIONS  0 

 
The report and recommendations were declared  CARRIED. 
 
7.18 pm - RESOLVED: 
 
(1) That the Petitions Scheme as set out in Appendix 1 to the report, be adopted; 

and 
 
(2) That approval be given to amend the Constitution to accommodate the 

scheme as set out in Appendix 2 to the report. 
 

15. SPECIAL MOTIONS  
 

15.1 Special Motion 1 - Change to Committee Membership  
 
7.19 pm – Councillor Stephen Greenhalgh moved, seconded by Councillor Victoria 
Brocklebank-Fowler, the special motion standing in their names: 
 
"This Council agrees the following appointment under its Constitution for the rest of 
the Municipal Year 2010/11, effective from the day after the Council meeting: 
 
Councillor Rachel Ford be appointed a member of the Planning Applications 
Committee.” 
 
The motion was put to the vote: 
 

FOR   Unanimous 
AGAINST  0 
ABSTENTIONS 0 

 
The motion was declared CARRIED. 
 
7.19 pm – RESOLVED: 
 
This Council agrees the following appointment under its Constitution for the rest of 
the Municipal Year 2010/11, effective from the day after the Council meeting: 
 
Councillor Rachel Ford be appointed a member of the Planning Applications 
Committee. 
 

Page 4



15.2 Special Motion 2 - Carers' Centre and Carers' Services  
 
7.20 pm – Councillor Rory Vaughan moved, seconded by Councillor Elaine 
Chumnery  the special motion standing in their names: 
 
“The Council recognises the crucial role played by the many unpaid carers of all 
ages and from all backgrounds in Hammersmith and Fulham and deplores the 
Conservative Administration’s removal of critical support for the borough’s unpaid 
carers. We call on the Administration to reverse plans to close the Carers’ Centre 
and cut carers’ services.” 
 
Speeches on the motion were made by Councillors Vaughan and  Chumnery  (for 
the Opposition). 
 
Under Council Procedure Rule 15 (e) (vi), Councillor Joe Carlebach moved, 
seconded by Councillor Peter Tobias, an amendment to the motion, to delete all 
words after “Hammersmith and Fulham” and replace with:- 
 
“We support the Administration’s efforts to extend the support given to carers in 
our Borough and recognise and applaud the fact that there has been no cut in the 
budget provision or spend this year for this service.” 
 
Speeches on the amendment were made by Councillors Carlebach, Tobias and 
Greenhalgh (for the Administration) and Councillors Needham, Powell and Cowan 
(for the Opposition) before it was put to the vote: 
 

FOR     26  
 AGAINST  12 
 ABSTENTION 0 
 
The amendment to the motion was declared CARRIED. 
 
Councillor Vaughan made a speech winding up the debate before the substantive 
motion was put to the vote:  
 

FOR     27 
 AGAINST  12 
 ABSTENTION 0 

 
The substantive motion was declared CARRIED. 
 
8.04 pm - RESOLVED: 
 
“The Council recognises the crucial role played by the many unpaid carers of all 
ages and from all backgrounds in Hammersmith and Fulham.  We support the 
Administration’s efforts to extend the support given to carers in our Borough and 
recognise and applaud the fact that there has been no cut in the budget provision 
or spend this year for this service.” 
 
 
 
 

Page 5



15.3 Special Motion 5 - Council Debt  
 
8.04 pm – Under Council Procedure Rule 19 (d) (iii), Councillor Mark Loveday 
moved, seconded by Councillor Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler, that special motion 5 
take precedence over all other motions and be heard. 
 
Councillor Stephen Greenhalgh moved, seconded by Councillor Michael Adam, the 
special motion standing in their names: 
“This Council: 
(1)  Welcomes action by 2006-10 Conservative administration to cut non-housing 

debt by £36 million. 
(2)  Notes that it currently pays £5 million a year in debt interest before it spends 

a single penny on front line services. 
(3)  Pledges to halve the level of non-housing debt within the next four years and 

to repay this debt in full over the longer term.” 
 
Speeches on the motion were made by Councillors Greenhalgh and Adam. 
 
Under Council Procedure Rule 15 (e) (vi), Councillor Stephen Cowan moved, 
seconded by Councillor Colin Aherne,  an amendment to the motion, to delete all 
words after “This Council and insert;- 
"Recognizes the important contribution of the last Labour Administration in paying 
off £12 million of the £24 million debt the Conservative Administration quoted as the 
amount of debt reduction it achieved in the period 2006 to 2010. 
The Council agrees to protect community assets such as youth clubs, parks, 
community centres and housing and instead will prioritize the sale of assets not 
utilized by the community such as staff car parks and excess office space to meet 
its debt reduction targets. 
The Council pledges to seek maximum value for the Borough's tax payers by 
selling capital assets when market conditions will deliver the Council with the 
highest likely return." 
 
Speeches on the amendment were made by Councillors Cowan and Powell (for 
the Opposition) and Councillors Andrew Johnson and Ginn (for the Administration) 
before it was put to the vote: 
 

FOR     12 
 AGAINST  27 
 ABSTENTION 0 
 
The amendment to the motion was declared LOST. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



Councillor Greenhalgh made a speech winding up the debate before the 
substantive motion was put to the vote:  
 

FOR     27 
 AGAINST  12 
 ABSTENTION 0 

 
The substantive motion was declared CARRIED. 
 
8.48 pm - RESOLVED: 
 
 “This Council: 
(1)  Welcomes action by 2006-10 Conservative administration to cut non-housing 

debt by £36 million. 
(2)  Notes that it currently pays £5 million a year in debt interest before it spends 

a single penny on front line services. 
(3)  Pledges to halve the level of non-housing debt within the next four years and 

to repay this debt in full over the longer term.” 
 

15.4 Special Motion 3 - H&F News  
 
8.48 pm – Councillor Andrew Jones moved, seconded by Councillor PJ Murphy the 
special motion standing in their names: 
 
“This Council welcomes the findings of the Parliamentary Culture Media and 
Sports Select Committee in its publication the Future for Local and Regional 
Media. In particular we note that it referred to the London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham in paragraph 73 stating: 
 
“Publications such as Hammersmith and Fulham Borough Council’s H&F News 
effectively pose as, and compete with, local commercial newspapers and are 
misleading to the public. It is unacceptable that a local authority can set up a 
newspaper in direct competition to the local commercial newspaper in this way. 
Nor should any council publication be a vehicle for political propaganda.” 
 
We also note that Prime Minister David Cameron’s government has published its 
plans in a document called Our Programme for Government in which it says “We 
will impose tougher rules to stop unfair competition by local authority newspapers”.  
 
We call on the Administration to dispose of H&F News and end all political 
propaganda.” 
 
Speeches on the motion were made by Councillors Jones and Murphy (for the 
Opposition). 
 
Under Council Procedure Rule 15 (e) (vi), Councillor Stephen Greenhalgh moved, 
seconded by Councillor Peter Graham, an amendment to the motion, to delete all 
words and insert: 
 

Page 7



“This Council: 
 
1. Welcomes the substantially lower cost and higher quality provided by h&f 

news compared to HF Magazine. 
 
2. Endorses the government's proposal that Council publications should offer 

value for money and that they should not represent unfair competition.  
 
3. Believes that h&f news fulfils these requirements.” 
 
Speeches on the amendment were made by Councillors Greenhalgh, Graham and 
Karmel (for the Administration) and Councillor Murphy (for the Opposition) before it 
was put to the vote: 
 

FOR     25 
 AGAINST  12 
 ABSTENTION 0 
 
The amendment to the motion was declared CARRIED. 
 
Councillor Jones made a speech winding up the debate before the substantive 
motion was put to the vote:  
 

FOR     25 
 AGAINST  12 
 ABSTENTION 0 

 
The substantive motion was declared CARRIED. 
 
9.22 pm - RESOLVED: 
 
This Council: 
 
1. Welcomes the substantially lower cost and higher quality provided by h&f 

news compared to HF Magazine. 
 
2. Endorses the government's proposal that Council publications should offer 

value for money and that they should not represent unfair competition.  
 
3. Believes that h&f news fulfils these requirements. 
 

15.5 Special Motion 4 - Third Runway at Heathrow Airport  
 
9.22pm – Councillor Nicholas Botterill moved, seconded by Councillor Robert 
Iggulden, the special motion standing in their names: 
“This Council welcomes the government's swift implementation of its manifesto 
commitment to cancel the proposed third runway at Heathrow Airport.” 
Speeches on the motion were made by Councillors Nicholas Botterill and Robert 
Iggulden. 
 

Page 8



Under Council Procedure Rule 15 (e) (vi), Councillor Michael Cartwright moved, 
seconded by Councillor Lisa Homan,  an amendment to the motion, to delete all 
words after “welcomes” in the first line and insert:- 
“BAA's decision to withdraw its planning application for the third runway and the 
Coalition's subsequent decision to make clear it would not allow it to happen 
anyway. 
This Council regrets the Coalition decision not to allow a representative of the 
resident groups such as HACAN to sit on the new airports Task Force and calls on 
the Coalition to reverse this decision and recognise the vital work that they 
performed in opposing R 3”. 
 
Speeches on the amendment were made by Councillors Cartwright and Homan 
(for the Opposition) and Councillors Botterill and Cooney (for the Administration) 
before it was put to the vote: 
 

FOR     12 
 AGAINST  27 
 ABSTENTION 0 
 
The amendment to the motion was declared LOST. 
 
The substantive motion was put to the vote:  
 

FOR     Unanimous  
 AGAINST  0 
 ABSTENTION 0 

 
The substantive motion was declared CARRIED. 
 
9.47 pm - RESOLVED: 
 
“This Council welcomes the government's swift implementation of its manifesto 
commitment to cancel the proposed third runway at Heathrow Airport.”  
 

15.6 Special Motion 6 - Western Extension of the Congestion Charge Zone  
 
9.48pm – Councillor Nicholas Botterill moved, seconded by Councillor Thomas 
Crofts, the special motion standing in their names: 
 
“This Council: 
  
(1) Notes the damage caused to residents and businesses in the borough by the 

ill-conceived Western Extension of the Congestion Charge Zone introduced 
by the Mayor of London's predecessor. 

 
(2) Notes the overwhelming opposition of borough residents and businesses to 

the Western Extension. 
 
(3) Welcomes the announcement of the Mayor of London Boris Johnson that the 

Western Extension will be abolished by Christmas 2010.” 

Page 9



 
Speeches on the motion were made by Councillors Botterill and Crofts. 
 
Under Council Procedure Rule 15 (e) (vi), Councillor Wesley Harcourt moved, 
seconded by Councillor Colin Aherne, an amendment to the motion, to add new 
point 3:- 
"(3)     Notes that the previous Labour Administration opposed the Western 

Extension and the current members of the Labour Group also oppose it." 
Renumber current (3)." 
 
Speeches on the amendment were made by Councillor Harcourt (for the 
Opposition) and Councillor Botterill (for the Administration) before it was put to the 
vote: 
 

FOR     11 
 AGAINST  26 
 ABSTENTIONS 0 
 
The amendment to the motion was declared LOST. 
 
The substantive motion was put to the vote:  
 

FOR     27  
 AGAINST  0 
 ABSTENTIONS 11 

 
The substantive motion was declared CARRIED. 
 
9.57 pm - RESOLVED: 
 
 That this Council: 
(1) Notes the damage caused to residents and businesses in the borough by the 

ill-conceived Western Extension of the Congestion Charge Zone introduced 
by the Mayor of London's predecessor. 

 
(2) Notes the overwhelming opposition of borough residents and businesses to 

the Western Extension. 
 
(3) Welcomes the announcement of the Mayor of London Boris Johnson that the 

Western Extension will be abolished by Christmas 2010. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



15.7 Special Motion 7 - H&F Credit Union  
 
10.02pm – Councillor Harry Phibbs moved, seconded by Councillor Mark Loveday, 
the special motion standing in their names: 
 
“This Council: 
 
(1) Congratulates the H&F Credit Union on its provision of straightforward, 

affordable financial services to anyone living in Hammersmith & Fulham. 
 
(2) Urges residents and staff to join the Credit Union and help it to continue to 

flourish.”  
 
As the meeting had run out of debating time, the motion was put to the vote: 
 
FOR    Unanimous  
AGAINST   0 
ABSTENTIONS  0 
 
The motion was declared CARRIED. 
 
10.02 pm - RESOLVED:   
 
That this Council: 
(1) Congratulates the H&F Credit Union on its provision of straightforward, 

affordable financial services to anyone living in Hammersmith & Fulham. 
 

(2) Urges residents and staff to join the Credit Union and help it to continue to 
flourish. 

 
Councillor Vaughan announced that he worked for the Financial Services Authority 
and left the Council Chamber during the discussion and did not vote on the motion. 
 

16. INFORMATION REPORTS - TO NOTE  
 

16.1 Changes to Cabinet Portfolios  
 
10.03pm - The Mayor noted that the Leader had approved the transfer of  portfolio 
responsibility for the 2012 Olympics (including the London Youth Games) to the 
Cabinet Member for Residents Services. 
 

16.2 Special Urgency Decisions - Monitoring Report  
 
10.03pm - The Mayor noted the information report on special urgency decisions 
taken between 1 February to 31 May 2010. 
 
 

* * * * *   CONCLUSION OF BUSINESS    * * * * * 
 
 
 

 

Page 11



Meeting started: 7.00 pm 
Meeting ended: 10.03 pm 

 
 

Mayor   
 
 
 

Page 12



Appendix 1 
 

ANNOUNCEMENTS BY THE MAYOR 
 

1. On 27th May 2010, I attended the Hammersmith Society Annual General 
Meeting, Island Studios, 22 St Peter's Square, W6 
 

2. On 28th May, I attended London Oratory School Patronal Festival, The 
Oratory Church, Brompton Road, South Kensington 
 

3. On 1st June, I attended the Age Concern ‘Volunteers Week’ Celebrations, 
105 Greyhound Road W6 
 

4. On 3rd June, accompanied by Mr George Sulimirski, my Consort, I 
attended a reception in aid of The Maggies Centre, Grand Hall Olympia, 
W14 
 

5. On 5th June, I attended the LMA Induction for New Mayors’, Westminster 
City Hall, SW1 
 

6. On 6th June, accompanied by Cllr Frances Stainton, Deputy Mayor and 
Mrs Diana Sulimirski, my Mayoress, I was delighted to attend the World 
Polo event, Hurlingham Park, SW6 
 

7. On 7th June, I attended my chosen charity RNLI photocall and cruise along 
the Thames, Chiswick Lifeboat Station, W4 
 

8. On 9th June, accompanied by my Mayoress, I attended the Aegon Tennis  
Championships, Queens Club, W14 
 

9. On 11th June, I attended a luncheon with the catering students of Ealing, 
Hammersmith & West London College, Gliddon Road, W14 
 

10. On 12th June, accompanied by my Mayoress, I attended Capel Manor 
College, Bullsmoor Lane, Enfield, EN1 
 

11. On 14th June, I attended and welcomed  Dr Mary Robinson, former 
President of Ireland and His Excellency, Mr Bobby McDonagh, 
Ambassador for Ireland, to the Irish Support and Advice Service 40th 
Anniversary celebrations, Irish Cultural Centre, Blacks Road, W6 
 

12. On 14th June, accompanied by my Mayoress, I attended a schools 
performance of Swanning Around, Royal Albert Hall, SW7 
 

Page 13



13. On 15th June, accompanied by my Consort, I attended the London 
Mayors’ Association, ‘New Civic Mayors’ reception, Westminster City Hall.  
 

14. On 20th June, accompanied by Miss Lavender Hastie, my Mayoress, I 
attended the ‘National Cycle Network’ 10th anniversary celebration, and 
travelled to the event by  rickshaw, Priors Bank, SW6 
 

15. On 20th June, accompanied by my Mayoress, I attended The Hurlingham 
Club Garden Party and ILTC Reception, Hurlingham Club, SW6 
 

16. On 21st June, I was honoured to raise the Armed Forces Day flag, to mark 
the start of the week long event, HTH Roof, W6 
 

17. On 23rd June, I attended a Citizenship Ceremony during which, I 
presented each citizen with their official certificate, Council Chamber, FTH 
 

18. On 23rd June, I attended and officially launched the Sands End 
Community Boxing Club, Hurlingham & Chelsea School, Peterborough 
Road, SW6 
 

19. On 25th June, I attended the H&F Refugee Week celebration event, 
Assembly Hall, HTH 
 

20. On 26th June, accompanied by my Mayoress, I attended and co-judged 
the Normand Park Dog Show, Normand Park, Lillie Road, SW6 
 

21. On 26th June, I was delighted to officially open the new Playground in 
Marcus Garvey Park, Gorleston Street, W14 
 

22. On 27th June, accompanied by my Mayoress, I attended the annual Hong 
Kong Dragon Boat Race Festival, London Regatta Centre, Royal Albert 
Docks, E16 
 

23. On 28th June, I attended the presentation ceremony by Wing Commander 
Mike Dudgeon Deputy Lieutenant for H&F, of the ‘Queens Award for 
Enterprise 2010’ to Studio E Architects Ltd, Larmenier & Sacred Heart 
Primary School, Brook Green, W14 
 

24. On 29th June, accompanied by my Mayoress, I attended the Republic of 
Poland, Book Launch, Embassy of the Republic of Poland, Portland Place, 
W1B 
 

25. On 29th June, accompanied by my Mayoress, I attended the Society of 
Women Artists ‘Summer Exhibition’, Mall Galleries, The Mall, SW1 
 

Page 14



26. On 30th June, I attended a Citizenship Ceremony during which, I 
presented each citizen with their official certificate, Council Chamber, FTH 
 

 

Page 15



                                     No.  1 

PUBLIC QUESTION TIME

LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM

COUNCIL MEETING – 30 JUNE 2010

Question by: Ms Margaret Turley 

To the: Cabinet Member for Community Care 

QUESTION

“The Council’s strap line says it is “Putting Residents First”.  How is the Council doing that 
with Hammersmith and Fulham’s unpaid carers?” 

Response: 
! The council is fully committed to supporting unpaid carers.  
! In 2008, the council undertook extensive consultation with carers and key 

stakeholders as part of a process to review the borough’s 5 year Carers’ Strategy. 
! The purpose of the review was to take stock, evaluate progress to date against key 

objectives to date and develop a revised action plan to deliver the outcomes the 
council’s wants to achieve by 2011.

! One of the key findings of the strategy review was that only a minority of the total 
carers in the borough are being identified and receiving services. In order to improve 
this, it is clear that carers’ support services need to outreach into the community and 
link with services, resources and networks that carers are already engaged with. 

! The current contract for the provision of adult and young carer support service in the 
Borough, currently supplied by the Carers’ Centre, will end in July 2010, the new 
improved service for Carers in the Borough will be in place from the 1st August. 

! Carers will be able to access services locally, with support groups activities being 
held in different areas of the borough. 

! To ensure carers can access the support and advice they need, a dedicated Carer 
 Helpline will be introduced as part of the new service.

! A leaflet is in the process of being circulated to carers, containing information about 
the new improved service, which will help carers to continue in their caring role.

! It is our aim to offer the best possible service we can to our carers and that is why we 
are making these changes. 

Achievements in 09/10 

! A Carers’ Strategy Group was established to provide leadership and shape direction 
for implementing the action plan. Carers and key stakeholders are represented.

!

Appendix 2

Page 16



! Total spend on Carers Support i.e. Carers Centre and others is £1,122,000; made up 
of Respite = £267k (incl £20k for emergency planning); Carers Support Service 
Contract = £236K;  Ad-hoc payments/small grants/salary = £146k; Alzheimers = 
£163k; Health Gain Money = £310k.

! The council participated voluntarily in a new national government carers’ survey, to 
gain  a comprehensive picture of our carers’ views on support and services available. 

! The council engaged  with H&F LINk to make carers’ issues important. LINk steering 
group representatives now attend the Carers’ Strategy Group. 

! Two full-time health trainers for carers were appointed to offer tailored advice, 
motivation and practical support to individuals who want to adopt a healthier lifestyle. 
During this first year, 56 carers have accessed the service. We have increased the 
number of health  trainers for carers from 2-4 in 10/11. 

! 1200 information booklets were circulated to over 120 GPs, pharmacists, places of 
worship and libraries. 

! In a pro-active attempt to reach and provide support to ‘hidden carers’, 3868 
information booklets were mailed out to registered blue badge holders. 

! Carer support services were advertised through the Life Channel in 24 of the 
borough’s GP surgeries. 

! A ‘Carers’ Individual Budget’ pilot scheme commenced to offer carers a direct 
payment to purchase services, including short breaks, to alleviate the stress of 
caring. In total, 148 assessments were completed, with just under £100,000 
allocated. 135 carers’ small grants were also approved. !

! Emergency care planning is available to carers with 97 plans completed.   

Page 17



                                     No.  2 

PUBLIC QUESTION TIME

LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM

COUNCIL MEETING – 30 JUNE 2010

Question by: Ms Pauline Trapmore 

To the: Cabinet Member for Community Care 

QUESTION

“How much public money in total was spent by LBHF on all aspects of the tender for the 
carers’ services contract?  Please break the total figure down to show what was spent from 
when the review began in 2008 right up to date. The Council will be aware that cost for this 
covers an eclectic range of areas from legal advice, training for panel members to press 
relations, etc.  Please detail all.” 

RESPONSE: 

The total amount spent by LBHF on all aspects of the tender/review was – £19,090.41

Breakdown:

! National advertisements in Community Care Magazine ( £1435.85 ex VAT) and The 
Guardian (£2870.40) - £4306.25 

! Representative from CarersUk - £5000. To ensure transparency, a national expert 
was recruited to support 6 carers through the tendering assessment process. Their 
remit was to fully participate in the evaluation of bids, run a training workshop, offer 
additional support carers and submit a ‘User Involvement’ report. This will be used in 
future council tendering exercises. 

! Hire of the Irish Centre for carer involvement training workshop (incl. refreshments) - 
£141.77

! Carer involvement expenses  - £340 

! Legal expenses from July 2009 to date - £6,918.90. This amounts to 89.5 hours of 
time.

! Procurement/Commissioning officer time - no additional cost as existing resources 
used

Page 18



Expenditure related to the strategy review: 

! Hire of venues for 2 consultation events (including refreshments),
 Irish Centre (£1325.99) and Bush Hall (£1057.50) - £2383.49

Page 19



                                     No.  3 

PUBLIC QUESTION TIME

LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM

COUNCIL MEETING – 30 JUNE 2010

Question by: Ms Marjorie Serra 

To the: The Leader 

QUESTION

“We understand that the Hammersmith and Fulham Carers Centre has been valued at 
£1.7million.  Please confirm your understanding of the building’s value.” 

RESPONSE

We assume the property referred to is 182 Hammersmith Road which the Council owns. We 
do not have a valuation report valuing the property at £1.7million. 

Page 20



                                     No.  4 

PUBLIC QUESTION TIME

LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM

COUNCIL MEETING – 30 JUNE 2010

Question by: Ms Desiree Cranenburgh 

To the: Cabinet Member for Community Care 

QUESTION

“Before the election the Council gave indications that the Hammersmith and Fulham Carers 
Centre would get the new contract.  Why was it announced almost immediately after the 
election date that the Hammersmith and Fulham Carers Centre would not be awarded the 
contract?  Please detail the exact date the decision was made.” 

Response:

The council did not give any such indications. All deliberations by the Tender Appraisal 
Panel (TAP) and decision makers who approve the TAP’s recommendations are completely 
confidential until such time as the decision is made and the council chooses to make this 
decision public.

The date the decision was made was part of the standard timeline for the council’s tender 
approvals process. The decision was made by the Director of Community Services in line 
with his delegated duties on the 11th May 2010.

Page 21



                                     No.  5 

PUBLIC QUESTION TIME

LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM

COUNCIL MEETING – 30 JUNE 2010

Question by: Mr Bruce Marquart 

To the: The Leader 

QUESTION

"There are many voluntary groups, including ours, delivering extensive front-line services and 
jobs to local LBHF residents.  We all have tenancies due to expire in August, 2010 at 241 King 
Street, Palingswick House, what are the future conditions for a Long term Lease Extension to 
Palingswick House so that this work can continue uninterrupted?” 

Response: 

In order to protect front line services from the impact of tightening finances, we have made a 
commitment to reduce the council's levels of debt.  We currently owe £133 million which costs 
us £5 million in interest payments alone - money which could otherwise be spent on vital 
services such as home care for the elderly and child protection. 

Our priority has to be council services before buildings. 

Reducing our debt means selling assets that do not currently provide value for money.  We plan 
to dispose of buildings we no longer need, or where services could be better and more cost-
effectively delivered from alternative sites that are not suitable for disposal.  We will use the 
proceeds from these sales to cut our debts and to protect spending on services, including 
voluntary sector grants. 

A number of council buildings must be considered for disposal - where they do not offer 
excellent value for money, are not sited in our areas of highest needs, are poor in terms of 
access and would not be cost effective to retain. 

We believe that establishing community hubs in the highest areas of deprivation in the borough 
will better meet the accommodation needs of the 3rd sector now and in years to come.  The 
council is establishing a hub in Edward Woods Estate in the north of the borough, and Fulham 
NDC are also establishing a hub in the south of the borough. 

With these points in mind, the Council will be consulting on the future of Palingswick House from 
July, with a view to a Cabinet decision on the future of the building later this year. 

Whilst I fully appreciate the concerns of organisations based in Palingswick House, the
economic climate and reducing the council's debt must remain our key priority. 

Page 22



 
 

 
 
 

 

Report to Council 
 

16 SEPTEMBER 2010 
 

 
LEADER 
Councillor Stephen 
Greenhalgh 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK: 
PROPOSED SUBMISSION CORE STRATEGY 
 
 
SYNOPSIS 
 
This report seeks approval to the proposed 
submission Local Development Framework Core 
Strategy and associated changes to the adopted 
Proposals Map with a view that public 
consultation on the documents to be carried out 
for a six week period commencing in October 
2010.  
 
The report notes that after consideration of 
representations received during public 
consultation, the Core Strategy will be submitted 
to the Secretary of State along with a number of 
other submission documents identified in the 
Regulations for independent examination 
expected in Spring 2011.  
 
 

WARDS 
All 
 

CONTRIBUTORS 
 
ENVD 
DFCS 
ADLDS  
 
 
 
HAS A PEIA  
BEEN COMPLETED 
 
YES  
 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
1.   That approval is given to the proposed 

submission Local Development 
Framework Core Strategy (see Appendix 1) 
and changes to the Proposals Map (see 
Appendix 2), with a view that the 
documents and other associated 
submission documents required by the 
Town and Country Planning Regulations 
are made available for 6 weeks for public 
consultation commencing on 1 October 
2010 or as soon thereafter.  

 
2.   That the Director of Environment in 

conjunction with the Cabinet Member for 
Environment, is authorised to approve any  
technical and other minor amendments to 

 

Agenda Item 5.1

Page 23



the submission documents: 
 

a)  before public consultation; and 
b)  after, or in response to, public 

consultation, and before submission to 
the Secretary of State for independent 
examination. 

 
 

Page 24



 
1 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1. The Local Development Framework (LDF) is part of the Government’s 

Planning system introduced under the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004.  When adopted, the LDF will replace the borough’s Unitary 
Development Plan (UDP) and will be used, together with the London Plan, to 
help shape the borough and to determine individual planning applications 
and deliver development.  The LDF will consist of the Core Strategy 
Development Plan Document, the Generic Development Management 
Development Plan Document and Supplementary Planning Documents.  

 
1.2. In June 2009, the Council carried out consultation on Local Development 

Framework Core Strategy Options.  After consideration of the 
representations received, undertaking further evidence gathering and 
consideration of national and London wide policy, the Options document was 
redrafted as the proposed submission Core Strategy Development Plan 
Document.  When this document is adopted it will be the overarching 
document of the LDF and will set out the Council’s long term vision for the 
borough.   

 
1.3. The next stage in the LDF process is publication of the proposed submission 

Core Strategy for public consultation, followed by submission to the 
Secretary of State for examination in public by an independent Planning 
Inspector.  In accordance with Regulations, the document must be approved 
by full Council.   

 
1.4      The Core Strategy programme envisages adoption of the document in late 

2011. 
 
  
2 THE CORE STRATEGY   
 
2.1      The Core Strategy sets out the Council’s vision to create a borough of 

opportunity for all by 2031, and contains strategic objectives and strategic 
policies for the regeneration of the borough over the next 20 years.   

 
2.2      The preparation of the document has been carried out in accordance with 

Town and Country Planning Regulations, and the policies whilst taking into 
account issues and opportunities facing the borough must be in conformity 
with national and London wide policy.  

 
2.3      The Core Strategy sets out a programme for regeneration in the borough in 

five identified areas, namely the White City Opportunity Area, North Fulham 
Regeneration Area and Opportunity Area, Hammersmith Town Centre and 
Riverside, South Fulham Riverside and Old Oak Common and Hythe Road. 
It includes indicative targets for homes and jobs for each area.  

 
2.4      The Core Strategy also includes borough wide policies on matters such as 

housing supply, with a minimum housing target of 615 additional dwellings a 
year, and affordable housing, where the borough wide target is for 40% or 
2960 (whichever is the greater) of all additional dwellings to be affordable.  
In addition, there are policies on matters such as local employment, 

Page 25



 
community facilities, open space and design and conservation.  Also, the 
Core Strategy includes a schedule of social and physical infrastructure that 
will be required to support the proposed growth.   

 
2.5      The proposed submission Core Strategy is accompanied by a schedule and 

series of maps that identify the changes to the adopted UDP Proposals Map 
arising from the new policies and proposals.  In addition, the Core Strategy 
has been subject to sustainability appraisal (SA) and a SA report will 
accompany the proposed submission Core Strategy when it is published.  
There is also a report that sets out how earlier consultation has been 
undertaken and summarises the main issues raised and how these have 
been addressed in the Core Strategy.  

 
2.6     The Core Strategy will eventually be supported by a Generic Development 

Management Development Plan Document (GDM DPD) and a number of 
Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) when these are prepared.  The 
GDM DPD will include policies that will be used particularly for development 
management purposes and, when adopted, will, together with the Core 
Strategy, replace the UDP.  The programme for the GDM DPD does not 
envisage adoption until mid 2012.  In respect of the SPDs, these will provide 
greater detail on the policies in the Core Strategy and will include planning 
frameworks for the White City Opportunity Area and the Earls Court/west 
Kensington Opportunity Area. 

 
3.        CONSULTATION 
 
3.1      The Regulations require a six week public consultation to be carried out prior 

to submission of the Core Strategy to the Secretary of State.  The Core 
Strategy and other submission documents must be accompanied with copies 
of any representations made during consultation and a summary of the main 
issues raised.  The consultation needs to be announced by a notice included 
in a local newspaper, and in this case this will be the Gazette and the H&F 
News.  It is proposed that the consultation period runs from 1 October until 
12 November 2010.  

 
3.2      It is proposed that any minor or technical changes to the Core Strategy that 

are required before or after consultation or for other reasons are made by 
the Director of Environment in conjunction with the Cabinet Member for 
Environment.  However, the Council cannot make further substantive 
changes to the Core Strategy without a further period of consultation. 

 
3.3      As part of the consultation process the Council needs to request the Mayor 

of London’s opinion as to the general conformity of the Core Strategy with 
the London Plan.  The Mayor must send his opinion to the Secretary of State 
within the six week consultation period. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 26



 
4. COMMENTS OF THE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE AND CORPORATE 

SERVICES  
 
4.1.    The costs of public consultation and printing are met from within the planning 

budget.  The Examination in Public (EIP) will incur more significant one-off 
costs including appointment of the Inspector, programme officer, Counsel's 
advice, possibly specialist consultants and EIP running costs.  Much will 
depend on the length of the EIP but this could amount to £100,000 or more 
(mostly in 2011/12).  It is suggested that these costs are initially met from 
within existing revenue budgets in Environment Services.  A review will be 
undertaken at year end with funding available from central contingency, if 
required. 

 
 
5. COMMENTS OF THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR (LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC 

SERVICES)  
 
5.1.     Preparation of the Core Strategy is governed primarily by the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and regulations made by the Secretary of 
State.  The legislation requires that the version of the Core Strategy to be 
submitted to the Secretary of State be approved by full Council. 

 
 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
No. 
 

Description of Background Papers Name/Ext  of 
holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. Proposed Submission Local 
Development Framework Core 
Strategy 
 

Pat Cox/ext 5773 EnvD/THE 

2. Representations from earlier 
consultation exercises 
 

Pat Cox/ext 5773 EnvD/THE 

3. Sustainability Report and Equality 
Impact Assessment 

Pat Cox/ext 5773 EnvD/THe 
CONTACT OFFICER: 
 

NAME: Pat Cox  
EXT. 5773 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 27



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham

 

Core Strategy
Proposed Submission

Document

Local Development Framework

October 2010

Hammersmith and Fulham Council

Appendix 1 - Core Strategy 
Proposed Submission Document

Page 28



Page 29



31 How to comment on this document

52 Introduction

93 Hammersmith and Fulham

114 Challenges

215 Spatial Vision

276 Strategic Objectives

297 Delivering the Council's Vision

30A: Planning for regeneration and growth

35B: Planning for the location of employment activities

37C: The hierarchy of town and local centres

418 Regeneration Area Strategies

41White City Opportunity Area

55Hammersmith Town Centre and Riverside

68North Fulham Regeneration Area

79South Fulham Riverside

83Old Oak Common and Hythe Road Area

899 Borough Wide Strategic Policies

89Meeting Housing Needs and Aspirations

99Local Economy and Employment

101
Community Facitilities (leisure, recreation, education, health, culture, civic
services and other facilities)

106Open Space

110River Thames and Grand Union Canal

113Built Environment

117Tackling and Adapting to Climate Change

124Transport

127Hazardous Substances

12910 Delivery and Implementation of the Core Strategy

13311 Infrastructure Schedule

13712 Appendices

137Appendix 1 - Summary of the Core Strategy Sustainability Appraisal

139Appendix 2 - Open Space Hierarchy

142Appendix 3 - Nature Conservation Areas and Green Corridors

Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Contents

Page 30



Appendix 4 - Archaeological Priority Areas 144

145Appendix 5 - Proposed Shopping Hierarchy

147Appendix 6 - Infrastructure Schedule

157
Appendix 7 - Unitary Development Plan (UDP) policies to be replaced by
Core Strategy policies

16713 Glossary

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy

Contents

Page 31



1 How to comment on this document

We are asking for your comments on the Core Strategy policies put forward within this
document.

Please make sure we receive your comments by 5pm Friday 12 November 2010.

The council has set up an on-line consultation system which is hosted by 'Limehouse
Software'. The software allows you to submit comments electronically and we are
encouraging everyone to respond to this document by registering for this service. The
benefits of making comments on-line are:

An email notification system that lets you know when new planning policy documents
are available for you to comment on;
You can update your personal details, such as change of address and email address;
The ability to view documents and to comment on specific sections of the document;
The ability to read what other consultees have said about issues that concern you;
The reduced environmental impact of electronically submitted comments.

If you have already given us your email address you will not need to register and would
have already received an email from 'Limehouse Software' (our on-line provider) with your
user name and password. If not please register for this new on-line service by going to
the Hammersmith and Fulham consultation website:
http://lbhf-consult.limehouse.co.uk/portal

Click on “register” which will take you to a short form. You will be asked to enter your
name, email address and postal details, and to choose a username and password. You
will need to use the username and password each time you make electronic
representations.

Alternatively, you can use the contact methods below:

By email to: ldf@lbhf.gov.uk
By post to: Development Plans Team, Environment Department (5/2),King Street,
W6 9JU

Pleasemake it clear in your written comments which section or policy you are commenting
on.

We will publish all comments that we receive and make these available at the LDF
information points, namely:

Hammersmith Town Hall Extension, third floor, Environment Department
FulhamTown Hall housing office
Public Reference libraries – Hammersmith, Shepherds Bush and Fulham libraries
Hammersmith Broadway Information Centre

Summaries and where practicable, full representations will be made available on the
Council’s website.

If you would like more information please phone on 020 8753 3384 or email, fax or write
as above.

3Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

How to comment on this document 1

Page 32



This and other Local Development Framework documents are or will be made available
in large copy print, audio cassette, Braille, or languages other than English on request. If
you require the document in one of these formats, please see the contact details above.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy4

1 How to comment on this document

Page 33



2 Introduction

Purpose of this document

2.1 This document is Hammersmith and Fulham's proposed submission Core Strategy
published in accordance with Regulation 27 of the Town and Country Planning (Local
Development) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2008. It has been published, together
with proposed changes to the adopted Proposals Map, to allow for representations to be
made before the document, along with the representations, is submitted to the Secretary
of State for Examination in Public in 2011.

2.2 The council has previously consulted on Local Development Framework (LDF) Core
Strategy Options in June 2009 and has developed these Options into spatial and borough
wide policies.

What is a Local Development Framework Core Strategy?

2.3 The LDF is part of the Government’s planning system, introduced by the Planning
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The LDF will consist of a collection of local
development documents including Development Plan Documents (DPDs) and
Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs).

2.4 When adopted, the LDF will replace the borough’s Unitary Development Plan (UDP)
and will be used, together with the London Plan, to help shape the future of the borough
and to determine individual planning applications and deliver development. Other DPDs,
including the Generic Development Management Policies DPD, and SPDs will need to be
in conformity with the Core Strategy DPD. The Core Strategy will replace a number of
existing UDP policies, but others will continue until replaced by more detailed Generic
Development Management Policies (see Appendix 7).

2.5 The Core Strategy DPD is the overarching document of the LDF and sets out the
Borough Partnership’s long term vision, as set out in H&F’s Community Strategy published
in September 2007, to create a borough of opportunity for all. It highlights the strategic
objectives for the borough, focussing on the key issues to be addressed, and includes a
delivery strategy for achieving these objectives. It identifies major regeneration areas and
allocates strategic sites for development which are considered crucial to the achievement
of the Core Strategy.

2.6 The document sets out as far as practicable when, where and by whom actions will
be taken, identifying the Council and its partners where relevant.

2.7 All the LDF documents that the Council is producing, and their production timeframe,
are set out in the borough’s Local Development Scheme (LDS). The LDS and all the
borough’s LDF documents may be viewed on the link to the Council’s website below:

www.lbhf.gov.uk/ldf

The LDF’s relationship with other policies and strategies

2.8 The Core Strategy will provide a clear way forward for the regeneration of the
borough. It will closely relate to the Community Strategy, but will also reflect and promote
supporting Council strategies, such as the Housing Strategy 2007-2014, Economic
Development Strategy 2007-2012, and other strategies of our partners, such as the Primary
Care Trust.

5Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Introduction 2

Page 34



National Policy and the London Plan

2.9 The LDF must be consistent with national policy, produced by the Department for
Communities and Local Government and its predecessors, in the form of Planning Policy
Statements, Policy Planning Guidance Notes and Circulars. The LDF also needs to be
in general conformity with regional guidance, produced by the Mayor of London and set
out in the London Plan.

2.10 National policy is continually being produced and updated, including policy on LDFs
as set out in PPS 12 Local Spatial Planning published in 2008. In addition, the London
Plan, most recently altered in February 2008, is subject to a further review with publication
of a new Plan in early 2012. As new policies emerge, the LDF will need to take account
of them.

Previous LDF consultation

2.11 The council has previously consulted on Local Development Framework (LDF)
Core Strategy Options in June 2009, Generic Development Management Options in
November 2009 and, under previous Regulations, Planning Issues and Options in October
2005 and Core Strategy and Site Specific Allocations Preferred Options in June 2007.
The Council took the decision to re-consult on Options in June 2009 in order to take into
account factors such as responses to the June 2007 consultation, further evidence
gathering, identification of major regeneration opportunities in the borough and changes
to National and London Plan policy.

2.12 Consultation on the Core Strategy Options took place for six weeks from June
2009 and included workshops, meetings and presentations to local groups and
stakeholders. There was also coverage of the Core Strategy in the Hammersmith and
Fulham News and all the documentation, including the ability to make online
representations, was made available on the council’s website. The results of these
consultations, specifically the Options consultation in June 2009, have helped to inform
the development of the Core Strategy policies detailed within this proposed submission
document.

2.13 A Consultation Report that gives detail of the consultation carried out at the options
stage is separately available. It summarises the consultation process and the comments
received and the Council’s response.

Sustainability Appraisal

2.14 Development Plan Documents are subject to sustainability appraisal (SA). This
involves identifying and evaluating a plan’s impacts having regard to social, environmental
and economic impacts and helps to ensure that the plan accords with sustainable
development principles. Sustainability appraisal incorporates the requirements of the
European Directive 2001/42/EC on the ‘assessment of effects of certain plans and
programmes on the environment’ (SEA Directive).

2.15 An SA Scoping Report was consulted on in June 2005 at the same time as
consultation on Planning Issues and Options. The Scoping Report identified the main
sustainability issues within the borough and included a Sustainability Framework with
sustainability objectives and indicators that would be used to assess the sustainability of
the LDF policies.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy6

2 Introduction

Page 35



2.16 An SA Report was published alongside the Core Options in June 2009. This noted
that the SA had recommended many changes to improve the sustainability of the LDF
options.

2.17 The policies in this proposed submission Core Strategy document have been
subject to further appraisal. Appendix 1 which is attached to this document provides a
summary of the findings of the SA, and the full SA is published separately as a supporting
background document.

2.18 The SA indicates the general sustainability of the Council’s Core Strategy objectives
and policies.

What happens next?

2.19 The process for preparing the Core Strategy has already involved several rounds
of public consultation including the Core Strategy Options consultation in June 2009 and
the consultations under previous LDF planning regulations in 2005 and 2007. We are now
undertaking:

Publication of the proposed submission Core Strategy DPD for consultation for six
weeks commencing in or around October 2010 prior to submission of the document
to the Secretary of State in January 2011 or as soon thereafter for Examination in
Public. At this stage representations should be concerned with the soundness of the
Core Strategy, namely is the document justified, effective and consistent with national
policy as well as satisfying the legal procedural requirements and being in conformity
with regional planning policy (the London Plan).

2.20 The Council will consider the representations on the proposed submission document
that are made within the advertised consultation period and will forward these to the
Secretary of State together with a summary of the main issues raised and a copy of the
Core Strategy. The council will also submit any changes that it is considered should be
made as a result of the representations.

2.21 The Council will advertise the submission of the Core Strategy and notify all those
who have made representations on previous consultations.

2.22 After the EIP, the Inspector will publish a report that will be binding on the Council.
The Council will then formally adopt the Core Strategy. Adoption is scheduled for late
2011.

7Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Introduction 2

Page 36



Key stages in the production of Development Plan Documents

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy8

2 Introduction

Page 37



3 Hammersmith and Fulham

The Place

3.1 It is important that the strategy for the future development of Hammersmith & Fulham
is based on an understanding of the area as it is now and the challenges that need to be
addressed. The summary below outlines the key features of the borough and the
challenges that the Core Strategy seeks to address.

The Area

3.2 Hammersmith and Fulham is an Inner London borough in a strategic location on the
transport routes between the City and Heathrow. The borough is oriented north-south with
most major transport links, both road and rail carrying through traffic east-west across the
borough. Some of the busiest road junctions in London are located in the borough at
Hammersmith Broadway, Shepherds Bush and at Savoy Circus and the borough suffers
disproportionately from the effects of through traffic. However north-south movement in
the borough is poor.

3.3 The borough benefits from a long frontage along the River Thames (7km/4 ½ miles)
and from a section of the Grand Union Canal in the north of the borough. These waterways
enhance the environment and character of the borough and provide the potential for further
benefit to the borough.

3.4 It is an area of contrasts, of wealth and poverty, and of attractive environments,
many of which are protected by conservation designations and other areas that are less
attractive and that need improvement.

3.5 It has at least four distinct areas each with their own character - Fulham,
Hammersmith, Shepherds Bush and the area to the north of Wormwood Scrubs – the
College Park/Hythe Road area

The People

3.6 The population of the borough is relatively young and ethnically diverse. It is also
a highly mobile population with about half of all households having moved in the previous
five years. Nearly half of the population (43%) is between the ages of 19 and 40 years old
which is significantly higher than in London (35%) and the rest of the country (27%)(1).
The borough has a high proportion of single people, the second highest proportion (54.7%)
of any local authority in England & Wales. Four in ten (40.3%) of all households consist
of one person (Source: 2001 Census).

3.7 It is projected by the GLA taking account of the borough’s housing target of an
additional 615 dwellings pa that the population will increase from 175,800 in 2006 to
189,800 in 2031, (a 14,000 (8%) increase) and that households will increase by 14,600
from 79,880 households in 2006 to 94,400 in 2031(an 18% increase) (Source: 2009 Round
of GLA Demographic Projections, Updated Jan 2010). This is a slower rate of growth than
most other London boroughs. The main growth in number of households will be in ‘one
person’ households (32% up to 2026), while the number of ‘couple’ households will
decrease by nearly 8%.

1 2009 Mid-Year Estimates ONS June 2010

9Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Hammersmith and Fulham 3

Page 38



3.8 There is expected to be a growth in the 50 and 64 age group of 9,500 between 2009
and 2026, equivalent to 46%. The population aged 20 to 49 is expected to grow by 16%
during the same period and the population aged 65 to 79 to grow by 14%, and 80+ by
23%.(2)

The Economy

3.9 Hammersmith and Fulham’s economy is part of the wider London and West London
economic area. The borough occupies a favourable location in west London and is attractive
to a variety of businesses. It has enjoyed significant growth in employment and economic
activity over the last three decades with the central Hammersmith area becoming an
important sub-regional location for offices. In 2006, 115,000 people worked within the
borough boundaries which is an increase from the 111,500 employed in 2004 (Annual
Business Inquiry). Just over a quarter of people working in the borough also lived in the
borough. The largest employer in the borough - the BBC is based in Wood Lane and has
expanded its complex there in recent years and has approximately 14,000 employees.
This number will decrease with the proposed move of some of the BBC’s staff to Salford
and central London.

3.10 Recent development of the Westfield Shopping centre has seen an increase in
importance of the retail sector. Other key employers include education and health providers.
The latter having expanded its research facilities in recent years.

3.11 In recent decades there has been a substantial change in the composition of
businesses with a significant decline in traditional manufacturing, whilst the publishing,
printing and recorded media sector has grown. Smaller firms have become much more
important; 76% of businesses have fewer than five employees

2 2008 GLA population projections

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy10

3 Hammersmith and Fulham

Page 39



4 Challenges

4.1 The key challenges that the Core Strategy aims to address are:

Reducing deprivation and polarisation

Map 1: Deprivation4.2 The borough has high levels of
deprivation and social and economic
polarisation. It is ranked 38th most deprived
local authority area in the country and there
are significant pockets of deprivation,
particularly in the north of the borough. Seven
(6.3%) of the borough’s Super Output Areas
(SOAs - Super Output Areas are used by the
Office of National Statistics (ONS) to identify
local neighbourhoods of about 750
households) are within the top 10% most
deprived nationally. Five of these comprise
major public sector housing estates: White
City, Wormholt, Edward Woods, Clem Atlee
and Charecroft. A further 21% of the
borough’s SOAs are in the 10-20% worst
nationally. Most of these areas are in the north
of the borough but also extend into parts of
Hammersmith and north Fulham (see Map 1).

4.3 H&F not only has high levels of
deprivation but it is a very polarised borough.
For example, in the last census 27% of
household heads classified themselves as
“employers, managers or professionals”, while some 26% said they were entirely dependent
on benefit. A quarter of households are dependent on incomes of less than £10,000 per
annum, and nearly 40% of households are dependent on incomes of less than £20,000.
In comparison, nearly a quarter of households had incomes in excess of £60,000(3).

4.4 Until the 1970s, social housing and council estates tended to be occupied by
households with a greater mix of incomes than is now the case. The mix of social housing
tenants has come to include proportionally more people on lower incomes, some
experiencing multiple deprivation. Approximately 70% of social housing tenants in
Hammersmith & Fulham are currently workless and dependent on benefits(4) and they
make up the largest single group within the estimated 20,250 (2008) workless residents
in the borough. Nearly 4,000 lone parents are dependent on benefits.

4.5 Deprivation and low household incomes also result in high levels of child poverty.
About 27% of people are in poverty in H&F compared to 51% of children in poverty(5).
Childhood poverty in H&F does not follow the general north-south divide, but is much more
scattered geographically across the borough. In 2005 over 10,000 children were living in
families receiving means-tested benefits. In 2007 over 40% of primary school children and
25% of secondary school children were entitled to free school meals in H&F compared to
national figures of 16% and 13% respectively.

3 H&F Housing Needs Update 2007
4 An Economic Development Strategy for H&F 2007
5 Children and Young People’s Plan 2008-11

11Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Challenges 4

Page 40



Increasing housing supply and diversifying tenure

4.6 The very high cost of private sector housing in the borough means that there are
very few opportunities for households on low to middle incomes to progress up the housing
ladder from private and social renting to homeownership and many younger households
either have to move out of the borough when they no longer want to share with others or
need a larger house, or they look to be housed in social housing. This lack of opportunities
for homeownership for low and middle income households increases economic and social
polarisation in the borough.

4.7 Hammersmith & Fulham has increased its stock of social rented housing by nearly
7% since 1981 and about one third of the housing stock is now social rented housing
compared to an average of 25% in London and 21.5% in West London. Social rented
housing is particularly concentrated in the north of the borough, where over 40% of the
housing stock is in this tenure. Shared ownership and other intermediate low cost housing
still only makes up 1 to 2% of housing stock in the borough.

4.8 Another issue in relation to housing supply is the continuing need for family size
social rented housing when compared to the council’s and the housing associations’ stock
of social rented housing. 40% of council stock is one bedroom accommodation(6) and the
RSL stock is relatively small, the average size of all RSL stock (12,220 units(7) is 3 rooms,
compared to the average for private sector dwellings of 4.2 rooms.

Improving the quality of housing

4.9 About two thirds of the housing stock in H&F is owned by the private sector. About
85% of this private housing stock is over 60 years old and about two thirds of the dwellings
are in flats. Nearly one fifth of the borough’s private sector housing does not meet the
government’s decent homes standard(8). The decent homes standard considers four main
factors – disrepair, unfitness, modern facilities and thermal comfort. In the private sector
improvements to energy efficiency will be mainly through government legislation and
initiatives, for example through the building regulations and programmes such as Renew,
Warmfront and through the private investment. Planning policies can help to ensure that
new housing is built to meet higher standards of energy efficiency and accessibility.

4.10 Nearly a quarter of council rented dwellings are in 66 high rise blocks and a further
60% are within 1,213 medium rise blocks. The properties are largely based within inward
looking large estates with non permeable layouts as opposed to traditional streets. Whilst
amenity space was provided, this was often ill designed and has become unattractive,
underused or misused space. Our experience of the redevelopment of a few social housing
blocks over the past 15 years has demonstrated that with the application of modern planning
and design an increase in numbers of homes can be achieved, with an improvement to
the communal space and environment through making better use of land previously used
for pram sheds and other ancillary outbuildings.

4.11 Recent satisfaction surveys indicate that residents on the council’s housing estates
have significantly lower levels of satisfaction with their neighbourhood than the borough
average.

6 H&F Housing Strategy 2007-2014: A Housing Ladder of Opportunity for All
7 LBHF Stock Condition Survey 2004. Appendix A1
8 LBHF Stock Condition Survey 2004

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy12

4 Challenges

Page 41



4.12 The way that public housing has been funded in the past means that new housing
built over the past 20 years or so has tended to be smaller sized units. This has meant
that overcrowding has become an issue as families grow and cannot move on to more
suitable accommodation. As a result, there is need for more family sized housing in the
borough both from new and existing demand; this also applies across low income
households who wish to rent or purchase.

4.13 The national Decent Homes programme is ensuring that council owned housing
meets a minimal quality standard. However in the long term there is an issue about the
level of expenditure that will be needed to ensure that the properties are fit for purpose
and will meet the changing aspirations of residents for accessible and energy efficient
homes within a decent, safe environment. Current investment planning projections show
that just maintaining the stock at decent homes standard will be a challenge for the Council
over the next 30 years. The structure and layouts of existing blocks also limits on the
opportunity to further improve energy efficiency and accessibility. As a result the properties
compare unfavourably with new build homes which are achieving much higher levels of
energy efficiency.

4.14 The design of the current social housing stock also makes it difficulty to increase
the number of dwellings that are accessible to residents who need to use a wheelchair.
Of 508 medium-rise mansion or deck access blocks only 85 (17%) have lift access.
Retrofitting lifts to blocks that were not designed to have such a facility is often difficult, if
not impossible, and where possible, the cost of installation is prohibitive. Access ways
into blocks and homes are not wide enough and there are often stairs and raised thresholds
which would need to be removed to allow full access. New homes are built to a lifetime
homes standard which offers residents the opportunity to remain in their home regardless
of their changing circumstances.

Maintaining the economy and increasing local employment

4.15 The Core Strategy needs to provide the conditions for businesses to thrive to ensure
that there is a broad range of employment for local people and that the levels of
worklessness can be reduced. It also needs to continue to contribute to London’s world
city role.

4.16 H&F has developed as a centre for a range of creative and media industries, due
partly to the presence of the BBC in the White City area but also to good transport links.
There is the potential to further develop these activities. Many of the sites that were
previously designated for employment uses are no longer appropriate for the location of
H&F’s new employment activities, particularly offices and creative activities. The areas
that are most appropriate for growth are those areas with high levels of public transport
accessibility.

4.17 Hammersmith Hospital and Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust provide a
significant potential for expansion of medical research and for related activities to be
established in the borough.

4.18 The continued growth of the local economy and the regeneration of deprived and
run down parts of the borough depends on improvement in access and reduction of the
adverse effects of traffic congestion, especially on north-south routes.

13Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Challenges 4

Page 42



Regenerating town centres and local centres

4.19 The main challenge in relation to the town centres – Hammersmith, Shepherds
Bush and Fulham - is the need for their regeneration and better utilisation of sites within
the designated town centres to ensure the continued provision of a wide range of high
quality retailing, services, arts and cultural and other leisure facilities to serve local residents,
visitors and workers.

4.20 The need for the regeneration of the Shepherds Bush Market area to assist with
the integration of the new Westfield centre with the older part of Shepherds Bush Town
Centre

4.21 There have been public realm improvements in all three town centres and others
are planned but there is a need for further improvements to increase the vitality and quality
of each centre. The economic health varies in different parts of each town centre and
specific policies and intervention is needed to improve these areas.

4.22 There is also a concern that too many independent and specialist shops and
services are being displaced by retail chains and that there is little difference in offer
between centres.

4.23 Despite the variation between the different centres, there are challenges which
affect the centres to a greater or lesser extent (for more detail see background paper(9)),
including:

pressure to change from shopping to other uses;
Ensuring that the network of local centres and other parades and shops are easily
accessible to local residents so that they are able to reach local shops and services
easily and safely
A desire for a wider range of shops, particularly independent shops and services that
are valued by local residents;
In some centres and parades too many vacant shops and premises and poor quality
environment;
Concern about takeaways close to schools and the potential impact on children’s
health;
Underutilisation of sites and older premises.

9 Shopping background Paper 2010

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy14

4 Challenges

Page 43



Improving the quality of the local environment

Map 2: Conservation Areas4.24 The quality of the local environment is
a key issue for many local people and
businesses and is influenced by many factors.
The existing streets, buildings, open spaces
and waterways give H&F its character and
sense of place. Many parts of the borough
are included within designated conservation
areas because of their special architectural or
historical interest (see Map 2).

4.25 Some parts of the borough are very
attractive whilst other areas are of very poor
quality. The areas of poor quality include:

Areas of vacant and underused land, such
as some riverside sites, transport related
sites such as railway sidings and surface
level car parks;
Public and communal areas on some
housing estates which are not well used
by the residents and often misused by a
minority of people;
The areas adjacent to major roads and
railways.

4.26 There is the challenge of encouraging redevelopment and regeneration in the
borough whilst preserving and enhancing valued local character especially in the areas
that are protected by the borough’s conservation areas.

Improving parks and open spaces

4.27 H&F has relatively little open space per person, just 231 ha of public open space,
or 1.3 ha of open space per 1,000 residents(10). In some parts of the borough, particularly
to the east, many residents do not have convenient access to local parks. Additional
development in the borough will put further pressure on the open space that is available
to local residents and visitors, unless additional open space can be created as part of new
developments, such as the new park at Imperial Wharf.

10 Open Spaces and Outdoor Recreation Facilities in H&F. 2006

15Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Challenges 4

Page 44



Map 3: Open Space4.28 Parks and open spaces fulfil a number
of different and sometimes conflicting roles –
providing for walking and sitting, active play
and recreation and for nature conservation
and wildlife.

Increasing access and use of the River
Thames and Grand Union Canal

4.29 There are vacant and underused sites
and premises along the Thames which have
a significant potential for more intensive
development. However any development of
riverside sites will need to respect the unique
character of the river and will need to enhance
the vitality of the riverfront whilst improving
public access to the Thames for recreation
and sporting activities.

4.30 H&F has three safeguarded wharves
in the south of the borough identified in the
London Plan. Only one of these wharves still
uses the river for freight movements and one
wharf has been vacant since 1997. The
London Plan seeks to protect these wharves for cargo-handling uses but the council’s
view is that these wharves are not appropriate for more intensive long term freight use
because of limited road access.

4.31 The Grand Union Canal has many of the characteristics and environmental features
of the River Thames. The stretch within the borough is a designated conservation area.
The canal is a valuable recreational and transport resource which should be enhanced
and improved. The challenge for this strategy is achieving this improvement whilst most
of the canal-side is in industrial use or transport related uses, or designated nature
conservation areas.

Improving the quality of education

4.32 H&F project a 16% increase in the child population over the next 10 years. It is
estimated that the borough will require 1,050 additional secondary school places by 2018.
600 of these additional school places will be provided by the new Hammersmith Academy.
The remaining additional places will be provided at existing schools where some additional
capacity can be created. The cancellation of the Building Schools for the Future programme
means that the Council will need to ensure that there are other funding sources to ensure
that these additional places are provided and the quality of the schools improved.

4.33 Additional primary schools also will be needed to support the projected population
growth resulting from proposed development, particularly in the Wood Lane and Earls
Court areas.

4.34 Many of the schools in H&F are built on sites with limited outdoor space and
therefore it is important to improve access to and provision of sports facilities in order to
improve health and to reduce child obesity levels.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy16

4 Challenges

Page 45



Improving health and reducing health inequalities

4.35 Among the key health issues in relation to the council’s spatial strategy is the health
of residents as well as ensuring that health care is provided to meet the needs of local
residents. Life expectancy in the north of the borough is on average 6 years less than in
the south. Improving health is not just from better facilities but also from enabling residents
and workers to live and to participate in healthier lifestyles. Life expectancy in the north
of the borough is on average 6 years less than in the south.

Improving the quality and access to recreation facilities

4.36 Accessible recreation facilities are very important to local residents and workers,
not only for enjoyment but because of their contribution to improving health, particularly
children’s health. In addition, recreation facilities can provide diversionary activities and
help reduce anti-social behaviour and crime.

4.37 Of the open space in the borough, just 58.6 ha, a quarter of the public open spaces,
is available as outdoor playing space. This equates to 0.34 ha of space per 1,000 residents,
which is only 14% of the national standard recommended by the National Playing Fields
Association. The difficulty of providing additional open space means that all opportunities
to increase the provision or improve access to and the quality of outdoor playing space
or other forms of sports provision need to be taken(11).

Improving the quality and access to leisure activities

4.38 H&F has a wide range of arts, cultural and entertainment facilities which are
important to both local residents and in some cases to residents of a much wider area.
Facilities such as the Apollo, Lyric Theatre, Riverside Studios, Bush Theatre and the three
professional football clubs are of London-wide significance. Some of the facilities such
as the Riverside Studios, the Bush Theatre and the cinema in Hammersmith would benefit
from upgrading to ensure that they are high quality venues in the future. The challenge is
to enable their renovation or replacement without losing the uses.

4.39 Although leisure activities bring many benefits to the local area, including jobs,
they can in some cases cause problems for local residents. Pubs and clubs that stay open
late and serve alcohol can lead to significant environmental disadvantages including
concerns over crime and disorder.

Improving access to community services

4.40 H&F has a wide range of community services, provided by both the public and the
voluntary sector. These services are located across the borough in numerous buildings
and spaces of varying quality. Although these services are a valuable resource they often
do not work in a joined up and focused way to meet the needs of vulnerable households.

4.41 Therefore as part of the development of area based social regeneration initiatives
the council is assessing whether there is the opportunity to improve the quality and access
to these services by the co-location of services.

11 Sport and physical activity strategy 2006 to 2012: LBHF

17Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Challenges 4

Page 46



Mitigating the impact of climate change

4.42 Climate change is a major long term challenge that needs to be addressed in this
core strategy and in future development in H&F. The key issue is the reduction in carbon
emissions through a range of measures, including transport in the borough, energy
efficiency of the building stock and the management of waste and flood risk management.

4.43 Significant areas of this borough are subject to some risk of flooding. This is an
important consideration in planning for future development in the borough. Climate change,
leading to more frequent extreme weather events, increases the risk of flooding in H&F,
particularly from surface water and sewer flooding. Government legislation and guidance
requires local authorities to plan for all levels and types of flood risk and to adopt a risk
based approach to planning.

Reducing congestion and improving transport accessibility

Map 4: Transport4.44 The strategic location of the borough
and its position in relation to London’s
transport networkmeans that H&F suffers from
the worst road congestion in London TfL
RNPR Tech Note 3 April 2006. Congestion on
north-south routes, particularly the Fulham
Palace Road – Shepherds Bush –Wood Lane
– Scrubs Lane corridor is a major issue. The
only alternative north-south route in Fulham
is North End Road and that is also heavily
congested.

4.45 Road traffic is one of the main causes
of carbon emissions, poor air quality(12) and
noise pollution in the borough. Nearly one fifth
of carbon emissions in H&F in 2005-6 was
from road transport(13) and pollution levels
exceed air quality targets. The other main
cause of noise pollution and to a lesser extent
air pollution is air traffic and the flightpaths to
Heathrow. In 2000 the whole borough was
designated an Air Quality Management Area
with the aim of meeting the government’s
national air quality objectives for nitrogen
dioxide and particulates. Any further expansion of capacity at Heathrow will also impact
on borough residents through increased surface transport congestion, as well as increased
noise and air pollution.

4.46 Most of the borough has good public transport (see map 4) apart from pockets in
the south and particularly the north of the borough, where some borough residents have
relatively poor levels of personal accessibility. There is also overcrowding of passenger
rail services, particularly at peak times, but increasingly at other times as well. The future
growth in the demand for travel will impact on the environment of the borough, including
on air quality.

12 Air quality progress report and action plan review: LBHF
13 Local and Regional CO2 Emissions Estimates for 2005-2006: DEFRA

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy18

4 Challenges

Page 47



4.47 There is also an issue with the lack of access to London Underground services for
disabled and other less mobile people. Only 5 of the 14 stations are accessible from the
street and one is accessible travelling in one direction only. The provision of a lift at
Shepherds Bush Central Line Station is particularly important in this respect, serving the
major transport interchange andWestfield shopping centre. The council supports improved
provision for cycling and walking as both are environmentally friendly means of transport
and can help improve people’s health. A key issue is the difficulty of providing attractive
and safe routes within and through the borough. The Council’s Streetsmart design guide
will help in the provision of such attractive routes by reducing clutter and providing high
quality paving and street furniture.

19Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Challenges 4

Page 48



LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy20

4 Challenges

Page 49



5 Spatial Vision

A borough of decent neighbourhoods

Introduction

5.1 The Council’s Community Strategy 2007 has a vision to create a borough of
opportunity for all.

5.2 The key priorities in delivering this vision are:

Promoting home ownership
Regenerating the most deprived parts of the borough
A top quality education for all– schools of choice
Setting the framework for a healthy borough
Tackling crime and anti-social behaviour
Creating a cleaner, greener borough
Delivering high quality, value for money public services

5.3 The Core Strategy’s spatial vision interprets the Community Strategy vision and
outlines how the borough will have been transformed in 20 years time. It is based on the
council’s determination to meet the aspirations of its residents by increasing opportunities
for all residents to live and enjoy productive, healthier lives and by developing a safer,
cleaner borough. The Core Strategy vision is for a borough of decent and aspirational
neighbourhoods where people want to live and to continue living.

Core Strategy vision

5.4 In the next 20 years, the benefits and the quality of life that the more affluent areas
currently experience will have extended throughout the borough, particularly to those areas
and people experiencing high levels of deprivation, poorer housing and environments.
More residents and their families will have the opportunity to develop their knowledge and
skills and to own their homes, so that they can stay in the borough and really participate
and share in the benefits that Hammersmith and Fulham can offer.

5.5 We will have responded to local challenges and become a borough of opportunity
for all by creating new affordable home ownership and high quality education, skills and
training infrastructure. Together these will have provided residents with a ladder of
opportunity and a real stake in the future or the borough. Young families will both be able
to afford and will want to stay in the borough.

5.6 The borough will have been transformed through public and private investment by
2031. In particular, regeneration will have taken place in the wider White City Opportunity
Area, including Shepherds Bush Town Centre, and in the West Kensington/North Fulham
area, as well as along the South Fulham Riverside and in Hammersmith Town Centre.
The regeneration of the Old Oak area of the borough will have started with the development
of the High Speed 2 rail hub and a Crossrail Station at Old Oak Common Sidings.

21Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Spatial Vision 5

Page 50



5.7 Housing supply in Hammersmith and Fulhamwill have increased with at least 13,000
additional homes, particularly family homes in low and medium rise developments. Some
of the borough’s most disadvantaged estates in the most deprived wards will have been
regenerated. The new housing will be fully integrated socially, economically and physically
with the rest of the borough. Our town centres and smaller local centres will be important
hubs within the borough, helping to sustain a strong, safe and prosperous borough
community.

Decent neighbourhoods

5.8 Great advances will have been made in achieving decent neighbourhoods across
the borough, where residents can enjoy healthy and productive lives, and in tackling social
and economic polarisation, much of which is exacerbated by the nature of deprived
neighbourhoods.

5.9 The principles of approach to achieving decent neighbourhoods which will underpin
regeneration in the borough are:

A clean and safe neighbourhood located in an area rich in opportunity. A
neighbourhood where most people of working age are in work rather than dependent
on welfare.
A housing mix by type, size and tenure to attract people on a range of incomes. A
neighbourhood where getting on in life does not mean moving out. A neighbourhood
where people can acquire a stake in their own homes.
Types of residential development that are predominantly low or medium rise (e.g. 3-6
storeys), consisting of houses small scale developments of flats and maisonettes,
modern forms of the traditional mansion block, with gardens and shared amenity
space in street based layouts rather than inward looking estates or gated
developments.
Good design that ensures that tenure differences are not obvious.
Well designed buildings with active streets that respect their surroundings.
A range of shops, local services, leisure and other facilities within walking distance
that meet the needs of a mixed community at different stages of peoples’ lives.
Employment and training opportunities for a range of skills and attainment levels.
Good levels of educational attainment and skills, achieved or sought. Schools of
choice for local people.
Decent health outcomes and life expectancy.
Low levels of crime, fear of crime and anti-social behaviour
A street pattern linking one place to another, encouraging walking routes through
areas.
Access to good transport services.
Satisfaction with the local townscape, public realm and environment, and its upkeep;
no wasted or uncared for land.
Satisfaction with management of the public realm and the housing stock.

Housing and affordable home ownership

5.10 There will have been an increase in the supply of housing, largely in the regeneration
areas. The number of home owners and the proportion of intermediate housing will have
increased, as part of a strategy to address the imbalance in current tenures and to provide
a broad range of options and a ladder of opportunity to suit different lifestyles and life
stages both in the public and private housing sectors.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy22

5 Spatial Vision

Page 51



5.11 Some of the larger housing estates will have been transformed and will provide
high quality accessible housing and neighbourhoods, with mixed communities of home
owners and renters. They will be places where people choose to live rather than where
they are allocated and where levels of satisfaction with both neighbourhood and home will
be high and people will feel secure. They will blend seamlessly with adjoining areas.
Regeneration initiatives will have substantially reduced the social polarisation that exists
in much of the borough and enabled many people to aspire to move out of deprivation
and improve their well being.

Schools of choice and setting the framework for a healthy borough

5.12 Educational attainment and health will have been improved throughout the borough
as we work to reduce deprivation and worklessness. The standard of education in the
borough’s schools will have been further improved so that the majority of parents will
choose local schools, and our young people will be equipped to take full advantage of the
economic opportunities that the borough has to offer. Although surplus school places will
have been reduced, there will also have been significant investment in new school places
and in creating buildings fit for 21stcentury learning. Hammersmith Academy is currently
under construction and will increase the secondary school place capacity in the centre of
the borough, whilst the south of the borough will be served by the new ChelseaAcademy
located in the Lots Road area of the Royal Borough of Kensington & Chelsea.

5.13 The health of residents will have been improved, inequalities in health will have
reduced and there will be more opportunities for physical activity. Healthcare will continue
to be based on a network of local health centres, including a new Collaborative Care
Centre on the site of the former Janet Adegoke centre and the Centres for Health at
Hammersmith and Charing Cross Hospitals and specialist healthcare at the three hospitals
serving the borough.

Regenerating the local economy

5.14 Regeneration initiatives will also have impacted on the local economy which will
be thriving and growing and making an important contribution to the wider London and
west London economy. Much of the growth in the local economy will have been built on
the growth in the creative sector which will be encouraged to develop as part of the
regeneration of the White City area. High quality business space, including space for both
small and start up businesses, to meet the needs of the local economy, particularly the
creative and bio-tech industries, will have been developed in the wider White City
Opportunity Area and the other regeneration areas. Elsewhere in the borough, employment
activities will have been sustained and welcomed in areas with good public transport,
including as part of mixed use developments.

5.15 The industrial and warehousing area in the north of borough which extends into
Park Royal will remain for the time being as a focus for industrial type uses, including sites
for the management of waste. However, if the proposed High Speed 2 rail hub and/or a
new Crossrail station is confirmed we will also have progressed with medium to long term
plans to regenerate this whole area, as part of the regeneration associated with the new
High Speed 2 rail hub and the provision of a new Crossrail/West London line interchange
station.

23Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Spatial Vision 5

Page 52



Creating a cleaner, greener borough

5.16 By 2030, most areas of the borough will be of high environmental quality. The
amount of open space in the borough will have increased through provision in mixed use
schemes in our regeneration areas. In addition, our parks and open spaces will have
benefited from improvement programmes to make them more accessible and attractive
and to improve sports and play facilities for residents and people who work in and who
visit the borough. They will be valued for leisure, sport and recreation as well as for their
contribution to the biodiversity and health of the borough. Six of our seven larger parks
will have met the Green Flag award standards (awards denoting excellence). Tree planting
will have increased throughout the borough.

5.17 Developments along the River Thames and the Grand Union Canal will have
respected the special character of these waterways and will have increased both public
access and the use of the waterways, as well as enhancing biodiversity.

5.18 We will have reduced road traffic generated in the borough and will wherever
possible have reduced the impact of other road traffic on the local environment, particularly
in terms of noise and air quality impacts. Where we do not control the roads, for example
the busy A4 and A40, we will have worked with our partners, particularly Transport for
London to achieve these aims. We will also have worked with partners to improve transport
in the borough, particularly north south links, as well as the opportunities for cycling and
walking. Where there is major development we will have improved access, particularly for
pedestrians and cyclists.

5.19 Our new buildings will be energy and resource efficient and much more of our
waste will be sustainably managed, including on identified sites in the north of the borough.
All development in the borough, both buildings and infrastructure will have been designed
to support the move to a low-carbon economy and take account of climate change,
particularly the risk of flooding. Some major developments in the regeneration areas will
be zero carbon exemplars.

5.20 To summarise, in the next 20 years there will have been:

Increased provision of housing to reduce deprivation and polarisation and
development of more stable and balanced communities;
Physical, social and economic regeneration of a number of identified areas and
housing estates and their integration with the rest of the borough and
achievement of decent neighbourhoods;
Improved quality of life for all residents; and
Mitigation of and adaptation to the impacts of climate change.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy24

5 Spatial Vision

Page 53



Map 5: Key Diagram

25Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Spatial Vision 5

Page 54



LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy26

5 Spatial Vision

Page 55



6 Strategic Objectives

6.1 The Core Strategy objectives set out below outline how we encourage the delivery
of this vision for the future of the borough. They give direction to the spatial strategy policies.

1. In particular, encourage regeneration of the most deprived parts of the borough,
especially in the White City area, North Fulham area and Hammersmith town centre area.

2. Increase the supply and choice of high quality housing and ensure that the new housing
meets local needs and aspirations, particularly the need for affordable home ownership
and for homes for families.

3. Encourage regeneration of key council housing estates

5. Reduce polarisation and worklessness to create more stable, mixed and balanced
communities.

6. Support the local economy and inward investment to ensure that existing and new
businesses can compete and flourish;

7. Support businesses so that they maximise job opportunities and recruit and maintain
local people in employment.

4. Build on the borough’s attractions for arts and creative industries.

8. Regenerate Hammersmith & Fulham’s town centres to improve their viability and vitality
and sustain a network of supporting key local centres providing local services.

9. Ensure that both existing and future residents, and visitors to the borough, have access
to a range of high quality facilities and services, including retail, leisure, recreation, arts,
entertainment, health, education and training and other community infrastructure.

10. Ensure that the schools in the boroughmeet the needs and aspirations of local parents
and their children.

11. Encourage and promote healthier lifestyles and reduce health inequalities.

12. Promote the health, safety and security of those who live, work and visit Hammersmith
& Fulham.

13. Improve and protect the amenity and quality of life of residents and visitors by ensuring
a safe, accessible and pleasant local environment, where there is a strong sense of place.

14. Conserve and enhance the quality, character and identity of the borough’s natural and
built environment through good quality, inclusive and sustainable design.

15. Protect and enhance the borough’s open green spaces, promote biodiversity and
protect private gardens.

16. Increase public access and use of Hammersmith & Fulham’s waterways as well as
enhance their environment, quality and character.

17. Reduce and mitigate the local causes of climate change, mitigate flood risk and other
impacts and support the move to a low-carbon future.

27Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Strategic Objectives 6

Page 56



18. Ensure there is a high quality transport infrastructure, including a Crossrail station and
a High Speed 2 rail hub to support development in the north of the borough and improve
transport accessibility and reduce traffic congestion and the need to travel.

19. Ensure that regeneration meets the diverse needs of not only the Hammersmith &
Fulham of today, but also all its future residents and visitors.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy28

6 Strategic Objectives

Page 57



7 Delivering the Council's Vision

7.1 The principal spatial elements of the council’s approach to delivering the Core
Strategy are set out below. These strategic policies provide the framework and context
for more detailed planning policies, frameworks and briefs that will be critical to the future
of the borough in the 20 year time span of the Core Strategy.

A: Planning for regeneration and growth

B: Planning for the location of employment activities

C: The hierarchy of town and local centres

29Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Delivering the Council's Vision 7

Page 58



A: Planning for regeneration and growth

Strategic Policy A

Planning for regeneration and growth

The council will focus and encourage major regeneration and growth in the five
key regeneration shown below and on the Proposals Map. All development
must respect its context and setting. Elsewhere in the borough development
of smaller sites will be more constrained by the local context and character of
neighbourhoods.

The regeneration areas could
provide at least 11,800 additional
dwellings and 25,000 jobs during
the period 2012-2031 as indicated
in the table below. The extent to
which these figures can be met or
could be exceeded will depend on
acceptable development proposals
coming forward. In each case, the
acceptability of any development
will be dependent on a number of
factors including:

the appropriate response to the
urban setting;
the creation of places that
provide acceptable living
environments with a suitable
mix of housing types, sizes
and affordability;
there being satisfactory public
transport and highway
accessibility and capacity, and
measures to produce
acceptable trip generation;
environmental impact assessment; and
the provision of services, facilities and infrastructure to support new
development.

7.2 The indicative quantities of new housing and jobs for each area are set out below.
Further detail on the basis for these figures, is provided in specific area and site policies
elsewhere in this document and in supporting planning frameworks.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy30

7 Delivering the Council's Vision

Page 59



7.3 The figures are based on initial assessments for monitoring purposes of the potential
capacity of potential development sites and are not to be regarded as targets. The extent
to which they can be met or exceeded will depend on detailed planning in the light of the
policies of the LDF and more detailed guidance (such as in Opportunity Area Frameworks
or Supplementary Planning Documents) as well as the strategic policies of the London
Plan. In this context, the actual capacity of development sites will depend on testing that
has regard to, inter alia, urban design considerations, land use mix, provision of supporting
facilities and social infrastructure, transport capacity and environmental impact. The figures
do not include any estimates relating to estate regeneration.

Regeneration Areas and Indicative Additional Homes and Jobs

CommentIndicative
new jobs

Indicative
additional
homes

Area

Opportunity Area Planning
Framework in preparation. Figure

10,0005,000White City
Opportunity Area

for homes includes potential
student housing.

The Earls Court West Kensington
Opportunity Area* is partly within

5,000-6,0002,000
(*1,500
minimum
indicative in
Opportunity
Area)

North Fulham
Regeneration
Area the Regeneration Area and partly

within the Royal Borough of
Kensington & Chelsea. A
Supplementary Planning
Document is in preparation for the
opportunity area.

5,000-6,0001,000Hammersmith
Town Centre &
Riverside

Supplementary Planning
Document in preparation

300-5002,200South Fulham
Riverside

The potential regeneration of this
area is largely dependent on the

5,0001,600Old Oak
Common&Hythe
Road proposed provision of a Crossrail

station and/or a station for the
proposed National High Speed 2
rail link.

25,300-27,50011,800TOTAL

Justification

7.4 One of the key challenges for the Core Strategy is to ensure that growth happens
in the most sustainable way and contributes to regeneration that benefits and meets the
needs of all residents. Planning for growth is not straightforward in an inner city area
because its form is largely based on an original Victorian city structure and pattern of
development and transport network. The challenges are great, whether considering a

31Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Delivering the Council's Vision 7

Page 60



single major development or the cumulative effect of many schemes. Substantial growth
cannot take place unless the physical (e.g transport and sewer capacity) and social (e.g.
health, leisure, education and open space) infrastructure is sufficient or can be improved.
Although growth will increase carbon emissions in the local area, all new development
should be planned and designed to minimise carbon emissions.

7.5 The Core Strategy aims to focus major development and growth in these five key
regeneration areas which have been identified on the basis of a number of factors but,
principally, the availability or potential availability of substantial quantities of development
land.

7.6 In some cases, the areas also include existing housing estates where there are
questions over their short or long term suitability to provide decent housing and
environmental standards. Consequently, there is a potential case for regeneration whether
involving refurbishment, selective improvements; or partial or phased redevelopment. The
fact that some of these estates are in close proximity to potential development sites provides
an important opportunity. It is possible to consider the scope for existing estate residents
to be rehoused within the locality, especially where this would enable them to achieve
better housing, more suited to their needs, or enable the most unsuitable estate
accommodation to be vacated and renewed. Therefore, while the Core Strategy does not
set out firm proposals for the estates, the council will work with estate residents, other
land owners and partners to consider and encourage regeneration and growth over the
next 20 years that will benefit existing and future residents and the borough as whole.

The Council has given assurances to tenants and leaseholders who might be affected
by the regeneration of council housing estates

Council Tenant Guarantee

If regeneration proposals come forward for your estate in the next 20 years H&F
Council and H&F Homes guarantee:

We would offer a permanent home in the area
Rent levels will continue to be set by Government at a rate which is affordable
The chance to buy a home in any future development at low cost
Full involvement in any future plans or proposals

Leaseholder Guarantee

If regeneration proposals come forward for your estate in the next 20 years H&F
Council and H&F Homes guarantee:

The full compensation that you are entitled to.
Resident leaseholders will have preference to buy in any new development
Full involvement in any future plans or proposals

7.7 The White City Opportunity Area is described in the London Plan and the draft
replacement London Plan and has some 18 hectares of potential development land lying
east of Wood Lane in the hands of five landowners. The Council and GLA are preparing
an Opportunity Area Framework to provide guidance for the more detailed planning of the
whole area, including any regeneration of the Council estates and Shepherds Bush town
centre.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy32

7 Delivering the Council's Vision

Page 61



7.8 The North Fulham Regeneration Area, includes Fulham Town Centre and the Earls
Court West Kensington Opportunity Area. The latter is described in the draft replacement
London Plan. There are 9.5 ha of land owned by Transport for London and Earls Court
& Olympia which is likely to become available for development from 2012, with the expected
closure of the Earls Court exhibition complex, together with the Earls Court car park in
Seagrave Road (2.5ha). The Council, GLA and Royal Borough of Kensington & Chelsea
are preparing a Supplementary Planning Document to provide planning guidance for the
whole area including the estates and other land.

7.9 In both areas other uses, as part of major mixed regeneration proposals, will be
expected. These will include provision of community facilities, local shopping and open
space as well as significant numbers of jobs.

7.10 Both areas have relatively high levels of public transport accessibility which will be
enhanced by planned improvements to the Underground and West London Line services.
Indeed, we think the West London Line is capable of running services to a much higher
level to help unlock regeneration potential and underpin much of the proposed growth.
However, highway capacity is likely to be a constraint on development potential. In large
scale mixed use development areas the Council considers there is considerable scope to
encourage people to live and work in the same area to reduce trips on the public transport
and highway networks.

7.11 Hammersmith Town Centre is an important centre for shopping, employment, arts
and leisure activities, but has seen relatively little private investment over the last 10-15
years. It has high levels of public transport accessibility and there are planned
improvements to the Underground. The town centre and riverside have a number of vacant
sites and sites with development potential (totalling some 5.5 ha) which could accommodate
a variety of uses. The development of these sites will directly contribute to meeting a
number of our strategic objectives, such as helping sustain the town centre as a major
centre within London’s town centre hierarchy and improving linkages with the river. There
are two housing estates within the area, namely Ashcroft Square and Queen Caroline
Estate, that are in close proximity to development sites, and where there could be
opportunities for residents as outlined above.

7.12 At South Fulham Riverside, there are a number of sites and considerable potential
for new housing in particular, but transport accessibility is currently relatively poor and the
Thames-side location needs to be treated very carefully. Regeneration scenarios are also
subject to the future of wharf safeguarding which currently applies to three wharves in the
area. The Mayor of London has announced his intention to review safeguarding throughout
London by 2012, and the council will be promoting the withdrawal of safeguarding in this
borough, where wharves are vacant, so as to optimise regeneration potential in the South
Fulham Riverside area. The amount of land that is clearly available for development
(including a vacant protected wharf) is 21.4 hectares and is suitable for largely residential
development.

7.13 At Old Oak Common the opportunities for growth are longer term and will be
unlocked by major improvements to the transport infrastructure. A Crossrail station at Old
Oak, interchanging with the West London Line, would enhance regeneration potential in
the borough as well as supporting major development in that area. In addition, a High
Speed Rail Line (High Speed 2) from London to West Midlands, with a hub station at Old
Oak would provide a substantial boost to the aspirations for regeneration in the north of
the borough. It would act as a major catalyst to regenerate these large tracts of railway
land, with Old Oak becoming one of the capital’s busiest interchanges, with train links to

33Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Delivering the Council's Vision 7

Page 62



Heathrow and Bristol to the west, Birmingham to the north, Clapham Junction and Gatwick
to the south. The benefits would be widespread in the borough, Park Royal and West
London. In view of the lengthy planning period for the HS2 line, it would be premature to
set out detailed policies for the surrounding area. When the HS2 proposal is confirmed
by Government, the Council will consult on the regeneration potential of the area with a
view to bringing forward site policies and detailed guidance.

7.14 The description and policies for these areas are set out in the Strategic Policy
section of this document. The minimum amount of land which is likely to come forward
for development in areas 1-4 is estimated at 54.4 hectares. This would enable the Council
to meet [83%] of the London Plan minimum housing targets.

7.15 In the rest of the borough, development will continue to take place on vacant and
underused sites, but the priority in these other areas will be to maintain the quality, scale
and character of the local area, especially in conservation areas. It will not be necessary
for development to achieve high densities in order to help meet strategic housing targets.
Housing development and conversions will be expected to adhere strictly to quality
standards, such as garden size, overlooking and internal and external space. Development
will be expected to address any local impacts arising from a scheme directly or by
contributing to improvement of the local transport network, infrastructure and local facilities.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy34

7 Delivering the Council's Vision

Page 63



B: Planning for the location of employment activities

Strategic Policy B

Location of Employment Activities

The council will support the local economy and inward investment in the borough
by working with all relevant partners. The strategic locational policy is as
follows:

TheHytheRoad area is designated as an employment zonewhere the priority
will be to protect land for industrial, warehouse and small scale office use,
research and development and waste and recycling activities. On the
canalside, residential or mixed residential/employment use developments
may be appropriate where this does not undermine the employment base
of the area. Development for intensive employment uses will need to be
subject to provision of improved transport infrastructure. (see also policy
for Old Oak Common and Hythe Road). In the longer term, confirmation of
an High Speed 2 (HS2) and Crossrail station will require a review of policy.
Hammersmith Town Centre is the preferred office location in the borough
and the Council will encourage major office based development (see also
policy for Hammersmith Town Centre);
Substantial, office based development is encouraged in the White City
Opportunity Area as part of a mixed use approach with residential and there
should be a particular focus on creative and bio-tech industries (see also
policy for the wider White City Opportunity Area);
The Earls Court West Kensington Opportunity Area is a location for new
employment as a part of a mixed use approach with residential. This can
include offices of a quantity that does not adversely affect objectives for
Hammersmith Town Centre or White City but should also include other
employment such as in arts, culture and leisure industries based around
the development of a major visitor attraction at Earls Court. Other
employment uses should be developed as part of a mixed use approach
and the scale of these uses should be controlled to prevent adverse impact
on existing employment locations, in particular at Hammersmith andWhite
City. (See also policy for the Earls Court West Kensington Opportunity
Area);
Employment uses that recognise the existing strengths in the borough in
creative industries, health services and bio-medical research at
Hammersmith Hospital will be encouraged;
There is a presumption that in other areas of the borough, land providing
significant existing employment should normally continue to do so. Other
unused or underused employment land may be permitted to change to
residential if there is no clear benefit to the economy in continued
employment use.

35Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Delivering the Council's Vision 7

Page 64



Justification

7.16 The Hythe Road area will continue to be protected for industrial, distribution and
waste management activities, a role that is recognised in the London Plan. The London
Plan includes this area in the Park Royal Opportunity Area and designates it as a Strategic
Industrial Location (SIL). It is also this area where the waste management sites are located.
However, on the canalside, if it can be shown that uses are compatible with the employment
zone designation, some residential development will be acceptable if it enhances the
townscape and makes the towpath a safer and more attractive pedestrian and cycle route.
In the event that a decision is taken by the Government to locate the Crossrail interchange
for the High Speed 2 at Old Oak Common the Council will undertake a more detailed study
into the development potential of the Old Oak Common Sidings and Hythe Road area.
This will involve further consultation on planning policies for the area.

7.17 Elsewhere in the borough, large offices should locate in areas that are very well
served by public transport, such as Hammersmith Town Centre and the wider White City
Opportunity Area, and where they can be supported by a range of other services.
Hammersmith Town Centre is the existing prime office location because of its high levels
of accessibility by public transport and road to central London and Heathrow airport. More
office employment in Hammersmith will further strengthen the retail function of the centre.
In theWhite City area, transport accessibility has improved considerably with improvements
brought about by the Westfield Centre and the continued presence of the BBC provides
a catalyst to build on the borough’s existing strength in creative industries (see section 8
and the employment background paper). However, there should be a mixed use approach
to this area with a considerable amount of new housing. The Revised London Plan has
identified an indicative employment capacity of 10,000 jobs.

7.18 The borough is fortunate in having the Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust
operating within its boundaries. This is the largest NHS trust in the country with the UK’s
first academic health science centre. The Trust is one of only five comprehensive biomedical
research centres in England and has the largest European Clinical Imaging Centre at
HammersmithHospital and the Medical Research Council’s Clinical Sciences Centre is
also based there. This provides enormous potential for medical research and for related
activities to be located in the borough, particularly in the north where there are opportunities
for clustering of medical related activities. Imperial College is proposing to develop in the
White City Opportunity Area and in the longer term there could be opportunities in the Old
Oak regeneration area.

7.19 In the Earls Court West Kensington Opportunity Area there is a high level of
accessibility and considerable scope for a new commercial area that could be developed
with hotels and offices as well as retail as part of a major mixed use regeneration scheme.
The Revised London Plan has identified an indicative employment capacity of 7,000 jobs,
but the Council is working with the Mayor and the Royal Borough of Kensington & Chelsea
to determine the optimum development capacity for the area by means of a Supplementary
Planning Document.

7.20 Outside of these areas, smaller office developments will be acceptable if they are
supported by the necessary infrastructure and transport capacity. Wherever possible, we
want to retain existing businesses and employment, and, in the interests of the economic
health of the borough, encourage commerce, the provision of local services, and the
provision of local job opportunities. Our policies for premises for small and medium sized
businesses is set out in the borough-wide strategic policy in section 9.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy36

7 Delivering the Council's Vision

Page 65



C: The hierarchy of town and local centres

Strategic Policy C

Hierarchy of Town and local Centres

Within the borough the hierarchy of centres consists of three town centres,
supported by 5 key local centres, 16 neighbourhood parades and 6 satellite
parades (see Appendix 5 and Map 6). The council will work with the GLA and
other stakeholders, such as Business Improvement Districts, to direct economic
development to these centres and to sustain the vitality and viability of the
hierarchy. In particular:

Hammersmith town centre is designated as a major centre in the London
Plan and will be the borough’s primary civic centre, a strategic office centre,
and major shopping, arts, cultural and entertainment centre. Sites should
be developed within the town centre to strengthen that role and especially
to regenerate King Street between the Town Hall and the prime shopping
area. (See also policy for Hammersmith Town Centre)
Shepherds Bush town centre is designated as a metropolitan centre in the
Revised London Plan. The priority will be to strengthen the historic town
centre by encouraging commercial and leisure based development and
uses that will help regenerate town centre functions and link with the wider
White City Opportunity Area. Major leisure activities that cannot be located
within the town centre may be appropriate north of Westfield on the edge
of the existing town centre boundary. Regeneration of Shepherds Bush
Common and the market will be important parts of the strategy for this
centre. (see also policy for the White City Opportunity Area).
Fulham town centre is designated as a major centre. The priority will be to
regenerate the northern part of the centre, which is run down and in need
of significant new investment, by the provision of more and improved
shopping. The focus for Fulham town centre will be shopping and local
services, and leisure activities that do not have adverse impacts on
surrounding residential areas. (see also policy for the Earls Court West
Kensington Opportunity Area (ECWK))
The 5 key local centres will be the existing East Acton, Askew Road, North
End Road (West Kensington) and Fulham Road centres, together with a
new key local centre in the development of land east of Wood Lane in the
White City Opportunity Area.
16 neighbourhood parades and 6 satellite parades are designated (see
Appendix 5 and Map 6 and policies).

37Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Delivering the Council's Vision 7

Page 66



In all three town centres (but also in other centres in the hierarchy) the council
will encourage diversity and distinctiveness in the shopping mix. We will seek
to ensure a good range of shop types with independent as well as national
traders. Wewill use planning obligations where appropriate to secure affordable
retail space to encourage small traders.

Major new shopping will be located in the three town centres or in key local
centres. It will need to meet recognised need and be of an acceptable scale and
impact. New shopping facilities will also be required in the major regeneration
areas to provide for the day to day needs of people living and working, but will
not be acceptable if they are of a scale that would undermine the proposed
hierarchy of centres.

Proposals for out of centre shopping will be considered in accordance with
Government Guidance.

Justification

Map 6: Shopping Hierarchy7.21 Within the borough there are three
established town centres together with a
number of local centres and smaller shopping
parades. The town centres also exist within a
London wide hierarchy of centres, designated
in the London Plan. We want to encourage the
regeneration of Hammersmith & Fulham’s town
centres to improve their viability and vitality as
well as sustain a network of supporting key
local centres. A key aim in relation to the town
centre and local centre hierarchy is to ensure
that there is sufficient capacity for new retail
floorspace in line with identified need.

7.22 There is a significant amount of
evidence for quantitative need for retail floor
space in West London, including regional
studies prepared by Experian on behalf of the
GLA. These studies provide a range of
quantitative outputs which the council will
consider when responding to retail proposals.
The most recent study, the Joint West London
Retail Needs Study 2010 (WLRNS) has
identified future estimated retail need in the
borough and specifically within our three town centres up to 2021 as set out below:

Estimated Retail Need

Shepherds
Bush (Sq m
gross)

Fulham (Sq m
gross)

Hammersmith
(Sq m gross)

Borough-wide
(Sq m gross)

41,4007,80017,20074,500Comparison

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy38

7 Delivering the Council's Vision

Page 67



Shepherds
Bush (Sq m
gross)

Fulham (Sq m
gross)

Hammersmith
(Sq m gross)

Borough-wide
(Sq m gross)

4,3001,1002,2007,600*Convenience

4,2002,8003,00011,700A3 - A5

*Convenience figures based on supermarket sales densities
(Source: West London Retail Needs Study 2010)

7.23 We aim to meet future need primarily within the established shopping hierarchy so
as to maximise opportunities to obtain goods, services, jobs and leisure activities in places
that are convenient to where people live and work. A number of development sites have
been identified for future retail growth in the town centres, but there is scope for some
provision elsewhere in the identified regeneration areas. The WLRNS need estimates are
based on London Plan population growth projections and the estimates will need to be
considered in the light of the potential local growth in regeneration areas.

7.24 The establishment of a hierarchy of town centres and local centres in the borough,
and the application of policies that direct growth to these centres, will assist in ensuring a
good range of convenient and accessible local facilities for borough residents, which is
an important part of what makes a decent neighbourhood. Although the planning system
cannot directly control the type of trader or the type of shop, the Council’s network of
centres will help lead to most borough residents living within walking distance (about
quarter of a mile or 400m) of a town centre or lower order local centre. Supporting policies
will seek a range of shopping and other facilities in these centres and where development
takes place, there may be scope to secure affordable space and agreements with
developers so that a proportion of space can be offered to independent small retailers.

7.25 The opening of the Westfield London shopping centre in 2008 has elevated
Shepherds Bush to the status of a metropolitan town centre as recognised in the Revised
London Plan. A key council priority is to capture the regenerative benefits of Westfield in
the original town centre rather than propose any further expansion of the shopping function
north of Westfield at this stage. However, there may still be scope for town centre related
activities, especially major leisure, as well as additional retail to be located in that area.
The WCOAPF is exploring how further expansion of town centre uses, including retail, to
the north of the current town centre boundary could achieve many additional objectives
including improved housing, open space, connectivity and transport. However, the evidence
base required to provide justification for the extension of the boundary
(need/impact/sequential assessments) must be developed before the town centre boundary
could be adjusted to allow for such expansion. A key proposal to strengthen the western
part of the town centre is the regeneration of the Shepherds Bush Market. This will help
strengthen the convenience offer in Shepherds Bush and assist in meeting local needs
as well as enhance Shepherd’s Bush’s function as a metropolitan centre. In addition,
refurbishment of theW12 Centre is seen as a key element of a vital and vibrant Shepherds
Bush.

39Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Delivering the Council's Vision 7

Page 68



7.26 Hammersmith will continue to be amajor town centre and the council will encourage
development to improve the vitality and viability of the centre and to strengthen its role
as a centre for shopping, offices, local government and for arts, culture, leisure and services.
Key sites in meeting this objective are the Town Hall and adjacent land in Nigel Playfair
Avenue and King Street, Kings Mall, the remaining part of the Hammersmith Island Site
currently occupied by the temporary bus station, and the Hammersmith & City Line station
car park.

7.27 Fulham Town Centre will be supported to re-establish its historic role in the locality
and maintain its status as a major town centre in the London Plan. The Core Strategy
policies will seek to provide further shopping and leisure uses at an appropriate scale to
meet locally generated needs. One opportunity for improvement is in the northern part of
the centre, along North End Road and Lillie Road.

7.28 In key local centres, the aim is to ensure a greater variety of uses than in
neighbourhood parades. However, in both types of centre the council’s policies will seek
to retain a predominance of shopping over other uses. These centres can help contribute
towards the identified estimated need for further low and mid ranking comparison and
convenience retail floorspace to meet the needs of the local population. The council will
work with its partners to try to coordinate service provision based on these centres. An
additional key local centre will be included in the White City Opportunity Area, east of
Wood Lane, to provide for the day to day needs of people living and working there. The
council will consider the designation of a further local centre within the ECWKOpportunity
Area if this is required to meet the needs of the new development and is supported by
capacity studies. (see also policy for the ECWK Opportunity Area)..

7.29 Those centres that adjoin or are in close proximity to town centres will be known
as satellite parades. These parades will continue to provide local services, but will also
provide opportunities for a variety of uses that will support the nearby town centres.

7.30 In shopping parades, other than those identified in the hierarchy, particularly where
shops and premises have been vacant for a long time, there will be more limited protection
of shopping facilities, and other appropriate uses would be considered. These alternative
uses would need to be compatible with adjoining uses and therefore in some more
residential locations, uses such as restaurants, pubs, and bars may not be appropriate

7.31 In all the centres and shopping areas, there will be planning controls to maintain
appropriate levels of retailing and other local services. There will also be controls over
uses such as restaurants, cafes, bars, hot food takeaways and amusement centres (see
the Generic Development Management Policies DPD). There is evidence that convenient
access to takeaways can have an adverse impact on child health, particularly child obesity
rates. Therefore the council considers it is particularly important that additional hot food
takeaways are not located in the vicinity of schools and other centres focussing on children
activities. Residential use will be appropriate on floors above shops and other premises.

7.32 In addition to these centres, there is one superstore in Sands End, another on
Shepherds Bush Road and a small number of shed based retailers, mainly at Wandsworth
Bridge. There continues to be pressure for supermarkets of different sizes to be established
both in centres included in the hierarchy of centres and outside these centres. Small
supermarkets may expand the choice in local shopping centres, but large stores can have
adverse impacts on town or local centres and increase local traffic. The Council will apply
policies set out in Planning Policy Statement (PPS) 4 when considering applications for
all new shopping.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy40

7 Delivering the Council's Vision

Page 69



8 Regeneration Area Strategies

8.1 For each of the regeneration areas we set out the overall strategy and vision for the
area and the proposals for sites of strategic importance and for council housing estates.
This is a comprehensive approach to regeneration aimed at tackling the physical nature
of places, making them better places to live and work; and addressing high levels of
multiple deprivation and by achieving decent neighbourhoods. It is complementing physical
change with social and economic regeneration, and improving life chances through
improved education, health, safety and access to employment and better homes.

White City Opportunity Area

Vision

8.2 Our vision is for a vibrant and creative place with a stimulating and high quality
environment where people will want to live, work, shop and spend their leisure time.
Anchored by the BBC, Imperial College and one of London’s best retail offers in a
reinvigorated metropolitan town centre, the area will provide a unique and distinctive
quarter. Many other world-leading, global creative, media and entertainment businesses
will be attracted to the area which will be a nationally known creative hub in London.
Creative and media businesses will combine with schools, colleges and universities
elsewhere to provide cutting edge educational links that will inspire young people. A high
proportion of new jobs will be filled by local people. The area will contribute to meeting
local employment and community needs, contribute to the aspirations for the wider West
London sub-region and help sustain London’s growth.

8.3 There will be a substantial number of new homes providing a local ladder of affordable
housing opportunity, supported by leisure, green space, schools and community facilities.
Large, inward looking housing estates will have been regenerated and their existing
residents will have had the opportunity to move into better homes and improve their
employment prospects in the area. The existing community will remain in the area and
thrive.

8.4 The economic health of the historic Shepherds Bush Town Centre will be revived
and it will be a thriving destination in its own right. The market and common will be
reinvigorated as major attractions.

8.5 The Opportunity Area will be fully integrated within the wider local area. The area
will be a model of high quality urban design, sustainable architecture and construction
situated within a first class permeable and inclusive public realm. Outstanding
environmental performance will be achieved by the use of low and zero carbon
technologies, including combined heat and power, the establishment of a decentralized
energy network and the installation of renewable energy systems.

41Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Regeneration Area Strategies 8

Page 70



Strategic Policy WCOA

White City Opportunity Area

Indicative new jobsIndicative additional homes

10,0005,000

The Council will work with the GLA, other strategic partners and landowners to
secure the comprehensive regeneration of the White City Opportunity Area
(WCOA); and, to create a vibrant and creative place with a stimulating and high
quality environment where people will want to live, work, shop and spend their
leisure time. The existing estates community must be able to benefit from
regeneration of the area through access to jobs, better local facilities, better
and more suitable housing, and improved environmental conditions.

The regeneration of the WCOA will
be focused on the development of
land east of Wood Lane, partial
development of the BBC TV Centre
and encouraging the regeneration
of the White City and adjacent
estates. It will also involve
improvements to, and
developments within, the historic
Shepherds Bush town centre,
including a regeneratedMarket area
that provides an enhanced focus
and destination in the western part
of the town centre.

The new homes built in the area will
be expected to provide a local
ladder of affordable housing
opportunity, and regeneration
schemes will need to provide an
appropriate level of supporting
leisure, green space, schools and
community facilities.

In the area consisting of the land
west and east ofWood Lane (seemore detailed policies) 40% of the new housing
should be affordable housing. There should be no loss in the overall quantity
of social rented housing but there should be a better overall mix of unit sizes
that, in particular, helps to alleviate overcrowding in existing accommodation.
Development of land east of Wood Lane should provide a sufficient mix and
quantity of social rented housing (approximately 25%) to enable a proportion
of existing estate residents to rehouse in better accommodation. As a result,
there should be amoremixed and sustainable community across the area within
which the existing community can thrive.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy42

8 Regeneration Area Strategies

Page 71



The development of privately owned land to the west and east of Wood Lane
will not be acceptable unless it contributes directly to regeneration of the whole
of the north of the opportunity area (that also includes the Council and RSL
housing estates); and, in particular, to achieving a mixed and balanced
community across thewhole of that area. This should happen throughmeasures
that include:

provision or refurbishment of affordable and other housing in ways that:
enable estate residents to obtain better accommodation or move into
home ownership; and
enables estate regeneration through provision of rehousing
opportunities; and
directly contribute to refurbishment or replacement of residential
accommodation on the estates; and
achieve a mixed and balanced housing tenure and dwelling size mix
across the whole area.

provision of, or contributions, to programmes that enable local people to
access new job opportunities through training, local apprenticeships or
targetted recruitment;
environmental improvement and measures to enhance environmental
sustainability, such as decentralised energy and heat networks;
provision of land, buildings and funding for new or improved publically
available social infrastructure that benefits the area as a whole;
provision of, or contributions to, transport infrastructure or improvements
that are necessary to secure the regeneration of the whole area.

All development must have regard to its setting and context within the OA and
in the surrounding area in Hammersmith and Fulham and Royal Borough of
Kensington and Chelsea. It should reflect, extend, improve, and integrate with
the urban grain and pattern of development in that surrounding area. The Council
will expect most of the new development to be low to medium rise, however a
limited number of tall buildings of exceptionally good designmay be acceptable,
in particular, close to the A40 and A3220 and in any other areas identified in the
White City OA planning framework tall buildings strategy.

The overall quantity of development and its expected trip generation must be
related to the capacity of the public transport and highway networks, taking
account of firm improvements that could be made, to prevent unacceptable
levels of congestion and improve the flow of essential traffic on Wood Lane, in
particular. Where individual sites come forward, the transport and traffic impact
must be considered in relation to the expected transport and physical
infrastructure capacity and impact of development opportunities in the whole
WCOA, so that sites do not take up a disproportionate part of the available
capacity. Development musty be permeable and well connected both within
and outside the area, especially for pedestrians and to overcome the barrier
effect of the West London Line/A3220 and A40.

All development must incorporate high levels of environmental performance
by the use of low and zero carbon technologies, including combined heat and
power, the establishment of a decentralised energy network and the installation
of renewable energy systems.

43Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Regeneration Area Strategies 8

Page 72



All developmentsmust have regard to, and will be considered against, theWhite
City Opportunity Area Planning Framework*

* Expected completion spring 2011.

Justification

8.6 The Opportunity Area, which is also included in the draft Revised London Plan, will
enable an area wide approach to social, economic and physical regeneration, including
the regeneration of the White City estates. The Council and GLA are preparing an
Opportunity Area Planning Framework, and with Transport for London a transport study,
which will providemore detailed guidance on development capacity and planning principles.

Housing, mixed and sustainable communities and decent neighbourhoods

8.7 The existence of a major potential development area, east of Wood Lane, provides
a unique opportunity to plan for housing across the wider WCOA area in a way that can
enable regeneration of the major housing estate areas and provide better housing
opportunities for people in different economic circumstances. The strategy is:

To encourage the long term phased regeneration, over 20 years, of some or all of the
White City estates (White City Estate, Wood Lane and Batman Close) on the basis
of our decent neighbourhood principles (as set out above). Regeneration could include
refurbishment or redevelopment focusing, in particular, on the housing blocks that
provide less satisfactory conditions because of environment, condition or access.
The approach to estate regeneration will be developed with a full programme of
engagement and discussion with residents.
The land east of Wood Lane will be developed for a mix of uses (largely new housing
and employment). This should provide a proportion of new social rented and other
affordable housing that will allow some of the residents of all the estates in the area
to move to better homes. That in turn would:
help reduce polarisation of housing tenure across the whole area;
enable the early stages of estate regeneration.

8.8 The priority for social rented housing is to enable better accommodation for existing
residents and enable estate regeneration, and the overall quantity of social rented housing
in the WCOA will not reduce. However, as new housing is provided and the stock is
regenerated there will be a better mix of housing sizes to alleviate any current overcrowding,
especially affecting families, by providing more appropriate dwellings. There will be a
substantial increase in intermediate housing in different forms.

8.9 All new housing should be provided to a high standard with a good mix of sizes and
types, and available amenities. Low and medium rise housing providing a satisfactory
proportion of family housing should predominate but higher rise blocks intended largely
for non-family flats would also be appropriate in suitable locations.

8.10 Part of White City East is appropriate for student homes. The indicative housing
figure includes any student provision that might be made.

8.11 Local facilities (e.g. shopping, leisure, recreation, schools and health) should be
provided in a phased way that meets the needs of the increasing population.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy44

8 Regeneration Area Strategies

Page 73



Employment and creative industries

8.12 There is already a focus on creative industries in the borough and particularly in
this area. There is scope to develop a new creative quarter, with a potential for not only
replacing the jobs lost by the relocation of the activities in the BBC TV Centre by 2012 but
also for creating additional employment. We aim to create the conditions for creative
industries to establish and expand in the area, by planning for the type of space and local
environment that enable these industries to flourish. There is also scope to encourage
bio-medical research and development (R&D) related to the Imperial College research
facilities at Hammersmith Hospital. Imperial College intends to bring forward a scheme
that will include student accommodation and facilities, together with R&D accommodation
on the former BBC Woodlands site.

8.13 The main area for new employment will be as part of mixed use development east
of Wood Lane but other opportunities will be taken, such as the future use of the BBC TV
Centre. Any office developments in Shepherds Bush Town

8.14 Centre will be expected to support the regeneration of the town centre and should
be small or medium scale and normally part of mixed use schemes.

8.15 Proposals that involve substantial employment should come with programmes to
offer training and job opportunities to local people, and make links with local schools. In
this way the local area can benefit more directly. We will aim for a high proportion of jobs
to be taken by local people.

Town Centre

8.16 Westfield and the greatly improved transport links have brought many more people
to Shepherds Bush. This, and the regeneration of the Common planned for 2011/13, will
help improve the old town centre and make it more of a destination. However, the western
part of the centre including the market as well as the W12 Centre to the south of the
Common will need action to sustain their roles as key anchors for the town centre

8.17 We will maintain and encourage Shepherds Bush’s role as a centre for leisure,
culture and entertainment (complementing the creative industry focus), in ways that do
not lead to unacceptable impacts for residents and other town centre users. In particular,
we will do what we can to support the future of the Bush Theatre and encourage the use
of the former library and the former Odeon Cinema building for arts,cultural or entertainment
use as part of the creative industries hub.

8.18 In recognition of the opening of Westfield London, and the change in the role of
Shepherds Bush as a town centre, the Revised London Plan proposes its redesignation
as a Metropolitan Centre. Bearing in mind the proposed metropolitan centre designation,
the West London Retail Needs Study has projected a significant need for further retail
floorspace in the centre within the plan period. We will aim to meet the identified retail
need primarily within the town centre, which includes strengthening the convenience and
comparison offer in the market and the W12 Centre. We do not currently propose any
extension of the town centre boundary north of Westfield. However, there may be physical
scope for some additional retail to be located there as part of a mix with substantial leisure
facilities and residential as part of a development that would link the existing Westfield
centre with land to the north. Such additional retail would need a full assessment in terms
of need, capacity and sequential impact. Should acceptable proposals come forward the
Council will consider proposing an extension of the town centre boundary as part of a
future review of the Core Strategy.

45Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Regeneration Area Strategies 8

Page 74



Transport

8.19 The capacity of the transport system has been increased with the opening of two
new stations, interchange facilities at Shepherds Bush and at Wood Lane, and other
transport improvements. However, our vision for the area will be dependent on further
improvements in public transport, cycling and walking to ensure that a very high proportion
of trips are made in that way, including the construction of Crossrail to relieve pressure
on the Central Line. Further improvements to the West London Line services are likely to
be important and a Crossrail station and/or High Speed 2 rail link station in the Old Oak
area would bring great benefits in the long term. We must also ensure that the highway
network can handle the traffic, especially on north to south road links, and local capacity
improvements will be needed. There is scope to reduce trip generation if the area is
developed in a way that encourages people to live and work in the area and if there is a
coordinated approach to freight and deliveries. The WCOAPF work includes a detailed
transport study, being carried out with Transport for London.

Urban design, connectivity and tall buildings

8.20 There is an opportunity to create a high quality townscape, opening up the area
east of Wood Lane and achieving a high degree of permeability and connectivity across
the area and to the surrounding area (including with the Royal Borough of Kensington &
Chelsea). The whole area should be planned to enable easy movement within the area
and to the surroundings, especially from homes to transport stops and stations,
employment, shops, schools, open space, leisure and other facilities. It should also be
planned in a way that has regard to, and integrates development within, the urban grain,
character and pattern of development in the wider surrounding area within the boroughs
of Hammersmith & Fulham and Kensington & Chelsea.

8.21 Parts of the area such as alongside the A40 and A3220 are less sensitive to the
impact of building height, so tall buildings could be considered as part of the approach to
urban design provided they are of exceptional design quality. The WCOAPF will set out
a tall buildings strategy. Any buildings that are visible from RBKC should have regard to
that borough's Core Strategy policy CL2 (subject to adoption).

Delivery

8.22 We are working, with the GLA and Transport for London, on a new White City
Opportunity Area Planning Framework (WCOAPF) (public consultation autumn 2010,
completion 2011). This will set out more detailed planning guidance.

8.23 Arising from the OAPF, delivery mechanisms will need to be established to provide
the necessary level of coordination of future action between public bodies and private land
owners and developers. The Council is considering establishing a local housing company
to coordinate estate regeneration.

8.24 In order to deliver the objectives for the area, it is essential that there is a
comprehensive approach and that individual private sector site developments contribute
to wider regeneration in the opportunity area.

8.25 In the north of the Opportunity Area, in particular, there are substantial private
sector development sites side by side with areas of major estate based deprivation.
Realisation of the development potential of those sites must be seen in the context of the
proper planning of that wider area, especially in terms of how development helps to bring
about or facilitate estate regeneration, provides tangible benefits for the existing community

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy46

8 Regeneration Area Strategies

Page 75



and achieves a mixed and balanced community across the whole area. In this way,
development will contribute to the Core Strategy's aims of reducing social and economic
polarisation and encouraging social mobility. It will help reduce the concentrations of
deprivation associated with the large mono tenure housing estates and help to significantly
improve the fabric of these outdated estates. Developments in the north of the area that
do not contribute to achieving these regeneration objectives, and, in particular, a mixed
and balanced community, will not be acceptable.

8.26 Development must also contribute to the provision of the social, physical, energy
supply and transport infrastructure that is necessary to support the overall potential of the
area: including public open space, new schools and community leisure facilities, a district
energy scheme; and, additionally to the east of Wood Lane, tunnels or elevated crossings
across the West London Line/A3220, routes under the Westway, additional entrance to
White City Underground.

8.27 Individual development must not have an adverse impact on the transport network
and must not consume a disproportionate amount of transport capacity on the network
relative to the rest of the Opportunity Area and other potential developments. This is
particularly important in the core development area east of Wood Lane. The landowners
in this area are expected to collaborate, to a large extent, and it would be preferable for
them to enter into some form of agreement to bring forward development on the basis of
the WCOAPF.

8.28 The indicative figures for homes (including student accommodation) and jobs are
based on broad assessments of possible capacity for the core development areas and
informed by work on the emerging WCOAPF. Achieving or exceeding the figures for
homes and jobs on individual development sites will require, inter alia, a detailed
consideration of urban design, desirable land use mix, provision of supporting facilities
and social infrastructure, transport capacity and environmental impact. It will depend
fundamentally on the creation of well designed places that meet the objectives for the
area. Regeneration of the estates could take various forms which could provide additional
homes.

8.29 This policy will be reviewed as and when Regulation 123 of the Community
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 comes into effect in respect of the council’s area.

Strategic Sites And Potential Housing Regeneration Areas

8.30 There are a number of areas within the wider White City Opportunity Area, which
are key to achieving the overall vision:

White City East
White City West
Shepherds Bush Market

47Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Regeneration Area Strategies 8

Page 76



Strategic Site 1 - WCOA

White City East

Owners: BBC, Helical Bar/Aviva, Marks and Spencer, Westfield, Imperial College

Theremust be a comprehensive approach to the development of the area which
provides high quality places for living and working that are well integrated with,
and respect the setting of, the surrounding area. There should be a masterplan
in line with the White City Opportunity Area Framework and its transport study
that provides the basis for detailed planning applications. All development
must contribute to achieving the strategic policy for the opportunity area,
especially in terms of directly contributing to the regeneration of the north of
the opportunity area.

The area should be redeveloped for a mix of housing, employment and
community uses, establishing a creative industries hub, primary school, major
leisure facilities, and a key local centre with supporting uses (e.g. local shopping,
restaurants and community facilities). Within the overall mix of uses there could
be scope to accommodate major educational, cultural and health facilities.
Development must be well related to a pattern of public and private open spaces
set within a high quality public realm.

40% of housing should be affordable. Approximately 25% of housing should
be social rented in sizes and types that enable local estate regeneration.
Provision of some student accommodation is appropriate as part of a satisfactory
overall mix of housing.

All separate sites must individually contribute proportionally to achievement
of the objectives and policies for the area; and, to the overall provision of social
and physical infrastructure, affordable housing, and any necessary
improvements to the transport infrastructure that are together necessary to
enable the area to be developed to its potential. Developments should take
advantage of the opportunity for a decentralised energy network across a wide
area. Theremust be a permeable pattern of streets, pedestrian and cycle routes
that knits the area together and connects it with the surrounding area.

The overall quantity of development on land east of Wood Lane (and the BBC
sites) must not rely disproportionately on the public transport and highway
capacity that is available in the WCOA as a whole, as this could prevent other
development proposals from achieving an acceptable potential. Development
of land alongside the West London Line/A3220 must provide connections to
the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea, especially for pedestrians.
Similarly, development on either side of the A40 must be well connected.

The parts of the BBC TVCentre which have historic and/or architectural interest
must be retained and the Centre's setting respected. Proposals for the complex
should ensure it is integrated within the area in terms of urban design and
connectivity to west and east.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy48

8 Regeneration Area Strategies

Page 77



Justification

8.31 This area includes all the land to the north of Westfield on the east side of Wood
Lane, the BBC TV Centre and undeveloped land at the BBC Media Village. It is the most
substantial opportunity for early regeneration in the borough and key to our spatial vision.
A considerable amount of work was undertaken by themajor landowners on the preparation
of a master plan for the area. This has been tested in preparing the new WCOAPF which
will set out planning guidance in more detail than the LDF or London Plan. A new
masterplan should be prepared to translate that framework guidance into a basis for the
preparation of detailed schemes. A comprehensive masterplan will enable the potential
of the area to be optimised by integrating the contribution of individual land holdings in to
achieving the overall objectives for the area. There must, in particular, be a means for
ensuring that separate development proposals contribute to the provision of social and
physical infrastructure necessary to support development of the whole area. Development
must also be set in the context of the overall transport capacity in WCOA and any
improvements that can be made. Just as individual sites in the east side must not take a
disproportionate amount of transport capacity, the east side, as a whole, must not take a
disproportionate amount of the capacity available for the WCOA as a whole.

8.32 This is a large area which is largely bounded and crossed by roads and railway
lines but it must not be planned out of context with the surrounding area both within and
outside the opportunity area. Development is an opportunity to connect with and knit
together the surroundings while providing a permeable internal layout. This means not
only making physical linkages but considering and extending the broader setting and
pattern of land uses and the character and nature of the urban grain and neighbourhoods
in this part of inner West London. That will provide an appropriate basis for considering
the location of larger buildings.

8.33 The opportunity should be taken to provide for major leisure activities close to the
town centre. A new primary school will be needed together with sufficient public open
space for residents and workers and smaller scale leisure, recreational, shopping and
health facilities to support the future residential and working population in the area.

8.34 The provision of housing must assist the regeneration of the estates and the
establishment of a mixed and balanced community across the opportunity area, in terms
of tenure mix and housing type. This would require approximately 25% of new homes to
be social rented housing. The new housing must provide homes of different types, tenure
and sizes. It should be designed to provide an attractive residential environment within a
mixed use context. Subject to that, there may be potential to achieve high densities of
housing development in certain parts of the area, subject to the overall transport capacity
and the acceptability of taller buildings. There is an increasing demand for student housing
and there is more scope in opportunity areas to provide for this and deal with its impacts
in an acceptable way. This is particularly appropriate in this area in view of the good public
transport accessibility.

8.35 Any development will be expected to contribute to the Strategic Policy for the
Opportunity Area and to help bring about regeneration across the whole of the northern
part of the area, in particular. This is essential in order to reduce social and economic
polarisation and to encourage social mobility.

49Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Regeneration Area Strategies 8

Page 78



8.36 Any development should provide an accessible and a high quality environment
and townscape and be supported by improved access to the transport networks and good
pedestrian linkages to the surrounding area, including RB Kensington & Chelsea. The
area immediately north of Westfield needs extremely careful handling in urban design and
land-use terms to overcome the barrier effect of the Westfield access arrangements and
provide a good linkage into the northern area through the railway arches. The way in
which open space is provided for residents and workers will be a critical aspect of the
layout of the area. It could be in the form of public and private areas but public areas must
be provided with a view to achieving a high quality, useable, safe and easily maintainable
public realm. The provision of a public open space must be set within an overall open
space strategy that optimises the benefits of open space.

8.37 In view of the size of the site, development must fully incorporate the principles of
sustainable design and construction, including combined heat and power, a decentralised
energy network and the installation of renewable energy systems and the sustainable
management of waste generated by the development.

8.38 The BBC has announced that following its decision to move certain services to
Salford and central London it expects to sell the TV Centre after 2012. The Centre is a
locally listed building of merit and part of the building has been placed on the national list
of buildings of special historic or architectural interest (grade 2). Although a part of the
building has been identified as worthy of retention, there could still be scope for
redevelopment of some parts of the Centre. The TV Centre is strategically significant to
the future of theWhite City Opportunity Area because of its location, the potential for linking
the western part of the White City area with Wood Lane and the potential for creation of
a public open space focus on Wood Lane; and because it is a significant refurbishment/
development opportunity which should take advantage of the creative industries legacy
of the BBC. The preferred uses should be relevant to the nature of the historic use. Any
development and re-use of the BBC TV Centre should retain the core buildings of historic
and architectural importance, especially the iconic appearance from Wood Lane. If
redevelopment of the more recent parts of the TV Centre on Wood Lane takes place this
should be considered in conjunction with theWood Lane housing estate and the TA Centre
which are adjacent. (see next section).

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy50

8 Regeneration Area Strategies

Page 79



Strategic Site and Housing Estate Regeneration Area 2 - WCOA

White City Estates (White City, Batman Close,Wood Lane), QPR football ground,
TA Centre strategic site and estate regeneration area

Owner: LBHF, RSLs and private, QPR football club and the Ministry of Defence TA
Depot.

The Council will encourage a phased regeneration of the estates over 20 years
as part of an overall strategy that will:

result in social and economic regeneration and maximise opportunities for
residents to obtain local jobs;
achieve better accommodation and conditions for existing residents within
the opportunity area; and
enable the existing diverse community to thrive within a more mixed and
sustainable community.

Any new housing should provide a mix of tenures as part of the overall strategy
for the opportunity area. Low and medium rise housing should predominate.

Any development must help provide a permeable street pattern and be well
integrated with the surrounding area. In parts of the area, commercial
development may be appropriate to help increase local employment
opportunities, especially, if land is less suitable for residential purposes.

If proposals come forward to develop and/or replace the QPR football ground
in the area, the acceptability of any scheme, will be considered, in particular, in
terms of:

the impact on the locality; and
whether it would provide an opportunity to enable the regeneration of the
estates in a way that provides clear benefits to existing residents.

As part of the detailed planning for this area the future of the TA centre should
be taken into account and any development must contribute to the objectives
for the area.

Future school, health, community, leisure, public and private open space and
shopping provision must be included in any proposals.

Justification

8.39 The White City Estate, the largest estate in the borough, was built in the 1930s
and is primarily low and medium in scale and density. The blocks are laid out around
courtyard areas and the estate is inward looking and has poor connections with the
surrounding area. The northern blocks are adjacent to the major arterial road – the A40
Westway – and suffer from high levels of air and noise pollution as a result. The estate
has a number of sites providing a range of services to local residents, some of which will
come forward for redevelopment over the next few years. The future use of these sites
would best be determined as part of an overall strategy for the area.

51Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Regeneration Area Strategies 8

Page 80



8.40 Batman Close is formed by a number of blocks laid out around a large underused
area of land within the centre of the estate. The environment of the communal space
contrasts poorly with the higher quality environment found within the adjacent Hammersmith
Park open space. Whilst theWood Lane estate is of a later construction to the other estates
in the area, it is dominated by the BBC buildings which butt up to the estate boundary and
overshadow the lower rise housing. The estate has had some piecemeal rebuilding
undertaken within the last decade.

8.41 At present, there are high levels of multiple deprivation on the estates associated
with very high proportions (66%) of social rented housing. Physical change can have a
significant impact in terms of better homes and local facilities and designing out crime.
However, action will be needed to address underlying causes of deprivation especially
through education and training and programmes aimed at ensuring a high proportion of
estate residents have access to the many local jobs that will be created in the White City
Opportunity Area, especially in creative industries.

8.42 The development of land in the east of the Opportunity Area (and possibly land
such as the QPR ground - see below) to include a substantial amount of housing provides
a major opportunity for people living on the estates. Firstly, there is an opportunity for
people who need better accommodation more suited to their needs or who are able to
move into some form of intermediate housing. Secondly, it would be possible to consider
rehousing residents who live in those housing blocks that are acknowledged to be of poorer
quality (e.g. next to the A40 Westway or lacking lifts). Thirdly, the rehousing opportunity
could enable a long term phased programme of estate regeneration through refurbishment
and/or partial development, with better housing, improved layout and connectivity to the
surroundings, and improved environmental conditions. This could transform the estates
area, reduce social and economic polarisation and to encourage social mobility;

8.43 and, ensure that the existing estates community continue to live in the White City
area but within an even more diverse, mixed and sustainable wider community.. We will
continue to discuss these potential benefits with estate residents with a view to agreeing
the way forward.

8.44 The particular benefits of a phased regeneration are these:

The housing stock could be refurbished or partially replaced with modern, much higher
quality accommodation having a better mix of housing types and sizes and requiring
less maintenance. New housing would have lifts in all medium and high rise blocks.
There could be a better more permeable housing layout with more attractive, more
useful and easier to maintain amenity spaces. Instead of typical estate slab blocks
there could be more street based properties.
There would be the opportunity to design out crime, anti-social behaviour and improve
security in housing and open spaces.
Overcrowding and under occupation issues could be dealt with, allowing homes to
better fit need.
Dwellings and open spaces could be designed to fully take account of the needs of
disabled people and the provision of lifetime homes.
New or refurbished housing would have greater energy efficiency.
For existing tenants, and for their children when they need their own home, whether
rented or owned, there would be a much better choice of housing types and tenure
in the locality with more opportunities for people to realise their aspirations to move
into affordable home ownership.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy52

8 Regeneration Area Strategies

Page 81



8.45 The QPR ground at Loftus Road is a cramped site and its future and the club’s
ambitions should be considered in the planning of this area over the next 20 years. If the
Club wishes to remain in the area with a larger stadium, this could only be considered as
part of an approach to estate regeneration that achieves substantial benefits as set out
above. That could include, for instance, provision of better replacement housing, especially
for estate residents who live in poorer quality blocks, such as by redevelopment of the
existing football ground or other sites for a mix of new housing. However, if the Club
wishes to put forward proposals, these would need full discussion with local residents to
establish if there are sufficient benefits for the area and local people.

8.46 The Territorial Army Centre is a low intensity use of land which could be better
used given its location and the opportunities for a development that would facilitate estate
regeneration should be considered if the TA facility can be relocated.

Strategic Site 3 - WCOA

Shepherds Bush Market and adjacent land

Owner: Transport for London, Shepherds BushMarket Enterprises, Council, Peabody
Trust, Broadway and private.

Regeneration of the market and other adjacent land to create a vibrant mixed
use town centre development of small shops, market stalls, leisure uses,
residential and possibly offices; in accordance with the Shepherds BushMarket
Supplementary Planning Document. Development should encourage small
independent retailers and accommodate existing market traders.

The core site will be the TfLmarket, former Pennard Road laundry site, Peabody
Trust housing land and Broadway centre. Shop properties on Goldhawk Road
should be included provided there are opportunities for relocation of the
shopkeepers to new premises within the scheme. The scope for including land
to the west of the market off Lime Grove, together with the privately owned
market must also be considered.

The former Shepherds Bush library should be used for cultural purposes.

Any development should take place in accordance with the guidance set out in
the Shepherds Bush Market Supplementary Planning Document.

Justification

8.47 The market is an important and distinctive part of the town centre’s offer. It attracts
trade from a wide area. Nearly a quarter of shoppers in Shepherds Bush visit the centre
to buy specialist ethnic food products and 8% to specifically visit the market. The Council
considers that if the market is to continue as an important feature it requires improvement.
This will not only ensure long term viability of the market, but also contribute to the
regeneration of Shepherds Bush town centre.

53Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Regeneration Area Strategies 8

Page 82



8.48 However, the market operates on a cramped site and there are opportunities to
consider combining it with other land to produce a scheme with wider regeneration benefits.
The adjacent Pennard Road, former laundry land is key to this and a joint development is
a better solution than just housing, for what is a backland site with limited access. The
Peabody Trust and Broadway Centre land should be brought into a scheme, subject to
agreement on relocation.

8.49 The land is fronted by shop premises on Goldhawk Road which provide
accommodation for small retail businesses some of which complement themarket. Inclusion
of these properties in a development scheme would be beneficial because a development
would be opened up to Goldhawk Road but any developer will be expected to negotiate
to relocate traders within a scheme.

8.50 A mixed use scheme providing modern small shops and leisure use, together with
a revamped market, will not only be a destination in its own right, it will also help regenerate
and bring more trade to the surrounding commercial frontages. A cultural leisure activity
would provide a good focus for a scheme.

8.51 Careful design will be needed to relate development well to the surroundings,
especially residential properties in Pennard Road.

8.52 The former Shepherds Bush library is a building of merit and has potential for
cultural uses which would benefit the town centre and complement themarket regeneration.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy54

8 Regeneration Area Strategies

Page 83



Hammersmith Town Centre and Riverside

Vision

8.53 Hammersmith will be a vibrant, accessible and thriving town centre with an important
strategic role in the borough and West London, as well as serving a substantial local
resident and working population. It will maintain and build on its importance as a major
retail, arts, entertainment and employment centre and be the focus for high quality local
government services, with a wide range of modern leisure activities and community
services. It will continue to have major locational advantages for office development and
secure more modern accommodation.

8.54 The riverside will be recognised as a complementary part of the town centre.
Riverside development will provide high environmental quality for living and leisure to
complement the existing frontage. There will be improved links between the town centre
and riverside.

55Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Regeneration Area Strategies 8

Page 84



Strategic Policy HTC

Hammersmith Town Centre and Riverside

Indicative new jobsIndicative additional homes

5,0001,000

To encourage the regeneration
of the town centre and riverside
to provide a wide range of major
retail, employment, local
government services, leisure,
arts, entertainment and
community facilities. The
Council will continue to build on
the centre’s major locational
advantages for office
development and secure more
modern accommodation.
Opportunities will be taken to
continually improve the
environment and public realm,
and to improve access between
the town centre and the Thames.

This policy particularly
promotes:

the continuation of Hammersmith Town Centre as a major town centre and
a strategic office location with high quality public realm;
the redevelopment of parts of Hammersmith Town Centre by actively
encouraging the improvement of the KingsMall Shopping Centre andmajor
stores in this area of the town centre;
the regeneration of the western part of the town centre around the Town
Hall;
improvement in the range and quality of independent and specialist shops
and services, as well as leisure services; and
high quality development of prominent riverside sites.

Justification

8.55 In the last 10-15 years there has been relatively little private investment in
development although schemes have been or are under preparation. However, there has
been significant investment in the public realm that has resulted in the provision of St
Paul’s Green and Lyric Square. The bus station has been expanded (temporarily pending
permanent extension in a future development). The Greater Hammersmith Business
Improvement District (BID) has also been set up. Its objectives include “to inject life and
vibrancy into central Hammersmith attracting more people to the area and making it a
more desirable place to work in and visit“.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy56

8 Regeneration Area Strategies

Page 85



8.56 There are high levels of deprivation in and around the town centre and less than
15% of the housing in the town centre is owner occupied. Most is rented (66%) from the
council or from housing associations.

8.57 Although Hammersmith has a wide range of town centre functions, major roads,
particularly the A4, severely impact on the centre, significantly reducing environmental
quality and restricting pedestrian movement. The A4, including the flyover, make access
to the riverside difficult and pedestrian movement unpleasant in all other directions.

Retail, leisure and community facilities

8.58 Hammersmith is a major town centre providing shopping facilities for a catchment
population of nearly 46,000 people. Over half of the retail space is in Kings Mall which
was built nearly 30 years ago. The West London Joint Retail Needs Study 2010 noted
that Kings Mall has a “worn and dated exterior” and would benefit from investment and
improvement. Despite its dated appearance, the study found that Hammersmith is
performing well as a mid range high street destination which meets a local shopping need.
It had been expected that Westfield would have some impact on this town centre, but
Westfield is meeting a wider regional shopping need and the large local office based
workforce (about 15,000) within Hammersmith town centre is helping the centre remain
vibrant.

8.59 The town centre is also important for community services with all the main local
government services, including the main library, which is in need of modernisation and a
better, more accessible, location, and archive centre based in Hammersmith. It also
contains a police station, and Hammersmith fire station.

8.60 Hammersmith also has a strong tradition of arts, culture and entertainment with
the Lyric Theatre, a four screen cinema and the Hammersmith Apollo, with Riverside
Studios a short distance away. The London Plan identifies the town centre as having a
strategically important cluster of night time activities. Hotel facilities are situated within the
centre and on its edges.

8.61 The approach to regenerating the shopping centre has two key elements. Firstly,
the core shopping area focused on the eastern end of King Street should be strengthened
by encouraging development that modernises existing accommodation and extends the
range of other facilities. Secondly, we will encourage a general upgrading of the shopping
offer at the western end of King Street, up to and around the Town Hall. To achieve this,
there needs to be a clearer attractor which will lead to greater pedestrian flows in King
Street while not detracting from the core shopping area. This will be provided by our
proposal for the creation of a high quality civic centre campus based around the listed
Town Hall with a public square and with some new shopping and restaurants.

8.62 Within the town centre, there will be a defined prime retail frontage and controls
over the amount and types of uses that could occupy ground floor frontages in order to
maintain an attractive and vibrant retail frontage.

8.63 We will also sustain and enhance Hammersmith’s role as a cultural and leisure
destination. However, whilst maintaining the important leisure role we will ensure that there
are none of the adverse impact that some leisure uses, such as pubs and bars, can have
on local residents and on crime and anti-social behaviour.

57Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Regeneration Area Strategies 8

Page 86



8.64 Hammersmith should continue to have a mainstream cinema but a better located
and a modern venue would be desirable. A modern central library would also benefit the
town centre.

Offices

8.65 Hammersmith is also an office centre of sub-regional significance. Its role as an
office centre extends to the east along Hammersmith Road to Olympia and to the south
along Fulham Palace Road.

8.66 It is proposed to maintain the town centre’s status as a primary office location
reflecting priorities in the Council’s Economic Development Strategy 2007 (EDS). We will
promote an increase in energy efficient modern office accommodation and renovation or
replacement of buildings that are no longer attractive to business tenants. The high level
of public transport accessibility of the town centre means that there should be little need
for private car use so that office growth can take place without adverse effects on
surrounding residential areas. However, this impact will be an important consideration in
any schemes that come forward.

8.67 Whilst maintaining existing established concentrations of offices at Hammersmith
Broadway and Butterwick, we will take the opportunity to promote and seek new office
floorspace in mixed use schemes throughout the whole town centre where this is considered
appropriate. Office developments should have active frontages with other uses that enhance
the street.

Housing

8.68 In the main town centre, the priority should be for shopping, leisure and offices but
new residential development is also important. A very accessible location is a good place
for higher density flatted accommodation, especially for small households without the need
of a car. In addition, this helps bring evening activity and vitality into the town centre.
Therefore, we will encourage the provision of housing. All new housing developments will
be expected to contribute to a more mixed and balanced community and to provide more
choice for people on low to middle incomes.

Tall buildings

8.69 Policy BE1 identifies the town centre as an area where tall buildings may be
appropriate but notes that not all parts of the town centre will be suitable. Any proposals
for tall buildings will need to respect/enhance the historic context, make a positive
contribution to the skyline emphasising a point of civic or visual significance, demonstrate
tangible urban design benefits, and be consistent with the Council's wider regeneration
objectives.

Transport and traffic

8.70 The town centre has a very high level of accessibility by public transport, and by
road from the west and east. Planned improvements by Transport for London will increase
capacity on the Hammersmith and City Line. North-south traffic movement is congested
but there are plans to reduce congestion in the northern part of Fulham Palace Road.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy58

8 Regeneration Area Strategies

Page 87



8.71 In general, growth in the town centre is not expected to be too constrained by public
transport capacity but major development proposals will be expected to contribute to
necessary transport infrastructure improvements and include a package of measures
which promote sustainable movement, restrain the use of the car and prevent adverse
impacts on the surrounding road network. Shopper and visitor car parking will be an
important ongoing requirement in the town centre.

Between the riverside and town centre

8.72 East of Hammersmith Bridge there are opportunities for high quality development
that will not only provide the missing link in the riverwalk but also provide ground level
uses appropriate to a river location, as well as substantial new housing. Where possible,
any development between the town centre and riverside must help improve the pedestrian
links between the two and overcome the barrier effect of the A4 and the flyover.

Development opportunities

8.73 There are three development opportunity sites which are set out below. In addition
to these there are other major sites and potential areas for development that will contribute
to the strategy for the town centre but which are not identified as being of strategic
importance individually. These include:

1. Hammersmith and City Line station car park. There is an existing planning
permission for offices and a four screen cinema. Should these proposals not be
implemented the Council would wish to explore alternative opportunities including retail
and a suitable cultural contribution to the town centre (e.g. a new library), and re-examine
the scope for development that would link over the station with the Hammersmith Palais
site.

2. Hammersmith Palais site is currently vacant. The site had planning permission for
redevelopment to provide offices and leisure but this permission has expired and as above,
should this and the car park site not be implemented the council will encourage the
exploration of the scope for a linking development across the station

3. Hammersmith Broadway, Centre West 4. This site is currently being used as a
temporary extension to the bus station. Long term development should provide a permanent
extension.

8.74 The economic health of King Street is crucial to the future of the town centre as it
is the artery which connects the key parts of the centre and which contributes most to the
centre’s character. The key Town Hall and St. Martin’s sites (described below) are
strategically important to regeneration in King Street but there are other parts of the street
which clearly provide opportunities for development or major refurbishment. The
regeneration strategy for the town centre is partly aimed at encouraging investment that
will improve the range of shopping facilities and upgrade the appearance of rundown
and/or underused parts of the street which do not contribute positively to the character of
the townscape.

59Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Regeneration Area Strategies 8

Page 88



Flood risk

8.75 Although most of Hammersmith is at risk from tidal flooding (Flood Zone 3A) it is
not considered that development in this highly accessible area should be discouraged or
prevented, as this would result in development taking place in less sustainable areas and
the potential long term decline of the area. Site specific Flood Risk Assessments will be
required to accompany planning applications and where necessary will need to pass the
‘Exception Test’ in accordance with Planning Policy Statement 25 (PPS25).

Delivery

8.76 Taking into account the potential from existing sites In Hammersmith Town Centre
and the key sites that will come forward through the implementation of this strategy, it
should be possible to achieve at least 1,000 additional homes and about 5,000 additional
jobs in this regeneration area in the period up to 2031.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy60

8 Regeneration Area Strategies

Page 89



Strategic Sites and Potential Housing Regeneration Areas

Strategic Site 1 - HTC

Town Hall and adjacent land, Nigel Playfair Avenue

Owner: Hammersmith & Fulham Council and Private. Area: 1.33ha

Offices and amix of town centre uses, including retail, employment and housing
is proposed. The development will be expected to open up the Grade II listed
Town Hall frontage by demolishing the Town Hall Extension and creating a new
public space. Replacement council offices will be provided. The development,
in terms of the mix of uses and design, must provide a strong focus of activity
in this part of King Street, complementing the core shopping area and helping
to improve the economic health of the intervening part of the town centre. The
opportunity should be taken to improve links with Furnival Gardens and the
river.

Proposals for tall buildings will be considered in accordance with Policy BE1
having particular regard to the civic significance of the site and the importance
of enhancing the contribution and setting of the Grade II listed Town Hall
building.

Justification

8.77 This is the only major potential development site at the western end of the town
centre and it is key to the regeneration of this area. In order to realise the regenerative
benefits and a suitable mix of uses, a comprehensive redevelopment based on assembling
a sufficiently large site is proposed. This comprises the car park, cinema, Pocklington
Estate and the Friends Meeting House as well as the Town Hall Extension. However, as
the cinema is included on the local register of buildings of merit, it will be included in
redevelopment proposals only if the benefits to this part of Hammersmith outweigh its loss.

8.78 The development should include a mix of retail units (shops and restaurants). The
site is currently separate from the main part of the shopping centre and therefore the size
and range of retail units should attract shoppers to this end of King Street, but should not
undermine the overall strategy to improve the range and quality of shopping at the eastern
end of King Street.

8.79 The provision of new public spaces and greatly improved pedestrian and cycle
access to Furnival Gardens and the riverside will also help to establish this end of the
town centre as a destination. The Town Hall Extension is outworn and unattractive and
its demolition would greatly improve the setting of the Grade II listed main Town Hall
building and enable the creation of a high quality civic campus with a new public space
with the potential for arts and leisure events. It will also enable greatly improved road
access and servicing of the site. The development also needs to include a substantial
element of office floorspace to enable the replacement of the Town Hall Extension and
improved access to council services.

61Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Regeneration Area Strategies 8

Page 90



8.80 Any development should also enable a significant increase in housing built to meet
high standards of access and energy efficiency. This will also help to meet the objective
for a greater choice of housing in the town centre and help regenerate this part of King
Street through increased trade for local shops.

Strategic Site and Housing Estate Regeneration Area 2 - HTC

Kings Mall and Ashcroft Square Estate, King Street strategic site and estate
regeneration area

To encourage proposals which improve the contributionwhich KingsMall makes
to the town centre by:

enhancing the attractiveness of, and access to, the shopping centre and
its appearance on King Street;
improving the mix of town centre facilities, such as by including a
replacement central library within existing or enhanced accommodation;
and
supporting the Lyric Theatre.

If large scale proposals are put forward, and depending on the scale:

The Council will encourage regeneration of the Ashcroft Square housing
estate and provision of new or refurbished housing in a mix of tenures
including intermediate housing (with any reprovision of estate
accommodation being on site or within the locality).

There should be:

provision of a new central library incorporating accommodation for adult
learning unless this is provided elsewhere in the meantime;
provision of a substantial number of new jobs through office development
better town centre facilities; and
a mainstream cinema, unless proposals are implemented in the short term
for a cinema elsewhere in the town centre.

Any development of this site will be expected to greatly improve the town centre
environment and townscape, and improve pedestrian linkages, especially
between car parking and shops, and between the podium deck and King Street.
There is scope for including tall buildings provided these do not adversely
impact on residential areas.

The Lyric Theatre must be retained with improved facilities, especially to extend
its arts and educational opportunities.

The scope for development above theUnderground tracks should be investigated
as part of a comprehensive development scheme.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy62

8 Regeneration Area Strategies

Page 91



Justification

8.81 The site is located in the heart of Hammersmith Town Centre. It consists primarily
of the Kings Mall shopping centre with the Ashcroft Square housing estate above and also
includes the Glenthorne Road multi-storey car park, the Underground railway lines, the
Lyric Square and other smaller parcels of land. The site has been highlighted by its owners
as likely to be the subject of proposals for rebuilding and renewal during the Core Strategy
plan period. Their view is that the shopping centre could be retained with rebuilding on
the podium deck. However, in the short term refurbishment proposals for the shopping
centre may be brought forward and would provide opportunities for improved town centre
facilities.

8.82 As there is a possibility of major development proposals within the lifetime of the
LDF, consideration should be given to the principles that should apply.

8.83 Themajority of the site comprises a 1970smixed-use development, with a shopping
mall below a council housing estate. The development was designed at the time when
podium decks linked by high level walkways were considered a desirable strategy for the
town centre. The estate has 223 flats situated over 7 floors above the podium deck, of
which 89% are social rented. The structure of the dwellings has some challenges that are
difficult to resolve, including drainage, complex controlled access system to minimise
public access to private spaces, a poor environment with the residents’ designated amenity
spaces within the deck area being underused and providing a bleak and uninviting
landscape. Conflict between the use of the deck area between residents and the public
can create issues of anti-social behaviour. Whilst residents generally appreciate living
within the town centre there are issues of noise and other nuisance associated with early
deliveries and waste collection from the retail units and noise from the road and tube line
which affect the quality of life for residents. There could be an opportunity to regenerate
the estate in an improved environment.

8.84 The estate is not well integrated with its surroundings, being on a podium deck,
and falls short of being a decent neighbourhood, especially for families. In addition, the
Kings Mall site as a whole is not contributing its full potential to the town centre. A
comprehensive scheme for the site would greatly assist the regeneration of the town centre
as a whole and support the objectives of the Core Strategy. The opportunity exists to
improve the retail accommodation through partial development and refurbishment whilst
also substantially increasing employment opportunities with the provision of additional
office floorspace, subject to detailed studies of appropriate quantities of development.

8.85 The opportunity must be taken to properly connect the podium level uses to the
town centre, providing a development that is permeable and accessible horizontally and
vertically, with safe and secure public and private areas.

8.86 The central location of this site means that it should be considered for other town
centre uses particularly as a new focus for culture, arts and leisure. The Lyric is an important
local and London theatre and must be retained with the opportunity to expand facilities
that will help achieve arts and educational objectives. A replacement central library would
be better located with the site to provide a cultural/educational focus and this could happen
within existing accommodation as well as major development. The scale of potential
development and location also means that the site would be a good place for a modern
town centre cinema.

63Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Regeneration Area Strategies 8

Page 92



8.87 If development proposals are put forward which could affect the housing estate,
the Council will ensure there is full discussion with estate residents about the implications
and opportunities for estate regeneration. The acceptability of any such proposals will
depend on there being better housing and consideration for estate residents on the site
or in the vicinity so that the estate community can remain in the area. Other new housing
could be provided within a development but of a type that is suitable for households for
whom a high level location is appropriate. Car parking is essential for the success of the
town centre and although the existing Glenthorne Road car park could be redeveloped
some re-provision will be needed in any scheme.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy64

8 Regeneration Area Strategies

Page 93



Strategic Site and Housing Estate Regeneration Area 3 - HTC

Hammersmith Embankment strategic site and estate regeneration area (Queen’s
Wharf and Riverside Studios; Queen Caroline Estate river frontage; and
Hammersmith Embankment former office site)

Owner: Private; Riverside Studios Council with lease

The whole of this area should be considered comprehensively to secure:

a coherent riverside urban design and land-use strategy that will provide:
a high quality design and appearance (not generally exceeding the
equivalent of 6-8 residential storeys) that respects the setting and
Hammermsmith Bridge;
a mix of uses that will encourage riverside activity and use of the river;
riverside open space.

redevelopment of Queens Wharf and Riverside Studios together as one
scheme;
replacement of suitable accommodation for the Riverside Studios key
activities in an appropriate location;
high quality residential development including affordable housing and
replacement accommodation for Queen Caroline Estate residents affected
by any regeneration proposals that come forward;
40% of new housing to be affordable; and
improved links to the town centre.

Queens Wharf and Riverside Studios

Queens Wharf and Riverside Studios should be developed as one scheme to
the highest design quality.

Any development will be expected to include appropriate riverside uses to
provide an active frontage and there must be a well designed riverside walk and
treatment of the drawdock. A predominantly residential use is preferred but a
small proportion of offices is not ruled out. Any development must be of the
highest design quality as befits this prominent site.

Queen Caroline Estate river frontage

The scope for regeneration of the Queen Caroline estate river frontage with
replacement housing could be considered as part of a strategy for the whole
frontage in this policy, provide that:

replacement and better housing for the residents is provided within this
locality (e.g. within Hammersmith Embankment);
there is a better environment with more useable open space and better
facilities;
it is better related to the riverside in urban design terms;
it provides an enhanced public realm on the riverside.

Hammersmith Embankment former office site

65Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Regeneration Area Strategies 8

Page 94



The site should be developed for housing together with small scale leisure uses
(e.g. riverside restaurants) and local facilities for residents. There should be a
small riverside open space and access to the river for rowing.

Development should be designed to:

take account of the local context and setting;
enable access to the riverside from the surrounding area, and from the town
centre; and

provide a mix of largely 2-6 storey street based housing consisting of single
houses with gardens, andmaisonettes and flats inmansion blocks with gardens
or shared amenity space.

Justification

8.88 The Queens Wharf, Riverside Studios and Queen Caroline estate river frontage
and Hammersmith Embankment should be considered together for three planning reasons.
Firstly, they jointly comprise what is one of the most prominent parts of the riverside with
a key location close to Hammersmith Bridge. Secondly, and related to the first point, there
is scope to improve linkages between the town centre and the riverside. Thirdly, there is
more scope to achieve a satisfactory approach if the whole area is considered
comprehensively.

Queens Wharf and Riverside Studios

8.89 The Queens Wharf building is a vacant outworn office building. Riverside Studios
is a vibrant mix of arts, culture and entertainment together with production facilities but
there are concerns about the long term future of the building in terms of the cost of ongoing
maintenance. It has limited wheelchair access and would benefit from redevelopment to
provide modern facilities.

8.90 This is very prominent riverside land and the current buildings both detract to a
considerable extent from the appearance of the riverside and the setting of Hammersmith
bridge (Grade 2* listed building). There is great potential for a development that will mark
this gateway to the borough with a strong architectural presence and provide access to
the riverside. This, in itself, will help regenerate the area but securing the future of the
Riverside Studios arts activities is also desirable to meet regeneration objectives for the
borough and Hammersmith town centre, in particular. Development on these riverside
sites should not exceed 6 storeys unless there can be shown to be substantial design
benefits.

8.91 Residential use is preferred in this location in order to increase the quantity of new
housing in the borough. New offices should preferably be located in the more accessible
town centre although this site is only a few minutes a way. However, in the interests of
achieving an outstanding development, the council will consider a mixed use approach.

8.92 Proposals for the combined site must be considered in a wide context, taking
account of long distance views along the river. More locally, they must be set in an urban
design strategy for the surrounding area to examine, in particular, how a design would
relate to any future regeneration proposals for the Queen Caroline Estate and help improve
linkages to the town centre.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy66

8 Regeneration Area Strategies

Page 95



Queen Caroline Estate river frontage

8.93 The stretch of riverside adjoining Hammersmith Bridge is very significant and there
should be a comprehensive approach to urban design, especially in terms of building
heights and massing, the riverside walk and relationship to the river and riverside views.
The southern part and block of the Queen Caroline estate has a poor relationship to the
river and like Queens Wharf and Riverside Studios the buildings detract from the
appearance of the riverside. Therefore, a comprehensive urban design strategy to provide
a clear context for any development proposals will be required. A combined development
of Queens Wharf/Riverside Studios and the riverside part of the estate will be encouraged
if it helps achieve the objectives of the policy.

Hammersmith Embankment former office site

8.94 The site has planning permission for offices but it seems unlikely that office
development will take place. A residential led development is more appropriate given the
nature of the surrounding area.

8.95 The setting and context of this site will be very important factors in its design and
layout in view of the sensitive river location and the nature of the surrounding residential
area. Traffic impact from a residential development will need to be considered carefully,
but the location close to Hammersmith Town centre would justify lower than normal car
parking provision.

8.96 The opportunity should be taken to open up the riverside for passive and active
leisure activities, including rowing which is a key element of the existing office based
planning permission.

8.97 This is substantial residential site and is capable of providing a good mix of low
and medium rise housing types at reasonable densities. Tower blocks are not appropriate
given the nature of the location.

67Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Regeneration Area Strategies 8

Page 96



North Fulham Regeneration Area

Vision

8.98 The opportunity area (which forms part of the regeneration area) will be a world
class, aspirational, environmentally sustainable new quarter for people to live, work and
visit. It will capture the spirit of London and successfully support a mixed and diverse
community with quality housing to meet a range of incomes, while contributing to the
capital's needs and growth. The residents of the housing estates will have been rehoused
within the area in better quality homes and surroundings, and with better access to jobs
and local facilities. There will be a vibrant mix of cultural, leisure and community activities,
including attractions of national or international importance, that will build on the Earls
Court heritage as a destination, as well as meeting local residents needs,

8.99 Regeneration will have an overwhelming positive effect in the surrounding area,
increasing the economic health of businesses and town and local centres, bringing
substantial local employment and providing new facilities for North Fulham and Earls
Court.

8.100 The regeneration will knit together and meshed with the surrounding area;
respecting its urban grain and character. It will provide well designed, safe, permeable,
well connected, well managed and cared for, distinctive places, in a quality new
neighbourhood. There will be high quality design throughout, blending the best of typical
London local character with innovative approaches to mixed use urban design and the
best possible environmental standards.

8.101 Fulham Town Centre will increase in importance in the locality, partly as a result
of the increased local population in the opportunity area. There will be a vibrant mix of
uses and a greatly enhanced environment and regeneration in North End Road.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy68

8 Regeneration Area Strategies

Page 97



Strategic Policy NFRA

North Fulham Regeneration Area

Indicative new jobsIndicative minimum additional homes

5 - 6,0002,000

The regeneration area includes part of the Earls Court West Kensington
Opportunity Area (the remainder lying within RB Kensington & Chelsea) and
Fulham Town Centre.

There is a substantial opportunity for major regeneration based on a
comprehensive approach to the
Opportunity Area comprising the
Earls Court exhibition complex
(with its car park in Seagrave
Road), the TfL Lillie Bridge depot
and adjacent housing estates. As
a residential ledmixed use scheme,
this area has the potential to
become a major new
neighbourhood for the borough and
West London providing significant
new housing and employment
opportunities. The original Earls
Court building is located in the
Royal Borough of Kensington &
Chelsea and that borough broadly
shares our aspirations in its
emerging LDF Core Strategy. The
Revised London Plan identifies
Earls Court and West Kensington
as an Opportunity Area that
‘presents a significant opportunity
for regeneration comprising estate
renewal and housing and
employment growth’.

The impact of development of this area will be to bring tremendous regenerative
benefits to the rest of the regeneration area and surrounding area, which will
greatly enhance the economic health of North End Road.Within the town centre,
this will particularly help stimulate regeneration of the area between Lillie Road
and St John’s Church. There is a particular opportunity to consider regeneration
of part of the North End Road and Lillie Road shopping frontages.

Whilst the street market is an important part of North End Road’s commercial
offer, it limits footway width and pedestrian movement, and restricts traffic. In
order to overcome these problems relocation to an off-street location should
be sought but a dialogue should take place with street traders to ensure a logical
solution that contributes to the wider regeneration of the area as a whole.

69Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Regeneration Area Strategies 8

Page 98



Any new development will have to be supported by commensurate increases
in public transport capacity and highway improvements.

Justification

8.102 As a whole, the North Fulham area (West Kensington together with the area
around and including the northern part of the town centre) remains one of themost polarised
in the borough in social, economic and physical terms. The council estates have high
levels of deprivation and worklessness, and are often poorly laid out. Commercial frontages
are largely run down; seriously lacking in investment and not offering a good range and
choice of local shops and services. The appearance of much of the area is poor. Overall,
the area does not fulfil most of the decent neighbourhood principles we set out in the
Spatial Vision.

8.103 The most significant future change and opportunity in the area will arise with the
probable closure of the Earls Court exhibition centre after 2012 (after it hosts Olympic
sports), as it is considered by the operator to no longer compete effectively with other
major venues. This would release the Seagrave Road exhibition centre car and van park
for redevelopment. The closure of Earls Court would also provides the opportunity to
consider possible links with the development of the Transport for London Lillie Bridge
depot and how a combined scheme could facilitate regeneration on the adjacent West
Kensington and Gibbs Green housing estates.

8.104 Parts of the area are highly accessible to public transport, being close to West
Brompton Station which is on the District and West London Lines, Earls Court Station, on
the District and Piccadilly Lines, andWest Kensington, on the District Line. Although there
is little spare capacity on these lines at peak times, some improvements will take place
with the future plans of Transport for London. The highway network in the area is congested
through the town centre (past the street market) and south of the A4.

Housing and decent neighbourhoods

8.105 The North Fulham area is dominated by a number of large council housing estates
which exhibit high levels of social, economic and physical deprivation with high levels of
social rented housing. The council will seek phased regeneration over 20 years on West
Kensington, Gibbs Green and Clem Attlee estates to establish mixed and balance
communities and to help to support the economic regeneration which will, in turn, benefit
residents through improving employment opportunities and local shops and services. This
process will only go forward following a programme of engagement with estate residents,
and the provision of opportunities for them to stay in the area.

8.106 The main opportunities for a substantial increase in new housing are in the Earls
Court/TfL Depot area and on the Seagrave Road car park site (subject to flood risk
assessment) and through increasing density as part of estate regeneration. The aim should
be to provide a mix of dwelling sizes, types and tenure that will enable there to be a more
mixed community across the area.. The Seagrave Road site should enable the first phases
of housing estate regeneration by providing modern quality homes for many existing estate
residents. Across the regeneration area the quantity of social rented housing should not
be reduced, but the dwelling size mix should be improved in favour of a higher proportion
of larger family dwellings to address overcrowding and demand issues.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy70

8 Regeneration Area Strategies

Page 99



8.107 The high level of accessibility close to the Underground and West London Line
stations will allow higher density development in those locations but in general density
should be such as to allow mainly low and medium rise housing.

Employment and local economy

8.108 Whether the Earls Court exhibition complex closes in 2012 or not, there must be
investment in economic led regeneration in this highly accessible location to provide
stimulus to the local economy and more employment and training opportunities for the
local area and London as a whole. There will be more potential for new office and hotel
development in the Earls Court area, rather than in Fulham town centre although
accommodation for small scale offices in the town centre would be appropriate as part of
mixed use schemes. The quantity of office employment will need careful assessment in
relation to the role of Hammersmith town centre as a preferred office location and the
proposals for White City Opportunity Area.

8.109 New employment would be expected to stimulate considerable investment in the
surrounding area and in town centre businesses. All this will, in turn, increase local
employment opportunities. It will be important to put in place schemes to assist people
in gaining access to new jobs.

Shopping and leisure

8.110 Fulham Town Centre will be supported to re-establish its historic role in the locality
and maintain its status as a major town centre in the London Plan. The Core Strategy
policies will seek to provide further shopping and leisure uses at an appropriate scale to
meet locally generated needs. The opportunity for providing modern shop facilities is
limited but there is scope for improvement as part of possible development in North End
Road (see below). Regeneration in the area as a whole (especially in relation to the Earls
Court/West Kensington Opportunity Area) will bring a demand for shopping, leisure and
services that should help improve the overall health of the town centre.

8.111 The centre’s role in providing leisure activities will be maintained, but at the same
time the amenity of neighbouring residential and other properties will be safeguarded.

8.112 Development at and around Earls Court and the proposed increase in housing
in the area would need to be supported by day to day shopping facilities. New shopping
in this area should complement the town centre offer and other local centres in
Hammersmith and Fulham and RB Kensington and Chelsea.

8.113 There may be scope to consider the possible relocation of the street market to a
good off-carriageway site within the regeneration area, that could provide a more attractive
market, allow public realm improvements in North End Road, reduce traffic congestion
and increase public safety. A more detailed study of the benefits in consultation with the
market traders will be needed.

Transport

8.114 There is a high level of public transport accessibility in part of the area and
improvements to capacity are planned by TfL, but developments will need to be assessed
carefully to establish whether more improvements funded by the developments are required.
A large proportion of trips will need to be by public transport in view of congestion on the
local highway network and localised improvements will be needed.

71Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Regeneration Area Strategies 8

Page 100



Delivery

8.115 Guidance on the regeneration of the Earls Court West Kensington Opportunity
Area will be by means of an area planning framework in the form of a Supplementary
Planning Document (prepared jointly with the Royal Borough of Kensington & Chelsea
and GLA) to ensure the co-ordination of development and the provision of the required
infrastructure.

8.116 The Council is collaborating with Transport for London as freeholders of the Earls
Court exhibition centre and the depot and Capital and Counties plc leaseholder of Earls
Court with a view to establishing whether there is a basis for entering into some form of
joint venture to secure a comprehensive regeneration scheme. TfL and Capital & Counties
have appointed masterplanners to draw up a concept scheme which the Council will
consider later in 2010.

8.117 A detailed assessment of development capacity will be required particularly to
assess public transport and highway capacity and scope for improvement; and how a
satisfactory mix of housing types and sizes will be provided. Subject to that, a conventional
estimate suggests that it may be possible to achieve some 2000 additional homes and 5
- 6,000 additional jobs in the regeneration area in the period up to 2031. However, it may
be possible to significantly exceed these figures if, in particular, the future accessibility of
the area can be shown to support greater growth within schemes that are acceptable in
all other respects (such as urban design and environmental assessment).

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy72

8 Regeneration Area Strategies

Page 101



Strategic Sites And Housing Estate Regeneration Areas

Strategic Site and Housing Estate Regeneration Area 1 - NFRA

Earls Court West Kensington Opportunity Area strategic site and housing
regeneration area (Earls Court Exhibition Centre 2 and Seagrave Road car park,
Lillie Bridge Depot, West Kensington and Gibbs Green estates, and adjacent
land).

Earls Court and West Kensington Opportunity Area

Indicative new jobsIndicative minimum homes

5,000 - 6,000 in H+F1500 in H+F

7,000 in H+F and RBKC2000 in H+F and RBKC

Owner Private, Tfl, Network Rail, Council, RSL and private owners

There should be a comprehensivemixed use residential led regeneration scheme
that provides housing, employment, hotels, leisure, offices and associated
facilities. This should include major arts, leisure or educational activities that
will be major visitor attractors and create significant new employment
opportunities. New local educational, health and community facilities, with
shops for day to day needs and new public and private open space should be
provided.

Regeneration of the West Kensington, Gibbs Green and RSL estates phased
over up to 20 years will be encouraged as part of the comprehensive approach
to the opportunity area. All existing local residents should have the opportunity
to be rehoused within the opportunity area if proposals affect their homes.

There should be a substantial overall net increase in housing. 40% of all new
housing in the opportunity area(within H&F) should be affordable. With any
proposals to replace existing social rented housing, the existing quantity should
not be reduced but it should be redistributed across the opportunity area.
Overall, new residential should have a mix of tenures, dwelling sizes and types,
including family housing; and be provided in densities and layouts that are
compatible with high quality living environments for a mixed and balanced
community.

The part of the area north of Lillie Road should be designed as a vibrant world
class new quarter in inner West London linking well with its physical and
commercial surroundings, especially to the west and east. If the TfL depot has
to remain it should be decked over provided that achieves planning benefits
and is viable within an acceptable scheme. Building design should be of the
highest quality. There may be some scope for tall buildings no higher than, and
close to, the existing Empress State building, however, any tall buildings would
need to be justified by a full urban design analysis.

73Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Regeneration Area Strategies 8

Page 102



The Seagrave Road car park must be considered as part of the comprehensive
approach to the opportunity area. It should be primarily for residential purposes
with supporting facilities, including public open space. Other employment
based usesmay be appropriate as part of a comprehensive development scheme
for the site. The opportunity to provide direct access from Seagrave Road and
the site as whole to West Brompton station should be taken. Approximately
25% of all housing on the Seagrave Road site should be social rented housing
to provide opportunities for tenants on local housing estates to be re-housed
into better accommodation and to facilitate regeneration on those estates.

Overall, the design, layout, massing and density of development must take
account of and respect the local context and setting, local conservation areas,
and local views. For the Seagrave Road site, the designmust also take account
of views from the West Brompton Cemetery, and local nature conservation.

On site street patterns and connections must be designed with regard to
improving traffic, pedestrian and cycling circulation in the surrounding area
and on primary routes in Hammersmith and Fulham and the Royal Borough of
Kensington and Chelsea. Development must improve pedestrian connections
from the sites and the surrounding area to public transport facilities, particularly
Earls Court.

The acceptable overall quantity of development will depend on a range of factors,
especially urban design considerations, the provision of satisfactory residential
standards and environmental conditions, and evidence to support non-residential
uses; and, in addition, it must not exceed what is compatible with a transport
capacity and the identification of deliverable improvements in the transport
infrastructure. Development must also take account of the capacity of the
physical infrastructure, particularly for sewerage and surface water. Any
development proposals will need to address the flood risk potential as the site
lies in a High/Medium Residual Risk area.

All development must incorporate high levels of environmental performance
by the use of low and zero carbon technologies, including combined heat and
power, the establishment of a decentralized energy network and the installation
of renewable energy systems.

Development must have regard to guidance set out in the Earls Court/West
Kensington Opportunity Area Supplementary Planning Document. [* expected
completion mid 2011]

Justification

8.118 The owners of the Earls Court Exhibition Centres have indicated that they see
the potential for the redevelopment of their site so that it can make an even greater
contribution to the local area in the future. They wish to work with key stakeholders and
the local community to establish how this can

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy74

8 Regeneration Area Strategies

Page 103



8.119 be achieved. However, with Earls Court hosting the Olympic volleyball tournament
there will be no changes at the site before 2012. Any changes to the use of the exhibition
centre should also release the Seagrave Road car and van park (see below) which is
operated in conjunction with the exhibition centre. To the north of Earls Court 2 is the
Transport for London Lillie Bridge Depot which provides maintenance yards and a training
facility building. TfL wish to retain at least part of the depot in the medium term but there
is scope for a partial or total decked development. The council will encourage options to
relocate the depot out of the area altogether.

8.120 The Earls Court complex is partly within the Royal Borough of Kensington and
Chelsea (RBKC) where the 1930’s Exhibition Centre, known as Earls Court 1 is located.
The policy for the development of that part of the site is included in Kensington and
Chelsea’s LDF.

8.121 If essential servicing of Earls Court is no longer required, the Seagrave Road car
park should be developed for a more intensive use, mainly housing and possibly together
with some commercial uses. The site is located in an area that is deficient in public open
space and therefore a new housing development should provide public open space to
meet the needs of local residents.

8.122 Network Rail has identified the West Brompton Station and adjoining land as a
possible development site. Any development on Network Rail land should be linked to
Seagrave Road and the Seagrave Road site in order to improve access to the station from
the surrounding area.

8.123 The potential of a combined Earls Court and TfL depot development could impact
significantly on the council estates and this has led the council to consider the scope for
a major regeneration scheme that could achieve long term benefits for the area based on:

employment creation to more than replace the potential loss of the exhibition centre
the long term regeneration of the West Kensington and Gibbs Green estates to tackle
social, economic and physical deprivation and create decent neighbourhoods.

8.124 The housing estates lie to the west of the Earls Court Exhibition Centre and Lillie
Bridge Depot site. The West Kensington Estate was built between 1972-74 and includes
604 properties in 5 tower blocks, low rise flats, maisonettes and terraced houses. Gibbs
Green Estate has 98 properties built in 1961 and comprising 7 medium-rise blocks. There
are also pockets of newer Housing Association development across the estates. Overall
the proportion of social rented housing is 80%.. The estates suffer from discontinuous
internal roads and there is poor integration with the surrounding area. TheWest Kensington
Estate in particular has large areas of underused communal land that is poorly laid out.
The eastern boundary is formed largely by the TfL depot which has an adverse effect on
the estate environment.

8.125 Regeneration of the estates could take place through refurbishment or involve
development or a combination of measures. A comprehensive approach that includes
privately owned sites would help ensure that existing estate residents could remain in the
area by providing opportunities for rehousing in one move. To enable this to happen, there
should be no net reduction in the amount of social rented housing in the opportunity area
and 25% of any new housing on the Seagrave Road site should be social rented housing.

8.126 40% of all new housing built in the opportunity area should be affordable housing
in accordance with the Core Strategy's overall policy for the borough.

75Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Regeneration Area Strategies 8

Page 104



8.127 There could be other substantial benefits from a comprehensive approach to
regeneration of Earls Court, the TfL depot and the estates:

A comprehensive mixed use approach may be more likely to attract development
finance and enable estate regeneration.
A plan for the whole area would produce a better and permeable layout for the whole
area, with a good range of facilities and useful open space and better connections to
rail and underground stations. It will also enable the inclusion of new road links between
the A4 and Lillie Road that will help improve the local highway network (in H&F and
RBKC) as well as better servicing the development. There would be a consistent
design across the whole area.
A development of this scale would underpin regeneration of the surrounding area
through a greatly increased demand for local shops and services. It would help
regenerate North End Road
There would be significant scope for new commercial development and development
of a new major visitor destination with associated hotel development. This would
provide more local employment opportunities and the scope for training and
apprenticeship schemes.
A comprehensive approach to all the land would provide more scope for development
of an appropriate mix of housing tenures including substantial intermediate housing.
This would give people on low incomes more opportunities to meet their housing
needs, including through affordable home ownership.

8.128 The opportunity area has a strong physical, social and economic context provided
by the surrounding communities, and the existing urban grain, form and pattern of
development of the surrounding residential areas, conservation areas, and town and local
centres. New development must be planned having regard to, and respecting, this setting
and should reflect the high quality residential conditions found in the vicinity in both
boroughs. Development should be permeable and provide new connections to improve
the existing local highway, pedestrian and cycle networks. This will help to ensure that
the potential regeneration benefits to the surrounding area are optimised and that people
living in both boroughs will benefit. The way in which new housing is provided must be
considered very carefully so that it extends the local housing market, providing a range of
housing types and environments that are attractive to people living in the boroughs who
wish to move locally, as well as people wishing to move into the area.

8.129 The surrounding area is very sensitive to the impact of tall buildings. In principle,
some tall buildings may be appropriate in the vicinity of, and no higher than, the Empress
State Building as this part of the area may be less sensitive to height in relation to key
views. However, tall buildings will need to be put in context as part of full urban design
analysis that considers, in particular, local and longer distance views (e.g. from the
riverside), as well as examining the impact on the rest of the opportunity area and
conservation areas in the surrounding area in both boroughs.

8.130 Part of the land is well served by railway stations linked to the District, Piccadilly
and West London lines but access to stations will need to be improved. Planned
improvements to services will greatly increase public transport capacity. However, traffic
congestion limits the capacity of the highway network so that new development will need
to be based on very high public transport use. Development is likely to need a range of
transport improvements.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy76

8 Regeneration Area Strategies

Page 105



8.131 As part of the comprehensive regeneration of this large area, it will be essential
for new development to minimise use of resources and mitigate and adapt to climate
change. The Council will expect development to maximise the use of combined heat and
power and thereafter the use of renewable energy and to manage on-site waste arising
from the development in accordance with the waste hierarchy. The development of this
site should take account of the capacity of the Counters Creek sewer to take increased
foul and surface water drainage generated by this site and mitigate any impacts. It is
expected that surface water will be treated in accordance with the drainage hierarchy, and
that as part of this extensive use will be made of sustainable drainage systems. In addition,
the West London Line railway corridor is designated partly as a green corridor and partly
as a nature conservation area of borough wide importance. It is important that these
ecological resources are protected and enhanced.

8.132 In the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment, the site lies in an area of High/Medium
Residual Risk due to the risk of flood water from the Thames flowing up from Chelsea
Creek. That risk could be reduced by action in the Imperial Wharf area. A flood risk
assessment will need to identify any (on or off site) amelioration measures needed for a
development at Seagrave Road.

8.133 The draft Revised London Plan has indicated for the Earls Court West Kensington
Opportunity Area 2,000 minimum new homes and an indicative employment capacity of
7,000 jobs (including the part of the area in RB Kensington & Chelsea). The H+F Core
Strategy indicates 1,500 homes and 5,000-6,000 jobs in the part of the Opportunity Area
within the borough, not including any estimates relating to the housing estates. It may be
possible to significantly exceed these figures in a comprehensive approach to the
opportunity area but the capacity of any development would need to be considered in the
light, in particular, of urban design considerations, land use mix, and provision of supporting
facilities and social infrastructure, transport capacity and environmental impact. The
Supplementary Planning Document being prepared jointly with RB Kensington & Chelsea
and the GLA will test alternative quantums of development and provide guidance.

Strategic Site 2 - NFRA

North End Road/Lillie Road/Chuter Ede House/Coomer Place car park strategic
site and regeneration area

Owner; Council, private

The council will encourage the regeneration of the North End Road and Lillie
Road frontage together with Chuter Ede House which forms part of the Clem
Attlee estate to provide a shopping led mix of town centre uses and housing.
New shopping should provide the opportunity for independent small shops. In
any development, the opportunity should be taken to provide a new
off-carriageway location for the North End Road street market (e.g. within a wide
footway or market square).

77Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Regeneration Area Strategies 8

Page 106



Justification

8.134 In the last 30 years, the focus has been on regeneration of the historic town centre.
Fulham town centre is designated in the London Plan as a major town centre. It is centred
on North End Road and Fulham Broadway. New development and townscape
improvements have taken place in the south of the area and FulhamBroadway has become
known for a vibrant cafe and bar culture. However, North End Road has continued a
gradual decline as a core part of the town centre and has seen little private investment
and the , loss of national multiples although it does provide a range of local shops and
services together with the well known street market. However, regeneration in the West
Kensington, Earls Court and North Fulham area will provide considerable stimulus to the
town centre and should encourage investment.

8.135 The stretch of the street from Coomer Place to Lillie Road includes a number of
poor quality properties and provides a development opportunity with the Coomer Place
car park and the council owned shops at Chuter Ede House. A shopping based scheme
in this location would anchor the northern part of the town centre, providing a focus that
could encourage regeneration of North End Road between there and the southern part of
the town centre. This would also strengthen the northern part of the town centre in
readiness for increased trade resulting from regeneration in the Earls Court/West
Kensington Opportunity Area.

8.136 Development should aim to enable the possible relocation of the street market to
a good off-carriageway site that could provide a more attractive market, allow public realm
improvements in North End Road, reduce traffic congestion and increase public safety.
Alternative new locations could take the form of a wider area of footway alongside the
North End Road carriageway or a market square. A more detailed study of the benefits in
consultation with the market traders will be needed.

8.137 This area is at less risk of flooding than many other parts of the borough but it is
still within the Environment Agency Flood Zone 2 and is also potentially at risk of surface
water flooding. A site specific Flood Risk Assessment will be required to accompany a
planning application and the proposed residential use as a more vulnerable use will need
to pass the ‘Exception Test’ in accordance with Planning Policy Statement 25 (PPS25)

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy78

8 Regeneration Area Strategies

Page 107



South Fulham Riverside

Vision

8.138 By the 2020s South Fulham Riverside will be a high quality and vibrant stretch
of residential based riverside development. It will be well integrated with the residential
hinterland and waterside, providing easy access to the river and riverside facilities. The
appearance of developments will set new standards for river frontage schemes. There
will be substantial new housing, offering affordable opportunities into home ownership,
and local employment. .

8.139 People will not only live and work in the area, but will also visit it to enjoy the
riverside location and facilities. The riverside walk will extend along the whole frontage
and there will be opportunities for access to the river. At Chelsea Harbour there will be
improved river transport facilities and if possible these will extend to additional jetties
serving the area.

79Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Regeneration Area Strategies 8

Page 108



Strategic Policy SFR

South Fulham Riverside

Indicative new jobsIndicative additional homes

300-5002,200

The Council will work with landowners and other partners to secure the
regeneration of the South Fulham Riverside Area.

Development in the area will be expected to take place on the following basis:

Most development sites should
be developed for
predominantly residential
purposes and contribute to the
South Fulham Riverside target
of 2,200 additional dwellings
by 2032;
40% of new housing should be
affordable with an emphasis
on forms of intermediate
housing;
Employment based uses that
are compatible with residential
use will be required in themost
accessible parts of the area,
particularly in the vicinity of
Imperial Wharf Station;
River related uses will be
encouraged where they are
compatible with the objectives
of the policy;
The riverside should be
opened up to public use with
continuation of the Thames
Path National trail (riverside walk) and provision of open spaces and leisure
uses that create interest and activity, and opportunities taken for educational
and leisure use of the river; and
New shopping for day to day needs can be provided, but no additional major
stores should be constructed.

On the riverside, especially, a very high standard of urban design will be
necessary, together with linkages to the river and riverside walk. In some
locations higher buildings may be considered, if it can be demonstrated that a
taller building would be a key design element in a masterplan for regeneration
and that it would have a positive relationship to the riverside.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy80

8 Regeneration Area Strategies

Page 109



All developments must be acceptable in terms of their transport impact and will
be expected to contribute to any necessary improvements to public transport
accessibility and highway capacity in the area. The extension of the river bus
service will be encouraged if feasible.

TheCouncil will providemore detailed guidancewithin a Supplementary Planning
Document.

Justification

8.140 The south Fulham Riverside, along Carnwath and Townmead Roads, is in a
variety of uses: residential, commercial and industrial, retail and leisure. Some of these
sites, including the remainder of the ImperialWharf development and the former Lots Road
Power Station have planning permissions for redevelopment: mainly for housing but also
some employment uses. The National Grid site is used for gas storage and some other
business uses. The site may in the future have the potential for more intensive
development, but any development needs to be compatible with the health and safety
requirements of proximity to the storage of gas. It is our understanding within the life of
this plan the gas holders may no longer be required as a new ring main is proposed.

8.141 The majority of the area is within the Thames Policy Area. It was formerly
designated (until 2007) as an employment zone in the Unitary Development Plan. However,
in the last 20 years there has been limited new employment development for light industrial,
office or storage uses whereas considerable residential development has taken place.
The overriding need is for new homes and much of the area is not accessible enough for
significant new employment. As elsewhere, the mix of housing will be determined by local
needs and demand, with a key priority being provision of housing for mixed communities,
both in terms of incomes, household sizes and tenures. Supporting infrastructure will need
to be provided, such as open space, local waste facilities and community services.

8.142 There are three safeguarded wharves, with only Comley’s Wharf still in use for
the transhipment of aggregates. Hurlingham Wharf is currently vacant and has not been
used as an operational wharf for 13 years, and Swedish Wharf, although still used as an
oil storage depot, does not correctly use the river for transport. The London Plan and the
Port of London Authority seek to protect safeguarded wharves for cargo handling uses.
We are concerned that the vacant Hurlingham wharf is not viable or suitable for intensive
cargo handling use and that the continued safeguarding will adversely affect the
regeneration of this part of the borough. Any proposals for non-river use on the safeguarded
wharf sites will need to be supported by viability assessments in accordance with the
London Plan policy 4C.9 ‘Safeguarded wharves on the Blue Ribbon Network’. However,
we will press for the Mayor of London to abandon the safeguarding designation of the
vacant Hurlingham Wharf to allow a more flexible approach to development and we will
work with the Mayor in his overall review of safeguarding of wharves on the Thames to
achieve a satisfactory outcome for South Fulham Riverside. The safeguarding has not
resulted in new wharf uses coming forward in this borough, and Hurlingham Wharf has
been effectively sterilised for a considerable time. Additional large scale transhipment of
goods or aggregates is unlikely to be acceptable because of the restricted nature of the
local highway network.

81Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Regeneration Area Strategies 8

Page 110



8.143 There are a number of major retail stores in the area of a type that would ideally
be located in or on the edge of town centres. The Council does not consider that it is
appropriate for additional major stores to be considered in the area. Any additional
floorspace in the area should primarily cater for local needs in order to sustain the town
centres.

8.144 All riverside development must be to a very high quality of design. The stretch of
riverside from Sainsburys to Wandsworth Bridge is particularly prominent and forms a
gateway into the borough. The whole stretch should preferably be dealt with in a
comprehensive way and the Council will encourage this through preparation of design
guidance.

8.145 It is also important to extend and improve the Thames Path National Trail, together
with pedestrian routes linked to the surrounding area and this will depend on the
development of the vacant and underused riverside sites. The riverside walk should be at
least 6 metres wide. The River Thames has a significant potential for water based activities
that can increase opportunities for sport and recreation in the borough.

8.146 The amount and type of development will depend on the capacity of public transport
and of the road network in this area and on the potential for its improvement. Public
transport accessibility is generally at a low level with most of the area being at least a 10
minute walk from an underground or rail station. However, bus services have improved
in recent years and the Imperial Wharf West London Line station has improved accessibility
in the eastern part of the area. Carnwath Road and the western end of Townmead Road
are narrow and congested.

8.147 Given the constraints on development in this regeneration area, it is considered
that the potential for additional homes and jobs in this area is likely to be significantly more
limited than in the other regeneration areas. However, subject to detailed assessment,
especially of the transport capacity, housing types and sizes and building massing on the
riverside, it may be possible to achieve a minimum of 2,200 additional homes and about
300 to 500 additional jobs. These estimates are additional to sites that already have
planning permission.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy82

8 Regeneration Area Strategies

Page 111



Old Oak Common and Hythe Road Area

Vision

8.148 The long term vision for this area is to transform it with substantial mixed use
regeneration made possible principally by the projected HS2 rail line and Crossrail. This
could provide thousands of homes, jobs and supporting facilities in a high quality
environment focused on the Grand Union Canal and securing future growth for London
in a very sustainable way.

83Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Regeneration Area Strategies 8

Page 112



Strategic Policy - Old Oak

Old Oak Common and Hythe Road Area

Indicative new jobsIndicative additional homes

5,0001,600

The Council will promote Old Oak Sidings and the former North Pole Eurostar
depot as a location for a major rail interchange between the proposed High
Speed 2 line, Crossrail, the Great Western line and West and North London
lines. Subject to the Government confirming that there should be such an
interchange, the Council will bring forward and consult on a revised policy and
planning framework for major mixed use regeneration of the whole area,

Until such a decision is made by the Government and pending a revised policy
for the whole area:

1. The Hythe Road area is designated as an employment zone for a range of
purposes (especially industrial, distribution, office based, research and
development, recycling and the management of waste).

2. The Council will promote Old Oak Common Sidings as a site of strategic
importance for mixed use development, including significant residential
development and support for passenger rail services.

3. North Pole Depot in Hammersmith & Fulham should be retained for strategic
rail uses, in particular to support enhanced rail passenger services

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy84

8 Regeneration Area Strategies

Page 113



4. The EMR and Powerday sites are designated and safeguarded for waste
and recycling purposes, and the Council will encourage use of the canal and
greater use of rail for waste purposes.

5. The Council will encourage the location of bio-tech industries related to the
biomedical research centre at Hammersmith Hospital.

6. Development should enhance the canalside and could include mixed
employment/residential or residential if housing would not compromise the
priority for employment uses.

Justification

8.149 This area in the north of the borough (to the north of Wormwood Scrubs and Little
Wormwood Scrubs) is in a variety of industrial uses, car sales, waste management and
railway uses. It has the largest remaining concentration of industrial type premises in the
borough and is included in the Park Royal Opportunity Area which is identified in the
London Plan as a Strategic Industrial Location. In February 2008, the Mayor of London
published a draft Opportunity Area Framework for the Park Royal area which has as one
of its objectives "to protect and maintain Park Royal as the largest industrial employment
location in London, supporting the clusters of food/drink, distribution/logistics and TV/film
through facilities and services to support growth”. In Hythe Road, the opportunity to make
links with Hammersmith Hospital bio-medical research should be taken to build on the
national importance of that local facility.

8.150 The Grand Union Canal is a nature conservation area of metropolitan importance
and the area adjoins important areas of open space.

8.151 In order to regenerate this area of underused and vacant land to the south of
Willesden Junction in accordance with sustainability principles, the council will seek
improved access to the area. At present, the nearest proposed station on Crossrail would
be Paddington and Acton mainline. There would be considerable benefit from a station
that would interchange with the West London Line. This would improve accessibility in
inner West London, as well as within the borough, and help support regeneration.

8.152 In March 2010 the Government announced its intention to provide an interchange
station between the planned High Speed Rail line (HS2) from London to the north and
midlands, the Great Western main line and Crossrail. The council supports location of a
new high speed rail hub station with links to a new Crossrail Station and the West London
Line at Oak Common Sidings. If this proposal is confirmed it would provide the opportunity
for interchange with Crossrail and other services passing through the area and be a major
catalyst for regeneration.

8.153 The London Plan states that boroughs should “safeguard all existing waste
management sites (unless appropriate compensatory provision is made)”. This is carried
forward in the draft Replacement London Plan. Revised waste apportionment figures for
the management of 348,000 tonnes of waste in H&F by 2031 will be fully met in the Old
Oak Common area through maximising the potential of existing sites, namely EMR and
Powerday. These sites are currently used mainly for the recycling of commercial and
industrial waste (particularly metal) and for construction waste. Powerday in particular has
the potential to deal with a wide variety of waste streams and to expand their capacity to
include a higher proportion of municipal and commercial and industrial waste streams.

85Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Regeneration Area Strategies 8

Page 114



8.154 Improvements to road access to the waste sites will be sought, but the council
will continue to promote further expansion in the use of rail and canal for the movement
of waste and processed material. The expansion of waste management activities will not
have a significant adverse impact on other uses in the area. The canal is also an important
feature in the townscape and facility for leisure and recreation. This should be enhanced
through canalside development.

8.155 The regeneration of this area is likely to be longer term than the other regeneration
areas because of the scale of the infrastructure needed to enable significant development.
However the potential for additional housing in this area could be over 1,600 dwellings
and over 5,000 jobs.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy86

8 Regeneration Area Strategies

Page 115



Strategic Sites

Strategic Site 1 - Old Oak

Old Oak Common Sidings

Owner: Network Rail, Crossrail

The council will pursue the regeneration of this site for a mixture of uses. It will
work with partners to provide a High Speed 2 (HS2) rail hub station with links
to a new Crossrail Station and the West London Line.

Any redevelopment will be expected to make the best possible use of the sites
canal side location.

Justification

8.156 This site is 32.5 hectares of railway sidings and small amount of residential
bordered by Grand Union Canal on north and Great Western main line into Paddington
to south. Willesden Junction station is 5-10 minutes walk (Rail to Euston/Watford Junction;
North London Line, West London Line, Bakerloo). The site currently has poor road access.
Transport for London has identified this site as a Site with Potential for Rail Freight
Development, and their draft London Freight Strategy Development Control toolkit says
we should safeguard such sites for rail freight uses. However, much of the site is now
owned by Crossrail for depot purposes.

8.157 The site is owned by Network Rail and Crossrail, First GreatWestern and Heathrow
Express. The whole site is safeguarded for Crossrail. The intention is to provide 14 new
Crossrail stabling sidings and a further siding incorporating a train-washing plant. This will
require some remodelling of existing trackwork to accommodate the needs of other existing
users within the depot. The site to be used for the sidings will also be used temporarily as
a tunnel construction and fit out depot. After completion of the tunnelling works the
remaining sidings and staff facilities will be constructed.

8.158 The Council considers that the long term rail use of the site should be reviewed,
especially in the light of the proposals for the HS2 line, to assess the extent to which rail
operators need to be located here or land could be released for development. The scope
for relocating these uses to the former North Pole Eurostar depot should be considered
(see below). Even if railway use is maintained, sidings and depots could be decked over
to provide the opportunity for substantial development, but that will require considerable
improvements in public transport accessibility. However, the development potential should
provide a business case for such improvements, including a Crossrail station.

8.159 This improvement to transport will enable a major new development of residential,
employment uses and supporting activities and an opportunity to develop bio-medical
industries and research hub linked to Hammersmith Hospital.

87Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Regeneration Area Strategies 8

Page 116



Strategic Site 2 - Old Oak

North Pole Depot

Owner: British Rail Residuary Body

The North Pole Depot should be used to assist in the provision of enhanced
local passenger rail services and for the possible relocation of rail operations
fromother locations (e.g. OldOak CommonSidings or the TfLLillieBridgeDepot).
Passenger service use could be in connection with provision of a Crossrail
station, the High Speed 2 rail line (possibly as a station site) or local services.
The part of the site adjacent to Wormwood Scrubs should be considered as a
possible route for enhanced road access (via a bridge) to the Old Oak Common
Sidings site. These possibilities should be explored before any other proposals
are considered.

Justification

8.160 British Railways Board Residuary (BRBR) has been asked by the Secretary of
State for Transport to produce recommendations for the site’s future now that the depot
has been vacated by Eurostar. The site is 1.8 miles long and extends from RBKC to Ealing.
It is within the Park Royal Strategic Industrial Location (SIL) and comprises 50 acres of
railway track and servicing sheds and buildings and has access from Mitre Way, Old Oak
Common Lane (Ealing) and Barlby Road (RBKC). The site is strategically important for
rail use and this should be the primary use. It is acknowledged that the nature of the depot
and its location next to the Great Western fast tracks limits its use although this provides
an opportunity for design of an HS2 interchange station. However, it should not change
to non rail uses without a full assessment of the way in which it could contribute to
enhancing passenger services or releasing railway land elsewhere that has greater potential
for development. If no rail use comes forward for all or part of the Depot there will be the
opportunity for alternative uses.

8.161 The site would provide an opportunity to improve road access to the Old Oak
Common Sidings site if a bridge over the mainline GWR tracks was constructed.

8.162 RBKC already have aspirations for their part of the site and have identified it within
the RBK&C Core Strategy. There will need to be joint working to establish the best way
forward on the eastern part of the site, which should be considered in conjunction with
Mitre Way Industrial Estate.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy88

8 Regeneration Area Strategies

Page 117



9 Borough Wide Strategic Policies

9.1 In addition to the spatial strategy, there are a number of borough wide and locally
specific policies to deliver the spatial strategy and to ensure that development outside the
proposed regeneration areas contributes to meeting the council’s objectives. The borough
wide policies are relevant to development throughout the borough but may still have spatial
elements.

9.2 We will retain some Unitary Development Plan policies for the time being where
they support the Core Strategy (see Appendix 7).

9.3 All the borough wide policies should help achieve the decent neighbourhood principles
that are set out in our Spatial Vision.

Meeting Housing Needs and Aspirations

Strategic objective

9.4 Increase the supply and choice of high quality housing and ensure that the new
housing meets local needs and aspirations, particularly the need for affordable home
ownership and for homes for families.

Borough Wide Strategic Policy - H1

Housing supply

The council will work with partner organisations and landowners to exceed the
proposed London Plan target of 615 additional dwellings a year up to 2021 and
to continue to seek at least 615 additional dwellings a year in the period up to
2032. The new homes will be achieved by:

1. the development of strategic sites identified within the Core Strategy;

2. the development of sites identified in the council’s Strategic Housing Land
Availability Assessment

3. the development of windfall sites and the change of use of buildings where
land and premises are shown to be surplus to the requirements of other land
uses;

4. the provision of new homes through conversions; and

5. the retention of existing residential accommodation.

The following are estimates of the likely increases in new housing in different
parts of the borough.

89Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Borough Wide Strategic Policies 9

Page 118



Indicative Housing Targets

Total 20
years

2027/322022/27Total 10
years

2017/222012/17Area

5,000^1,1001,3002,6001,4001,200White City OA

1,000001,000500500Hammersmith
Town Centre

2,000^3005001,200400800North Fulham
Regeneration
Area
(minimum)

2,2002004001,600800800S Fulham
Riverside

1,6001,200400000Old Oak

1,2000*0*1,2002001,000Rest of the
borough

13,0002,8002,6007,6003,3004,300Total

650560520760660860Average/year

20,0009,000Maximum for
infrastructure
planning
purposes.

* The estimates are based on identified sites. Due to the smaller nature of the sites
outside of the Regeneration Areas, there are no known sites that are expected to come
forward outside of Regeneration Areas in the longer term.

^ The figures for the White City Opportunity Area and the North Fulham Regeneration
Area are consistent with the Draft Replacement London Plan. In the DRLP, The Earl’s
Court Opportunity Area has a minimum target of 2,000 dwellings. In the figures above,
a minimum of 1,500 of these have been allocated to the part of the Opportunity Area
that also lies within the North Fulham area. The Royal Borough of Kensington and
Chelsea has allocated a minimum of 500 in the part of the Opportunity Area within that
borough. The remaining dwellings within North Fulham are indicative allocations for
other sites.

Justification

9.5 The council’s proposed housing target in the replacement London Plan is 615
additional homes a year in the period up to 2021. This figure was developed through
collaborative working with the GLA on the London Housing Capacity Study 2009 and
through further work on the council’s Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment.
The table above indicates that the Council would expect housing provision to exceed the
London Plan target for additional homes.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy90

9 Borough Wide Strategic Policies

Page 119



9.6 The Old Oak Common and Hythe Road area has been included in potential housing
supply but the proposed High Speed rail hub in this area is unlikely to be completed until
2020. Any significant additional housing as a result of the regeneration of this area is
unlikely to be available until the mid 2020s. The potential capacity for additional housing
in this area will form part of the review of this Core Strategy and the future preparation of
a planning framework.

9.7 The figures for the two opportunity areas in White City and Earls Court & West
Kensington are as included in the revised London Plan. However, these targets are being
reviewed as part of the preparation of planning frameworks for the area and could be
exceeded, depending on the eventual land-use mix, urban design considerations and the
extent of estate regeneration in the areas. The White City Opportunity Area Framework
and Earls Court and West Kensington Supplementary Planning Document will provide
more guidance on factors that will determine capacity.

9.8 The eventual capacity for new housing in all areas will depend on detailed
assessment, site setting, urban design of housing areas, appropriate housing mix, transport
capacity and other factors as set out in policies in the Core Strategy, Generic Development
Management DPD and other guidance.

9.9 For the purpose of infrastructure planning, the Council has considered the extent to
which the figures set out above could possibly be exceeded as shown in the table. The
upper figures do not represent a target but indicate the range within which the actual total
would be expected to lie.

91Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Borough Wide Strategic Policies 9

Page 120



Borough Wide Strategic Policy - H2

Affordability

Housing development should help achieve more mixed and balanced
communities and reduce social and economic polarisation by improving the
mix of affordable housing in the borough for those that cannot afford market
housing.

On sites with the capacity for 10 or more self-contained dwellings affordable
housing should be provided having regard to the following:

a) A borough wide target that 40% of all additional dwellings built between
2011-21 should be affordable.

b) The Council would prefer all additional affordable housing to be
intermediate housing unless a small proportion of new social rented housing
is necessary in order to:

enable proposals for the regeneration of council or housing association
estates, or the replacement of unsatisfactory accommodation; particularly
in accordance with policies for the regeneration areas set out in this plan;
meet urgent housing need where this cannot be met within the existing
housing stock;
ensure no reduction in the total amount of social rented housing in the
borough.

c) The Council will encourage the provision of social rented housing in
ways that enable tenants to be offered an equity stake or the opportunity to join
a savings incentive scheme.

d) In negotiating for affordable housing and for an appropriate mix of
intermediate and social rented housing in a proposed development, the council
will take into account:

site size and site constraints;
financial viability;
the affordability and profile of local housing; the scope for achieving a
more mixed and balanced community in the borough, or in an area where
there are existing concentrations of social rented housing.

Justification

9.10 A key aim of the core strategy is to reduce social and economic polarisation in the
borough and to encourage social mobility. The strategy aims to create a more socially
and economically mixed borough and in particular, to enable young families to be able to
afford to live and stay in the borough. It will significantly increase the amount of housing
that is affordable to middle income earners, key workers and all those households who
are neither very wealthy nor very poor. The strategy aims to reduce the concentrations
of deprivation associated with the large mono tenure housing estates, mostly council
owned and to significantly improve the fabric of these outdated estates.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy92

9 Borough Wide Strategic Policies

Page 121



9.11 In order to achieve this strategy Hammersmith and Fulham will seek to increase
the amount of affordable housing in the borough by setting an affordable housing target
of 40% of additional dwellings to be built between 2011/12 and 2021/22. All the net gain
in affordable housing should be intermediate housing available to households who cannot
afford to buy and/or rent market accommodation in the borough (H&F Housing Market
Assessment) except that the Council will seek a small proportion of additional social rented
housing if urgently arising housing need cannot be met within the existing social rented
housing stock (see below). In order to meet the target for affordable housing, the council
will negotiate for affordable housing to be provided on all larger sites in accordance with
the London Plan threshold target of sites with the capacity for 10 or more additional
self-contained dwellings.

Income and the cost of housing

9.12 As outlined previously, some parts of H&F are very deprived and other areas have
some of the most prosperous neighbourhoods in London. There are 7 Super Output
Areas(14) within the 10% most deprived nationally; and, 30 Super Output Areas, or 27%
of the borough, amongst the 20% most deprived nationally. Department of Works and
Pensions Households Below Average Income (HBAI) results show that Hammersmith &
Fulham has more individuals on low incomes (27.1%) than Inner London (20.4%), London
(18.2%) or England (16.8%). The most deprived neighbourhoods are also those with the
highest levels of social rented housing.

9.13 House prices and private sector rents are well above the London and the West
London average. Hammersmith & Fulham has the 4th highest house prices in the country.
The average property price in January 2010 was £472,000 which is 29% above the London
average and 185% above the national average. Also house prices are increasing faster
than elsewhere in the country (2009 Land Registry data).

9.14 Rents in the private sector are also high compared to the rest of London. The lowest
quartile rent for a two bedroom property was £269 per week and for a three bedroom
property was £315 per week.(15)

9.15 The very high cost of market housing both for owner occupation and for rent impacts
on who can afford to live in the borough. The household income required to rent a 2
bedroom property (lowest quartile rent) in the borough is £56,100 and to purchase (lowest
quartile market purchase) is £91,400(16). It is estimated that 58% of younger working
households (age 20 to 39 years) in H&F cannot afford to buy a 2/3 bedroom dwelling and
private sector rents to earned income ratios are over 30%(17)

9.16 Although private sector rents are high in comparison to incomes they are significantly
more affordable than owner occupation. It is estimated that private rented housing has
risen from about 17,500 (23% of the stock) in 2001 to nearly 28,000 (35% of the stock) in
2009(18). Most of this increase will have been through a reduction in owner occupied
dwellings which would result in less than a third of the housing stock being owner occupied,
compared to 44% in 2001.

14 A Super Output Area (SOA) is a geographical area designed for the collection and publication of small
area statistics. There are 111 SOAs in H&F each comprising about 700 households

15 West London Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2010
16 West London Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2010
17 Can’t Buy: Can’t Rent . The affordability of private housing in Great Britain
18 Fig 51 West London Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2010

93Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Borough Wide Strategic Policies 9

Page 122



9.17 Although the stock of intermediate affordable housing has increased in the last 10
years it still makes up only about 1,850 dwellings or just over 2% of the housing stock.
This compares to over 3000 households registered for low cost homeownership on the
H&F Homebuy Register.

9.18 Social rented housing is estimated to account for approximately 25,900 dwellings,
33% of the total stock, with over 1250 dwellings having been built in the last 9 years. In
some parts of the borough, in particular the north of the borough the proportion is over
50% – College Park and Old Oak and Wormholt and White City wards.;

Housing tenure mix of additional housing

9.19 In considering the mix of tenure that is appropriate for additional dwellings to be
built in the borough the Council needs to have regard to its assessment of the housing
market, including housing need, and how this can be met.

9.20 The analysis of income and housing costs above highlights a severe lack of
affordable market housing in H&F coupled with a probable reduction in owner occupation.
This demonstrates a need to increase the supply of intermediate affordable housing. Even
if all the 40% affordable housing target (almost 3000 dwellings by 2021/22) is intermediate
housing, this will still only increase the intermediate housing stock to about 4,800 dwellings
or about 5.5% of the total dwelling stock.

9.21 As house prices and market rents are so high in H&F, intermediate housing needs
to be affordable to a broad range of incomes. The income range of households that cannot
afford market housing in H&F is £19,900 to £79,400 for households that require 4 or more
bedrooms(19). The council will encourage the provision of a variety of intermediate housing
products that will assist people who cannot afford market housing to buy or rent (e.g.
shared ownership, equity share, discounted market sale or rent). The provision and
affordability of such housing will be taken into account in considering the appropriate
proportion of affordable housing on individual sites.

9.22 An increase in the supply of intermediate housing and the introduction of social
“homebuy” and similar schemes will assist in releasing more of the existing stock of social
rented housing for households in need of that type of affordable housing. The council also
wants some social rented housing to be provided in ways that enable tenants to be offered
some form of equity stake or savings incentive scheme so that they have the opportunity
to move into home ownership if their income increases.

9.23 The Council will seek new social rented housing where this will enable the
regeneration of existing estates and the provision of better accommodation (e.g. quality,
dwelling size and conditions) for social rented tenants; and where it is possible to achieve
a better mix of tenure and a more mixed and balanced community in the area. The policies
for regeneration areas set out details where applicable.

9.24 The Council considers that it should be possible to meet newly arising urgent need
without increasing the overall amount of social rented housing in the borough (H&FHousing
Market Assessment). In view of this, the overall net increase in affordable housing in the
borough should be intermediate housing but there should be no net decrease in social
rented housing (measured in habitable rooms). However, the Council will monitor social
rented housing supply options to ensure there is sufficient provision to meet urgent need
and will seek additional social rented housing where necessary.

19 West London Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2010

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy94

9 Borough Wide Strategic Policies

Page 123



9.25 Where new social rented is provided the Council will require a mix of dwelling sizes
that helps to achieve a better match to household needs. Currently there are over 2,300
overcrowded households in the borough and there are also households that are under
occupying their housing; just over 120 households are registered with the council wanting
to move into smaller accommodation. There are likely to be other households who have
not registered with the council but who may like to move from larger dwellings, if there is
alternative housing that would meet their needs.

Negotiating for Affordable Housing

9.26 In implementing this affordable housing policy, the council recognises that the
location of sites and their characteristics will affect the amount and type of affordable
housing that is appropriate. Where there are concentrations of social rented housing it
will be particularly important to increase the choice of housing in order to achieve more
mixed and balanced communities.

9.27 The amount and type of affordable housing that might be appropriate in a proposed
development will be influenced by the potential for estate regeneration on council or housing
association estates, especially where the proposed development is in, or close to the
regeneration areas by providing new and better homes for local social rented tenants.

9.28 The council recognises that the amount and mix of affordable housing that can be
achieved in any scheme will depend on the financial viability of that scheme and will
therefore take account of evidence of financial viability.

Borough Wide Strategic Policy - H3

Housing quality and density

The council will expect all housing development to respect the local setting and
context, provide a high quality residential environment, be well designed and
energy efficient in line with the requirements of the Code for Sustainable Homes,
meet satisfactory internal and external space standards, and (subject to the
size of scheme) provide a good range of housing types and sizes.

Acceptable housing density will be dependent primarily on an assessment of
these factors, taking account of London Plan policies and subject to public
transport and highway impact and capacity.

In existing residential areas, and in substantial parts of regeneration areas, new
housing will be expected to be predominantly low to medium rise consisting of
small scale developments of houses, maisonettes and flats, and modern forms
of the traditional mansion block, with gardens and shared amenity space in
street based layouts.

Some high density housing with limited car parking may be appropriate in
locations with high levels of public transport accessibility (PTAL 4-6) provided
it is satisfactory in all other respects.

95Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Borough Wide Strategic Policies 9

Page 124



Justification

9.29 The London Plan provides broad guidance on densities, but the upper ranges are
often inappropriate in the local context. The council generally regards the borough as
being in the "urban" category of the London Plan density matrix and wishes to ensure that
all housing development is provided to a satisfactory quality, has an appropriate mix of
types and sizes (with a particular emphasis on family accommodation), and is well related
to its surroundings (and neighbouring residential properties in particular). Much of the new
housing, particularly the family sized housing, should consist of low and medium rise street
properties, with access to private gardens or shared amenity space. The council will
prepare an SPD that will provide further detail on design standards.

9.30 Higher density development must have particularly good design quality and positively
enhance the locality (its appearance and amenities). Mixed tenure housing developments
should be tenure blind, meaning that it should be difficult to spot the difference in the
architectural quality of market and affordable properties.

9.31 Small development sites can often be problematic and the Council will especially
resist attempts to overdevelop which often leads to adverse effects on neighbours and
the locality. In large schemes, such as in regeneration areas, there is more scope to
achieve higher density housing and as long as there is still a good mix of housing types
overall, some high rise non-family residential may be acceptable. Such large schemes will
need to be supported by appropriate social infrastructure.

Borough Wide Strategic Policy - H4

Meeting Housing needs

The council will work with house builders to increase the supply and choice of
high quality residential accommodation that meets the local residents’ needs
and aspirations. In order to deliver this:

There should be amix of housing types and sizes in development schemes,
especially increasing the proportion of family accommodation. The precise
mix in any development will be subject to the suitability of the site for family
housing in terms of site characteristics, the local environment and access
to services.
All new build dwellings should be built to “Lifetime Homes” standards with
10% to be wheelchair accessible, or easily adaptable for residents that are
wheelchair users.
Applications for HMOs and hostels will be considered in the light of their
contribution to the range of housing in the borough and their impact on the
locality and its character; and
Housing for people who need care and support must be protected, and,
subject to continuing need, applications for new developmentswhere there
is an established local need will be supported.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy96

9 Borough Wide Strategic Policies

Page 125



Justification

9.32 In recent years high proportions of 1 and 2 bedroom homes have been permitted
in H&F(20). There has been an under provision of family housing and there is a need for
this to be addressed. This strategy also aims to provide a better mix of housing; a higher
proportion of family sized housing and housing that is well designed – energy efficient,
accessible and safe. The council will prepare an SPD on housingmix, which will be regularly
updated to reflect housing need.

9.33 Approximately 10% of H&F’s households have one or more people with a physical
disability and in addition young families and the elderly also benefit from accessible housing.
There needs to be an increase in the amount of housing built to Lifetime Homes standards
and that is wheelchair accessible in order to meet this need.

9.34 Houses in multiple occupation and hostels can provide flexible and cheaper
accommodation for people on low incomes but they can often have an impact upon the
amenity of neighbouring residents. A flexible approach will be taken to the conversion of
self contained accommodation to HMOs that takes account of local circumstances.

9.35 There is likely to be a continuing need for housing for people who need care and
support, particularly as the population ages. The loss of existing accommodation and the
provision of new accommodation will be considered in relation to the impact on the local
area and on the provision of community facilities and services.

Borough Wide Strategic Policy - H5

Gypsies and Traveller Accommodation

The council will work closely with RBKC to protect and improve the existing
gypsy and traveller site at Westway which is located in Kensington & Chelsea.

Any additional site to accommodate the specific needs of Gypsies and Travellers
in this borough should:

meet local need;
take account of suitable vehicular access and satisfactory parking, turning
and servicing;
be within close proximity of local facilities and services such as a primary
school, local shops and a GP; and
be designed in such a way that it is compatible with existing and planned
uses, fit for the occupants and at the same time does not impact on
residential amenity.

Justification

9.36 Circular 1/2006 and London Plan Policy 3A.14 require that this Core Strategy
should have a specific policy to protect existing authorised sites and set out the criteria
for the determination of any application for additional sites. Such sites should promote the
development of socially inclusive local communities in accordance with PPS 3.

20 DMAG London Borough Stat-Pack 2009 (GLA)

97Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Borough Wide Strategic Policies 9

Page 126



9.37 The council and the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea (RBKC) jointly
provide a site for 19 travellers’ pitches on land in RBKC to the east of the WhiteCity
regeneration area. Work is ongoing to improve the existing site. In 2009, funding was
secured to ensure the provision of an additional two pitches on the site as well as other
improvements in terms of landscaping, safety and security, parking and access at a cost
of £1m.

9.38 The minor alteration to the consultation Draft Replacement London Plan published
in April 2010 allocates Hammersmith and Fulham a target of delivering an additional 3
gypsy and traveller pitches by 2017. However, the Mayor has announced that he will
review the approach to making provision.

9.39 The requirements for a gypsy and travellers site are more demanding than for
residential development. Gypsy and traveller sites often contain a number of ancillary
employment activities for which space is necessary. These activities can in turn, cause a
disturbance to the amenity of neighbouring residents. Site selection must therefore find a
balance between finding a suitably sized accessible location near to local facilities and
services and a location where the amenity of the borough’s existing residents remains
unaffected.

Borough Wide Strategic Policy - H6

Student Accommodation

The council recognises the London-wide need for student accommodation, and
to assist in meeting this need it will support applications for student
accommodation as part of mixed use development schemes within both the
White City and Earls Court andWest KensingtonOpportunity Areas. Applications
for student accommodation outside of these areas will be assessed on a site
by site basis, but the council will resist proposals which are likely to have
adverse local impacts.

Justification

9.40 The borough is home to a number of university and higher education institutions,
principally Imperial College, which has teaching facilities at Hammersmith Hospital and
Charing Cross Hospital and proposals for development in theWhite City Opportunity Area,
London Academy of Music and Dramatic Art (LAMDA) and London College of Fashion.
A number of these higher educational institutions have expressed a need to increase their
capacity, as have many other higher educational institutions across London, buoyed by
London’s international status and reputation as a global centre for higher education. This
has put pressure on conventional housing to accommodate students and there is a need
to increase the capacity of student accommodation in London in order to ensure that there
is a suitable choice of available purpose built accommodation.

9.41 The council considers that the borough’s two largest and most deliverable
regeneration areas offer an opportunity to help deliver a significant quantum towards
addressing this student accommodation shortage for local institutions. It considers that
student housing in these areas will be best provided within major new developments as
part of mixed use schemes. However all applications will need to demonstrate satisfactorily
that the proposals will have a positive impact on the overall strategies for the Opportunity

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy98

9 Borough Wide Strategic Policies

Page 127



Areas and will not adversely impact on residential neighbours or town and local centres.
Applications will need to be accompanied by a management plan, setting out how the
impact upon neighbours and the amenity of the borough’s existing residents will be
managed. In order to ensure that students are able to adequately get to and from their
area of study, it will be important that developments are located within areas of good public
transport accessibility within the Opportunity Areas.

9.42 Outside of the Opportunity Areas, applications for student accommodation will be
assessed on a site by site basis. It is acknowledged that students can create benefits for
an area, for example by adding vibrancy and vitality to the local economy. However,
concentrations of students can also have a negative impact. In particular, the council is
concerned about the direct impact of noise and comings and goings on neighbouring
properties, and the indirect impact of the growth in facilities such as bars and takeaways
that can themselves cause a nuisance, especially late at night. The council will consider
all applications on their own merits, but the primary consideration will be the amenity of
the borough’s existing residents and the strategy to direct student accommodation schemes
to the two identified Opportunity Areas.

Local Economy and Employment

Strategic Objectives

Reduce polarisation and worklessness to create more stable, mixed and balanced
communities;
Support the local economy and inward investment to ensure that existing and new
businesses can compete and flourish;
Support businesses so that they maximise job opportunities and recruit and maintain
local people in employment

Supporting small and medium sizes businesses in the local economy

Borough Wide Strategic Policy - LE1

Local Economy and Employment

To ensure that accommodation is available for small and medium sized
businesses by:

requiring flexible space suitable for small and medium sized businesses in
large new business developments; and
retaining premises capable of providing continued accommodation for local
services or significant employment:
provided that continued use will not adversely impact on residential areas;
and
unless an alternative use would give a demonstrably greater benefit that
could not be provided on another site.

To support both existing and new initiatives that will encourage local
employment, skills development and training opportunities.

99Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Borough Wide Strategic Policies 9

Page 128



Justification

9.43 Over the years the borough has proved to be an attractive location for many
multi-national companies, including the BBC and Earls Court and Olympia Group, and
their continued presence is welcome because of their contribution to the local economy
and in providing jobs and opportunities to residents. However, as well as being favoured
by major companies, the strength of the local economy is also buoyed by the very many
local office and industrial businesses which often provide services direct to residents or
to other businesses in the borough. Creative industries are a particular strength in the
borough which the council is keen to encourage, and there is also the opportunity to build
on the presence of Hammersmith Hospital/Imperial College and Charing Cross Hospital
by encouraging bio-medical related companies.

9.44 Becausemany of the borough’s businesses are small or medium sized and because
there is demand for accommodation from such enterprises, it is important that new and
refurbished business developments provide accommodation that can meet the needs of
a variety of activities, including start up businesses, so that the rich mix of businesses in
the borough can continue. The council will ensure that its own stock of business premises
continues to meet the needs of the local economy.

9.45 Continued economic growth in the borough will require a growing work force. These
jobs will not go to workless residents in the borough unless they have the necessary
qualifications and skills. If local workless people are not moving into the local labour market,
the growth in jobs will have to be met by workers from outside the local area. This will
increase pressure on the already overstretched supply of housing and local transport
infrastructure.

9.46 There are many agencies involved in training, such as the Learning & Skills Council
(LSC), Ealing Hammersmith &West London College (EHWLC) and Job Centre Plus (JCP)
and the voluntary & community sector (VCS), but the council has a central role in ensuring
that learning and skills provision for adults in H&F is delivered in a coherent and effective
way.

9.47 Although most of the business activities found in the borough can take place in
residential areas, there can be conflicts with residential amenity, so if buildings are outworn
and in need of redevelopment, the relative merits of employment and residential as the
future use should be considered. In some cases, existing employment activity can represent
an under use of land and development for alternative purposes might be shown to better
achieve the strategic objectives. In general, though, the council’s presumption is in favour
of continued employment use.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy100

9 Borough Wide Strategic Policies

Page 129



Community Facitilities (leisure, recreation, education, health, culture,
civic services and other facilities)

Strategic Objectives

Ensure that that both existing and new residents, and visitors to the borough have
access to a range of high quality facilities and services, including retail, recreation,
arts, entertainment, health, education and training and other community services
Ensure that the schools in the borough match the needs and aspirations of local
parents and their children:
Encourage and promote healthier lifestyles and reduce health inequalities.
Promote the safety and security of those who live, work and visit H&F.

101Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Borough Wide Strategic Policies 9

Page 130



Borough Wide Strategic Policy - CF1

Supporting Community Facilities and Services

The Council will work with its strategic partners to provide boroughwide high
quality facilities and services for the community by:

encouraging the co-location of community facilities and services where
opportunities arise;
supporting the retention of existing healthcare facilities and assisting in
securing sites for future healthcare provision or reorganisation of provision,
including local hubs for a wide range of health services in the north, centre
and south of the borough, and supporting renewal of GP premises;
seeking the improvement of school provision, including:

improvement and/or expansion of secondary schools;
improvement and/or expansion of primary schools through the primary
school capital programme;
supporting the creation of new free schools;
requiring the building of new primary schools in the White City
Opportunity Area and the Earls Court and North Fulham Opportunity
Area; and
provision of a new academy at Stamford House.

improving the range of leisure, recreation, sports, arts and cultural facilities
by:

protecting existing premises that remain satisfactory for these
purposes;
supporting reprovision of facilities for existing users in outworn
premises where opportunities arise;
seeking new facilities, in particular:
major new leisure and recreation facilities in theWhite City Opportunity
Area, especially east ofWood Lane and in Shepherds Bush town centre,
and in the Earls Court & West Kensington Opportunity Area;
a replacement library and cinema in Hammersmith town centre; and
water related sports and educational facilities in riverside and canalside
developments.
supporting the continued presence of the major public sports venues
for football and tennis, subject to the local impact of the venues being
managed without added detriment to local residents;
enhancing sport, leisure and cultural provision for schools and public
use in suitable local parks, including Linford Christie Stadium and
Wormwood Scrubs;

generally protecting all existing community facilities and services throughout
the borough; and
supporting the Metropolitan Police and action to deal with crime and
anti-social behaviour;
requiring developments that increase the demand for community facilities
and services tomake contributions towards, or provide for, new or improved
facilities.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy102

9 Borough Wide Strategic Policies

Page 131



Justification

9.48 In a built up borough like H&Fwhere there are many competing uses, it is important
to plan for future community service needs, including education, health, leisure and
recreation facilities, and to protect existing sites and premises. Community facilities are
an important element of what makes a decent neighbourhood. and the council will work
with partners to keep aware of needs, assist with the implementation of agreed programmes
by allocating sites for specific uses and ensure that requirements are taken into account
in new developments.

9.49 Community facilities and services need to be located so that they have maximum
accessibility for their potential users. It will be appropriate for some services and facilities
that attract people from a large area to be located in a town centre or key local centre,
and the council’s policies allow for this possibility. However, other local facilities may be
better located close to the communities they serve. The council will seek to co-locate
community facilities for which it is responsible and will encourage others to do so in order
to provide services that are better integrated with both public and private sectors.

9.50 The council’s strategy for the regeneration of the borough will see a rise in H&F’s
population as well as more visitors to the borough. This growing population will increase
the demand for community services and facilities and other elements of social infrastructure,
such as accommodation for the police. Finding sites for new facilities to support this growth
can be difficult, but we will ensure that the strategies for the borough’s five regeneration
areas fully take into account the need to provide appropriate education, health and other
community service infrastructure. Elsewhere, when new developments result in an increase
in the demand for community facilities, they will also be expected to make appropriate
provision for new or improved facilities. In addition, in those cases where there is pressure
to redevelop existing uses we will protect facilities, unless it can be shown that a need no
longer exists or that facilities can be appropriately replaced or provided elsewhere.

9.51 The current situation regarding known planned community service provision is set
out below.

Schools and other educational and training facilities

9.52 The council’s aim is to make improvements and changes to the borough’s schools
and to transform secondary education. This will result in improved education and training
so that young people will be better able to take advantage of local jobs. There will also
need to be an increase in school places to meet the increasing child population. Although
the Building Schools for the Future programme has been cancelled the Council is still
aiming to improve the quality of its secondary schools, ensure sixth form provision in all
its secondary schools and to increase the number of school places to meet local need.
The council also supports the government’s new Free Schools policy which it considers
will improve the educational choices of children in the local community.

9.53 The following primary school improvements have been committed to in the Council’s
Primary and Special Schools Strategy, with funding from the Primary Capital Programme:

Expansion of Holy Cross School
Amalgamation of St Peter’s School on one site, with possible expansion
Expansion of Bentworth School
Expansion of Old Oak School
Improvement of teaching facilities at St Thomas of Canterbury School

103Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Borough Wide Strategic Policies 9

Page 132



9.54 In addition the council will generally support developments that improve independent
educational, further educational and training facilities in the borough.

Leisure, recreation and sports facilities

9.55 The borough has a rich and varied range of leisure, recreation, sports, and arts,
culture and entertainment facilities. The responsibility for the provision of these facilities,
including investment and maintenance, falls to a number of organisations, including the
council. Because the facilities give residents and visitors to the borough the opportunity
to participate in a range of activities that help to improve quality of life, health and well
being, the council will seek to protect existing uses and assist in providing new facilities.
Where there is a recognised deficiency in the provision of any facility or activity, the council
will seek to readdress this situation through the application of Core Strategy policies,
particularly in the regeneration areas where there are identified development sites.

9.56 In respect of sport, the limited amount of open space in the borough, including in
most of our secondary schools, means that the council has to maximise the use of its
resources. The council have prepared a Sports and Physical Activity Strategy to increase
participation in sports and to ensure the maximum benefit from the 2012 Olympic Games.

9.57 The council will also be developing sports zones for schools in the following parks
(see map 7 and open space policy):

Wormwood Scrubs;
Linford Christie;
Hurlingham Park; and
South Park

9.58 Given the limited amount of open space, we also want to make better use of the
Thames and canal for water sports and we will negotiate for new facilities, as part of
redevelopment schemes, where appropriate.

9.59 These activities attract differing numbers of people and have significantly different
impacts on the local area. Adverse impacts need to be managed through the development
management process.

Health

9.60 The council is integrating with NHS Hammersmith and Fulham which is currently
the organisation responsible for planning and funding all the NHS care for people living
and working in the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham. The aim of the council
and NHS Hammersmith and Fulham is to work with all relevant partners to improve the
health of all residents, to reduce health inequalities and to deliver new and improved health
facilities in the borough. The core strategy aims to support the reorganisation of health
care in the borough. It is proposed that there will be two poly system hubs, one in White
City and one at Charing Cross. These hubs will be supported by 5 to 7 large centres to
supplement the services provided in the polyclinics (Centre for Health) and ensure equality
of provision throughout the borough. The intention is to rationalise the existing network
of GP services. The core strategy also recognises the contribution that other elements of
the strategy have on the health of residents, including access to parks and play areas,
recreation facilities, the opportunities to walk and cycle, community safety, access to shops
selling fresh foods, controls on hot food takeaways, educational attainment and access
to employment, the borough’s air quality and noise and light pollution

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy104

9 Borough Wide Strategic Policies

Page 133



9.61 The main proposals for new health facilities are:

The Centres for Health at White City and at Charing Cross Hospital;
Expanded and improved health centres, including on the site of the old Wandsworth
Bridge Road nursing home, Shepherds Bush, Cassidy RoadMedical Centre, Maystar,
North End Road, Brook Green and Richford Gate.

105Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Borough Wide Strategic Policies 9

Page 134



Open Space

Strategic Objectives

Improve and protect amenity and quality of life of residents and visitors by ensuring
a safe, accessible and pleasant local environment, where there is a strong sense of
place.
Encourage and promote healthier lifestyles and reduce health inequalities through
good quality, inclusive and sustainable design.
Conserve and enhance the quality, character and identity of the borough’s natural
and built environment
Protect and enhance the borough’s open green spaces, promote biodiversity and
protect private gardens.

Borough Wide Strategic Policy - OS1

Improving and Protecting Parks and Open Spaces

To protect and enhance parks, open spaces and biodiversity in the borough by:

designating a hierarchy of open space that includesmetropolitan open land
(MOL), open space of borough wide importance and open space of local
importance (see Appendix 2) as well as a hierarchy of nature conservation
areas of metropolitan, borough and local importance, and green corridors
along the borough’s railway lines (see Appendix 3).
requiring a mix of new public and private open space in the White City
Opportunity Area Earls Court/North End regeneration area and the South
Fulham Riverside opportunity area when development takes place;
improving parks and the facilities within them in accordance with the
council’s Parks Strategy, with substantial refurbishment of Shepherds Bush
Common and Bishops Park, and provision of sports zones at Wormwood
Scrubs, Hurlingham Park, South Park and Linford Christie Stadium;
protecting garden space and encouraging the enhancement of front gardens,
and adding to the greening of streets and the public realm;
ensuring provision of quality open space, including areas of nature
conservation interest, and children’s play provision in new developments,
including in the identified regeneration areas; and
improving provision and access to parks and open spaces, play space and
areas of nature conservation interest.

Note not forming part of the LDF: The revised hierarchy involves amending the MOL
boundaries for i) Wormwood Scrubs MOL by removing the land occupied by the Linford
Christie Stadium and adding land adjoining the Old Oak Community Centre; and ii)
Hurlingham Park MOL by removing Hurlingham Depot, Hurlingham Lodge, Hurlingham
Cottage and Field Cottages; and, designating two additional open spaces of borough wide
importance, namely Rowberry Mead and Imperial Wharf Park and amending South Park
boundary.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy106

9 Borough Wide Strategic Policies

Page 135



A review of open space boundaries, as well as the hierarchy of open spaces that was
identified in earlier development plans has been carried out as part of the preparation of
the Core Strategy. It is proposed to make minor changes to MOL boundaries in
Hammersmith and Fulham. It is proposed to remove Linford Christie Stadium from MOL
because it is a large structure that does not meet the requirements for MOL designation.
The stadium is not clearly distinguishable from the built up area of London and neither
does it contribute to the green character of London (London Plan policy 3D.10). Also,
Linford Christie Stadium needs to provide for a more intensive sports and recreation use
and has been designated as a school sports zone. The removal of the stadium from MOL
recognises the already built up nature of the site and will enable the development of
improved sports facilities on the site. Elsewhere, on Wormwood Scrubs, it is considered
appropriate to add the land adjoining the Old Oak Community Centre which is visually and
physically part of the Scrubs to the MOL. In respect Hurlingham Park, the MOL boundary
has in the past included some private residences. However, because these are separated
from and are not part of the park and do not fit well with the policy restrictions of MOL
designation these have been removed from the Hurlingham Park MOL. In addition, it is
proposed to remove a disused depot from Hurlingham Park MOL.

In respect of open space of boroughwide importance, the inclusion of Rowberry Mead and
Imperial Wharf Park within this classification reflects the characteristics of these new areas
of open space. The council is also proposing an amendment to the South Park boundary
to exclude the depot and Clancarty Lodge as neither are in open space use or accessible
to the public.

Justification

9.62 In a densely built up area like Hammersmith and Fulham, the local environment
and public spaces are very important.

The Hierarchy and status of parks and open space

9.63 The Council’s 2008 Parks Survey and other background information shows that
open space is important for peoples’ quality of life and for enhancing biodiversity in the
borough. Open spaces provide opportunities for people to exercise and to take part in
outdoor sport and recreation which enhances the health of local people. The Council has
designated an open space hierarchy that responds to the variety of parks and open spaces
in the borough, including strategically important open space, namely metropolitan open
land, and open spaces of boroughwide and more local importance (see Proposals Map
and and Appendix 2). Overlapping with this hierarchy are those areas which have particular
nature conservation interest. These areas were originally identified by the former London
Ecology Unit and are classified as of metropolitan, boroughwide and local importance (see
Proposals Map Appendix 3). OnWormwood Scrubs there is also a designated local nature
reserve.

107Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Borough Wide Strategic Policies 9

Page 136



New and improved parks and open spaces
Map 7: Open Space

9.64 The Council’s 2005Open Spaces Audit
reveals that Hammersmith and Fulham has
relatively little open space per person and with
more people living and working in the borough,
the improvement of the parks and open spaces
and facilities within them, and the provision of
more public open space and private amenity
space as part of new developments will be
important, particularly in areas of deficiency
(see Map 7). Because there are areas of
existing deficiency in open space, nature
conservation (see Map 8) and children’s play
areas throughout the borough it is important
that new developments contribute to meeting
this deficiency by provision of open space as
part of regeneration schemes. Such open
space should be provided overall in a
combination of public and private areas.

9.65 The way in which open space is
provided in the opportunity and regeneration
areasmust be considered carefully to integrate
well with the development and to optimise its
value and contribution. Open space for residents may be better provided, for instance, in
easily accessible small private spaces than in more remote large parks. All new publically
accessible open spaces whether on public or private land must be contribute to a high
quality and easily maintainable public realm. All new open spaces will be expected to be
of high quality and ensure attractive, accessible, usable, durable and adaptable places
and to contribute to improving the quality of life, reducing the incidence of crime and
anti-social behaviour and to making places better for people. Where development takes
place adjacent or close to the Thames or the Grand Union Canal it will be important to
increase public access to these areas which have in the past had limited public accessibility.
In addition, the opportunity should be taken to provide environmental improvements so
that people can benefit from leisure and recreation activities along, and on, the Thames
and the Grand Union Canal.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy108

9 Borough Wide Strategic Policies

Page 137



Protection of open space
Map 8: Nature Conservation Areas

9.66 It is important to provide the relevant
protection for, and to enhance, the borough’s
public and private open spaces because of
their contribution to so many elements of the
Core Strategy and associated strategies of
partners. Private gardens add to the green
space within the borough, and where front
gardens have been paved over the Council
will encourage greening initiatives and
inclusion of sustainable drainage.

9.67 Although most open spaces in
Hammersmith and Fulham provide a valuable
open space function, there are some open
spaces, often because of their location, which
have very limited existing or potential value as
either open space, for local amenity, or for
biodiversity. In these cases it may be
appropriate to consider alternative uses.

109Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Borough Wide Strategic Policies 9

Page 138



River Thames and Grand Union Canal

Strategic Objectives

9.68 Increase public access and use of H&F’s waterways as well as enhance their
environment, quality and character;

Borough Wide Strategic Policy - RTC1

River Thames and Grand Union Canal

The council will work with its partner organisations, including the Environment
Agency, Port of LondonAuthority and BritishWaterways Board, and landowners
to enhance and increase access to, as well as use of, the waterways in the
borough, namely the River Thames and the Grand Union Canal and improve
waterside environments, by:

identifying the Thames Policy Area and setting out general criteria for the
design of development in this area in the Generic DevelopmentManagement
Policies DPD and in supplementary planning documents. In particular, there
will be a planning framework for the South Fulham riverside regeneration
areawhichwill providemore detailed design guidance for new development;
encouraging the development of vacant and underused land along the
waterways, namely the River Thames, Chelsea Creek and Grand Union
Canal;
protecting existing water dependent uses and requiring new development
to provide opportunities for water based activities where appropriate and
enhance river and canal related biodiversity, safeguard and enhance where
necessary flood defences, as well as encouraging public access especially
for leisure and educational activities;
ensuring the provision, or improvement and greening, of the Thames Path
National Trail (the Riverside Walk) in all riverside developments and the
canalside tow path along the Grand Union Canal; and
ensuring high standards of design on both riverside and canalside sites,
with improved linkages to the river and riverside walk and the canal as
appropriate. There will be a presumption against tall buildings along the
waterways, but in limited parts of South Fulham riverside regeneration area,
taller buildings may be appropriate if it can be demonstrated that a tall
building would be a key design element in a masterplan for regeneration
and that it would have a positive relationship to the riverside.

Supplementary Planning Documents and briefs will set out detailed guidance
for riverside and canalside development where appropriate.

The Council will press for the safeguarding of vacant wharves to be withdrawn
in order to allow more flexibility in the use of vacant land.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy110

9 Borough Wide Strategic Policies

Page 139



Justification

The Thames

9.69 The River Thames is of considerable benefit to Hammersmith and Fulham and is
of strategic importance to London as a whole. The Thames Policy Area designation and
associated policies aim to protect the features of the riverside and of the river, including
the Chelsea Creek, particularly its environmental quality and importance as:

a major linear open space which is particularly important in an area with limited parks
and open spaces;
a landscape feature with views and landmarks of local importance;
a resource for recreation and sport, tourism and leisure;
an ecological resource and an important refuge for plants and wildlife;
an area with considerable archaeological and historic interest; and
a transport resource.

9.70 Further details of the qualities of the river are included in the Thames Strategy Kew
to Chelsea.

9.71 A balance needs to be reached between the many functions of the river. In
Hammersmith and Fulham there is a particular issue with the future of the three safeguarded
wharves, namely Hurlingham Wharf, Comleys Wharf and Swedish Wharf, as well as the
development of the land adjoining these sites. More detail on the wharves is provided in
the policy for the South Fulham riverside regeneration area, and it is noted that the GLA
has announced its intention to review their designation before 2012 (policy 7.26 of the
draft replacement London Plan). However, in respect of the land adjoining the wharves,
their sterilisation would not accord with London Plan policies to optimise the potential of
sites or to improve the environment of the River Thames. It is therefore the council’s
intention to encourage development of these sites and to encourage suitable waterside
uses as part of mixed use schemes where these would be appropriate. The River Thames
has a significant potential for water based activities that can increase opportunities for
participation in sport and recreation in the borough.

9.72 It is important that all waterside developments respect the flood defences and
enhance these where necessary. The Council will work closely with the Environment
Agency on these matters. It is also important to extend and improve the Thames Path
National Trail, together with pedestrian routes to link it to the surrounding area, which will
often depend on the development of the vacant and underused riverside sites. The riverside
walk should be at least 6 metres wide and should be designed with regard to the council’s
Riverside Walk Enhancement Report.

The Grand Union Canal

9.73 The Grand Union Canal passes through a mainly industrial area of the borough.
It has both transport and recreation, sport, tourism and leisure functions and is also an
important nature conservation resource of metropolitan importance. There is a tow path
on the southern side of the canal which is used by pedestrians and cyclists. The council
has identified this area, namely the Old Oak Common and Hythe Road Area, as one of
its 5 key opportunity areas and will expect development to enhance the canalside.

111Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Borough Wide Strategic Policies 9

Page 140



9.74 It is envisaged that development in this area will come forward during the next 20
years, and when this happens it will be essential for any development along the canal to
be of a high quality and embrace inclusive urban design. Proposals will need to consider
how all aspects of the urban realm and land uses can be addressed to help regenerate
the area. Improved access to the canal and the creation of a long distance canalside walk
will be required as part of development in the area. The council will also encourage the
use of the canal for leisure and recreation activities.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy112

9 Borough Wide Strategic Policies

Page 141



Built Environment

Strategic Objectives

Promote the safety and security of those who live, work and visit H&F;
Improve and protect amenity and quality of life of residents and visitors by ensuring
a safe, accessible and pleasant local environment, where there is a strong sense of
place;
Conserve and enhance the quality, character and identity of the borough’s natural
and built environment through good quality, inclusive and sustainable design.

113Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Borough Wide Strategic Policies 9

Page 142



Borough Wide Strategic Policy - BE1

Built Environment

All development within the borough should create a high quality urban
environment. There should be an approach to inclusive urban design that
considers how good design, quality public realm and land use can be integrated
to help regenerate places.

In particular, development throughout the borough should:

be of the highest standard of design that respects local context and
character and, in particular, reflects and extends where appropriate the
urban grain of the historic street based pattern and scale of development,
especially in residential areas of consistent townscape character;
protect the quality and character of the borough’s conservation areas and
its historic environment, including listed buildings, historic parks and
gardens, buildings and artefacts of local importance and interest,
archaeological priority areas and the Fulham Palace Moated Site scheduled
ancient monument;
protect the strategic view of St Paul’s Cathedral and important local views
shown on the Proposals Map;
be designed to enhance community safety and minimise the opportunities
for crime; and
be attractive, durable and adaptable in order to achieve good sustainable
design

Development within the borough which includes tall buildings which are
significantly higher than the generally prevailing height of buildings in the
surrounding area will generally be resisted, unless it is demonstrated as part
of an urban design strategy that there are townscape benefits and that there is
also consistency with the council’s wider regeneration objectives.

Areas where tall buildings may be appropriate are as follows:

in parts of White City Opportunity Area to be identified in the White City
Opportunity Area Planning Framework;
in Hammersmith TownCentre. Not all parts of the town centre will be suitable
and any proposals for tall buildingswill need to respect/enhance the historic
context, make a positive contribution to the skyline emphasising a point of
civic or visual significance, demonstrate tangible urban design benefits,
and be consistent with the Council’s wider regeneration objectives.
in parts of the Earls Court & West Kensington opportunity area to be
identified in a supplementary planning document; and
in limited parts of South Fulham riverside regeneration area to be identified
in the South Fulham riverside planning framework (see also policy in River
Thames and Canal section).

Detailed justification will be required in all cases.

More detailed design guidance that is specific to particular regeneration areas
will be provided in planning frameworks for these areas.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy114

9 Borough Wide Strategic Policies

Page 143



Justification

9.75 The Core Strategy is not the place to set out detailed guidance on design. This will
be provided in the Generic Development Management Policies DPD and, until this is
adopted, in the existing Unitary Development Plan policies and standards and
Supplementary Planning Guidance which will remain in force until reviewed or superseded.
Where appropriate, there will also be more detailed guidance in planning frameworks for
the borough’s regeneration areas.

9.76 The Council will expect applicants to consider urban design in a wide context. It is
not just about the design and materials of individual buildings. There should be a holistic
approach to design that considers what makes a place function and how buildings, public
realm, land uses and movement patterns can combine to produce attractive, distinctive
and safe areas that achieve the highest standards.

9.77 The existing character of the borough is heavily influenced by a variety of historical,
landscape and architectural assets. Some of these are of national importance, such as
listed buildings and the Fulham Palace Moated Site, whereas others are of borough
importance, including archaeological priority areas (see Appendix 4) and locally listed
buildings of merit. However, whether they are of national or local importance they should
be considered in all developments.

9.78 Many people value the human scale of the traditional streetscape in the borough
and often want to see this maintained in new development, and where this is appropriate
the council will seek this form of design in development proposals. In addition, all new
development will need to be inclusive and accessible to the whole community, whilst being
designed to minimise opportunities for crime and anti-social behaviour.

9.79 There is scope for tall buildings in the regeneration of Hammersmith and Fulham.
The general character of any particular area will always be an important consideration in
assessing the acceptability of tall buildings which will be regarded as having about six
storeys or more (about 20 metres), depending on the local context.

9.80 Taller buildings may be appropriate in the areas identified in the Built Environment
Policy. A broad assessment will be necessary and proposals for tall buildings will always
require a full design appraisal.

9.81 The White City Opportunity Area includes some parts which are less constrained
in terms of local townscape context than other parts of the borough and so tall buildings
may be appropriate, providing a distinctive recognisable landmark. The White City
Opportunity Area Framework will set out guidance on this matter.

9.82 Hammersmith Town Centre has a number of existing tall buildings and further tall
buildings of a similar height could therefore be appropriate in some parts of the centre.
Any proposals for tall buildings in the town centre will need to respect historical context
and make a positive contribution to the skyline emphasising a point of civic or visual
significance, demonstrate tangible urban design benefits, and be consistent with the
Council’s wider regeneration objectives.

9.83 In the Earls Court and West Kensington area there may also be some scope for
tall buildings in carefully selected locations that are less constrained by the surrounding
context, and the Earls Court planning framework will set out further guidance.

115Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Borough Wide Strategic Policies 9

Page 144



9.84 Elsewhere there are areas of the borough, particularly in conservation areas and
along the Thames and the Canal, that are particularly sensitive to tall buildings and where
heights of buildings should generally be restricted. However, limited parts of the South
Fulham riverside regeneration area may be appropriate for tall buildings and these will be
identified in the planning framework. (See also Tall Buildings background paper).

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy116

9 Borough Wide Strategic Policies

Page 145



Tackling and Adapting to Climate Change

Strategic Objective

Reduce and mitigate the local causes climate change and its impacts, including flood
risk, and to improve the sustainability of new development.

9.85 New development and refurbishment schemes need to address issues of climate
change. New development should minimise energy use and the use of other non renewable
resources, as well as facilitating an increase in the use of low carbon technologies such
as Combined Heat & Power (CHP), heat networks and renewable energy.

9.86 The risks of flooding from the River Thames and from surface water flooding are
key issues in H&F and they have to be taken into account in planning new development
in the borough. Climate change could also result in a higher number of heatwaves and
droughts in summer months. New developments need to be designed and constructed to
withstand such impacts.

Borough Wide Strategic Policy - CC1

Reduce Carbon Emissions and Resource Use and adapt to Climate Change
Impacts

Require developments tomake the fullest possible contribution to themitigation
of and adaptation to climate change.

The council will reduce carbon emissions and tackle climate change by:

reducing carbon emissions from the redevelopment or reuse of buildings,
by ensuring developments minimise their energy use, make use of energy
from efficient sources and use renewable energy where feasible;
maximising the provision of decentralised energy networks and integrating
the use of renewable energy in the proposed regeneration areas;
meeting draft Replacement London Plan targets for reducing carbon
emissions from new development;
promoting the efficient use of land and buildings and patterns of land use
that reduce the need to travel by car;
requiring developments to be designed and constructed to take account of
the increasing risks of flooding, drought and heatwaves.

Justification

9.87 The government has set targets for the reduction in carbon emissions – 34%
reduction by 2020 and 80% by 2050. The draft Replacement London Plan sets a more
challenging target of 60% (below 1990 levels) by 2025. To help meet these targets it is
important that new development minimises the increase in carbon emissions and where
possible aims to achieve zero carbon or low carbon developments.

9.88 Energy use in new development should be reduced by appropriate siting, design,
landscaping and energy efficiencies within the building. Where buildings are converted or
reused, improvements in energy efficiency should also be implemented. Decentralised
energy schemes which produce energy

117Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Borough Wide Strategic Policies 9

Page 146



9.89 close to where it is used (Combined Heat and Power (CHP) and Combined Cooling
Heat and Power (CCHP)) are more efficient than centralised electricity generation where
both heat and energy are wasted in production and transmission. Where possible, new
development should link to existing decentralised energy systems and upgrade these
systems. New decentralised energy systems and heat networks should be set up in the
regeneration areas and other areas where major development is taking place. Energy
assessments will be required to demonstrate the reduction in carbon emissions achieved
by the proposed development. New development also needs to maximise the amount of
energy generated from renewable sources in order to meet renewable energy targets for
London (see draft Replacement London Plan policy 5.7 and Table 5.1).

9.90 Developments need to be designed for the warmer, wetter winters and hotter, drier
summers and to be able to cope with heatwaves, droughts and flooding (see policy below).
In particular, overheating and excessive heat generation will need to be avoided and “urban
greening” (draft Replacement London Plan Policy 5.10) will be encouraged to help reduce
the impact of the urban heat island effect in London. Measures to help minimise water use
in new developments will also be required to help protect and conserve London’s water
supplies.

Borough Wide Strategic Policy - CC2

Water and Flooding

The council will expect all development to minimise current and future flood
risk and the adverse effects of flooding on people. In particular:

all development at risk of flooding should be subject to a site specific flood
risk assessment, appropriate to the scale and type of development;
developmentwithin the High andMediumResidual Risk areas should assess
the type and severity of flood risk and manage the residual flood risks;
contributions from development proposals will be required to assist in
mitigation and/or relief measures which will reduce the overall risk of
flooding; and
development adjoining the river will be expected to maintain the integrity
of river defences and setback development in order to allow themaintenance
and improvement of the defences.

In addition, the council will strive to reduce the risk of flooding from surface
water and foul water and its contribution to fluvial flooding by requiring
development proposals to include appropriate sustainable drainage systems
and systems to reduce the amount of water discharged to the foul water drainage.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy118

9 Borough Wide Strategic Policies

Page 147



Justification
Map 9: Flood Risk

9.91 Over 60% of the area of H&F and about
75% of the population is in the Environment
Agency’s (EA) Flood Zones 2 and 3 (see map
9). These flood zones do not take account of
flood defences and, therefore, represent a
theoretical maximum extent of tidal flooding.
The tidal Thames is defended to a 1 in 1000
year standard by a series of walls,
embankments, flood gates and barriers, with
the Thames Barrier being themajor protection.
The actual risk and extent of flooding is
mitigated by these flood defences. In addition
to the risks of tidal flooding, much of H&F is
at risk from sewer and/or surface water
flooding. Climate change and more frequent
extreme weather events, increases the
frequency and severity of this type of flooding.

9.92 As most of the borough is at risk from
some form of flooding, it would be
unreasonable to restrict development only to
the north of the borough in Flood Zone 1,
particularly as much of this area is at risk from
sewer and surface water flooding. The only large area that has not been identified as being
at risk from some form of flooding is parts of Wormwood Scrubs and the Hythe Road
employment area. Wormwood Scrubs is both designated as Metropolitan Open Land and
is protected for military training by Act of Parliament and Hythe Road is designated in the
London Plan as a Strategic Industrial Location (SIL).

119Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Borough Wide Strategic Policies 9

Page 148



Map 10: Residual Flood Risk9.93 The Council therefore considers that
from a borough-wide perspective the
Sequential Test permits the consideration of
all sites for development, subject to the
individual sites satisfying the requirements of
the Exceptions Test (PPS 25) and an
appropriate site specific Flood Risk
Assessment.

9.94 The H&F Strategic Flood Risk
Assessment (SFRA) has assessed the
Residual Risk of flooding within the EA Flood
Zone 3 (see map 10) as a result of a failure in
the river defences and from overtopping of the
defence walls. Development in areas of high
andmedium residual risk will require a detailed
site specific flood risk assessment to determine
the level of risk and how this risk can be
managed. Proposals for ‘more’ or ‘highly
vulnerable uses’ or for ‘essential infrastructure’,
as defined in PPS25 should demonstrate that
the Exception Test has been passed.

9.95 All development should assess the risk
of flooding and where there is a flood risk carry out a site specific flood risk assessment
in accordance with the guidance in the H&F Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA)
(Appendix A.1). The detail that will be required will depend on the flood risk and on the
size of the development.

9.96 In order to reduce the risk of tidal flooding it is important to maintain and, where
necessary, improve the river defences. Where there is redevelopment adjacent to the
river, the consent of the Environment Agency will be required if development is not set
back 16 metres from the river wall so as to allow the wall to be maintained, modified or
raised if necessary.

9.97 A breach to the river defences can potentially result in flooding to an extensive
area of the borough and therefore developments may be required to contribute to and/or
implement schemes that would mitigate or reduce the overall risk of flooding.

9.98 Major developments should consult with Thames Water to assess the capacity for
surface water and foul water for a proposed development. Because of the risk of surface
water and sewer flooding all development in the borough should reduce flood risk by
controlling surface water run-off through the use of sustainable drainage systems (SUDs)
and systems to reduce the amountof water discharged to the sewers. The aim of all
development should be to achieve 50% attenuation of the undeveloped sites surface water
run-off at peak times and where possible achieve 100% attenuation.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy120

9 Borough Wide Strategic Policies

Page 149



Borough Wide Strategic Policy - CC3

Waste Management

To pursue sustainable waste management, including:

planning to manage 348,000 tonnes per annum of waste in H&F by 2031
primarily by the fuller utilisation of existing sites in the Old Oak Common
Area;
promoting sustainable waste behaviour, including sustainable demolition,
in new and existing developments;
ensuring that all developments provide suitable waste and recycling storage
facilities; and
seeking, where possible, the movement of waste and recyclable materials
by sustainable means of transport, including the Grand Union Canal.

Justification

9.99 London Plan policies are seeking tomanage within London, 85% of waste (municipal
and commercial and industrial waste) arising in London. H&F’s apportioned waste total
for 2031, as specified in the Early Suggested Changes to Maps and texts to the draft
replacement London Plan, comprises 152,000 tonnes municipal solid waste and 196,000
commercial and industrial.

9.100 The borough’s municipal waste, together with that of the three other boroughs in
the Western Riverside Waste Authority area (WRWA), is managed through a riverside
site (Smuggler’sWay), close toWandsworth Bridge, in the London Borough ofWandsworth.
Currently most of the non-recyclable municipal waste is transported by river to a land fill
site. However in 2002, H&F together with the other boroughs in the WRWA signed a new
contract for waste disposal for a 30 year period. A part of this contract is for the
non-recyclable waste to be sustainably transported by river and incinerated at Bexley,
once the new incinerator with energy recovery is completed in 2011/12. The contract does
not commit theWaste Authority to a specified amount of waste for incineration and therefore
recycling rates can continue to rise without any penalty. From 2010/11 recyclable materials
will be dealt with by a newmaterials reclamation facility (or MRF) with a capacity for 85,000
tonnes located at WRWA’s Smuggler’s Way site at Wandsworth. If recycling targets are
met there will be a need for further facilities from 2011/12.

9.101 In order to manage increasing tonnages of recyclables and compostable waste
there is a need to ensure that major new developments, such as those within the White
City Opportunity Area and Earls Court, West Kensington and North Fulham regeneration
area and the development at Imperial Road, make provision for managing their waste on
site. The council will encourage further Materials Reclamation or other facilities within the
Hythe Road Strategic Industrial Location (SIL), especially on development sites or as part
of the better utilisation of existing waste transfer sites. However in doing so, there will need
to be continuing and ongoing dialogue with WRWA to ensure that all issues arising from
that authority’s Powers of Direction over the borough’s Municipal Waste (under the
Environment Protection Act 1990) are fully considered and taken account of. We also
need to bemindful of the Collateral Warranties that all four of WRWA’s constituent boroughs
signed directly with WRWA’sWaste Management Services contractor, Cory Environmental
Ltd. under which they (the boroughs) undertake to comply withWRWA’s Power of Direction
and deliver all of their Municipal Waste to WRWA designated waste management sites.

121Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Borough Wide Strategic Policies 9

Page 150



9.102 In addition to the Wandsworth facilities for managing the disposal of municipal
waste, H&F currently has two large sites (Old Oak Sidings and EMR site), and some other
smaller sites, within the Hythe Road SIL where commercial firms are managing and
recycling commercial and industrial, construction and demolition waste, together with some
municipal waste. The London Plan, as proposed to be revised, allocates a tonnage of
348,000 tonnes of waste to be managed in Hammersmith and Fulham by 2031 excluding
construction and demolition waste.

9.103 The Old Oak Sidings site is 3.9ha and has the potential capacity to manage up
to 1.6 million tonnes of mainly construction and demolition waste per annum subject to
realising the potential of rail and canal for transhipment. However, this site manages a
smaller proportion of municipal and commercial and industrial waste streams. It is estimated
that this could be up to 100,000 tonnes per annum when this site is fully operational but
will be subject to market variation. The EMR site is 4.4ha and processes about 370,000
tonnes per annum of industrial waste, particularly end of life vehicles. This site has a
licensed capacity of 419,000 tonnes per annum.

9.104 These sites provide sufficient potential capacity to meet the London Plan waste
allocation and the council will safeguard them for continued waste management activities.
In addition, major development sites will be expected to sort, process and recover materials
on site thereby further increasing H&F’s capacity to locally manage waste.

9.105 Neighbouring boroughs have indicated a desire to work in partnership with
Hammersmith and Fulham to assist in meeting their waste apportionment targets The
Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea has an anticipated capacity shortfall of 200,000
tonnes of waste to 2031. If spare waste management capacity is identified within
Hammersmith and Fulham the possibility of utilising this capacity to meet neighbouring
boroughs’ shortfalls will be explored.

Borough Wide Strategic Policy - CC4

Protecting and enhancing environmental quality

The Council will support measures to protect and enhance the environmental
quality of the borough including harmful emissions to land, air and water and
the remediation of contaminated land. It will work with partner organisations to
help deliver this. In particular, measures will be taken to:

reduce levels of local air pollution and improve air quality in line with the
national air quality objectives and the council’s Air Quality Action Plan;
minimise the impact of noise, bymanaging the development and distribution
of noise-making and noise-sensitive developments in the borough;
minimise the impact of light pollution;
manage the development of land to minimise the potential harm of
contaminated sites andwhere appropriate, ensure that mitigationmeasures
are put in place;

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy122

9 Borough Wide Strategic Policies

Page 151



Justification

9.106 Poor air quality can have a detrimental impact on people’s health and well being,
particularly for those in vulnerable groups such as children, older people and those with
existing heart and lung problems. The whole of H&F has been designated as an Air Quality
Management Area since 2000 because the levels of certain pollutants exceed the national
air quality standards. As a result, the Council has produced an Air Quality Action Plan
outlining measures to help reduce emissions, particularly of Oxides of Nitrogen (NOx) and
small particles (PM10), and improve local air quality. The Action Plan includes measures
such as reducing emissions from traffic, buildings, industry and from demolition/construction
activities as well as measures aimed at reducing the need to travel and encouraging people
to use less polluting forms of transport.

9.107 Noise pollution can also have a harmful effect on people’s health and well-being
Noise (and associated vibration) can have a direct impact on noise sensitive uses,
particularly housing, but also other uses such as schools and hospitals. Some areas of
the borough are subject to significant noise disturbance, particularly those close to busy
roads, rail and tube lines, those under the Heathrow flight-paths and helicopter routes.
Noise from late night activities can also be a problem.

9.108 External lights can enhance the safety, security and appearance of public buildings
and spaces and extend the hours of use of outdoor sports facilities. However, light pollution
can have a serious damaging effect on the amenity of an area and can cause disturbance
to adjoining uses, particularly residential. The potential harm to wildlife is also important,
particularly on the river and in parks and open spaces and in nature conservation areas.
External lights should therefore be designed to avoid glare and light spillage from the site,
as well as to conserve energy.

9.109 The presence of contamination on a site can affect or restrict the beneficial use
of land, though development can present an opportunity to deal with it.. Contamination
can create risks to human health, property and the wider environment. The Council has
developed and implemented a Contaminated Land Strategy through which over 20% of
the borough has been identified as potentially contaminated land and consequently risk
assessed.

9.110 Where necessary, remediation works will be required to ensure the development
can be safely built and occupied without posing any unacceptable risks to human health
or the environment.

9.111 Policies will be set out in the Generic Development Management Policies document
to ensure that these and other environmental quality issues are taken into account at the
planning application stage.

123Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Borough Wide Strategic Policies 9

Page 152



Transport

Strategic Objectives

Ensure there is a high quality transport infrastructure to support development in the
borough and improve transport accessibility and which reduces traffic congestion and
the need to travel.
Reduce and mitigate the local causes of climate change and its impact on flood risk
and to improve the sustainability of new development.
Encourage and promote healthier lifestyles and reduce health inequalities

Borough Wide Strategic Policy - T1

Transport

To work with strategic partners to improve transportation provision and
accessibility in the borough, especially on north-south routes and by seeking
better connections to national and regional rail by:

continuing to promotemajor improvementswith new stations and enhanced
local and sub-regional passenger services on the West London Line;
supporting the implementation of Crossrail and the national High Speed 2
(HS2) Heathrow rail link proposal, and seeking a Crossrail station andWest
London hub station for HS2 with an interchange with theWest London Line
in the Old Oak Common and Hythe Road regeneration area;
seeking a new station on the Central Line at Du Cane Road;
seeking the increased capacity and reliability of the Piccadilly and District
Lines;
seeking a routeing of the Chelsea-Hackney line (Crossrail 2) via Chelsea
Harbour/Sands End;
seeking increased use of the Thames for passenger services and the Grand
Union Canal for passenger and freight use;
increasing the opportunities for walking, for example extending the Thames
Path National Trail, and for cycling, for example completing the Cycle Super
Highways;
seeking localised improvements to the highway network to reduce
congestion on north-south routes in the borough;
securing access improvements for all, particularly people with disabilities,
as part of planning permissions for new developments in the borough; and
ensuring appropriate parking is provided tomeet the essential needs of the
development without impacting on the quality of the urban environment.

To relate the intensity of development to public transport accessibility and
highway capacity.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy124

9 Borough Wide Strategic Policies

Page 153



Justification

Public transport

9.112 A key objective of the Core Strategy is to improve public transport and accessibility
in the borough, whilst reducing the adverse impact of road traffic and traffic congestion.
The level of population and employment growth proposed over the next 20 years will
necessitate increased investment in public transport to improve transport accessibility for
all users, and the Council will work with partners, transport operators and developers to
ensure that this takes place (see also the Core Strategy Infrastructure schedule). The
Council will also seek to ensure that major new development is located in areas with high
levels of public transport accessibility, thereby reducing the need to travel by private car,
to minimise energy use and to increase opportunities for walking and cycling. If there is
not adequate capacity in the transport system, the Council’s strategy for growth may be
constrained or delayed.

9.113 The borough has historically had poor opportunities for north-south travel on public
transport and on the highway network. We have put considerable effort into promoting the
increased use of the West London Line for passenger transport and have secured new
stations at West Brompton, Shepherds Bush and Imperial Wharf. However, although
services have improved, more action is needed by rail operators to ensure that there is
sufficient capacity for the future, particularly in the five proposed regeneration areas. In
particular, direct sub-regional services to Gatwick airport must be restored and maintained
to provide quick links with the regeneration areas at White City, Earls Court and North
Fulham and Old Oak and Hythe Road.

9.114 The Government’s decision to support a High Speed Rail Line (High Speed 2)
from London to the West Midlands and beyond is welcomed, and this potentially gives a
great boost to the council’s aspirations for regeneration of large tracts of railway land in
the north of the borough. Several routes have been suggested, with some versions showing
the high speed rail line operating directly into and out of Heathrow. This would add
significantly to journey times between London and theWest Midlands, and aWest London
Hub station at Old Oak and Hythe Road, with connections to Heathrow, is being promoted
by the Council as a way of overcoming this problem.We believe that building a High Speed
Rail hub station at Old Oak and Hythe Road which links with a Crossrail station will be the
best way of connecting Heathrow into the High Speed Rail Network as it would avoid the
need for trains between London and the Midlands and North to make a lengthy detour via
Heathrow. We believe Old Oak and Hythe Road could become one of the capital’s busiest
interchanges, with train links to Heathrow and Bristol to the west, Birmingham to the north
and Clapham and Gatwick. (See also policy for Old Oak and Hythe Road regeneration
area).

9.115 In addition to improvements to the overground network, the regeneration of the
borough also needs to be supported by the underground and bus network. The Council
supports the Chelsea-Hackney line (Crossrail 2) scheme, but a diversion through Sourth
Fulham riverside, rather than as currently planned, would greatly assist the regeneration
objectives for this area. Elsewhere improvements to increase the capacity on underground
routes and the quality of the bus network will also need to accompany the growth in the
borough’s population and jobs.

125Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Borough Wide Strategic Policies 9

Page 154



The River Thames and Grand Union Canal

9.116 Both the Thames and the Canal are part of London’s Blue Ribbon network which
the Mayor of London wishes to see provide increased passenger and freight transport. In
respect of the Thames,there is an existing river taxi service between ChelseaHarbour and
Westminster which runs infrequently and in the morning and evening peaks only. The
Council supports increased passenger service and will encourage proposals that are
appropriate and viable.

Walking and cycling

9.117 Increasing opportunities for safe and quality walking and cycling in the borough
will have a number of benefits, ranging from improving people’s health to helping to tackle
climate change. As well as strategic walking and cycling routes, the council will seek local
improvements, including cycling changing and parking facilities and signage.

The local highway network

9.118 There are limited opportunities to for tackling urban congestion and increasing
road capacity in the borough. North–south movements can be particularly difficult, and
development schemes, particularly in the regeneration areas, will need to consider how
they contribute to improvements to the highways network.

Parking

9.119 Sufficient car parking will need to be provided to meet the essential needs of
developments, particularly ensuring that there is suitable access for disabled people.
Parking space is often an inefficient and unattractive use of land and its impact on local
environmental quality should be minimised where car parking is provided in new
developments. Additional commuting by car should not be encouraged as it would add to
congestion.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy126

9 Borough Wide Strategic Policies

Page 155



Hazardous Substances

Borough Wide Strategic Policy - HS1

Hazardous Substances

The council will ensure that development takes account of major hazards
identified by the HSE, namely:

Fulham North Holder Station, Imperial Road
Fulham South Holder Station, Imperial road
Swedish Wharf, Townmead Road

Justification

9.120 Certain sites and pipelines are designated as notifiable installations by virtue of
the quantities of hazardous substance present. The siting of such installations are subject
to planning controls, for example under the Planning (Hazardous Substances) Regulations
1992, aimed at keeping these separated from housing and other land uses with which
such installations might be incompatible from the safety viewpoint. Circular 04/00 ‘Planning
controls for hazardous substances’ provides guidance on the operation of the consent
procedure for hazardous substances which implement the land use planning requirements
of Directive 96/82/EC, known as the Seveso Directive, on the control of major-accident
hazards. The council will consult the Health and Safety Executive, as appropriate, about
the siting of any proposed new notifiable installations, including pipelines.

9.121 In Fulham there are three installations handling notifiable substances, including
pipelines. Whilst they are subject to stringent controls under existing health and safety
legislation, it is important to control the kinds of development permitted in the vicinity of
these installations. Circular 04/00 requires that the Health and Safety Executive should
be consulted prior to the granting of planning permission about the risks to the proposed
development from the notifiable installation and this could lead to refusal of permission,
or restrictions on the proximity of development to the notifiable installation. The notifiable
sites and pipelines are shown on the Proposals Map and listed in Appendix xx, together
with the distance from the notifiable site for which consultation with the Health and Safety
Executive will be required. The distance from the pipelines in which buildings will not
normally be permitted is also listed.

127Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Borough Wide Strategic Policies 9

Page 156



LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy128

9 Borough Wide Strategic Policies

Page 157



10 Delivery and Implementation of the Core Strategy

Delivery and monitoring

The council will implement the policies and proposals of the Core Strategy and
seek to ensure that the necessary infrastructure is secured to support
regeneration by:

Working with stakeholders and partner organisations through a variety of
for a and other arrangements, including the Borough Partnership;
Preparing regeneration area and other supplementary planning documents
as required, and supplementing the Core Strategy andGeneric Development
Management DPDswith development briefs, master plans and best practice
guidance if this is necessary;
Undertaking pre-application discussions with developers and involving
partner organisations where appropriate, and through development
management powers, including negotiating S106 obligations;
Allocating council funding to projects and bidding for other monies to
support core strategy initiatives;
Developing a charging schedule in response to Community Infrastructure
Levy (CIL) regulations or successor levy regimes that support the
implementation of infrastructure projects necessary to deliver the Core
Strategy; and
Preparing annual monitoring reports to review the effectiveness of policies
and identifying alterations where necessary

Justification

10.1 If the policies within the Core Strategy, and indeed other local development
documents in Hammersmith and Fulham’s LDF, are to be implemented successfully, this
responsibility will fall not only upon the council as local planning authority and in some
cases as the land owner, but also upon the council’s partners and other stakeholders,
including neighbouring boroughs and public and private sector organisations.

10.2 It will be necessary for the council to work with partner organisations in a variety
of innovative ways if the Core Strategy’s vision is to be achieved, and because many of
the proposals in the Core Strategy relate to strategic matters, the council will have a number
of key partners. The GLA, for example, will assist in preparing a supplementary planning
document that will help progress the development of the White City Opportunity Area,
whereas the Environment Agency will assist in environmental stewardship of the borough
through involvement in flood risk assessment and other matters. In respect of the Earls
Court West Kensington Opportunity Area, the council will particularly work with the Royal
Borough of Kensington and Chelsea to ensure that regeneration takes place.

10.3 In addition, landowners and developers, will be important partners in the
regeneration of the borough. Much of the land in the regeneration areas is held by private
landowners and their commitment and active involvement is required to implement this
strategy. There are ongoing discussions with these key landowners and stakeholders to
determine the way forward for development and the council is preparing area frameworks
for each of the identified regeneration areas. In some cases there are opportunities to
consider joint schemes with private landowners or developers holding adjacent or nearby
sites which could involve joint ventures or special purpose vehicles, subject to European

129Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Delivery and Implementation of the Core Strategy 10

Page 158



Union procurement rules. Developing partnerships with relevant stakeholders will be
essential, as will the promotion of policies through the Hammersmith and Fulham Borough
Partnership, which includes representatives from the business sector and community and
voluntary groups, as well as public bodies such as the police, NHS H&F and registered
social landlords.

10.4 It will be through development management processes, including pre-application
discussions, however, that the council will seek to implement many of the policies and
proposals in the Core Strategy. Many of the council’s objectives, such as increasing home
ownership and the supply of housing, will be sought through new development, and the
related infrastructure requirements, such as transport improvements, provision or
improvement of utilities and enhancement of the public realm, will, where necessary, be
sought through S106 obligations or levy regimes. The council will include any charging
schedule that is developed as a result of Government levy regimes in a supplementary
planning document. The council will also consider, when appropriate, the use of compulsory
purchase powers to implement proposals.

Provision of detailed guidance and encouraging development

10.5 The council’s pro-active planning approach to regeneration will be supported by a
number of planning documents and detailed guidance. In particular we will prepare:

a White City Opportunity Area Framework and a transport capacity study in liaison
with the GLA and Transport for London for approval by spring 2011;
a development framework together with a transport capacity study for the Earls
Court/West Kensington regeneration area in liaison with the Royal Borough of
Kensington and Chelsea summer 2011;
development frameworks and detailed strategies for both Hammersmith Town Centre
and South Fulham Riverside; and
development briefs for other major and complex sites.

10.6 These frameworks and briefs will all be subject to public consultation and ultimately
be adopted as Supplementary Planning Documents when the Core Strategy has been
adopted. These will be prepared in liaison with other council departments and partners
and will set out, inter alia:

urban design strategy;
strategy for provision of supporting transport and social infrastructure;
approach to provision of affordable housing;
Flood risk management;
programme for procuring development where the council owns land;
environmental strategy with particular regard to energy and waste;
planning obligation requirements

10.7 The preparation of these area frameworks will provide a focus for discussions with
the landowners and developers and with the infrastructure providers who will be key to
the delivery of the council’s strategy for each area. They will also be important in explaining
to local residents and other stakeholders how the strategy for their area will affect them
and will enable them to get involved at an early stage in the regeneration of their area.

10.8 We will prepare Generic Development Management policies and individual site
polices where necessary to support the Core Strategy, but only where Supplementary
Planning Documents would not be sufficient.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy130

10 Delivery and Implementation of the Core Strategy

Page 159



Monitoring

10.9 To enable the council to know whether the Core Strategy policies are achieving
their objectives and targets and whether the policies need to be reviewed, the council will
monitor policies and prepare Annual Monitoring Reports.

10.10 The key indicators will assess:

Progress in development of key regeneration areas and in areas of change;
Increase in housing provision, both market and affordable;
The number of lifetime homes and wheelchair accessible dwellings;
Quality of housing and access to gardens and playspace;
Net change in office and other employment floorspace
Provision of employment space for small businesses;
Vitality of town centres – range and quality of retail and other town centre uses;
Access to local shopping and services;
Numbers of local children attending H&F schools and quality of education;
Access to primary and specialist healthcare facilities;
Quality and access to open space and sports facilities;
Public access to the river and canal and increase in length of riverside walk;
Improvement in public transport accessibility, quality and frequency;
Increase in pedestrian and cycle friendly routes;
Reduction in carbon emissions from new development;
Reduction in flood risk
Sustainable waste management.

131Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Delivery and Implementation of the Core Strategy 10

Page 160



LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy132

10 Delivery and Implementation of the Core Strategy

Page 161



11 Infrastructure Schedule

11.1 The Core Strategy sets out the council’s approach to regeneration and development
in the borough over the next 20 years.

11.2 It will be essential that a range of social infrastructure, such as health and
recreational facilities, as well as physical infrastructure, such as transport facilities and
green infrastructure is provided to ensure successful development and to support the local
communities, particularly in those areas experiencing the most growth. The council will
work with social and physical infrastructure providers, to ensure that adequate facilities
are provided to support new development. An Infrastructure Schedule that lists the likely
additional requirements of social and physical infrastructure in the borough and the costs
of provision and sources of funding where this is known is attached in Appendix 6 The
schedule will be kept under review and regularly monitored in the Annual Monitoring Report.

11.3 The council will work with the Borough Partnership and others separately on
strategic sites and detailed delivery programmes.

11.4 The key strategies and partner organisations important to infrastructure provision
are set out below, with further detail in Appendix 6 (Infrastructure Schedule):

Housing

11.5 Our Housing Strategy sets out an innovative and creative approach to delivery.
We will work with the public and private sector to seek the best solution to the housing
challenges facing the borough and will be as flexible as possible in our housing and
planning policies to deliver the outcomes we want to achieve. We will work with the
Government, Greater London Authority, Homes and Communities Agency, Registered
Social Landlords and private house builders to tackle affordability issues with low cost
home ownership housing.

Estates Regeneration Plan

11.6 Our aim is to deliver housing and neighbourhoods that are fit for the 21stCentury
and that better meet the aspirations, expectations and requirements of local residents.
Consultation is taking place with the tenants and leaseholders of some housing estates
to identify how they can benefit from the proposed regeneration. The council is considering
establishing a Local Housing Company to take forward estate regeneration.

Education

11.7 The new Hammersmith City Academy is currently under construction and is due
to open in September 2011. This new secondary school will provide an additional 780
places in the borough. In addition, within neighbouring Kensington and Chelsea, Chelsea
Academy opened for year 7 pupils in September 2009, which may relieve pressure on
secondary schools in Fulham.

11.8 There is currently a surplus of primary school places in the borough although
capacity is being increased at oversubscribed and/or overcrowded schools. Also, a primary
school has recently been granted permission onWarwick Road in Kensington and Chelsea,
which is within 100 metres of the borough. As part of major development within the key
regeneration areas, new primary school provision will be necessary and will be secured
through planning obligations.

133Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Infrastructure Schedule 11

Page 162



Health

11.9 The council and NHS Hammersmith and Fulham (NHS HF) have approved plans
for an integrated management team which is designed to bring significant improvements
to the health and wellbeing of the borough’s residents. We will work with NHS
Hammersmith and Fulham and any successor organisations to establish
polyclinics/secondary care and other facilities as required throughout the borough. The
NHS Hammersmith and Fulham Estate Strategy seeks by 2013, two polyclinics (Centres
for Health) plus other developments that will provide appropriate high quality primary care
environment to replace current GP premises and provide a cost effective solution to
expanding primary care capacity.

Economic development

11.10 The council will continue to provide targeted business support and implement
programmes to help residents gain access to local jobs in construction and in new
developments. It will use its Local Economic Assessment to help inform policy, respond
to existing and future employment priorities and assist resource allocation.

Open space and green infrastructure

11.11 The Parks Strategy seeks clean, green and award winning parks where residents
and visitors can relax and enjoy themselves. The council has secured funding to improve
six of the borough’s main parks to Green Flag Award standard and in addition the
refurbishment of Shepherd’s Bush Green to create a new world class public realm has
been agreed.

11.12 There are still areas of the borough that are deficient in open space. A number
of these areas overlap with the council’s regeneration areas. The council will secure through
planning obligations high quality open spaces in all the regeneration areas, but particularly
Earl’s Court and West Kensington OA and the Wider White City Opportunity Area which
are particularly deficient in access to open space.

11.13 In addition, the council will look towards greening the borough’s streets and
ensuring that regeneration proposals contribute to the protection, promotion and
management of biodiversity in the borough.

Transport

11.14 Much of Hammersmith and Fulham has a high level of transport accessibility and
the main regeneration areas all have very good access by public transport. Nevertheless,
all development will need to be considered carefully in terms of the capacity of the public
transport and highway network and the need for further improvements.

11.15 The Transport for London Central London network model (CLOHAM) includes
Hammersmith and Fulham and has formed the basis (with other existing models: eg
Railplan) for detailed assessment of the impacts of development on public transport and
the wider highway networks. Very large projects will also require micro-simulation of the
impact on the local highway network and junctions.

11.16 Planned public transport improvements include:

TFL’s proposal to make significant improvements to the frequency and reliability of
the tube network within the borough. The signalling systems will be improved on both

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy134

11 Infrastructure Schedule

Page 163



the District and Hammersmith and City lines and the frequency of trains will be
increased on both the Hammersmith and City and Piccadilly Lines.

11.17 In addition the council will:

Seek as part of the Wider White City Opportunity Area proposals, S106 monies to
provide a new Central Line station within the vicinity of Hammersmith Hospital;
Continue to seek and support Network Rail improvements to the West London Line
.
Identify, promote and complete cycle networks;
Seek highway and pedestrian improvements where these are required as a result of
regeneration initiatives

11.18 The council feels that given the increased usage of the West London Line and
the proposed Crossrail line and High Speed 2 (HS2), there is potential to create a major
transport node in the north of the borough linking Crossrail to the overground rail network.
The council will continue to lobby Government regarding a proposed new Crossrail station
and High Speed 2 (HS2) rail hub station with links to a new Crossrail Station and the West
London Line.

Utilities

11.19 Regeneration will lead to demands on the services of utility companies. A particular
issue in this borough is the provision of drainage infrastructure. ThamesWater is currently
undertaking modelling to assess whether any upgrades will be required to the Borough’s
sewerage network infrastructure as a result of growth.

11.20 ThamesWater is committed to improving the Counters Creek Sewer – the principle
sewer draining Hammersmith and Fulham and other adjoining boroughs. It is anticipated
that improvements to the sewer will be made within Thames Water’s 2015-20 budgetary
period. The council will work with Thames Water and other stake holders to ensure that
there is adequate water supply, surface water, foul drainage and sewerage treatment
capacity to serve all new developments.

11.21 Thames Water also has aspirations to provide a Thames Tideway Sewer Tunnel
which will reduce foul water from flowing into the river when there is a period of very heavy
rainfall. However, the preferred route and tunnelling methodology have not yet been
announced.

135Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Infrastructure Schedule 11

Page 164



LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy136

11 Infrastructure Schedule

Page 165



12 Appendices

Appendix 1 - Summary of the Core Strategy Sustainability Appraisal

12.1 Set out below is an extract from the non-technical summary of the LDF Core
Strategy Sustainability Appraisal September 2010. This document is published separately
and is available for comment.

Summary of the Sustainability Appraisal of the Core Strategy

Strategic Objectives Appraisal

12.2 The strategic objectives of the Core Strategy Regulation 27 document set out the
many and varied aims of the council in relation to land use and future development. Overall,
the sustainability appraisal (SA) revealed that they exhibit a broad commitment to the
principles of sustainable development, and are hence largely compatible with the
assessment objectives of the sustainability appraisal process.

12.3 It is the Core Strategy objectives to attract businesses and increase housing where
there is most tension with the SA Objectives. However, the SA commented that
incompatibilities can be reduced, and in some cases eliminated, provided the plan policies
are implemented in a sustainable fashion, for example by incorporating energy and resource
efficiency measures, making space for biodiversity, ensuring public transport accessibility
and avoiding inappropriate development in areas of flood risk.

Spatial Policies Appraisal

12.4 The Core Strategy includes policies for the broad spatial approach to planning and
regeneration across the borough over the next 20 years.

12.5 The Core Strategy’s preferred approach is to focus major growth in five key
regeneration areas; to promote new housing and to identify locations for specific
employment activities whilst allowing underused land to change to residential; and to apply
a hierarchy of town centres, key local centres and neighbourhood parades..

12.6 The sustainability appraisal found that the council’s spatial policies were sustainable.

Policies for Regeneration Areas and Strategic Sites and Estate Regeneration Areas

12.7 For each of the five regeneration areas identified, the Core Strategy sets out policies
for the overall strategy and vision for the area and the proposals for sites of strategic
importance.

12.8 In relation to the policies for the key regeneration areas and strategic sites and
estate regeneration areas, the SA found that no wholly unsustainable policies have been
put forward. In general, the policies meet social and economic sustainability criteria, but
there is less certainty as to whether they will meet the environmental objectives as this
will depend on implementation through generic development management policies.
Therefore, in a number of cases the SA recommendations have been made in order to
ensure a high level of sustainability in the Generic Development Management DPD. The
SA also recommends that a more in depth sustainability appraisal is carried out for the
key regeneration areas as appropriate as individual area planning frameworks are prepared.

137Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Appendices 12

Page 166



Boroughwide Strategic Policies Appraisal

12.9 In addition to the overarching spatial strategy and regeneration area policies, the
Core Strategy includes a number of boroughwide strategic policies to deliver the spatial
strategy and to ensure that development outside the proposed regeneration areas
contributes to meeting the council’s objectives. The borough wide strategic policies will
be relevant to development through out the borough, but may still have spatial elements.

12.10 The boroughwide strategic policies are generally sustainable.

Conclusions and Recommendations

12.11 The majority of the strategic objectives, spatial policies, regeneration area and
strategic site policies and boroughwide strategic policies are generally sustainable. This
is only to be expected given the iterative nature of the LDF process and the fact that
sustainability appraisal has run side by side with the development of policy options. Indeed,
this document is the third SA to be published, with previous reports being made available
in June 2007 (Core Strategy Preferred Options) and June 2009 (Core Strategy Options).

12.12 Achieving the council’s vision of regenerating deprived areas of the borough and
creating a borough of opportunity for all will result in a growth in housing and jobs. Growth
will have an impact on the environment and will need to be managed (for example, to
minimise carbon emissions and resource use) through development management and
environmental standards. Growth in London is supported by national and London wide
policy and is more sustainable in a highly accessible area like Hammersmith and Fulham
than in many other areas of the country.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy138

12 Appendices

Page 167



Appendix 2 - Open Space Hierarchy

Area (Hectares)Name of Open Space (*Common Land )

Metropolitan Parks

68.36Wormwood Scrubs (MOL)

District Parks

19.58Bishops Park and Fulham Palace^ (MOL)

13.35Ravenscourt Park

Local Parks

7.44Eel Brook Common*

3.30Hammersmith Park

7.90Hurlingham Park (MOL)

3.39Lillie Road Recreation Ground

8.81Little Wormwood Scrubs

1.25Edward Woods Town Park

2.61Normand Park

3.33Shepherd's Bush Common*

8.49South Park

3.66Wormholt Park

Small Local Parks and Open Spaces

1.11Bayonne Park

0.84Brompton Park

1.80Brook Green*

1.06Cathnor Park

1.44Frank Banfield Park

1.78Furnival Gardens

139Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Appendices 12

Page 168



0.47Gwendwr Gardens

0.63Marcus Garvey Park

1.37Parsons Green*

0.79Queens Club Gardens

0.71St Paul's Green

0.63St Paul's Open Space, Hammersmith Road

0.79St Peter's Square^

1.75Wendell Park

0.17White City Community Garden

1.03William Parnell Park

0.4Rowberry Mead

2.4Imperial Wharf Park

Cemeteries andOpenSpaces adjoining places ofWorship

5.21Fulham Cemetery

6.53Hammersmith Cemetery

9.45Kensal Green Cemetery (MOL)

10.07St Mary's Cemetery (MOL)

Allotments

5.87The Warren (MOL)

School Playing Fields

4.65Burlington Danes School Playing Fields and Courts

3.98Latymer Upper School Playing Fields

0.46St Paul's Girls School Playing Fields, Brook Green

Outdoor Sporting Facilities

0.78Chelsea Football Club, Stamford Bridge

0.28Fulham Football Club, Stevenage Road

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy140

12 Appendices

Page 169



15.88Hurlingham Club Grounds (MOL)

1.23Parsons Green Club, Broomhouse Lane

2.49Queens Club

0.73Queens Park Rangers Football Club, Loftus Road

5.7Linford Christie Sports Stadium

Note:

MOL. Metropolitan Open Land

*. Common Land

^ Historic Park or Garden

141Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Appendices 12

Page 170



Appendix 3 - Nature Conservation Areas and Green Corridors

Area (Hectares)Areas of Metropolitan Importance

3.3M6: Grand Union Canal

70M31: The River Thames, with its foreshore, drawdocks
and inlets – including Chelsea Creek

8.2 plus 18.0 inM125: Kensal Green Cemetery

RBK&C)

Areas of Grade I Borough-wide Importance

42BI.1: Scrubs Wood and Wormwood Scrubs

2.0BI.2: Old Oak Common

13.5BI.4: Fulham Palace and Bishops Park -including All
Saints' Churchyard

0.1BI.5: Former British Gas Pond at end of Chelsea Creek
to west of Railway

9.2BI.6: Hurlingham Club Grounds

20BI.7: Rail side habitats -various locations

Areas of Grade II Borough-wide importance

8.0BII.1: St Mary's Cemetery

1.4BII.2: Hammersmith Park

8.3BII.3: Ravenscourt Park

Areas of Local Importance

8.3L1: While City Community Gardens

2.0L2: Wormholt Park

1.5L4: Wendell Park

0.4L5: Cathnor Park

2.7L6: Shepherd's Bush Common

1.5L7: Furnival Gardens

0.3L8: St Paul's Open Space

6.2L9: Hammersmith Cemetery

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy142

12 Appendices

Page 171



5.3L10: Fulham Palace Road Cemetery

1.1L11: Normand Park

6.0L12: South Park

5.0L13: Eel Brook Common

7.2L14: Little Wormwood Scrubs Park

0.07L15: Loris Road Community Garden

0.08L16: Godolphin Road Community Garden

Green corridors

West London Line – Fulham Road to ChelseaCreek

West London Line – Westway to Lillie Road

Euston to Watford DC Line

Note:

More information about nature conservation areas is contained in the former London
Ecology Unit’s Handbook 25: Nature Conservation in Hammersmith and Fulham. In
addition, further details will be provided in the Generic Development Management DPD
and, until this is replaced, can be found in the Unitary Development Plan.

143Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Appendices 12

Page 172



Appendix 4 - Archaeological Priority Areas

1. FulhamVillage

2. Ravenscourt Leper Hospital

3. Ravenscourt Manor House (Palingswick)

4. Hammersmith Creek, Queen Caroline Street and Broadway

5. Winslow Road area

6. Parson's Green

7. Walham Green

8. Sandford Manor House

9. William De Morgan Pottery Works (Townmead Road Estate)

10. HurlinghamPark

11. Broomhouse

12. Martin Brothers Pottery Works

13. Lygon Almshouses and corner of Finlay Street/Fulham Palace Road

14. Rowberry Close

15. King Street

Note:

More information about archaeological priority areas will be provided in the Generic
Development Management DPD and, until this is replaced, can be found in the Unitary
Development Plan

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy144

12 Appendices

Page 173



Appendix 5 - Proposed Shopping Hierarchy

AddressProposed Designation

Town Centres

Major CentreHammersmith

Major CentreFulham

Metropolitan CentreShepherd's Bush

Key Local Shopping Centres

Old Oak Common Lane, 74 to 100, Erconwald Street, 1
to 5, 2 to 4 Westway 1-11-13

East Acton

East side, 105 to 119, 63-105, 121-155, West side, 66 to
118

Askew Road

East side, 137 to 153, 155-169, 175 to 203c, plus 4-12
North End Crescent

North End Road (West
Kensington)

West side, 62-70, 86 to 114 North End Road, plus 1
Baron’s Court Road, 2 Castletown Road, 2 -6 Charleville
Road, 1 Charleville Road

North side, 656 to 702c, South side, 799 to 859, 604-620
Fulham Road, 753-763 Fulham Road, 765-781 Fulham
Road, 783-797 Fulham Road

Fulham Road

To be provided as part of regenerationWhite City Opportunity
Area

Neighbourhood Parades

Shop units in Charnock HouseBloemfontein Road

South side, 171 to 197a, North side, 418 to 420, 424 to
448

Uxbridge Road West

2-18 Swanscombe Road, Shop Units in Swanscombe
House, Shop Units in Mortimer House

Edward Woods Estate

127a-139 Brackenbury Road, 22, 53-55 Aldensley RoadBrackenbury Village

North side, 108-118, and Coleridge Court shop units,
South side, 59 to 73

Blythe Road

Palliser Road, West side, 45-55, Margravine Gardens,
South side, 1, 3, 3a Shops in Baron's Court station

Baron's Court

North side, 3 to 11, South side, 2-10 Fulham Palace
Road, 192 to 206, 179-191Greyhound Road

Greyhound Road

145Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Appendices 12

Page 174



287-297 Munster Road, 299-305 Munster Road, 325 Lillie
Road, 302-320 Munster Road

Fulham Cross

East side, 236 to 244, West side, 199 to 259Munster Road

East side, 323- 327, 329 to 367Fulham Palace Road

559-575 Kings Road, 577-581 Kings Road, 587-599 Kings
Road , 554-562 Kings Road, 564-598 Kings Road,
600-612 Kings Road

King's Road

6-66 Fulham High Street, 963-969 Fulham Road, 1-9a,
15-35, 41-47 and 49-67a Fulham High Street, 947-961
and 764-792 Fulham Road

Fulham High Street

New Kings Road, North side, 26 to 40, South side, 173
to 207, 48-60 New Kings Road, 62-80 New Kings Road,
82-96 New Kings Road, 251-269 New Kings Road,
271-285 New Kings Road, 287-305 New Kings Road

Parson's Green

East side, 99 to 133, West side, 112 to 130, and 134 to
142, 1 Hazlebury Road

Wandsworth Bridge Road
(North)

West side, 308 to 314 including Post Office fronting Hugon
Road, East side, 269 to 283

Wandsworth Bridge Road
(South)

338-340a King Street, 344-348 King Street, 352-366 King
Street, 370-372 King Street, Standish House and 345-357
King Street, 369-399 King Street

King Street (Hamlet
Gardens)

Satellite Parades

North side, 216 to 250, and 262 to 294, South side, 15 to
41, and 57 to 95

Uxbridge Road East

South side, 57 to 75, North side, 56 to 104, 106-120Goldhawk Road

West side 48 to 104Shepherd's Bush Road

182-230 King Street, 232 -246a King Street, 248-260 King
Street

King Street (Ravenscourt
Park)

102-172 Hammersmith RoadLatymer Court

54-66 FulhamPalace Road, 82-114 FulhamPalace Road,
91-99 Fulham Palace Road, 101-111 Fulham Palace
Road, 113-127 Fulham Palace Road

Fulham Palace Road

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy146

12 Appendices

Page 175



A
p
p
en
d
ix
6
-
In
fr
as
tr
u
ct
u
re
S
ch
ed
u
le

P
ri
o
ri
ty

C
o
n
ti
n
g
en
cy

p
la
n
n
in
g

re
q
u
ir
ed
?

F
u
n
d
in
g

A
rr
an
g
em
en
ts

In
d
ic
at
iv
e

D
el
iv
er
y

P
h
as
in
g

L
ea
d

D
el
iv
er
y

A
g
en
cy

C
o
st

R
eq
u
ir
em
en
ts
o
f

sc
h
em
e

N
ee
d
fo
r
S
ch
em
e

S
ch
em
e

Tr
an
sp
o
rt

M
ed
iu
m

Fu
nd
ed
th
ro
ug
h

T
F
L

O
ng
oi
ng

T
F
L

£2
.5
m

R
oa
d
im
pr
ov
em
en
ts

To
im
pr
ov
e
th
e
bu
s

pr
io
rit
y
m
ea
su
re
fo
r

B
us
R
ou
te
22
0

Im
pr
ov
em
en
ts
to

no
rt
hb
ou
nd

ac
ce
ss
fr
om

F
ul
ha
m
P
al
ac
e

R
oa
d
to
th
e

H
am
m
er
sm
ith

G
yr
at
or
y

H
ig
h

F
un
de
d

th
or
ou
gh
T
F
L

20
10
-2
01
8

T
F
L

U
nk
no
w
n

N
ew

tr
ai
ns
,n
ew

si
gn
al
lin
g,
re
ne
w
ed

To
in
cr
ea
se
ca
pa
ci
ty
,

co
m
fo
rt
an
d
re
lia
bi
lit
y

Im
pr
ov
em
en
ts
to

D
is
tr
ic
tL
in
e

tr
ac
k
an
d
a
ne
w

ce
nt
ra
lis
ed
se
rv
ic
e

co
nt
ro
lc
en
tr
e

H
ig
h

Fu
nd
ed
th
ro
ug
h

T
F
L

To
be

fin
al
is
ed

T
F
L

U
nk
no
w
n

N
ew

tr
ai
ns
,n
ew

si
gn
al
lin
g
sy
st
em

an
d

a
ne
w
co
nt
ro
lc
en
tr
e

To
in
cr
ea
se
ca
pa
ci
ty
,

co
m
fo
rt
an
d
re
lia
bi
lit
y

Im
pr
ov
em
en
ts
to

P
ic
ca
di
lly
Li
ne

H
ig
h

D
ev
el
op
er

co
nt
rib
ut
io
ns

O
ng
oi
ng

T
F
L

U
nk
no
w
n

In
cr
ea
se
s
to
pl
at
fo
rm

le
ng
th
s,
an
d
po
ss
ib
le

To
in
cr
ea
se
ac
ce
ss

to
th
e
lin
e
an
d

Im
pr
ov
em
en
ts
to

th
e
W
es
tL
on
do
n

Li
ne

ne
w
st
at
io
ns
at

in
cr
ea
se
th
e

C
he
ls
ea
F
oo
tb
al
l

fre
qu
en
cy
of
tra
in
s
on

th
e
lin
e

C
lu
b
an
d
N
or
th
P
ol
e

R
oa
d

M
ed
iu
m

C
ro
ss
ra
il
Lt
d,

LB
H
F
an
d

20
17
on
w
ar
ds

C
ro
ss
ra
il
Lt
d

U
nk
no
w
n

C
on
st
ru
ct
io
n
of
ne
w

st
at
io
n
on
C
ro
ss
ra
il

Li
ne

To
su
pp
or
t

de
ve
lo
pm
en
ta
tO
ld

O
ak
an
d
H
yt
he
R
oa
d

A
re
a

N
ew

C
ro
ss
ra
il

st
at
io
n

de
ve
lo
pe
r

co
nt
rib
ut
io
ns

147Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Appendices 12

Page 176



P
ri
o
ri
ty

C
o
n
ti
n
g
en
cy

p
la
n
n
in
g

re
q
u
ir
ed
?

F
u
n
d
in
g

A
rr
an
g
em
en
ts

In
d
ic
at
iv
e

D
el
iv
er
y

P
h
as
in
g

L
ea
d

D
el
iv
er
y

A
g
en
cy

C
o
st

R
eq
u
ir
em
en
ts
o
f

sc
h
em
e

N
ee
d
fo
r
S
ch
em
e

S
ch
em
e

M
ed
iu
m

C
en
tr
al

G
ov
er
nm
en
t,

N
at
io
na
lR
ai
l

an
d
H
S
2
Lt
d

20
17
on
w
ar
ds

H
S
2
Lt
d

U
nk
no
w
n

C
on
st
ru
ct
a

st
at
io
n/
te
rm
in
us
at

O
ld
O
ak
to
lin
k
w
ith

C
ro
ss
ra
il

To
lin
k
w
ith
pr
op
os
ed

ne
w
C
ro
ss
ra
il
st
at
io
n

an
d
pr
ov
id
e
lin
k
to

H
ea
th
ro
w

H
ig
h
S
pe
ed
2
H
ub

M
ed
iu
m

Li
ke
ly
to
be

fu
nd
ed
by

C
en
tr
al

G
ov
er
nm
en
t

an
d
T
F
L

20
17
-2
03
0

T
F
L

U
nk
no
w
n

Im
pr
ov
em
en
ts
to
th
e

tr
ac
k
be
tw
ee
n

P
ar
so
ns
G
re
en
an
d

W
im
bl
ed
on
an
d

co
ns
tr
uc
tio
n
of
ne
w

lin
e
be
tw
ee
n
P
ar
so
ns

G
re
en
an
d
C
he
ls
ea

To
im
pr
ov
e
pu
bl
ic

tr
an
sp
or
ta
cc
es
s
in

th
e
so
ut
h
of
th
e

bo
ro
ug
h

C
he
ls
ea
-H
ac
kn
ey

Li
ne

M
ed
iu
m

S
10
6

co
nt
rib
ut
io
ns

20
12
-2
02
0

LB
H
F
/T
F
L

U
nk
no
w
n

To
in
cr
ea
se
th
e

ca
pa
ci
ty
fo
r
w
at
er

ba
se
d
tr
af
fic

To
im
pr
ov
e
tr
an
sp
or
t

ac
ce
ss
ib
ili
ty
in
th
e

S
ou
th
F
ul
ha
m

R
iv
er
si
de
A
re
a

U
pg
ra
de
to

ex
is
tin
g
C
he
ls
ea

H
ar
bo
ur
P
ie
r

H
ig
h

T
F
L
an
d
S
10
6

O
ng
oi
ng

T
F
L

U
nk
no
w
n

P
ro
vi
de
ad
di
tio
na
l

tr
an
sp
or
tc
ap
ac
ity
in

th
e
fo
rm
of
ne
w

ro
ad
s,
bu
se
s,

cy
cl
ew
ay
s
an
d
ot
he
r

pu
bl
ic
tr
an
sp
or
t

To
m
ee
tt
he
ne
ed
s
of

th
e
in
cr
ea
si
ng

po
pu
la
tio
n
in

R
eg
en
er
at
io
n
A
re
as

A
dd
iti
on
al
ne
ed

fro
m
R
eg
en
er
at
io
n

A
re
as

W
at
er
an
d
D
ra
in
ag
e
In
fr
as
tr
u
ct
u
re

M
ed
iu
m

F
un
de
d
by

O
F
W
AT
.

20
15
-2
0

T
ha
m
es

W
at
er

U
nk
no
w
n

R
ep
la
ce
m
en
ta
nd

en
la
rg
em
en
to
fs
ew
er

To
up
da
te
ag
ei
ng

in
fr
as
tr
uc
tu
re
an
d

in
cr
ea
se
ca
pa
ci
ty

U
pg
ra
de
of

C
ou
nt
er
s
C
re
ek

S
ew
er

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy148

12 Appendices

Page 177



P
ri
o
ri
ty

C
o
n
ti
n
g
en
cy

p
la
n
n
in
g

re
q
u
ir
ed
?

F
u
n
d
in
g

A
rr
an
g
em
en
ts

In
d
ic
at
iv
e

D
el
iv
er
y

P
h
as
in
g

L
ea
d

D
el
iv
er
y

A
g
en
cy

C
o
st

R
eq
u
ir
em
en
ts
o
f

sc
h
em
e

N
ee
d
fo
r
S
ch
em
e

S
ch
em
e

M
ed
iu
m

E
nv
iro
nm
en
t

A
ge
nc
y
ca
n

pr
ov
id
e

fin
an
ci
al
ai
d.

R
ip
ar
ia
n

la
nd
ow
ne
r
/

E
nv
iro
nm
en
t

A
ge
nc
y

O
ng
oi
ng

E
nv
iro
nm
en
t

A
ge
nc
y

U
nk
no
w
n

R
eg
ul
ar
up
ke
ep
of

w
al
ld
ef
en
ce
s

To
en
su
re
th
at
th
e

T
ha
m
es
W
al
li
s
an

ef
fe
ct
iv
e
ba
rr
ie
r
to

flo
od
ris
k

T
ha
m
es
W
al
l

Im
pr
ov
em
en
ts

S
ec
o
n
d
ar
y
E
d
u
ca
ti
o
n

H
ig
h

D
C
S
F

D
C
S
F
an
d

M
er
ce
rs

20
10
-2
01
2

D
C
S
F

U
nk
no
w
n

C
on
st
ru
ct
io
n
of
ne
w

se
co
nd
ar
y
sc
ho
ol

To
m
ee
td
em
an
d
fo
r

se
co
nd
ar
y
sc
ho
ol

pl
ac
es

H
am
m
er
sm
ith

A
ca
de
m
y

H
ig
h

LB
H
F
/S
10
6

20
12
-2
01
5

LB
H
F

£7
.5
m

N
ew

bu
ild
/

re
fu
rb
is
hm
en
ts

To
m
ee
td
em
an
d
fo
r

se
co
nd
ar
y
sc
ho
ol

pl
ac
es

S
ac
re
d
H
ea
rt
H
ig
h

S
ch
oo
l

H
ig
h

LB
H
F
/S
10
6

20
12
-2
01
5

LB
H
F

£4
.8
m

N
ew

bu
ild
/

re
fu
rb
is
hm
en
ts

To
m
ee
td
em
an
d
fo
r

se
co
nd
ar
y
sc
ho
ol

pl
ac
es

La
dy
M
ar
ga
re
t

S
ch
oo
l

H
ig
h

LB
H
F
/S
10
6

20
12
-2
01
5

LB
H
F

£4
m

R
ef
ur
bi
sh
m
en
ts

To
fa
ci
lit
at
e

op
er
at
io
na
l

re
qu
ire
m
en
ts
fo
r

fe
de
ra
tio
n

F
ul
ha
m
C
ro
ss
/

H
en
ry
C
om
pt
on

H
ig
h

LB
H
F
/S
10
6

20
12
-2
01
5

LB
H
F

£2
.5
m

N
ew

bu
ild
/

re
fu
rb
is
hm
en
ts

E
xp
an
si
on
to
m
ee
t

sp
ac
e
re
qu
ire
m
en
ts

W
ill
ia
m
M
or
ris

M
ed
iu
m

LB
H
F
/S
10
6/

D
C
S
F

20
10
on
w
ar
ds

LB
H
F

U
nk
no
w
n

To
pr
ov
id
e
ad
di
tio
na
l

se
co
nd
ar
y
sc
ho
ol

ca
pa
ci
ty

To
m
ee
tt
he
ne
ed
s
of

th
e
in
cr
ea
si
ng

po
pu
la
tio
n
in

R
eg
en
er
at
io
n
A
re
as

A
dd
iti
on
al
ne
ed

fro
m
R
eg
en
er
at
io
n

A
re
as

S
p
ec
ia
lE
d
u
ca
ti
o
n

149Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Appendices 12

Page 178



P
ri
o
ri
ty

C
o
n
ti
n
g
en
cy

p
la
n
n
in
g

re
q
u
ir
ed
?

F
u
n
d
in
g

A
rr
an
g
em
en
ts

In
d
ic
at
iv
e

D
el
iv
er
y

P
h
as
in
g

L
ea
d

D
el
iv
er
y

A
g
en
cy

C
o
st

R
eq
u
ir
em
en
ts
o
f

sc
h
em
e

N
ee
d
fo
r
S
ch
em
e

S
ch
em
e

H
ig
h

LB
H
F

20
11
/2
01
2

LB
H
F

£8
.5
m

N
ew

bu
ild
on
B
ry
on
y

C
en
tr
e
S
ite

To
de
liv
er
ob
je
ct
iv
es

of
20
08
S
E
N
R
ev
ie
w

C
am
br
id
ge
S
ch
oo
l

H
ig
h

LB
H
F

20
12
/2
01
3

LB
H
F

£8
.5
m

N
ew

bu
ild
on

C
am
br
id
ge
S
ite

To
de
liv
er
ob
je
ct
iv
es

of
20
08
S
E
N
R
ev
ie
w

B
rid
ge
A
ca
de
m
y

H
ig
h

lb
hf

20
13
/2
01
4

LB
H
F

£9
m

N
ew
bu
ild
/r
ef
ur
bi
sh
m
en
ts

on
F
in
la
y
S
tr
ee
tS
ite

To
de
liv
er
ob
je
ct
iv
es

of
20
08
S
E
N
R
ev
ie
w

Q
ue
en
sm
ill

P
ri
m
ar
y
E
d
u
ca
ti
o
n

H
ig
h

LB
H
F
/P
C
P

20
09
-2
01
0

LB
H
F

£1
m

M
aj
or
ne
w
bu
ild

R
el
oc
at
io
n
of
G
ib
bs

G
re
en
S
ch
oo
l

La
ng
fo
rd
P
rim
ar
y

S
ch
oo
l

H
ig
h

LB
H
F
/P
C
P

20
01
0-
20
11

LB
H
F

£2
50
,0
00

C
on
st
ru
ct
io
n
of
so
lid

st
ru
ct
ur
e
cl
as
sr
oo
m

R
ep
la
ce
m
en
to
f

hu
tte
d
cl
as
sr
oo
m

Jo
hn
B
et
ts

H
ig
h

LB
H
F
/P
C
P

20
10
-2
01
1

LB
H
F

£1
.5
m

N
ew

bu
ild
/

re
fu
rb
is
hm
en
ts

E
xp
an
si
on
to
m
ee
t

sp
ac
e
re
qu
ire
m
en
ts

S
tT
ho
m
as
of

C
an
te
rb
ur
y

H
ig
h

LB
H
F
/P
C
P

20
11
/2
01
2

LB
H
F

£1
m

N
ew

bu
ild
/

re
fu
rb
is
hm
en
ts

E
xp
an
si
on
to
tw
o

fo
rm
en
tr
ie
s

O
ld
O
ak

M
ed
iu
m

LB
H
F
/P
C
P

20
12
-2
01
5

LB
H
F

U
nk
no
w
n

M
aj
or
ne
w
bu
ild
/

re
m
od
el

E
xp
an
si
on
to
tw
o

fo
rm
en
tr
ie
s

H
ol
y
C
ro
ss

M
ed
iu
m

LB
H
F
/P
C
P

20
12
-2
01
5

LB
H
F

U
nk
no
w
n

A
m
al
ga
m
at
io
n
of

sc
ho
ol
on
si
ng
le
si
te

w
ith
po
ss
ib
le

ex
pa
ns
io
n

Im
pr
ov
em
en
ts
to

te
ac
hi
ng
fa
ci
lit
ie
s

S
tP
et
er
s

M
ed
iu
m

LB
H
F
/P
C
P

20
12
-2
01
5

LB
H
F

U
nk
no
w
n

N
ew

bu
ild
/

re
fu
rb
is
hm
en
ts

E
xp
an
si
on
to
m
ee
t

sp
ac
e
re
qu
ire
m
en
ts

B
en
tw
or
th

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy150

12 Appendices

Page 179



P
ri
o
ri
ty

C
o
n
ti
n
g
en
cy

p
la
n
n
in
g

re
q
u
ir
ed
?

F
u
n
d
in
g

A
rr
an
g
em
en
ts

In
d
ic
at
iv
e

D
el
iv
er
y

P
h
as
in
g

L
ea
d

D
el
iv
er
y

A
g
en
cy

C
o
st

R
eq
u
ir
em
en
ts
o
f

sc
h
em
e

N
ee
d
fo
r
S
ch
em
e

S
ch
em
e

M
ed
iu
m

LB
H
F
/S
10
6

20
10
on
w
ar
ds

LB
H
F

U
nk
no
w
n

To
pr
ov
id
e
ad
di
tio
na
l

pr
im
ar
y
sc
ho
ol

ca
pa
ci
ty
w
ith
in

R
eg
en
er
at
io
n
A
re
as

To
m
ee
tt
he
ne
ed
s
of

th
e
in
cr
ea
si
ng

po
pu
la
tio
n
in

R
eg
en
er
at
io
n
A
re
as

A
dd
iti
on
al
ne
ed

fro
m
R
eg
en
er
at
io
n

A
re
as

E
ar
ly
Y
ea
rs

A
dd
iti
on
al

ne
ed
fr
om

R
eg
en
er
at
io
n

A
re
as

A
dd
iti
on
al

ne
ed
fr
om

R
eg
en
er
at
io
n

A
re
as

A
dd
iti
on
al
ne
ed

fr
om
R
eg
en
er
at
io
n

A
re
as

A
dd
iti
on
al

ne
ed
fr
om

R
eg
en
er
at
io
n

A
re
as

A
dd
iti
on
al

ne
ed
fr
om

R
eg
en
er
at
io
n

A
re
as

A
dd
iti
on
al

ne
ed
fr
om

R
eg
en
er
at
io
n

A
re
as

A
dd
iti
on
al
ne
ed
fr
om

R
eg
en
er
at
io
n
A
re
as

A
dd
iti
on
al
ne
ed
fr
om

R
eg
en
er
at
io
n
A
re
as

A
dd
iti
on
al
ne
ed

fro
m
R
eg
en
er
at
io
n

A
re
as

H
ea
lt
h
ca
re

M
ed
iu
m

IC
H
/

D
ep
ar
tm
en
to
f

H
ea
lth

20
09
-2
01
4

Im
pe
ria
l

C
ol
le
ge

H
ea
lth
ca
re

(I
C
H
)

£1
00
m

N
ew

bu
ild
an
d

co
ns
ol
id
at
io
n
of

ex
is
tin
g
fa
ci
lit
ie
s

To
ac
co
m
m
od
at
e

ne
w
re
se
ar
ch
fa
ci
lit
y

E
xp
an
si
on
of

H
am
m
er
sm
ith

H
os
pi
ta
l

H
ig
h

H
F
P
C
T
/L
B
H
F

20
10
-2
01
3

H
F
P
C
T

£1
1.
6m

N
ew

bu
ild
in

as
so
ci
at
io
n
w
ith

re
si
de
nt
ia
l

de
ve
lo
pm
en
t

C
re
at
io
n
of
ne
w

he
al
th
ce
nt
re

W
hi
te
C
ity

C
ol
la
bo
ra
tiv
e
C
ar
e

C
en
tr
e

H
ig
h

H
F
P
C
T

20
10
-2
01
2

H
F
P
C
T

£3
.5
6m

W
or
ks
at
C
ha
rin
g

C
ro
ss
H
os
pi
ta
lt
o

cr
ea
te
a
ne
w

po
ly
cl
in
ic

C
re
at
io
n
of
ne
w

po
ly
cl
in
ic

F
ul
ha
m
C
en
tr
e
fo
r

H
ea
lth

M
ed
iu
m

H
F
P
C
T
/L
B
H
F

20
10
-2
01
3

H
F
P
C
T

£7
50
,0
00

R
ef
ur
bi
sh
m
en
ta
nd

ne
w
bu
ild
an
d
cl
os
ur
e

of
ob
so
le
te
fa
ci
lit
ie
s

C
on
so
lid
at
e
fa
ci
lit
ie
s

an
d
in
cr
ea
se
ca
pa
ci
ty

C
on
so
lid
at
io
n
of

W
an
ds
w
or
th

B
rid
ge
G
P
s

151Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Appendices 12

Page 180



P
ri
o
ri
ty

C
o
n
ti
n
g
en
cy

p
la
n
n
in
g

re
q
u
ir
ed
?

F
u
n
d
in
g

A
rr
an
g
em
en
ts

In
d
ic
at
iv
e

D
el
iv
er
y

P
h
as
in
g

L
ea
d

D
el
iv
er
y

A
g
en
cy

C
o
st

R
eq
u
ir
em
en
ts
o
f

sc
h
em
e

N
ee
d
fo
r
S
ch
em
e

S
ch
em
e

M
ed
iu
m

H
F
P
C
T

20
11
-1
3

H
F
P
C
T

£3
50
,0
00

E
xp
an
d
ex
is
tin
g

fa
ci
lit
y

C
re
at
e
a
2n

d
tie
r

he
al
th
ce
nt
re

C
as
si
dy
R
oa
d

M
ed
iu
m

H
F
P
C
T

20
11
-1
3

H
F
P
C
T

£6
00
,0
00

E
xp
an
d
ex
is
tin
g

fa
ci
lit
y

C
re
at
e
a
2n

d
tie
r

he
al
th
ce
nt
re

R
ic
hf
or
d
G
at
e

M
ed
iu
m

H
F
P
C
T
/IC
H

20
10
on
w
ar
ds

H
F
P
C
T

£1
.2
m

C
re
at
io
n
of
G
P
s
at

H
am
m
er
sm
ith
an
d

C
ha
rin
g
C
ro
ss

H
os
pi
ta
ls

To
in
cr
ea
se
G
P

ca
pa
ci
ty
in
th
e
vi
ci
ni
ty

of
th
e
bo
ro
ug
h’
s

ho
sp
ita
ls

U
pg
ra
di
ng
G
P

P
re
m
is
es

M
ed
iu
m

H
F
P
C
T
/S
10
6

20
10
on
w
ar
ds

H
F
P
C
T

U
nk
no
w
n

To
pr
ov
id
e
ad
di
tio
na
l

he
al
th
ca
re
fa
ci
lit
ie
s

w
ith
in
R
eg
en
er
at
io
n

A
re
as

To
m
ee
tt
he
ne
ed
s
of

th
e
in
cr
ea
si
ng

po
pu
la
tio
n
in

R
eg
en
er
at
io
n
A
re
as

A
dd
iti
on
al
ne
ed

fro
m
R
eg
en
er
at
io
n

A
re
as

P
o
lic
e

Lo
w

P
os
si
bl
e

S
10
6
fu
nd
in
g

M
et
ro
po
lit
an

P
ol
ic
e

20
10
on
w
ar
ds

M
et
ro
po
lit
an

P
ol
ic
e

U
nk
no
w
n

E
xp
an
si
on
of
ex
is
tin
g

fa
ci
lit
ie
s

C
ur
re
nt
fa
ci
lit
ie
s
ar
e

un
su
ita
bl
e

E
xp
an
si
on
of

H
am
m
er
sm
ith

P
ol
ic
e
S
ta
tio
n

M
ed
iu
m

P
os
si
bl
e

S
10
6
fu
nd
in
g

M
et
ro
po
lit
an

P
ol
ic
e

20
10
on
w
ar
ds

M
et
ro
po
lit
an

P
ol
ic
e

U
nk
no
w
n

E
xp
an
si
on
of
ex
is
tin
g

fa
ci
lit
ie
s
an
d
cr
ea
tio
n

of
24
ho
ur
cu
st
od
y

su
ite
s

P
op
ul
at
io
n
in
cr
ea
se
s

ar
ou
nd
S
he
ph
er
d’
s

B
us
h

E
xp
an
si
on
of

S
he
ph
er
d’
s
B
us
h

P
ol
ic
e
S
ta
tio
n

L
ei
su
re
an
d
S
p
o
rt

Lo
w

LB
H
F
/S
10
6

20
10
on
w
ar
ds

LB
H
F

U
nk
no
w
n

To
pr
ov
id
e
ad
di
tio
na
l

le
is
ur
e
an
d
sp
or
ts

pr
ov
is
io
n
w
ith
in

R
eg
en
er
at
io
n
A
re
as

To
m
ee
tt
he
ne
ed
s
of

th
e
in
cr
ea
si
ng

po
pu
la
tio
n
in

R
eg
en
er
at
io
n
A
re
as

A
dd
iti
on
al
ne
ed

fro
m
R
eg
en
er
at
io
n

A
re
as

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy152

12 Appendices

Page 181



P
ri
o
ri
ty

C
o
n
ti
n
g
en
cy

p
la
n
n
in
g

re
q
u
ir
ed
?

F
u
n
d
in
g

A
rr
an
g
em
en
ts

In
d
ic
at
iv
e

D
el
iv
er
y

P
h
as
in
g

L
ea
d

D
el
iv
er
y

A
g
en
cy

C
o
st

R
eq
u
ir
em
en
ts
o
f

sc
h
em
e

N
ee
d
fo
r
S
ch
em
e

S
ch
em
e

M
ee
ti
n
g
H
al
ls
an
d
S
p
ac
es

Lo
w

LB
H
f/S
10
6

20
10
on
w
ar
ds

LB
H
F

U
nk
no
w
n

To
pr
ov
id
e
ad
di
tio
na
l

m
ee
tin
g
ha
lls
an
d

sp
ac
es
w
ith
in

R
eg
en
er
at
io
n
A
re
as

To
m
ee
tt
he
ne
ed
s
of

th
e
in
cr
ea
si
ng

po
pu
la
tio
n
in

R
eg
en
er
at
io
n
A
re
as

A
dd
iti
on
al
ne
ed

fro
m
R
eg
en
er
at
io
n

A
re
as

L
ib
ra
ri
es

M
ed
iu
m

LB
H
F

20
10
on
w
ar
ds

LB
H
F

U
nk
no
w
n

R
el
oc
at
e
th
e
lib
ra
ry
in

ce
nt
ra
lH
am
m
er
sm
ith

O
ffe
ra
be
tte
rs
er
vi
ce

to
re
si
de
nt
s

H
am
m
er
sm
ith

Li
br
ar
y

M
ed
iu
m

LB
H
F

20
10
-2
01
3

LB
H
F

£1
00
,0
00

Im
pr
ov
em
en
ts
to
th
e

lib
ra
ry
in
cl
ud
in
g
se
lf

se
rv
ic
e
te
rm
in
al
s,
IT

im
pr
ov
em
en
ts
an
d

ne
w
fu
rn
itu
re

O
ffe
ra
be
tte
rs
er
vi
ce

to
re
si
de
nt
s

F
ul
ha
m
Li
br
ar
y

M
ed
iu
m

LB
H
F

20
10
on
w
ar
ds

LB
H
F

U
nk
no
w
n

R
el
oc
at
e
th
e
fa
ci
lit
y

O
ffe
ra
be
tte
rs
er
vi
ce

to
re
si
de
nt
s

S
an
ds
E
nd
Li
br
ar
y

Vo
lu
n
ta
ry
S
ec
to
r

Lo
w

N
o
ne
ce
ss
ity

to
pr
ov
id
e
th
e

hu
bs
.T
he
ir

pr
ov
is
io
n

w
ou
ld

LB
H
F

20
10
on
w
ar
ds

LB
H
F

U
nk
no
w
n

Id
en
tif
ic
at
io
n
of

su
ita
bl
e
si
te
s
fo
rt
hi
rd

se
ct
or
hu
bs
an
d

re
de
ve
lo
pm
en
t

To
co
ns
ol
id
at
e
3r
d

se
ct
or
fa
ci
lit
ie
s

C
re
at
io
n
of
3r
d

se
ct
or
hu
bs

ho
w
ev
er

co
ns
ol
id
at
e

th
e
se
rv
ic
e

153Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Appendices 12

Page 182



P
ri
o
ri
ty

C
o
n
ti
n
g
en
cy

p
la
n
n
in
g

re
q
u
ir
ed
?

F
u
n
d
in
g

A
rr
an
g
em
en
ts

In
d
ic
at
iv
e

D
el
iv
er
y

P
h
as
in
g

L
ea
d

D
el
iv
er
y

A
g
en
cy

C
o
st

R
eq
u
ir
em
en
ts
o
f

sc
h
em
e

N
ee
d
fo
r
S
ch
em
e

S
ch
em
e

an
d
fr
ee
up

ot
he
r

pr
op
er
tie
s
fo
r

al
te
rn
at
iv
e

us
es
.

O
p
en
S
p
ac
e

H
ig
h

S
10
6
fu
nd
in
g

ha
s
be
en

se
cu
re
d
an
d

C
ou
nc
il

m
on
ie
s
ha
ve

be
en

co
m
m
itt
ed

LB
H
F
/S
10
6

20
09
-2
01
1

LB
H
F

£4
.6
m

R
e-
m
od
el
lin
g
of
th
e

op
en
sp
ac
e

To
im
pr
ov
e
th
e

qu
al
ity
of
th
e
op
en

sp
ac
e

S
he
ph
er
d’
s
B
us
h

G
re
en

M
ed
iu
m

£4
m
ha
s

al
re
ad
y
be
en

co
m
m
itt
ed
.

T
he
C
ou
nc
il

ar
e
cu
rr
en
tly

in
ve
st
ig
at
in
g

w
ay
s
to
ra
is
e

ad
di
tio
na
l

fu
nd
in
g

LB
H
F
/N
at
io
na
l

Lo
tte
ry

20
11
-2
01
5

LB
H
F

£8
m

R
e-
m
od
el
lin
g
of
th
e

op
en
sp
ac
e

To
im
pr
ov
e
th
e

qu
al
ity
of
th
e
op
en

sp
ac
e

B
is
ho
p’
s
P
ar
k

M
ed
iu
m

T
he
fu
nd
in
g

ha
s
be
en

co
m
m
itt
ed

an
d
so
m
e

w
or
ks
ha
ve

st
ar
te
d

LB
H
F

20
09
-2
01
5

LB
H
F

£1
.5
m

M
in
or
re
-m
od
el
lin
g

an
d
re
fu
rb
is
hm
en
t

w
or
ks

Im
pr
ov
e
th
e

at
tr
ac
tiv
en
es
s
of
th
e

bo
ro
ug
h’
s
co
m
m
on
s

an
d
ke
y
op
en
sp
ac
es

O
th
er
pa
rk

im
pr
ov
em
en
ts

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy154

12 Appendices

Page 183



P
ri
o
ri
ty

C
o
n
ti
n
g
en
cy

p
la
n
n
in
g

re
q
u
ir
ed
?

F
u
n
d
in
g

A
rr
an
g
em
en
ts

In
d
ic
at
iv
e

D
el
iv
er
y

P
h
as
in
g

L
ea
d

D
el
iv
er
y

A
g
en
cy

C
o
st

R
eq
u
ir
em
en
ts
o
f

sc
h
em
e

N
ee
d
fo
r
S
ch
em
e

S
ch
em
e

M
ed
iu
m

LB
H
F
/N
at
io
na
l

Lo
tte
ry
/S
10
6

20
10
on
w
ar
ds

LB
H
F

U
nk
no
w
n

C
re
at
e
ne
w
op
en

sp
ac
es
(in
cl
ud
in
g

ne
w
pl
ay
sp
ac
es
an
d

bi
od
iv
er
si
ty
)
to
m
ee
t

th
e
ne
ed
s
of
th
e

ex
pa
nd
in
g
po
pu
la
tio
n

an
d
to
ad
dr
es
s

de
fic
ie
nc
ie
s

To
m
ee
tt
he
ne
ed
s
of

th
e
in
cr
ea
si
ng

po
pu
la
tio
n
in

R
eg
en
er
at
io
n
A
re
as

A
dd
iti
on
al
ne
ed

fro
m
R
eg
en
er
at
io
n

A
re
as

T
h
am
es
P
at
h

M
ed
iu
m

T
he
de
ve
lo
pe
r
is

re
qu
ire
d
to

pr
ov
id
e
th
e

riv
er
si
de
w
al
k

as
pa
rt
of
a

S
10
6

ag
re
em
en
t

S
10
6

20
10
on
w
ar
ds

D
ev
el
op
er

U
nk
no
w
n

W
he
re
de
ve
lo
pm
en
t

oc
cu
rs
,r
eq
ui
re
th
e

pr
ov
is
io
n
of
a
pu
bl
ic
ly

ac
ce
ss
ib
le
w
al
kw
ay

al
on
g
th
e
riv
er
fr
on
t

To
cr
ea
te
an

at
tr
ac
tiv
e
riv
er
si
de

w
al
k

R
e-
al
ig
nm
en
to
f

T
ha
m
es
P
at
h

T
h
e
G
ra
n
d
U
n
io
n
C
an
al
an
d
To
w
p
at
h

M
ed
iu
m

F
un
di
ng
ha
s

be
en
se
cu
re
d.

T
F
L/
P
R
P

20
10
-2
01
2

LB
H
F

£6
12
,0
00

R
ed
ev
el
op
th
e

ac
ce
ss
ra
m
p

To
in
cr
ea
se

ac
ce
ss
ib
ili
ty
to
th
e

ca
na
lt
ow
pa
th

W
he
el
ch
ai
r

ac
ce
ss
at
S
cr
ub
s

La
ne

O
u
td
o
o
r
S
p
o
rt
s
P
ro
vi
si
o
n

M
ed
iu
m

LB
H
F

20
10
-2
01
3

LB
H
F

U
nk
no
w
n
bu
t

no
tl
ik
el
y
to

be
la
rg
e

M
in
or
al
te
ra
tio
ns
to

up
gr
ad
e
ou
td
oo
r

sp
or
ts
fa
ci
lit
ie
s

To
al
lo
w
ed
uc
at
io
na
l

fa
ci
lit
ie
s
to
ha
ve

ac
ce
ss
to
pu
bl
ic

ou
td
oo
r
sp
or
ts

pi
tc
he
s
an
d
co
ur
ts

S
ch
oo
lS
po
rt
s

Z
on
es

155Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Appendices 12

Page 184



P
ri
o
ri
ty

C
o
n
ti
n
g
en
cy

p
la
n
n
in
g

re
q
u
ir
ed
?

F
u
n
d
in
g

A
rr
an
g
em
en
ts

In
d
ic
at
iv
e

D
el
iv
er
y

P
h
as
in
g

L
ea
d

D
el
iv
er
y

A
g
en
cy

C
o
st

R
eq
u
ir
em
en
ts
o
f

sc
h
em
e

N
ee
d
fo
r
S
ch
em
e

S
ch
em
e

H
ig
h

LB
H
F

20
10
-2
01
1

LB
H
F

U
nk
no
w
n
bu
t

re
nt
w
ill
lik
el
y

ou
tw
ei
gh

co
st
s

M
in
or
im
pr
ov
em
en
ts

to
cu
rr
en
tp
itc
he
s
an
d

co
ur
ts

P
ro
vi
de
ac
ce
ss
ib
le

sp
or
ts
pr
ov
is
io
n
fo
r

H
am
m
er
sm
ith

A
ca
de
m
y
in

R
av
en
sc
ou
rt
P
ar
k

H
am
m
er
sm
ith

A
ca
de
m
y
sp
or
ts

pi
tc
h
ac
ce
ss

P
la
ys
p
ac
es

H
ig
h

F
un
di
ng

se
cu
re
d
an
d

co
m
m
itt
ed

D
C
S
F

20
10
-2
01
5

LB
H
F

£1
.1
m

M
in
or
re
fu
rb
is
hm
en
ts

To
up
gr
ad
e
th
e

qu
al
ity
of
ex
is
tin
g

pl
ay
gr
ou
nd
s

Im
pr
ov
em
en
ts
to

pl
ay
sp
ac
es

Tr
ee
s

M
ed
iu
m

G
LA

20
09
-2
01
3

G
LA

R
ou
gh
ly

£1
00
,0
00

Id
en
tif
ic
at
io
n
of

su
ita
bl
e
lo
ca
tio
ns
an
d

pl
an
tin
g
of
tr
ee
s

To
im
pr
ov
e
th
e

at
tr
ac
tiv
en
es
s
an
d

ec
ol
og
y
of
ar
ea
s

id
en
tif
ie
d
as
be
in
g

de
fic
ie
nt
in
st
re
et

tr
ee
s

M
ay
or
’s
S
tr
ee
t

Tr
ee
P
ro
gr
am
m
e

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy156

12 Appendices

Page 185



Appendix 7 - Unitary Development Plan (UDP) policies to be replaced
by Core Strategy policies

Explanatory Note

12.13 This table below shows whether existing Unitary Development Plan (UDP) policies
will be replaced by Core Strategy or Generic Development Management (GDM) policies
or other policy guidance.

12.14 Column 1 identifies all policies included in the UDP as amended in 2007.

12.15 Column 2 identifies the Core Strategy policies that will replace UDP policies.
However, if a UDP policy will not be replaced by a Core Strategy policy, or is to be replaced
only partly by a Core Strategy policy, this will be made clear in the table.

12.16 Column 3 indicates whether a UDP policy will be replaced by a future GDM policy,
rather than a Core Strategy policy.

12.17 Column 4 indicates whether it is proposed or likely that a UDP policy will be
replaced by policy guidance other than the Core Strategy or GDM Development Planning
Document (DPD). This may include a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), but
could also include national planning policy contained in a Planning Policy Statement (PPS)
or regional policy contained in the London Plan. Only where a policy in a PPS or in the
London Plan is particularly relevant is that document mentioned.

12.18 UDP policies are either part 1 or part 2 policies, depending upon whether they
are general or detailed policies. Although part 1 policies refer to those part 2 policies that
provide further detail on specific matters, eg in policy G3 Environment there is reference
to policies EN8–EN14, all part 1 policies have been shown as being replaced by Core
Strategy policies. This is because part 2 policies are dealt with in more detail elsewhere
in the schedule.

157Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Appendices 12

Page 186



12
.1
9

O
T
H
E
R

N
E
W
G
D
M
P
O
L
IC
Y

P
R
O
P
O
S
E
D
N
E
W
C
O
R
E

S
T
R
A
T
E
G
Y
P
O
L
IC
Y
N
B
N
E
E
D

P
O
L
IC
Y
N
U
M
B
E
R
S

E
X
IS
T
IN
G
20
07
U
D
P
PA
R
T
2

P
O
L
IC
Y

E
N
V
IR
O
N
M
E
N
T
P
O
L
IC
IE
S

A
ls
o
co
ve
re
d
by
na
tio
na
la
nd

Lo
nd
on
P
la
n
po
lic
y.

U
D
P
cr
ite
ria
to
as
se
ss

de
ve
lo
pm
en
tw
ill
co
nt
in
ue
in
U
D
P

un
til
re
pl
ac
ed
by
G
D
M
po
lic
ie
s

P
ar
tc
ov
er
ed
by
st
ra
te
gi
c
po
lic
y
on

bu
ilt
en
vi
ro
nm
en
t.
C
on
se
rv
at
io
n

ar
ea
s
ar
e
id
en
tif
ie
d
in
th
e
C
or
e

S
tr
at
eg
y
an
d
on
th
e
P
ro
po
sa
ls

M
ap
.

E
N
2
D
ev
el
op
m
en
ti
n
C
on
se
rv
at
io
n

A
re
as

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.

A
ls
o
co
ve
re
d
by
na
tio
na
lp
ol
ic
y

A
s
ab
ov
e

A
s
ab
ov
e

E
N
2B
E
ffe
ct
of
de
ve
lo
pm
en
to
n

th
e
se
tti
ng
of
co
ns
er
va
tio
n
ar
ea
s

an
d
vi
ew
s
in
to
an
d
ou
to
ft
he
m

N
on
e

A
s
ab
ov
e

A
s
ab
ov
e

E
N
2C

F
ac
ad
is
m
in
co
ns
er
va
tio
n

ar
ea
s

A
s
co
ve
re
d
by
na
tio
na
lp
ol
ic
y

A
s
ab
ov
e

A
s
ab
ov
e.
H
is
to
ric
pa
rk
s
an
d

ga
rd
en
s
ar
e
id
en
tif
ie
d
in
th
e
C
or
e

S
tra
te
gy
an
d
on
th
e
P
ro
po
sa
ls
M
ap

E
N
2D

D
ev
el
op
m
en
ta
ffe
ct
in
g

hi
st
or
ic
pa
rk
s
an
d
ga
rd
en
s

C
ov
er
ed
by
na
tio
na
lp
ol
ic
y

N
on
e.

P
ar
tc
ov
er
ed
by
st
ra
te
gi
c
po
lic
y
on

bu
ilt
en
vi
ro
nm
en
t.
Li
st
ed
bu
ild
in
gs

ar
e
id
en
tif
ie
d
as
a
he
rit
ag
e
as
se
t

in
th
e
C
or
e
S
tr
at
eg
y.

E
N
3
Li
st
ed
B
ui
ld
in
gs

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy158

12 Appendices

Page 187



A
s
ab
ov
e

A
s
ab
ov
e

A
s
ab
ov
e

E
N
4
U
se
an
d
m
ai
nt
en
an
ce
of

Li
st
ed
B
ui
ld
in
gs

T
he
lis
to
fb
ui
ld
in
gs
an
d
ar
te
fa
ct
s

w
ill
be
S
P
D
.

U
D
P
po
lic
y
w
ill
co
nt
in
ue
un
til

re
pl
ac
ed
by
ne
w
G
D
M
po
lic
ie
s

P
ar
tc
ov
er
ed
by
st
ra
te
gi
c
po
lic
y
on

bu
ilt
en
vi
ro
nm
en
t.
B
ui
ld
in
gs
an
d

ar
te
fa
ct
s
of
lo
ca
li
m
po
rt
an
ce
an
d

in
te
re
st
ar
e
id
en
tif
ie
d
as
a
he
rit
ag
e

as
se
ti
n
th
e
C
or
e
S
tr
at
eg
y.

E
N
6
B
ui
ld
in
gs
an
d
ar
te
fa
ct
s
of

lo
ca
li
m
po
rt
an
ce
an
d
in
te
re
st

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.

A
ls
o
co
ve
re
d
by
na
tio
na
la
nd

Lo
nd
on
P
la
n
po
lic
y

U
D
P
cr
ite
ria
to
as
se
ss
pr
op
os
al
s

af
fe
ct
in
g
ar
ch
ae
ol
og
ic
al
re
m
ai
ns

an
d
de
ta
ils
of
A
PA
s
w
ill
co
nt
in
ue

in
U
D
P
un
til
re
pl
ac
ed
by
ne
w
G
D
M

po
lic
ie
s.

S
ch
ed
ul
ed
an
ci
en
tm
on
um
en
ta
nd

ar
ch
ae
ol
og
ic
al
pr
io
rit
y
ar
ea
s
ar
e

id
en
tif
ie
d
as
a
he
rit
ag
e
as
se
ti
n
th
e

C
or
e
S
tr
at
eg
y
an
d
on
th
e

P
ro
po
sa
ls
M
ap
.

E
N
7
N
at
io
na
lly
an
d
lo
ca
lly

im
po
rt
an
ta
rc
ha
eo
lo
gi
ca
lr
em
ai
ns

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.

S
om
e
de
si
gn
m
at
te
rs
w
ill
be

in
cl
ud
ed
in
S
P
D
.

U
D
P
de
si
gn
cr
ite
ria
to
as
se
ss

de
ve
lo
pm
en
tw
ill
co
nt
in
ue
in
U
D
P

un
til
re
pl
ac
ed
by
ne
w
G
D
M
po
lic
ie
s

P
ol
ic
y
pa
rt
ly
re
pl
ac
ed
w
ith
in
th
e

C
or
e
S
tr
at
eg
y
by
an
ov
er
ar
ch
in
g

po
lic
y
on
ac
hi
ev
in
g
a
hi
gh
qu
al
ity

bu
ilt
en
vi
ro
nm
en
t.

E
N
8
D
es
ig
n
of
ne
w
de
ve
lo
pm
en
ts

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.

A
s
ab
ov
e

A
s
ab
ov
e

A
s
ab
ov
e

E
N
8B
D
es
ig
n
of
ex
te
ns
io
ns

W
ill
al
so
be
in
cl
ud
ed
S
P
D

A
s
ab
ov
e

A
s
ab
ov
e

E
N
8D

S
ho
pf
ro
nt
s

W
ill
al
so
be
in
cl
ud
ed
in
S
P
D

A
s
ab
ov
e

A
s
ab
ov
e

E
N
8E
F
or
ec
ou
rt
pa
rk
in
g

159Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Appendices 12

Page 188



W
ill
al
so
be
in
cl
ud
ed
in
S
P
D

A
s
ab
ov
e

A
s
ab
ov
e.

E
N
8F
R
ep
la
ce
m
en
tw
in
do
w
s

W
ill
al
so
be
in
cl
ud
ed
in
S
P
D

U
D
P
po
lic
y
to
as
se
ss
de
ve
lo
pm
en
t

w
ill
co
nt
in
ue
un
til
re
pl
ac
ed
by
ne
w

G
D
M
po
lic
ie
s

P
ol
ic
y
pa
rt
ly
re
pl
ac
ed
w
ith
in
th
e

C
or
e
S
tr
at
eg
y
by
an
ov
er
ar
ch
in
g

po
lic
y
on
ac
hi
ev
in
g
a
hi
gh
qu
al
ity

bu
ilt
en
vi
ro
nm
en
t.

E
N
10
D
es
ig
ni
ng
ou
tc
rim
e

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.

A
ls
o
co
ve
re
d
by
To
w
n
an
d
C
ou
nt
ry

P
la
nn
in
g
A
ct
(C
on
tr
ol
of

A
dv
er
tis
em
en
ts
)
(E
ng
la
nd
)

R
eg
ul
at
io
ns
20
07
.

A
s
ab
ov
e

A
s
ab
ov
e

E
N
14
A
dv
er
tis
em
en
ts

N
on
e

A
s
ab
ov
e

P
ol
ic
y
to
be
pa
rt
ly
re
pl
ac
ed
w
ith
in

th
e
C
or
e
S
tr
at
eg
y
by
an

ov
er
ar
ch
in
g
po
lic
y
on
w
as
te

m
an
ag
em
en
t.

E
N
17
W
as
te
co
lle
ct
io
n
an
d

di
sp
os
al

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.

N
on
e

N
on
e

U
D
P
po
lic
y
de
le
te
d.

E
N
18
W
as
te
re
cy
cl
in
g
D
ep
ot

A
ls
o
co
ve
re
d
by
Lo
nd
on
P
la
n

po
lic
y.

U
D
P
po
lic
y
to
as
se
ss

de
ve
lo
pm
en
t
w
ill
co
nt
in
ue
un
til

re
pl
ac
ed
by
ne
w
G
D
M
po
lic
ie
s

C
or
e
S
tr
at
eg
y
an
d
P
ro
po
sa
ls
M
ap

sa
fe
gu
ar
d
ex
is
tin
g
si
te
s
(n
ot

cu
rr
en
tly
do
ne
in
U
D
P
).

E
N
19
W
as
te
m
an
ag
em
en
tf
ac
ili
tie
s

R
eg
en
er
at
io
n
A
re
a
S
P
D
s
w
ill
al
so

in
cl
ud
e
de
ta
il.

C
or
e
S
tr
at
eg
y
al
so
in
cl
ud
es

ov
er
ar
ch
in
g
w
as
te
po
lic
y.

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy160

12 Appendices

Page 189



N
on
e

U
D
P
po
lic
y
w
ill
co
nt
in
ue
un
til

re
pl
ac
ed
by
ne
w
G
D
M
po
lic
ie
s

N
on
e.

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.

E
N
19
A
R
ec
yc
lin
g
of
de
m
ol
iti
on

w
as
te

S
om
e
de
si
gn
m
at
te
rs
w
ill
be

su
bj
ec
tt
o
S
P
D

U
D
P
po
lic
y
to
as
se
ss
pr
op
os
al
s

w
ill
co
nt
in
ue
un
til
re
pl
ac
ed
by
ne
w

G
D
M
po
lic
ie
s
on
im
pa
ct
of

de
ve
lo
pm
en
t

C
or
e
S
tr
at
eg
y
in
cl
ud
es
po
lic
y
on

pr
ot
ec
tin
g
an
d
en
ha
nc
in
g

en
vi
ro
nm
en
ta
lq
ua
lit
y.

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.

E
N
20
A
C
on
tr
ol
of
po
te
nt
ia
lly

po
llu
tin
g
us
es

A
ls
o
co
ve
re
d
by
na
tio
na
lp
ol
ic
y

U
D
P
po
lic
y
to
as
se
ss
pr
op
os
al
s

w
ill
co
nt
in
ue
un
til
re
pl
ac
ed
by
ne
w

G
D
M
po
lic
ie
s

A
s
ab
ov
e.

E
N
20
B
N
oi
se
po
llu
tio
n

N
on
e

A
s
ab
ov
e

A
s
ab
ov
e

E
N
20
C
Li
gh
tp
ol
lu
tio
n

A
s
ab
ov
e

S
ite
s
th
at
ar
e
su
bj
ec
tt
o
H
S
E

co
ns
ul
ta
tio
n
ar
e
id
en
tif
ie
d
in
th
e

C
or
e
S
tr
at
eg
y
an
d
on
th
e

P
ro
po
sa
ls
M
ap
.

E
N
20
D
H
az
ar
do
us
su
bs
ta
nc
es

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.

N
on
e

U
D
P
po
lic
y
to
as
se
ss
pr
op
os
al
s

w
ill
co
nt
in
ue
un
til
re
pl
ac
ed
by
ne
w

G
D
M
po
lic
ie
s
on
pr
ot
ec
tin
g
an
d

en
ha
nc
in
g
en
vi
ro
nm
en
ta
lq
ua
lit
y,

an
d
ot
he
rs
su
ch
as
th
os
e
de
al
in
g

w
ith
de
si
gn
,i
nc
lu
di
ng
go
od

ne
ig
hb
ou
rli
ne
ss
.

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed

E
N
21
E
nv
iro
nm
en
ta
ln
ui
sa
nc
e

161Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Appendices 12

Page 190



A
ls
o
co
ve
re
d
by
na
tio
na
la
nd

Lo
nd
on
P
la
n
po
lic
y

U
D
P
po
lic
y
to
as
se
ss

de
ve
lo
pm
en
ti
m
pa
ct
in
g
on
op
en

sp
ac
e
w
ill
co
nt
in
ue
un
til
re
pl
ac
ed

by
G
D
M
po
lic
ie
s

C
or
e
S
tr
at
eg
y
an
d
P
ro
po
sa
ls
M
ap

de
si
gn
at
e
ar
ea
s.

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.

E
N
22
P
ub
lic
op
en
sp
ac
e
an
d
ot
he
r

gr
ee
n
sp
ac
e
of
bo
ro
ug
h-
w
id
e

im
po
rt
an
ce

A
ls
o
co
ve
re
d
by
na
tio
na
la
nd

Lo
nd
on
P
la
n
po
lic
y

U
D
P
po
lic
y
to
as
se
ss

de
ve
lo
pm
en
ti
m
pa
ct
in
g
on
op
en

sp
ac
e
w
ill
co
nt
in
ue
un
til
re
pl
ac
ed

by
G
D
M
po
lic
ie
s

C
or
e
S
tra
te
gy
in
cl
ud
es
ov
er
ar
ch
in
g

op
en
sp
ac
e
po
lic
y.

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.

E
N
22
X
P
ub
lic
an
d
pr
iv
at
e
op
en

sp
ac
e
of
lo
ca
li
m
po
rt
an
ce

U
D
P
po
lic
y
se
tti
ng
ou
td
et
ai
ls
of

ne
w
op
en
sp
ac
e
re
qu
ire
m
en
ts
w
ill

co
nt
in
ue
un
til
re
pl
ac
ed

by
G
D
M

po
lic
ie
s

C
or
e
S
tra
te
gy
in
cl
ud
es
ov
er
ar
ch
in
g

po
lic
y.

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.

E
N
23
N
ew

op
en
sp
ac
e
pr
ov
is
io
n

in
co
nn
ec
tio
n
w
ith
de
ve
lo
pm
en
t

A
ls
o
co
ve
re
d
by
Lo
nd
on
P
la
n

po
lic
y

U
D
P
po
lic
y
se
tti
ng
ou
td
et
ai
ls
of

ch
ild
re
n’
s
pl
ay
ar
ea
s
re
qu
ire
m
en
ts

w
ill
co
nt
in
ue
un
til
re
pl
ac
ed

by
G
D
M
po
lic
ie
s

C
or
e
S
tra
te
gy
in
cl
ud
es
ov
er
ar
ch
in
g

po
lic
y.

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.

E
N
23
B
C
hi
ld
re
n’
s
pl
ay
ar
ea
s

C
ov
er
ed
by
na
tio
na
la
nd
Lo
nd
on

P
la
n
po
lic
y

N
on
e

C
or
e
S
tr
at
eg
y
an
d
P
ro
po
sa
ls
M
ap

de
si
gn
at
e
ar
ea
s.

E
N
24
M
et
ro
po
lit
an
O
pe
n
La
nd

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.

N
on
e

U
D
P
po
lic
y
w
ill
co
nt
in
ue
un
til

re
pl
ac
ed
by
ne
w
G
D
M
po
lic
ie
s
on

en
ha
nc
in
g
bi
od
iv
er
si
ty
an
d

gr
ee
ni
ng
th
e
bo
ro
ug
h

N
on
e.

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.

E
N
25
P
ro
te
ct
io
n
of
tr
ee
s

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy162

12 Appendices

Page 191



N
on
e

A
s
ab
ov
e

N
on
e.

E
N
26
Tr
ee
pl
an
tin
g

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.

A
ls
o
co
ve
re
d
by
na
tio
na
la
nd

Lo
nd
on
P
la
n
po
lic
y

U
D
P
po
lic
y
an
d
de
ta
ils
of
ar
ea
s
w
ill

co
nt
in
ue
un
til
re
pl
ac
ed
by
ne
w

G
D
M
po
lic
ie
s
on
en
ha
nc
in
g

bi
od
iv
er
si
ty

C
or
e
S
tr
at
eg
y
an
d
P
ro
po
sa
ls
M
ap

sa
fe
gu
ar
d
de
si
gn
at
ed
ar
ea
s.

C
or
e
S
tr
at
eg
y
al
so
in
cl
ud
es

ov
er
ar
ch
in
g
po
lic
y.

E
N
27
N
at
ur
e
co
ns
er
va
tio
n
ar
ea
s

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.

N
on
e

A
s
ab
ov
e

A
s
ab
ov
e

E
N
28
G
re
en
co
rr
id
or
s

A
ls
o
co
ve
re
d
by
na
tio
na
la
nd

Lo
nd
on
P
la
n
po
lic
y

U
D
P
po
lic
y
w
ill
co
nt
in
ue
un
til

re
pl
ac
ed
by
ne
w
G
D
M
po
lic
ie
s
on

en
ha
nc
in
g
bi
od
iv
er
si
ty
an
d

gr
ee
ni
ng
th
e
bo
ro
ug
h

N
on
e.

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.

E
N
28
A
S
pe
ci
es
pr
ot
ec
tio
n

N
on
e

U
D
P
po
lic
y
w
ill
co
nt
in
ue
un
til

re
pl
ac
ed
by
ne
w
G
D
M
po
lic
ie
s
on

en
ha
nc
in
g
bi
od
iv
er
si
ty
an
d

gr
ee
ni
ng
th
e
bo
ro
ug
h

N
on
e.

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.

E
N
29
N
at
ur
e
co
ns
er
va
tio
n
on

de
ve
lo
pm
en
ts
ite
s

A
ls
o
co
ve
re
d
by
d
Lo
nd
on
P
la
n

po
lic
y

U
D
P
cr
ite
ria
to
as
se
ss

de
ve
lo
pm
en
tw
ith
in
de
si
gn
at
ed

vi
ew
s
an
d
id
en
tif
ic
at
io
n
of
th
es
e

vi
ew
s
w
ill
co
nt
in
ue
un
til
re
pl
ac
ed

by
ne
w
G
D
M
po
lic
ie
s

Im
po
rt
an
tv
ie
w
s
ar
e
id
en
tif
ie
d
as
a

he
rit
ag
e
as
se
ti
n
th
e
C
or
e
S
tr
at
eg
y

an
d
on
th
e
P
ro
po
sa
ls
M
ap
.

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.

E
N
31
Im
po
rt
an
tv
ie
w
s
al
on
g,

ac
ro
ss
an
d
fr
om

th
e
riv
er

163Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Appendices 12

Page 192



W
ill
al
so
be
su
bj
ec
tt
o
S
P
D

U
D
P
cr
ite
ria
to
as
se
ss

de
ve
lo
pm
en
tw
ith
in
T
PA

w
ill

co
nt
in
ue
un
til
re
pl
ac
ed
by
ne
w

G
D
M
po
lic
ie
s

T
he
T
ha
m
es
P
ol
ic
y
A
re
a
(T
PA
)w
ill

co
nt
in
ue
to
be
id
en
tif
ie
d
in
th
e

C
or
e
S
tr
at
eg
y
an
d
on
th
e

P
ro
po
sa
ls
M
ap
.

E
N
31
X
D
es
ig
n
of
de
ve
lo
pm
en
t

w
ith
in
th
e
T
ha
m
es
P
ol
ic
y
A
re
a

P
ol
ic
y
to
be
pa
rt
ly
re
pl
ac
ed
w
ith
in

C
or
e
S
tr
at
eg
y
by
an
ov
er
ar
ch
in
g

po
lic
y
on
de
si
gn
on
riv
er
si
de
si
te
s.

S
ou
th
F
ul
ha
m
R
iv
er
si
de
S
P
D
w
ill

al
so
in
cl
ud
e
de
ta
il.

U
D
P
cr
ite
ria
to
as
se
ss

de
ve
lo
pm
en
tw
ill
co
nt
in
ue
un
til

re
pl
ac
ed
by
ne
w
G
D
M
po
lic
ie
s

C
or
e
S
tr
at
eg
y
w
ill
in
cl
ud
e

ov
er
ar
ch
in
g
po
lic
y.

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.

E
N
32
P
ro
vi
si
on
fo
r
w
at
er
-b
as
ed

ac
tiv
ity
an
d
us
es
in
th
e
riv
er

A
ls
o
su
bj
ec
tt
o
T
ha
m
es
P
at
h

N
at
io
na
lt
ra
il.

U
D
P
po
lic
y
to
im
pr
ov
e
ac
ce
ss

al
on
g
th
e
riv
er
si
de
w
ill
co
nt
in
ue

un
til
re
pl
ac
ed
by
ne
w
G
D
M
po
lic
ie
s

Lo
ca
tio
n
of
ex
is
tin
g
an
d
pr
op
os
ed

riv
er
si
de
w
al
k
w
ill
co
nt
in
ue
to
be

id
en
tif
ie
d
in
C
or
e
S
tr
at
eg
y
an
d
on

P
ro
po
sa
ls
M
ap
.

E
N
34
R
iv
er
si
de
w
al
k

S
ou
th
F
ul
ha
m
R
iv
er
si
de
S
P
D
w
ill

al
so
in
cl
ud
e
de
ta
il.

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.

N
on
e

U
D
P
po
lic
y
w
ill
co
nt
in
ue
un
til

re
pl
ac
ed
by
ne
w
G
D
M
po
lic
ie
s
on

ac
ce
ss

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.

E
N
34
A
A
cc
es
s
to
th
e
fo
re
sh
or
e

N
on
e

U
D
P
po
lic
y
w
ill
co
nt
in
ue
un
til

re
pl
ac
ed
by
ne
w
G
D
M
po
lic
ie
s

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.

E
N
35
D
ev
el
op
m
en
tt
ha
t

en
cr
oa
ch
es
in
to
th
e
riv
er
or
on
to

th
e
fo
re
sh
or
e

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy164

12 Appendices

Page 193



A
ls
o
co
ve
re
d
by
Lo
nd
on
P
la
n

po
lic
y

U
D
P
po
lic
y
to
as
se
ss
pr
op
os
al
s

al
on
g
ca
na
lw
ill
co
nt
in
ue
un
til

re
pl
ac
ed
by
ne
w
G
D
M
po
lic
ie
s

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.C
or
e

S
tr
at
eg
y
in
cl
ud
es
ca
na
lp
ol
ic
y.

E
N
40
G
ra
nd
U
ni
on
C
an
al

T
R
A
N
S
P
O
R
T
A
N
D
A
C
C
E
S
S
IB
IL
IT
Y
P
O
L
IC
IE
S

U
D
P
po
lic
y
w
ill
co
nt
in
ue
un
til

re
pl
ac
ed
by
ne
w
G
D
M
po
lic
ie
s

C
or
e
S
tra
te
gy
in
cl
ud
es
ov
er
ar
ch
in
g

tr
an
sp
or
ta
nd
ac
ce
ss
ib
ili
ty
po
lic
y.

T
N
4
Tr
an
sp
or
ta
tio
n
–
pr
ov
is
io
n
fo
r

di
sa
bl
ed
pe
op
le

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.

A
s
ab
ov
e

A
s
ab
ov
e

T
N
5
Tr
an
sp
or
ta
tio
n
–
pr
ov
is
io
n
fo
r

pe
de
st
ria
ns

A
ls
o
co
ve
re
d
by
Lo
nd
on
P
la
n

po
lic
y

A
s
ab
ov
e

A
s
ab
ov
e

T
N
6
tr
an
sp
or
ta
tio
n
–
pr
ov
is
io
n
fo
r

cy
cl
is
ts

A
s
ab
ov
e

P
ro
po
sa
ls
M
ap
in
cl
ud
es

de
si
gn
at
ed
hi
er
ar
ch
y.

T
N
8
B
or
ou
gh
ro
ad
ne
tw
or
k
–

hi
er
ar
ch
y
of
ro
ad
s

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed

A
s
ab
ov
e

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.

T
N
13
Tr
an
sp
or
tI
m
pa
ct

A
ss
es
sm
en
t

A
ls
o
co
ve
re
d
by
Lo
nd
on
P
la
n

po
lic
y

A
s
ab
ov
e

A
s
ab
ov
e

T
N
15
V
eh
ic
le
pa
rk
in
g
st
an
da
rd
s

W
ill
be
su
bj
ec
tt
o
S
P
D

A
s
ab
ov
e

A
s
ab
ov
e

T
N
15
A
F
or
ec
ou
rt
an
d
of
f-
st
re
et

pa
rk
in
g

165Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Appendices 12

Page 194



W
ill
be
su
bj
ec
tt
o
S
P
D

G
D
M
po
lic
ie
s
w
ill
pr
ov
id
e
fu
rt
he
r

de
ta
il.

U
D
P
po
lic
y
de
le
te
d

T
N
21
P
ub
lic
tr
an
sp
or
t–

im
pr
ov
em
en
ti
n
co
nn
ec
tio
n
w
ith

de
ve
lo
pm
en
t

A
ls
o
co
ve
re
d
by
na
tio
na
lp
ol
ic
y

A
ls
o
co
ve
re
d
by
G
ov
er
nm
en
t

D
ire
ct
io
ns
.

N
on
e

C
or
e
S
tr
at
eg
y
an
d
P
ro
po
sa
ls
M
ap

sa
fe
gu
ar
d
sc
he
m
es
.

T
N
23

P
ub
lic
tr
an
sp
or
t–

sa
fe
gu
ar
di
ng
la
nd
fo
r
fu
tu
re

tr
an
sp
or
ts
ch
em
es

U
D
P
po
lic
y
pa
rt
ly
de
le
te
d
to
re
fle
ct

pr
ov
is
io
n
of
so
m
e
lo
ca
ls
ch
em
es
.

C
ha
ng
es
al
so
m
ad
e
to
P
ro
po
sa
ls

M
ap
.

U
D
P
po
lic
y
w
ill
co
nt
in
ue
un
til

re
pl
ac
ed
by
ne
w
G
D
M
po
lic
ie
s

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.

T
N
24
P
ub
lic
tr
an
sp
or
t–
co
ac
he
s

an
d
ta
xi
s

A
ls
o
co
ve
re
d
by
Lo
nd
on
P
la
n

po
lic
y

N
on
e

C
or
e
S
tra
te
gy
in
cl
ud
es
ov
er
ar
ch
in
g

tr
an
sp
or
ta
nd
ac
ce
ss
ib
ili
ty
po
lic
y.

T
N
26
P
ub
lic
tr
an
sp
or
t-
W
at
er

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.

A
ls
o
co
ve
re
d
by
Lo
nd
on
P
la
n

po
lic
y

U
D
P
po
lic
y
w
ill
co
nt
in
ue
un
til

re
pl
ac
ed
by
ne
w
G
D
M
po
lic
ie
s

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.

T
N
28
F
re
ig
ht
an
d
se
rv
ic
in
g

A
ls
o
co
ve
re
d
by
Lo
nd
on
P
la
n

po
lic
y

A
s
ab
ov
e

C
or
e
S
tr
at
eg
y
an
d
P
ro
po
sa
ls
M
ap

id
en
tif
y
sa
fe
gu
ar
de
d
w
ha
rv
es
.

T
N
31
F
re
ig
ht
an
d
se
rv
ic
in
g
–
us
e

of
w
at
er

U
D
P
po
lic
y
no
td
el
et
ed
.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy166

12 Appendices

Page 195



13 Glossary

GLOSSARY

ACE is an abbreviation for arts, culture and entertainment activities.

Affordable Housing Includes social rented and intermediate housing (see definitions
below), provided to specific eligible households whose needs are not met by the market.
Affordable housing should:

Meet the needs of eligible households including availability at a cost low enough for
them to afford, determined with regard to local incomes and local house prices
Include provision for the home to remain at an affordable price for future eligible
households or, if these restrictions are lifted, for the subsidy to be recycled for
alternative affordable housing provision

The affordable housing definitions are from PPS3 (2006): Annex B. These definitions
replace guidance given in Planning Policy Guidance Note 3: Housing (PPG3) and DETR
Circular 6/98 Planning and Affordable Housing. Eligible households can earn up to £60,000
per annum (as at 2009). The definitions do not exclude homes provided by private sector
bodies or provided without grant funding. Where such homes meet the definition above,
they may be considered, for planning purposes, as affordable housing. Whereas, those
homes that do not meet the definition, for example ‘low cost market’ housing, may not be
considered, for planning purposes, as affordable housing.

Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) An area which a local authority had designated
for action, based upon a prediction that Air Quality Objectives will be exceeded.

Archaeological Priority Areas are areas of particular archaeological importance or
vulnerability in the Borough which have been identified by the Council with the advice of
English Heritage. In these areas the Council's policies and proposals for archaeological
sites will particularly apply. Planning applications affecting such areas will generate
appropriate consultation, which could in turn lead to further processes of site assessment.

The Arts, as mentioned in the Community Services chapter, relate to potential cultural
activities which use buildings such as theatres and libraries.

Biodiversity This refers to the variety of plants and animals and other living things in a
particular area or region. It encompasses habitat diversity, species diversity and genetic
diversity. Biodiversity has a value in its own reight and has social and economic value for
human society.

Biodiversity Action Plans co-ordinate action to conserve and enhance biodiversity. A
Local Biodiversity Action Plan is plan of action for protecting, conserving and enhancing
biodiversity at a local level.

Blue Ribbon Network A spatial policy covering London’s waterways and water spaces
and the land alongside them.

167Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Glossary 13

Page 196



Brownfield land Both land and premises are included in this term, which refers to a site
that has previously been used or developed and is not currently in use, although it may
be partially occupied or utilised. It may also be vacant, derelict or contaminated. This
excludes open spaces and land where the remains of previous use have blended into the
landscape, or have been overtaken by nature conservation value or amenity use and
cannot be regarded as requiring development.

A building for the purposes of assessing plot ratio includes any structure or erection, and
any part of a building, which comprises a roof and at least one side wall.

Building Research Establishment’s Environmental Assessment Methodology
(BREEAM) is the methodology for measuring the environmental performance of nearly
every land use, including schools, healthcare or bespoke uses. BREEAM for new residential
development (in the form of EcoHomes) has been replaced by the Code for Sustainable
Homes.

Business Improvement Districts (BIDs) This concept was originally developed in the
USA for increasing investment within defined areas of a city such as town centres. This
is achieved through changes to local taxation, based on a supplementary rate levied on
businesses within that defined area.

Chelsea-Hackney Line (also known as Crossrail 2) This line is to link Hackney to
south-wesy London. The precise route, the character and the role of the link have not yet
been finalised.

Code for Sustainable Homes is the Government’s national standard for measuring the
environmental performance of new residential development. Credits are awarded for
energy, water, drainage, materials, waste, pollution, health and well being and site ecology.

Combined Heat and Power (CHP) The combined production of electricity and usable
heat is known as Combined Heat and Power (CHP). Steam or hot water, which would
otherwise be rejected when electricity alone is produced, is used for space or process
heating. The provision of cooling can be added to create Combined Cooling, Heat and
Power (CCHP).

Community Car Pooling schemes, also known as ‘car clubs’, are aimed at sharing the
ownership and use of cars. Owning a car is expensive, but individual journeys are relatively
cheap. Once a car is acquired it also acts as a disincentive to using public transport.
Community car sharing schemes are one solution which has proved very successful in
Europe and is now being looked at in trials in Britain. The principle is different from
conventional car hire in that the cars are kept locally and can be used at short notice and
for short periods of time. Community Car Pooling Schemes ensure that cars are available
when people really need them, but reduce unnecessary use and pressure for parking
spaces.

Community Infrastructure Levy The discretionary charge on development which Local
Planning Authorities will be empowered to make in order to fund local infrastructure
requirements.

Conservation Area The statutory definition of a conservation area is ‘an area of special
architectural interest, the character of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance’.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy168

13 Glossary

Page 197



Crossrail 1 The first line in the crossrail project (see also Chelsea-Hackney Line). Crossrail
1 is an east-west, cross-central London rail link between Paddington and White chapel,
serving Heathrow Airport, Canary Wharf and Stratford. It will serve major development
and regeneration corridors, and improve access to large areas of central and suburban
London.

Decentralised Energy Power generation in the UK is still largely centralised with large
power stations generating electricity which is distributed over large distances via the
National Grid. Generating power on a smaller scale and closer to the end user (i.e.
decentralised), is much more energy efficient and can generate potential cost savings for
users. Decentralised energy generation using CHP or renewable energy technologies can
help significantly reduce carbon dioxide emissions.

Density relates to the amount of residential accommodation in any given area. It is
measured by calculating the number of habitable rooms per hectare or acre. For individual
sites the gross site area is the appropriate unit of measurement.

Employment Zones are designated areas where specific policies apply in order to protect
employment uses, particularly light industrial and research and development uses, and
encourage new activities.

Energy efficiency This is about making the best or most efficient use of energy in order
to achieve a given output of goods or services, and of comfort and convenience. This does
not necessitate the use of less energy, in which respect it differs from the concept of energy
conservation.

Environmental Impact Assessment In these assessments, information about the
environmental effects of a project is collected, assessed abd taken into account in reaching
a decision on whether the project should go ahead or not (DETR Nov 2000).

Family dwelling means a dwelling containing at least a living room and two bedrooms
(i.e. three habitable rooms) of which one bedroom must exceed 10.2 sq.m. (110 sq.ft.).

Flood ZoneGeographic area within which the flood risk is in a particular range, as defined
within the PPS25.

Free Schools are schools which will be set up by groups of parents, teachers, charities,
trusts, religious and voluntary groups. They will be set up as academies and will be funded
in the same way - directly from central government".

Greater London Authority Road Network (GRN). The GRN is a network of strategically
important roads in the Capital which provide for longer distance journeys and link London
to the national road system. These roads include motorways, trunk roads and priority
(red) routes. The Mayor will be responsible for developing a strategy for the GRN and
Transport for London (TfL) will have direct responsibility for its management.

Green chains are different from green corridors in that they comprise a series of elongated
open spaces linking broader areas of open space,often across Borough boundaries. There
are no green chains in the borough. Unlike Green Corridors they are normally accessible
to the public.

169Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Glossary 13

Page 198



Green corridors, for the purpose of this Plan, can be defined as extensive contiguous
areas of trees and open space which straddle or run along the major road, rail and
river/canal routes into London. They may be narrow, often only the "unused" margins of
development, but are of value as habitats for wildlife and plants and local landscape
features and because they may link nature conservation areas. Certain transport routes,
such as the Thames and the Canal, also act as corridors for animals and plants in the
sameway as green corridors. However these have been designated as nature conservation
areas because of their greater nature conservation importance, and are not shown as
green corridors.

Green industries The business sector that produces goods or services, which compared
to other, more commonly used goods and services, are less harmful to the environment.

Heat Network A heat network distributes heat to several users, just as an electricity grid
distributes power. The heat energy produced and recycled byCHP plants during electricity
generation can be distributed to local homes and businesses via a heat network. Recycling
heat in this way has an important role to play in the reduction of carbon dioxide emissions.

Hostel. There are many kinds of hostel use. The policies of the Plan distinguish between
two main types:

1. Residential: accommodation usually occupied by people of a specific group with a
common interest. There will usually be an element of management supervision or
support and some communal facilities. It will normally be occupied on a medium to
long-term basis by people who do not have permanent accommodation elsewhere.
It may cater for a wide range of socio-economic groups, including homeless families.
It excludes residential institutions in the C2 Use Class which provide a significant
element of care.

2. Tourist: normally short-stay accommodation for those whose normal residence is
elsewhere. They are for holidays or short stays and are sometimes open to the general
public. They resemble hotels except that the accommodation is usually of a lower
standard.

House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) Under the changes in the Housing Act 2004, if a
landlord lets a property which is one of the following types, it is a House in Multiple
Occupation:

an entire house or flat which is let to three or more tenants who form two or more
households and who share a kitchen, bathroom or toilet;
a house which has been converted entirely into bedsits or other non-self-contained
accommodation and which is let to three or more tenants who form two or more
households and who share kitchen, bathroom or toilet facilities;
a converted house which contains one or more flats which are not wholly self contained
(ie the flat does not contain within it a kitchen, bathroom and toilet) and which is
occupied by three or more tenants who form two or more households;
a building which is converted entirely into self contained flats if the conversion did not
meet the standards of the 1991 Building Regulations and more than one-third of the
flats are on short-term tenancies; or
in order to be an HMO the property must be used as the tenants’ only or main
residence and it should be used solely or mainly to house tenants. Properties let to
students and migrants will be treated as their only or main residence and the same
will apply to properties which are used as domestic refuges.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy170

13 Glossary

Page 199



Industrial wasteWaste from any factory and any premisies occupied by industry (excluding
mines and quarries) as defined in Schedule 3 of the Controlled Waste Regulations 1992

Intermediate Housing Housing at prices and rents above those of social rent, but below
market price or rents, and which meet the criteria set out above (see the definition of
affordable housing). These can include shared equity products (eg HomeBuy), other low
cost homes for sale and intermediate rent.

Lifetime Homes Ordinary homes designed to provide accessible and convenient homes
for a large segment of the population from young children to frail older people and those
with temporary or permanent physical or sensory impairments. Lifetime Homes have 16
design features that ensure the home will be flexible enough to meet the existing and
changing needs of most households, as set out in the Joseph Rowntree Foundation report
‘Meeting Part M and Designing Lifetime Homes’. British Standards Institution in 2007
published a Draft for Development ‘Design of accessible housing – Lifetime home – Code
of practice’ which introduces the concept of ‘accessible housing’ which builds upon and
extends the Lifetime Homes 16 point specification to flats and town houses and to other
accommodation without ground-level living space and updates the technical criteria.

Listed Building is a building or structure which is considered to be of ‘special architectural
or historic interest’. The definition of ‘listed building’ is fairly wide and the term ‘building’
may include a wide range of structures includin bridges, milestones and follies.

Local Implementation Plans. The Mayor is required to produce a London-wide strategy
to cover all forms of transport (for goods as well as people). The strategy is aimed at
providing a framework for tackling London’s transport problems. Each Borough is then
required to produce a Local Implementation Plan (LIP) for approval by the Mayor. Approval
is based on the LIP being consistent with the Mayoral strategy and providing for adequate
implementation of this within a suitable time scale.

Local Register of Buildings of Merit means buildings which are of local interest because
of their townscape, architectural or historic interest.

Local Strategic Partnerships (LSPs)Cross-sectoral, cross-agency umbrella partnerships,
which are focussed and comitted to improving the quality of life and governance in a
particular locality. They seek to enable servies to be aligned in a way that effectively meets
the needs and aspirations of those who use them.

Longer distance walking routes are being implemented through the London walking
Forum and in the Countryside Agency’s Thames Path National Trail.

Metropolitan Open Land Strategic open land within the urban area that contributes to
the structure of London.

Metropolitan Walk, a link in the London-wide network of walks being set up by the
Countryside Commission and LPAC.

Municipal solid waste (MSW) This includes all waste under the contol of local authorities
or agents acting on their behalf. It includes all household waste, street litter, waste delivered
to council recycling points, municipal parks and garden wastes, council office waste, Civic
Amenity waste, and some commercial waste from shops and smaller trading estates where
local authorities have waste collection agreements in place. It can also include industrial
waste collected by a waste collection authority with authorisation of the waste disposal
authority.

171Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Glossary 13

Page 200



Non-family dwelling means a dwelling containing two habitable rooms or less.

Open Space Land laid out as a public garden, or used for the purposes of public recreation,
or land which is a used as a burial ground. It excludes individual private gardens, which
do not serve a wider open space function, yards, roads and car parks.

Opportunity Area London’s principal opportunities for accommodating large scale
development to provide substantial numbers of new employment and housing, each
typically more than 5,000 jobs and/or 2,500 homes, with a mixed and intensive use of land
and assisted by good public transport accessibility.

Planning Obligations. Section 12(1) of the Planning and Compensation Act 1991
substitutes new sections 106, 106A and 106B for section 106 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990. The new section 106 introduces the concept of planning obligations,
which comprises both planning agreements and unilateral undertakings. It enables a
planning obligation to be entered into by means of a unilateral undertaking by a developer
as well as by agreement between a developer and a local planning authority. Such
obligations may restrict development or use of the land; require operations or activities to
be carried out in, under or over the land; require the land to be used in any specified way;
or require payments to be made to the authority either in a single sum or periodically (see
Circular 1/97 Planning Obligations for further details).

Planning Policy Statements(PPSs) Planning Policy Guidance Notes (PPGs) and their
replacements, Planning Policy Statements (PPSs), are prepared by the Government after
public consultation to explain statutory provisions and provide guidance to local authorities
and others on planning policy and the operation of the planning system. They also explain
the relationship between planning policies and other policies which have an important
bearing on issues of development and land use. Local authorities must take their contents
into account in preparing their development plan documents. The guidance may also be
relevant to decisions on individual planning applications and appeals.

Plot ratio is the relationship between the gross floor area of a non-residential building and
the net area of a site in wholly non-residential use or of that part of a mixed use site in
non- residential use. No land shall be included in the calculation of the permitted plot ratio
for a development where that land has been included in the calculation of the permissible
plot ratio for another development.

Public Art, as mentioned in policy EN13, consists of design features, such as artistic or
craft work, for a new building, refurbishment, or extension which are provided by the setting
aside of a percentage of the capital costs of the development.

Public realm This is the space between and within buildings that are publicly accessible,
including streets, squares, forecourts, parks and open spaces.

Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) provides a methodology for assessing the
relative ease of access to a location to the public transport network. PTAL 1 is ‘very poor’
with PTAL 6 being ‘excellent’.

Register of Historic Parks and Gardens A national register of parks and gardens in
England, compiled by English Heritage, that are held to be of special historic interest, and
which local authorities are expected tomake provision for their safeguarding when preparing
planning policies or considering planning proposals.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy172

13 Glossary

Page 201



ARegistered Housing Association is a Housing Association registered with the Housing
Corporation.

Renewable energy Energy derived from a source that is continually replenished, such
as wind, wave, solar, plant materials (bio fuels), but not fossil fuels or nuclear energy.

Section 106 Agreements (also often denoted as s106) These agreements confer
planning obligations on persons with an interest in land in order to achieve the
implementation of relevant planning policies as authorised by Section 106 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990. These may be used to help mitigate the specific impact
of a development where it would generate additional needs eg on community infrastructure.
Standard charges are calculations and measurements of the level of contribution likely to
be sought by a local planning authority towards infrastructure neccessitated by new
development. The Government has encouraged the use of formulae and standard charges,
and pooling of contributions, where appropriate.

Self-contained dwelling is a residential unit of one or more habitable rooms, whose
occupier has exclusive use of all his/her amenities, including kitchen, shower/bath and
W.C., and which is a single and discreet unit.

Sequential approach This applies to all town centre-related activities and states that, if
possible, facilities should be accommodated in the centre, failing that on the edge of the
centre.

Sequential Test In relation to flooding, the sequential test is a decision-making tool
designed to ensure that sites at little or no risk of flooding are developed in preference to
areas at higher risk. Within each Flood Zone, new development should be directed first
to sites at the lowest probability of flooding.

Social Housing Rented housing owned and managed by local authorities and registered
social landlords, for which guideline target rents are determined through the national rent
regime. It may also include rented housing owned or managed by other persons and
provided under equivalent rental arrangements to the above, as agreed with the local
authority as a condition of grant.

Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA)is a system of incorporating environmental
considerations into policies, plans and programmes, based on the requirements of
EuropeanSEA Directive 2001/42/EC. This requires an environmental assessment of plans
and programmes to be carried out during their preparation stages. This includes evaluation
of the possible significant effects of the plan on the environment, which includes
biodiversity, population, human health, flora and fauna, soil, water, air, climate, material
asset and cultural heritage, and the measures needed to prevent, reduce and offset the
negative effects on the environment if the plan was adopted.

Strategic Flood Risk Assessment A study to assess the risk to an area or site from
flooding, now and in the future, and to assess the impact that any changes or developments
on the site or area will have on flood risk to the site and elsewhere. It may also identify,
particularly at more local levels, how to manage those changes to ensure that flood risk
is not increased.

Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) This is a key component
of the evidence base to support the delivery of sufficient land for housing to meet the
communty’s need for more homes. These assessments are required by national planning
policy, set out in Planning Policy Statement 3: Housing (PPS3).

173Proposed Submission Core Strategy LB Hammersmith and Fulham

Glossary 13

Page 202



Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) Established by Government guidance:
Planning Policy Statement 3: Housing (2006), and detailed Strategic Housing Market
Assessment PracticeGuidance (2007). The aims of a Strategic HousingMarket Assessment
are to provide clear evidence as to what is going on in the housing market and what future
prospects for the market may be.

Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) An SPD does not form a part of the statutory
plan. It can take the form of design guides or area development briefs, or supplement
other specific policies in the plan. However it must be consistent with national and regional
planning guidance, as well as policies set out in the adopted plan. It should be clearly
cross-referenced to the relevant plan policy or proposal that it supplements. Public
consultation should be undertaken and SPDs should be regularly reviewed. An SPD is a
material planning consideration.

Sustainability Appraisal involves identifying and evaluating a plan’s impacts having
regard to social, environmental and economic impacts and helps to ensure that the plan
accords with sustainable development principles. Sustainability Appraisals incorporate
the requirements of the European Directive 2001/42/EC (SEADirective) on the ‘assessment
of effects of certain plans and programmes on the environment’.

Sustainable development is that which meets the needs of the present without
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.

Sustainable urban drainage system (SUDS) An alternative approach to the traditional
ways of managing runoff from buildings and hardstanding. SUDS can reduce the total
amount, flow and rate of surface water that runs directly to rivers through stormwater
systems.

Thames Policy Area a special policy area to be defined by boroughs in which detailed
appraisals of the riverside will be required.

Travel Plans are aimed at helping employees to use alternatives to driving to work - for
example public transport, walking and cycling. Green travel plans also address business’
transport use and cover travel in the course of business. Travel plans can make a major
contribution to easing congestion, especially during the peak periods.

Wheelchair accessible housing This refers to homes built to meet the standards set out
in the second edition of theWheelchair Housing Design Guide by Stephen Thorpe, Habinteg
Housing Association 2006.

LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Core Strategy174

13 Glossary

Page 203



Page 204



0208 753 3317

0208 753 3317

0208 753 3317

0208 753 3317

0208 753 3317

0208 753 3317

0208 753 3317

0208 753 3317

0208 753 3317

0208 753 3317

0208 753 3317

0208 753 3317

0208 753 3317

0208 753 3317 Page 205



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham

 

Proposed Submission 
Core Strategy Proposal 

Map Changes

Local Development Framework

October 2010

Hammersmith and Fulham Council

Appendix 2 - Proposed 
Submission Core Strategy 
Proposal Map Changes

Page 206



Page 207



Appendix 2.       Proposed Submission Core Strategy 
Proposals Map Changes 

Introduction

The policies and proposals included in the proposed submission Core Strategy have 
resulted in the need to make changes to the adopted Unitary Development Plan 
Proposals Map. The Proposals Map  is an important part of the Local Development 
Framework and identifies areas of protection, such as nationally and locally designated 
areas and sites, shows areas at risk from flooding and allocates sites for particular land 
uses and development proposals included in the Core Strategy.

The Council has prepared this schedule and accompanying maps to illustrate the 
changes that are proposed to the adopted UDP Proposals Map as a consequence of the 
proposed new Core Strategy policies and proposals.  

The proposed changes to the Proposals Map consist of additional designations (Table 
1), for example the regeneration areas, strategic waste sites and housing estate 
regeneration areas, the deletion of some designations (Table 2), such as certain site 
allocations, and amendments to designations (Table 3), such as the shopping hierarchy 
and conservation areas. The reasons for these changes are identified in the schedule 
where appropriate, and a map reference is included where relevant to indicate the 
appropriate map to which the proposed change relates.  Where changes to the 
Proposals Map relate to “name only”, for example in the case of some changes to the 
shopping hierarchy, maps are not provided, but instead reference is made to the 
adopted Proposals Map designation.

Many of the land use designations shown on the adopted Proposals Map are not 
affected by the new Core Strategy, for example the Town Centre boundaries, strategic 
road routes, protected views and the Thames Policy Area (Table 4). The maps in this 
document do not show those designations where there is no change proposed. It is 
therefore essential that this proposed submission Proposals Map schedule is read 
alongside the adopted UDP Proposals Map to understand fully which policies and 
proposals apply in any given area.

Finally, it should be noted that the adopted Proposals Map is also subject to changes 
that have already been made as a result of the saved policy exercise undertaken in 
September 2007, when the UDP was amended and some policies and Proposals Map 
designations were allowed to expire. A list of these changes is included in the schedule 
for information purposes (Table 5).  

- 1 - 
Page 208



- 2 - 
Page 209



- 3 - 

Contents

Table 1.  Designations to be added.   Page 3

Table 2. Designations to be deleted.  Page 7 

Table 3. Designations to be amended.  Page 8 

Table 4. Designations to remain unchanged.  Page 13 

Table 5. Designations deleted in 2007 “Saved policies exercise” (for information only).  
Page 14

Maps to show proposed changes.  Page 15 onwards

Page 210



- 
4 

- 

Page 211



S
ch

ed
u

le
 o

f 
p

ro
p

o
se

d
 c

h
an

g
es

 t
o

 a
d

o
p

te
d

 P
ro

p
o

sa
ls

 M
ap

 d
es

ig
n

at
io

n
s

T
ab

le
 1

: 
D

es
ig

n
at

io
n

s 
to

 b
e 

A
D

D
E

D
 

D
es

ig
n

at
io

n
P

ro
p

o
se

d
 a

d
d

it
io

n
s 

R
ea

so
n

 f
o

r 
th

e 
ch

an
g

es
M

ap
R

ef
W

hi
te

 C
ity

 O
pp

or
tu

ni
ty

 A
re

a.
  C

om
pr

is
es

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t a
re

as
 e

as
t o

f 
W

oo
d 

La
ne

/n
or

th
 o

f W
es

tw
ay

 (
A

40
) 

an
d 

B
B

C
 la

nd
 o

n 
bo

th
 s

id
es

 o
f 

W
oo

d 
La

ne
. A

ls
o 

in
cl

ud
es

 S
he

ph
er

d’
s 

B
us

h 
T

ow
n 

ce
nt

re
 a

nd
 a

n 
ar

ea
 

ba
se

d 
on

 th
e 

W
hi

te
 C

ity
 E

st
at

es
.

A
D

1

N
or

th
 F

ul
ha

m
 R

eg
en

er
at

io
n 

A
re

a.
 C

om
pr

is
es

 E
ar

ls
 C

ou
rt

 a
nd

 W
es

t 
K

en
si

ng
to

n 
O

pp
or

tu
ni

ty
 A

re
a,

  t
he

 E
ar

ls
 C

ou
rt

 c
om

pl
ex

, t
he

 T
fL

 L
ill

ie
 

B
rid

ge
 D

ep
ot

, F
ul

ha
m

 to
w

n 
ce

nt
re

, S
ea

gr
av

e 
R

oa
d 

ca
r 

pa
rk

 a
nd

 
ad

ja
ce

nt
 h

ou
si

ng
 e

st
at

es
.

A
D

2

H
am

m
er

sm
ith

 T
ow

n 
C

en
tr

e 
R

eg
en

er
at

io
n 

A
re

a.
  C

om
pr

is
es

 
H

am
m

er
sm

ith
 to

w
n 

ce
nt

re
 a

nd
 r

iv
er

si
de

 s
ite

s 
to

 th
e 

ea
st

 o
f 

H
am

m
er

sm
ith

 B
rid

ge
 a

nd
 p

ar
t o

f a
dj

ac
en

t h
ou

si
ng

 e
st

at
e.

A
D

3

S
ou

th
 F

ul
ha

m
 R

iv
er

si
de

 R
eg

en
er

at
io

n 
A

re
a.

 In
cl

ud
es

 r
iv

er
si

de
 p

lo
ts

 
al

on
g 

C
ar

nw
at

h 
R

oa
d 

an
d 

T
ow

nm
ea

d 
R

oa
d 

an
d 

la
nd

 a
lo

ng
 Im

pe
ria

l 
R

oa
d.

A
D

4

O
ld

 O
ak

 C
om

m
on

 a
nd

 H
yt

he
 R

oa
d 

R
eg

en
er

at
io

n 
A

re
a.

 In
cl

ud
es

 
ex

te
ns

iv
e 

ar
ea

 o
f r

ai
lw

ay
 s

id
in

gs
 a

nd
 r

ai
lw

ay
 tr

ac
k 

an
d 

se
rv

ic
in

g 
ar

ea
s 

an
d 

in
du

st
ria

l e
st

at
e.

  

T
o 

id
en

tif
y 

5 
re

ge
ne

ra
tio

n/
op

po
rt

un
ity

 a
re

as
 in

 th
e 

bo
ro

ug
h 

na
m

el
y 

S
ou

th
 F

ul
ha

m
 

R
iv

er
si

de
, 

H
am

m
er

sm
ith

 T
ow

n 
C

en
tr

e,
 W

hi
te

 C
ity

, 
E

ar
ls

 C
ou

rt
 a

nd
 

W
es

t K
en

si
ng

to
n 

an
d 

 O
ld

 O
ak

 
C

om
m

on
 S

id
in

gs
 

A
D

5

R
eg

en
er

at
io

n
 

A
re

as
/O

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
y 

A
re

as

P
ar

k 
R

oy
al

 O
pp

or
tu

ni
ty

 A
re

a 
T

o 
Id

en
tif

y 
th

e 
LB

H
F

 p
ar

t o
f t

he
 

P
ar

k 
R

oy
al

 
O

pp
or

tu
ni

ty
 a

re
a.

 

A
D

6

W
hi

te
 C

ity
 E

as
t. 

In
cl

ud
es

 a
ll 

th
e 

la
nd

 to
 th

e 
no

rt
h 

of
 W

es
tfi

el
d 

on
 th

e 
ea

st
 s

id
e 

of
 W

oo
d 

La
ne

, t
he

 B
B

C
 T

V
 C

en
tr

e 
an

d 
un

de
ve

lo
pe

d 
la

nd
 a

t 
th

e 
B

B
C

 M
ed

ia
 V

ill
ag

e.
 

A
D

1
(S

ite
 1

) 
S

tr
at

eg
ic

 S
it

e 
P

o
lic

ie
s 

T
A

 C
en

tr
e 

T
o 

id
en

tif
y 

th
e 

ne
w

 
st

ra
te

gi
c 

si
te

s 
in

cl
ud

ed
 in

 th
e 

C
or

e 
S

tr
at

eg
y

A
D

1

- 
5 

- 

Page 212



D
es

ig
n

at
io

n
P

ro
p

o
se

d
 a

d
d

it
io

n
s 

R
ea

so
n

 f
o

r 
th

e 
M

ap
ch

an
g

es
R

ef
(S

ite
 2

) 
Lo

ftu
s 

R
oa

d 
A

D
1

(S
ite

 3
) 

S
he

ph
er

ds
 B

us
h 

M
ar

ke
t a

nd
 a

dj
ac

en
t l

an
d.

 A
re

a 
in

cl
ud

es
 th

e 
m

ar
ke

t, 
th

e 
fo

rm
er

 la
un

dr
y 

si
te

, l
an

d 
to

 b
e 

va
ca

te
d 

by
 th

e 
B

ro
ad

w
ay

 D
ay

 
C

en
tr

e 
an

d 
P

ea
bo

dy
 fl

at
s 

at
 M

ar
ke

t L
an

e,
 p

ro
pe

rt
y 

at
 3

0-
52

 G
ol

dh
aw

k 
R

oa
d 

an
d

th
e 

fo
rm

er
 S

he
ph

er
ds

 B
us

h 
lib

ra
ry

 b
ui

ld
in

g.
 

A
D

1
(S

ite
 4

) 

E
ar

ls
 C

ou
rt

 a
nd

 W
es

t K
en

si
ng

to
n 

O
pp

or
tu

ni
ty

 A
re

a.
 E

xh
ib

iti
on

 c
en

tr
e 

2 
an

d 
S

ea
gr

av
e 

R
oa

d 
ca

r 
pa

rk
, L

ill
ie

 B
rid

ge
 D

ep
ot

, W
es

t K
en

si
ng

to
n 

an
d 

G
ib

bs
 G

re
en

 E
st

at
es

 a
nd

 a
dj

ac
en

t l
an

d.

A
D

2

S
ea

gr
av

e 
R

oa
d 

ca
r 

pa
rk

 
A

D
2

(S
ite

 1
) 

T
fL

 L
ill

ie
 B

rid
ge

 D
ep

ot
 a

nd
 E

ar
ls

 C
ou

rt
 2

 
A

D
2

(S
ite

 2
) 

N
or

th
 E

nd
 R

oa
d/

Li
lli

e 
R

oa
d/

C
hu

te
r 

E
de

 H
ou

se
.

A
D

2
(S

ite
 3

) 
H

am
m

er
sm

ith
 E

m
ba

nk
m

en
t.

A
D

3
(S

ite
 1

) 

C
om

pr
is

es
 Q

ue
en

s 
W

ha
rf

 a
nd

 R
iv

er
si

de
 S

tu
di

os
. 

A
D

3
(S

ite
 2

) 

K
in

gs
 M

al
l a

nd
 A

sh
cr

of
t S

qu
ar

e 
E

st
at

e,
 K

in
g 

S
tr

ee
t 

A
D

3
(S

ite
 3

)

T
ow

n 
H

al
l a

nd
 a

dj
ac

en
t L

an
d,

 N
ig

el
 P

la
yf

ai
r 

A
ve

nu
e.

 C
om

pr
is

es
 th

e 
ca

r 
pa

rk
, c

in
em

a,
 P

oc
kl

in
gt

on
 E

st
at

e 
an

d 
th

e 
F

rie
nd

s 
m

ee
tin

g 
H

ou
se

 
as

 w
el

l a
s 

th
e 

T
ow

n 
H

al
l e

xt
en

si
on

.

A
D

3
(S

ite
 4

) - 
6 

- 

Page 213



D
es

ig
n

at
io

n
P

ro
p

o
se

d
 a

d
d

it
io

n
s 

R
ea

so
n

 f
o

r 
th

e 
M

ap
ch

an
g

es
R

ef
O

ld
 O

ak
 C

om
m

on
 S

id
in

gs
. C

om
pr

is
es

 3
2.

5 
he

ct
ar

es
 o

f r
ai

lw
ay

 s
id

in
gs

 
an

d 
a 

sm
al

l a
m

ou
nt

 o
f r

es
id

en
tia

l b
or

de
re

d 
by

 th
e 

G
ra

nd
 U

ni
on

 C
an

al
 

to
 th

e 
no

rt
h 

an
d 

th
e 

G
re

at
 W

es
te

rn
 m

ai
n 

lin
e 

in
to

 P
ad

di
ng

to
n 

to
 th

e 
S

ou
th

A
D

5
(S

ite
 1

) 

N
or

th
 P

ol
e 

D
ep

ot
. S

ite
 e

xt
en

ds
 fr

om
 R

B
K

C
 to

 E
al

in
g 

an
d 

co
m

pr
is

es
 

50
 a

cr
es

 o
f r

ai
lw

ay
 tr

ac
k 

an
d 

se
rv

ic
in

g 
sh

ed
s.

  
A

D
5

(S
ite

 2
) 

W
hi

te
 C

ity
 E

st
at

es
 (

W
hi

te
 C

ity
, B

at
m

an
 C

lo
se

, W
oo

d 
La

ne
) 

A
D

1
G

ib
bs

 G
re

en
 a

nd
 W

es
t K

en
si

ng
to

n 
E

st
at

es
 

A
D

2
H

o
u

si
n

g
 E

st
at

e 
R

eg
en

er
at

io
n

 A
re

as
  

A
sh

cr
of

t S
qu

ar
e 

E
st

at
e 

an
d 

pa
rt

 o
f Q

ue
en

 C
ar

ol
in

e 
E

st
at

e 
riv

er
 

fr
on

ta
ge

A
D

3

S
he

ph
er

ds
 B

us
h 

T
ow

n 
ce

nt
re

.  
In

cl
ud

es
 W

es
tfi

el
d 

as
 w

el
l a

s 
pr

im
e 

re
ta

il 
fr

on
ta

ge
. 

A
D

7

F
ul

ha
m

 T
ow

n 
ce

nt
re

. I
nc

lu
de

s 
pr

im
e 

re
ta

il 
fr

on
ta

ge
.

A
D

8

P
ri

m
ar

y 
S

h
o

p
p

in
g

 
A

re
as

H
am

m
er

sm
ith

 T
ow

n 
ce

nt
re

. I
nc

lu
de

s 
pr

im
e 

re
ta

il 
fr

on
ta

ge
.  

A
dd

iti
on

 o
f n

ew
 

de
si

gn
at

io
n 

to
 

re
fle

ct
 th

e 
ar

ea
 

w
he

re
 r

et
ai

l 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t i
s 

co
nc

en
tr

at
ed

.

A
D

9

U
xb

rid
ge

 R
oa

d 
E

as
t. 

21
6 

to
 2

50
, 2

62
 to

 2
94

, 1
5 

to
 4

1 
an

d 
57

 to
 9

5 
U

xb
rid

ge
 R

oa
d.

 C
ha

ng
ed

 fr
om

 K
ey

 L
oc

al
 S

ho
pp

in
g 

C
en

tr
e.

  
U

D
P

K
LS

C
4

G
ol

dh
aw

k 
R

oa
d.

 5
7 

to
 7

5 
an

d 
56

 to
 1

20
. C

ha
ng

ed
 fr

om
 K

ey
 L

oc
al

 
S

ho
pp

in
g 

C
en

tr
e.

 
U

D
P

K
LS

C
7

S
he

ph
er

d’
s 

B
us

h 
R

oa
d.

 4
8 

to
 1

04
 S

he
ph

er
ds

 B
us

h 
R

oa
d.

 C
ha

ng
ed

 
fr

om
 K

ey
 L

oc
al

 S
ho

pp
in

g 
C

en
tr

e.
 

U
D

P
K

LS
C

8
K

in
g 

S
tr

ee
t (

R
av

en
sc

ou
rt

 P
ar

k)
. 1

82
 to

 2
60

 K
in

g 
S

tr
ee

t. 
C

ha
ng

ed
 fr

om
 

a 
P

ro
te

ct
ed

 P
ar

ad
e 

an
d 

C
lu

st
er

. 
U

D
P

P
ar

ad
e

10
La

ty
m

er
 C

ou
rt

. 1
02

 to
 1

72
 H

am
m

er
sm

ith
 R

oa
d.

 C
ha

ng
ed

 fr
om

 a
 

P
ro

te
ct

ed
 P

ar
ad

e 
an

d 
C

lu
st

er
.. 

U
D

P
P

ar
ad

e
11

S
at

el
lit

e 
P

ar
ad

es
 

F
ul

ha
m

 P
al

ac
e 

R
oa

d.
 5

4 
to

 6
6,

 8
2 

to
 1

14
, a

nd
  9

1 
to

 1
27

 F
ul

ha
m

 
P

al
ac

e 
R

oa
d.

 C
ha

ng
ed

 fr
om

 a
 P

ro
te

ct
ed

 P
ar

ad
e 

an
d 

C
lu

st
er

.

N
ew

 d
es

ig
na

tio
n 

fo
r 

sh
op

pi
ng

 fr
on

ta
ge

s 
on

 th
e 

ed
ge

 o
f t

ow
n 

ce
nt

re
s.

 M
ad

e 
up

 
fr

om
 th

e 
re

-
de

si
gn

at
io

n 
of

 3
 

ex
is

tin
g 

K
ey

 L
oc

al
 

S
ho

pp
in

g 
ce

nt
re

s 
an

d 
3 

pr
ot

ec
te

d 
pa

ra
de

s.

U
D

P
P

ar
ad

e - 
7 

- 

Page 214



D
es

ig
n

at
io

n
P

ro
p

o
se

d
 a

d
d

it
io

n
s 

R
ea

so
n

 f
o

r 
th

e 
M

ap
ch

an
g

es
R

ef
12

E
m

p
lo

ym
en

t 
zo

n
e/

P
ar

t 
o

f 
w

id
er

 
S

tr
at

eg
ic

 In
d

u
st

ri
al

 
la

n
d

 (
S

IL
) 

H
yt

he
 R

oa
d 

E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t Z
on

e.
 T

he
 s

ite
 is

 a
ls

o 
pa

rt
 o

f t
he

 w
id

er
 

S
tr

at
eg

ic
 In

du
st

ria
l L

an
d 

de
si

gn
at

io
n 

in
 th

e 
Lo

nd
on

 P
la

n 
w

hi
ch

 
ex

te
nd

s 
in

to
 L

B
 B

re
nt

 a
nd

 L
B

 E
al

in
g.

R
ei

nt
ro

du
ce

d 
 

fo
rm

er
 U

D
P

 
de

si
gn

at
io

n 
w

hi
ch

 
ex

pi
re

d 
in

 2
00

7

U
D

P

P
ow

er
da

y
A

D
10

W
as

te
 S

it
es

 

E
M

R

A
dd

iti
on

 o
f f

iv
e 

st
ra

te
gi

c 
w

as
te

si
te

s.
A

D
11

F
lo

o
d

 R
is

k 
Lo

ca
tio

n 
of

 fl
oo

d 
zo

ne
s 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
bo

ro
ug

h.
 

R
eq

ui
re

d 
by

 
P

P
S

12
.  

A
D

12

M
O

D
 R

A
F

 N
or

th
ol

t, 
G

re
at

er
 L

on
do

n 
T

ec
hn

ic
al

 s
ite

 s
af

eg
ua

rd
in

g 
di

re
ct

io
n 

an
d 

ex
pl

os
iv

e 
ar

ea
 s

af
eg

ua
rd

in
g 

R
eq

ui
re

d 
by

 
S

ec
re

ta
ry

 o
f S

ta
te

 
A

D
13

A
er

o
d

ro
m

e 
S

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
H

ea
th

ro
w

 S
af

eg
ua

rd
in

g 
– 

m
ap

 to
 fo

llo
w

. 
R

eq
ui

re
d 

by
 

S
ec

re
ta

ry
 o

f S
ta

te
 

A
D

14

- 
8 

- 

Page 215



T
ab

le
 2

: 
D

es
ig

n
at

io
n

s 
to

 b
e 

D
E

L
E

T
E

D

D
es

ig
n

at
io

n
P

ro
p

o
se

d
 d

el
et

io
n

s 
R

ea
so

n
 f

o
r 

th
e 

ch
an

g
es

M
ap

R
ef

S
ite

 2
3 

Li
lli

e 
R

oa
d 

41
-4

5 

S
ite

 3
2 

B
rit

is
h 

G
as

 R
iv

er
si

de
 S

ite
 

S
ite

 3
6 

W
hi

te
 C

ity
 c

en
tr

e 
si

te
 

S
it

e 
P

ro
p

o
sa

ls
 

S
ite

 4
7 

Im
pe

ria
l R

oa
d 

S
ite

 

S
ite

s 
ei

th
er

 
de

ve
lo

pe
d 

or
 n

ot
 

of
 s

tr
at

eg
ic

 
im

po
rt

an
ce

 to
 b

e 
in

 C
or

e 
S

tr
at

eg
y 

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 P
ed

es
tr

ia
n

 
Im

p
ro

ve
m

en
ts

R
em

ov
ed

 fr
om

 P
ro

po
sa

ls
 M

ap
 

P
ed

es
tr

ia
n

 F
o

o
tp

at
h

 
– 

H
yt

h
e 

R
o

ad
 t

o
 

W
ill

es
d

en
 ju

n
ct

io
n

 

R
em

ov
ed

 fr
om

 P
ro

po
sa

ls
 M

ap
 

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
u

s 
p

ri
o

ri
ty

 
ro

u
te

s
R

em
ov

ed
 fr

om
 P

ro
po

sa
ls

 M
ap

 

S
tr

at
eg

ic
 a

n
d

 L
o

ca
l 

C
yc

le
 R

o
u

te
s 

R
em

ov
ed

 fr
om

 P
ro

po
sa

ls
 M

ap
 

D
es

ig
na

tio
n 

no
 

lo
ng

er
 n

ec
es

sa
ry

 
in

 r
el

at
io

n 
to

 th
e 

C
or

e 
S

tr
at

eg
y

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 L
o

ca
l R

ai
l 

S
ta

ti
o

n
 –

 e
xt

en
t 

o
f 

S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

W
oo

d 
La

ne
, W

hi
te

 c
ity

 a
nd

 Im
pe

ria
l W

ha
rf

 s
ta

tio
ns

.  
S

af
eg

ua
rd

in
g 

no
 

lo
ng

er
 r

eq
ui

re
d.

 
S

ta
tio

ns
co

m
pl

et
ed

.

- 
9 

- 

Page 216



T
ab

le
 3

: 
D

es
ig

n
at

io
n

s 
to

 b
e 

A
M

E
N

D
E

D
 

D
es

ig
n

at
io

n
P

ro
p

o
se

d
 a

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 
R

ea
so

n
 f

o
r 

th
e 

ch
an

g
e

M
ap

R
ef

W
or

m
w

oo
d 

S
cr

ub
s.

 R
em

ov
e 

Li
nf

or
d 

C
hr

is
tie

 S
ta

di
um

 fr
om

 M
O

L
A

M
1

W
or

m
w

oo
d 

S
cr

ub
s.

 A
dd

 la
nd

 a
dj

oi
ni

ng
 th

e 
O

ld
 O

ak
 C

om
m

un
ity

 C
en

tr
e 

to
 M

O
L.

 
A

M
2

M
et

ro
p

o
lit

an
 O

p
en

 
L

an
d

H
ur

lin
gh

am
 P

ar
k.

 R
em

ov
e 

H
ur

lin
gh

am
 D

ep
ot

, H
ur

lin
gh

am
 L

od
ge

, 
H

ur
lin

gh
am

 C
ot

ta
ge

 a
nd

 F
ie

ld
 c

ot
ta

ge
s 

fr
om

 M
O

L.
 

R
ev

ie
w

 o
f 

bo
un

da
rie

s 
to

 
re

fle
ct

 o
n 

si
te

 
si

tu
at

io
n.

A
M

3

R
ow

be
rr

y 
M

ea
d.

 A
dd

 a
s 

an
 O

pe
n 

S
pa

ce
 o

f B
or

ou
gh

-w
id

e 
im

po
rt

an
ce

 
A

M
4

Im
pe

ria
l W

ha
rf

 P
ar

k.
 A

dd
 a

s 
an

 O
pe

n 
S

pa
ce

 o
f B

or
ou

gh
-w

id
e 

im
po

rt
an

ce

O
pe

n 
sp

ac
e 

of
 

bo
ro

ug
h-

w
id

e
im

po
rt

an
ce

am
en

de
d 

to
 in

cl
ud

e 
tw

o 
ne

w
 s

ite
s.

A
M

5

N
or

la
nd

 N
or

th
 O

pe
n 

S
pa

ce
. B

ou
nd

ar
y 

an
d 

na
m

e 
ch

an
ge

. N
ow

 k
no

w
n 

as
 

E
dw

ar
d 

W
oo

ds
 T

ow
n 

P
ar

k.
 

B
ou

nd
ar

y 
re

vi
ew

 to
 

re
fle

ct
 c

ha
ng

es
 a

nd
 

im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 to
 

th
is

 o
pe

n 
sp

ac
e 

A
M

6

S
ou

th
 P

ar
k 

de
po

t a
nd

 C
la

nc
ar

ity
 L

od
ge

. R
em

ov
e 

O
pe

n 
S

pa
ce

 o
f 

B
or

ou
gh

-w
id

e 
im

po
rt

an
ce

 d
es

ig
na

tio
n 

B
ou

nd
ar

y 
re

vi
ew

 to
 

re
fle

ct
 n

on
 p

ar
k 

us
e 

of
 th

es
e 

si
te

s 

A
M

7

O
p

en
 S

p
ac

es
 

Li
nf

or
d 

C
hr

is
tie

 S
ta

di
um

 tr
an

sf
er

re
d 

fr
om

 M
et

ro
po

lit
an

 O
pe

n 
la

nd
 

D
es

ig
na

tio
n 

(M
O

L)
 to

 O
pe

n 
S

pa
ce

 o
f B

or
ou

gh
-w

id
e 

im
po

rt
an

ce
.  

S
ep

ar
at

el
y

id
en

tif
ie

d 
as

 a
 r

es
ul

t 
of

 ta
ki

ng
 o

ut
 o

f 
M

O
L.

A
M

8

N
at

u
re

 C
o

n
se

rv
at

io
n

 
A

re
as

A
m

en
dm

en
t t

o 
th

e 
na

tu
re

 c
on

se
rv

at
io

n 
ar

ea
 d

es
ig

na
tio

n 
to

 s
ho

w
 th

e 
re

m
ov

al
 o

f W
hi

te
 C

ity
 W

oo
dl

an
ds

 N
at

ur
e 

C
on

se
rv

at
io

n 
A

re
a 

as
 s

ho
w

n 
on

 
th

e 
ex

is
tin

g 
U

D
P

 p
ro

po
sa

ls
 M

ap
 (

B
1.

3)
.

N
at

ur
e

co
ns

er
va

tio
n 

ar
ea

s 
am

en
de

d 
to

 r
ef

le
ct

 
si

te
 lo

st
 th

ro
ug

h 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t o
f 

W
es

tfi
el

d.

U
D

P - 
10

 -
 

Page 217



D
es

ig
n

at
io

n
P

ro
p

o
se

d
 a

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 
R

ea
so

n
 f

o
r 

th
e 

M
ap

ch
an

g
e

R
ef

Q
ue

en
s 

C
lu

b 
G

ar
de

ns
 C

on
se

rv
at

io
n 

A
re

a.
 E

xt
en

si
on

 to
 in

cl
ud

e 
Q

ue
en

’s
 

C
lu

b 
an

d 
pr

op
er

tie
s 

tr
an

sf
er

re
d 

fr
om

 B
ar

on
s 

C
ou

rt
 C

on
se

rv
at

io
n 

A
re

a 
A

M
9

B
ar

on
s 

C
ou

rt
 C

on
se

rv
at

io
n 

A
re

a.
 M

in
or

 a
m

en
dm

en
ts

 to
 b

ou
nd

ar
y.

 
A

M
10

B
ro

ok
 G

re
en

 C
on

se
rv

at
io

n 
A

re
a.

 E
xt

en
si

on
 to

 in
cl

ud
e 

La
ty

m
er

 C
ou

rt
, 

V
in

ey
ar

d 
H

ou
se

A
M

11

G
un

te
r 

E
st

at
e 

C
on

se
rv

at
io

n 
A

re
a.

 E
xt

en
si

on
 to

 in
cl

ud
e 

pr
op

er
tie

s 
to

 th
e 

so
ut

h 
of

 T
al

ga
rt

h 
R

oa
d,

 S
t M

ar
y’

s 
C

hu
rc

h,
 w

es
t s

id
e 

of
 E

di
th

 R
oa

d 
an

d 
tr

an
sf

er
 o

f p
ro

pe
rt

ie
s 

fr
om

 O
ly

m
pi

a 
&

 A
vo

nm
or

e 
C

on
se

rv
at

io
n 

A
re

a 

A
M

12

C
o

n
se

rv
at

io
n

 A
re

as
 

Im
pe

ria
l S

qu
ar

e 
an

d 
G

as
w

or
ks

 C
on

se
rv

at
io

n 
A

re
a.

  E
xt

en
si

on
 to

 in
cl

ud
e 

pa
rt

 o
f f

or
m

er
 Im

pe
ria

l G
as

w
or

ks
 

B
ou

nd
ar

y 
re

vi
ew

 to
 

ta
ke

 a
cc

ou
nt

 o
f 

ch
an

ge
s 

si
nc

e 
th

e 
ad

op
tio

n 
of

 th
e 

U
D

P

A
M

13

E
as

t A
ct

on
: N

o 
bo

un
da

ry
 C

ha
ng

e.
 R

em
ai

ns
 a

s 
a 

K
ey

 L
oc

al
 C

en
tr

e.
 

U
D

P
K

LS
C

1
B

lo
em

fo
nt

ei
n 

R
oa

d 
K

ey
 L

oc
al

 S
ho

pp
in

g 
ce

nt
re

.  
R

e-
de

si
gn

at
e 

to
 

N
ei

gh
bo

ur
ho

od
 p

ar
ad

e.
 N

o 
bo

un
da

ry
 c

ha
ng

e 
U

D
P

K
LS

C
2

U
xb

rid
ge

 R
oa

d 
W

es
t K

ey
 L

oc
al

 S
ho

pp
in

g 
ce

nt
re

.  
R

e-
de

si
gn

at
e 

to
 

N
ei

gh
bo

ur
ho

od
 p

ar
ad

e.
 N

o 
bo

un
da

ry
 c

ha
ng

e 
U

D
P

K
LS

C
3

U
xb

rid
ge

 R
oa

d 
E

as
t K

ey
 L

oc
al

 S
ho

pp
in

g 
ce

nt
re

. R
e-

de
si

gn
at

e 
to

 
S

at
el

lit
e 

pa
ra

de
. N

o 
bo

un
da

ry
 c

ha
ng

e.
 

U
D

P
K

LS
C

4
E

dw
ar

d 
W

oo
ds

 E
st

at
e 

K
ey

 L
oc

al
 S

ho
pp

in
g 

ce
nt

re
. R

e-
de

si
gn

at
e 

 to
 

N
ei

gh
bo

ur
ho

od
 p

ar
ad

e.
 N

o 
bo

un
da

ry
 c

ha
ng

e.
U

D
P

K
LS

C
5

A
sk

ew
 R

oa
d 

: R
em

ov
e 

un
its

 1
20

-1
28

 a
nd

 1
57

-1
63

 A
sk

ew
 R

oa
d.

 
R

em
ai

ns
 a

s 
a 

K
ey

 L
oc

al
 C

en
tr

e.
A

M
14

G
ol

dh
aw

k 
R

oa
d 

K
ey

 L
oc

al
 S

ho
pp

in
g 

C
en

tr
e.

 R
e-

de
si

gn
at

e 
to

 S
at

el
lit

e 
pa

ra
de

. N
o 

bo
un

da
ry

 c
ha

ng
e.

 
U

D
P

K
LS

C
7

S
he

ph
er

d’
s 

B
us

h 
R

oa
d 

K
ey

 L
oc

al
 S

ho
pp

in
g 

C
en

tr
e.

 R
e-

de
si

gn
at

e 
to

 
S

at
el

lit
e 

pa
ra

de
. N

o 
bo

un
da

ry
 c

ha
ng

e.
 

U
D

P
K

LS
C

8
B

ly
th

e 
R

oa
d 

K
ey

 L
oc

al
 S

ho
pp

in
g 

C
en

tr
e.

 R
e-

de
si

gn
at

e 
to

 
N

ei
gh

bo
ur

ho
od

 p
ar

ad
e.

 R
em

ov
e 

un
its

 a
t 7

5-
77

 B
ly

th
e 

R
oa

d.
 

A
M

15

B
ar

on
’s

 C
ou

rt
 K

ey
 L

oc
al

 S
ho

pp
in

g 
C

en
tr

e.
 R

e-
de

si
gn

at
e 

to
 

N
ei

gh
bo

ur
ho

od
 p

ar
ad

e.
 N

o 
bo

un
da

ry
 c

ha
ng

e.
 

U
D

P
K

LS
C

10

K
ey

 L
o

ca
l S

h
o

p
p

in
g

 
C

en
tr

es

N
or

th
 E

nd
 r

oa
d 

(W
es

t K
en

si
ng

to
n)

: A
dd

 s
up

er
m

ar
ke

t a
t 1

12
-1

14
 N

or
th

 

R
ev

ie
w

ed
 a

s 
pa

rt
 o

f 
an

 a
m

en
de

d 
sh

op
pi

ng
 h

ie
ra

rc
hy

 
fo

r 
th

e 
bo

ro
ug

h.
 1

9 
ex

is
tin

g 
ce

nt
re

s 
to

 
be

 r
ed

uc
ed

 to
 5

 
ce

nt
re

s.

A
M

16 - 
11

 -
 

Page 218



D
es

ig
n

at
io

n
P

ro
p

o
se

d
 a

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 
R

ea
so

n
 f

o
r 

th
e 

M
ap

ch
an

g
e

R
ef

E
nd

 R
oa

d.
 R

em
ai

ns
 a

s 
a 

K
ey

 L
oc

al
 C

en
tr

e.
 

G
re

yh
ou

nd
 R

oa
d 

K
ey

 L
oc

al
 S

ho
pp

in
g 

C
en

tr
e.

 R
e-

de
si

gn
at

e 
to

 
N

ei
gh

bo
ur

ho
od

 p
ar

ad
e.

 N
o 

bo
un

da
ry

 c
ha

ng
e.

 
U

D
P

K
LS

C
12

M
un

st
er

 R
oa

d 
K

ey
 L

oc
al

 S
ho

pp
in

g 
C

en
tr

e.
 R

e-
de

si
gn

at
e 

to
 

N
ei

gh
bo

ur
ho

od
 P

ar
ad

e.
 N

o 
bo

un
da

ry
 c

ha
ng

e.
 

U
D

P
K

LS
C

13
F

ul
ha

m
 P

al
ac

e 
R

oa
d 

(C
en

tr
al

) 
K

ey
 L

oc
al

 S
ho

pp
in

g 
C

en
tr

e.
 R

e-
de

si
gn

at
e 

to
 N

ei
gh

bo
ur

ho
od

 P
ar

ad
e.

 N
o 

bo
un

da
ry

 c
ha

ng
e.

 
U

D
P

K
LS

C
14

F
ul

ha
m

 R
oa

d 
(W

es
t)

 K
ey

 L
oc

al
 S

ho
pp

in
g 

C
en

tr
e.

 R
e-

de
si

gn
at

e 
 to

 
N

ei
gh

bo
ur

ho
od

 P
ar

ad
e 

(m
er

ge
 w

ith
 F

ul
ha

m
 H

ig
h 

S
tr

ee
t P

ro
te

ct
ed

 
pa

ra
de

).
 R

em
ov

e 
un

its
 7

58
-7

62
 F

ul
ha

m
 R

d.
 

A
M

17

F
ul

ha
m

 R
oa

d 
: A

dd
 p

ar
t o

f F
ul

ha
m

 R
oa

d 
pr

ot
ec

te
d 

pa
ra

de
 fr

on
ta

ge
. A

dd
 

un
its

 6
04

-6
20

 F
ul

ha
m

 R
oa

d,
  7

53
-7

63
 F

ul
ha

m
 R

oa
d,

 7
65

-7
81

 F
ul

ha
m

 
R

oa
d,

  7
83

-7
97

 F
ul

ha
m

 R
oa

d.
 R

em
ai

ns
 a

 K
ey

 L
oc

al
 C

en
tr

e.

A
M

18

P
ar

so
n’

s 
G

re
en

 K
ey

 L
oc

al
 S

ho
pp

in
g 

C
en

tr
e.

  R
e-

de
si

gn
at

e 
to

 
N

ei
gh

bo
ur

ho
od

 p
ar

ad
e 

(m
er

ge
 w

ith
 N

ew
 K

in
gs

 R
oa

d)
 

A
M

19

W
an

ds
w

or
th

 B
rid

ge
 R

oa
d 

(N
or

th
) 

K
ey

 L
oc

al
 S

ho
pp

in
g 

C
en

tr
e.

  R
e-

de
si

gn
at

e 
to

 N
ei

gh
bo

ur
ho

od
 p

ar
ad

e.
A

dd
 1

 H
az

el
bu

ry
 R

oa
d 

to
 in

cl
ud

e 
P

os
t O

ffi
ce

. 

A
M

20

W
an

ds
w

or
th

 B
rid

ge
 R

oa
d 

(S
ou

th
) 

K
ey

 L
oc

al
 S

ho
pp

in
g 

C
en

tr
e.

 R
e-

de
si

gn
at

e 
to

 N
ei

gh
bo

ur
ho

od
 p

ar
ad

e.
 A

dd
 P

os
t O

ffi
ce

 o
n 

H
ug

on
 R

d 
fr

on
ta

ge
.

A
M

21

S
ho

pp
in

g 
H

ie
ra

rc
hy

 a
m

en
de

d 
to

 in
cl

ud
e 

a 
ne

w
 k

ey
 lo

ca
l s

ho
pp

in
g 

ce
nt

re
 

at
 W

hi
te

 C
ity

. T
o 

be
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

as
 p

ar
t o

f r
eg

en
er

at
io

n.
 B

ou
nd

ar
y 

to
 b

e 
co

nf
irm

ed
 a

t a
 la

te
r 

da
te

.

T
B

C

B
ra

ck
en

bu
ry

 V
ill

ag
e.

 A
dd

 p
re

m
is

es
 in

 A
ld

en
sl

ey
 R

oa
d.

 D
es

ig
na

te
 a

s 
N

ei
gh

bo
ur

ho
od

 P
ar

ad
e.

  
A

M
22

K
in

g 
S

tr
ee

t (
H

am
le

t G
ar

de
ns

).
 A

dd
 S

ta
nd

is
h 

H
ou

se
 u

ni
ts

. R
em

ov
e 

29
4-

 
33

6 
K

in
g 

S
tr

ee
t. 

D
es

ig
na

te
 a

s 
N

ei
gh

bo
ur

ho
od

 P
ar

ad
e.

 
A

M
23

P
ro

te
ct

ed
 S

h
o

p
p

in
g

 
P

ar
ad

es
 a

n
d

 
C

lu
st

er
s

K
in

g 
S

tr
ee

t  
(R

av
en

sc
ou

rt
 P

ar
k)

. R
e-

de
si

gn
at

e 
pr

ot
ec

te
d 

pa
ra

de
 a

nd
 

R
ev

ie
w

ed
 a

s 
pa

rt
 o

f 
an

 a
m

en
de

d 
sh

op
pi

ng
 h

ie
ra

rc
hy

 
fo

r 
th

e 
bo

ro
ug

h.
 1

2 
ex

is
tin

g 
pa

ra
de

s 
to

 
U

D
P - 

12
 -

 

Page 219



D
es

ig
n

at
io

n
P

ro
p

o
se

d
 a

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 
R

ea
so

n
 f

o
r 

th
e 

M
ap

ch
an

g
e

R
ef

cl
us

te
r 

to
 S

at
el

lit
e 

P
ar

ad
e.

  
K

LS
C

10
La

ty
m

er
 C

ou
rt

, H
am

m
er

sm
ith

 R
oa

d.
  R

e-
de

si
gn

at
e 

pr
ot

ec
te

d 
pa

ra
de

 a
nd

 
cl

us
te

r 
to

 S
at

el
lit

e 
P

ar
ad

e.
 N

o 
bo

un
da

ry
 c

ha
ng

e.
  

U
D

P
K

LS
C

11
F

ul
ha

m
 P

al
ac

e 
R

oa
d 

P
ro

te
ct

ed
. R

e-
de

si
gn

at
e 

pa
ra

de
 a

nd
 c

lu
st

er
 to

 
S

at
el

lit
e 

P
ar

ad
e.

 N
o 

bo
un

da
ry

 c
ha

ng
e.

U
D

P
K

LS
C

12
M

un
st

er
 R

oa
d 

: R
en

am
e 

F
ul

ha
m

 C
ro

ss
. R

em
ov

e 
29

6-
30

0,
 3

27
-3

37
 L

ill
ie

 
R

oa
d.

 D
es

ig
na

te
 a

s 
N

ei
gh

bo
ur

ho
od

 P
ar

ad
e.

 
A

M
24

Li
lli

e 
R

oa
d 

pa
ra

de
. D

e-
de

si
gn

at
e 

U
D

P
K

LS
C

2
D

aw
es

 R
oa

d 
pa

ra
de

. D
e-

de
si

gn
at

e.
 

U
D

P
K

LS
C

3
F

ul
ha

m
 H

ig
h 

S
tr

ee
t. 

M
er

ge
 w

ith
 F

ul
ha

m
 R

oa
d 

(W
es

t)
. D

es
ig

na
te

 a
s 

N
ei

gh
bo

ur
ho

od
 P

ar
ad

e.
 

A
M

17

F
ul

ha
m

 R
oa

d.
 M

er
ge

 w
ith

 F
ul

ha
m

 R
oa

d 
K

ey
 L

oc
al

 S
ho

pp
in

g 
C

en
tr

e 
to

 
be

co
m

e 
ke

y 
lo

ca
l c

en
tr

e.
 R

em
ov

e 
62

4 
-6

46
 F

ul
ha

m
 R

oa
d 

A
M

18

N
ew

 K
in

g’
s 

R
oa

d.
  M

er
ge

 w
ith

 P
ar

so
n’

s 
G

re
en

 P
ar

ad
e 

an
d 

re
na

m
e 

P
ar

so
n’

s 
G

re
en

 N
ei

gh
bo

ur
ho

od
 P

ar
ad

e 
A

M
19

K
in

g’
s 

R
oa

d.
 D

es
ig

na
te

 a
s 

N
ei

gh
bo

ur
ho

od
 P

ar
ad

e.
 N

o 
bo

un
da

ry
 c

ha
ng

e 

be
 in

cr
ea

se
d 

to
16

 
pa

ra
de

s.

U
D

P
K

LS
C

7
T

h
am

es
 P

at
h

 
N

at
io

n
al

 T
ra

il 
Im

pe
ria

l W
ha

rf
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t. 

A
dd

 r
iv

er
w

al
k 

to
 e

xi
st

in
g 

T
ra

il.
.  

B
ou

nd
ar

y 
ch

an
ge

 
to

 r
ef

le
ct

 th
e 

ad
di

tio
n 

of
 th

is
 

se
ct

io
n 

of
 R

iv
er

w
al

k 

A
M

25

C
ro

ss
ra

il 
2 

S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

D
el

et
io

n 
of

 a
 s

ec
tio

n 
of

 th
e 

sa
fe

gu
ar

de
d 

ro
ut

ei
ng

 o
f t

he
 C

he
ls

ea
-

H
ac

kn
ey

 li
ne

 (
C

ro
ss

ra
il 

2)
 v

ia
 C

he
ls

ea
 H

ar
bo

ur
/S

an
ds

 E
nd

 
B

ou
nd

ar
y 

re
vi

ew
 to

 
ta

ke
 a

cc
ou

nt
 o

f 
sa

fe
gu

ar
di

ng
ch

an
ge

s 
by

 
C

ro
ss

ra
il

A
M

26

N
o

ti
fi

ab
le

In
st

al
la

ti
o

n
s 

(H
S

E
) 

S
w

ed
is

h 
W

ha
rf

 O
il 

F
ue

ls
 D

ep
ot

. A
dd

 to
 th

e 
N

ot
ifi

ab
le

 In
st

al
la

tio
ns

 
de

si
gn

at
io

n.
A

m
en

dm
en

t t
o 

th
e 

de
si

gn
at

io
n 

to
 ta

ke
 

ac
co

un
t o

f s
ite

s 

A
M

27 - 
13

 -
 

Page 220



D
es

ig
n

at
io

n
P

ro
p

o
se

d
 a

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 
R

ea
so

n
 f

o
r 

th
e 

M
ap

ch
an

g
e

R
ef

no
tif

ia
bl

e 
to

 th
e 

H
ea

lth
 a

nd
 S

af
et

y 
E

xe
cu

tiv
e 

(H
S

E
) 

- 
14

 -
 

Page 221



T
ab

le
 4

: 
D

es
ig

n
at

io
n

s 
to

 r
em

ai
n

 u
n

ch
an

g
ed

 

D
es

ig
n

at
io

n
C

o
m

m
en

t
M

ap
R

ef
S

id
in

g
 f

o
r 

th
e 

C
h

an
n

el
 T

u
n

n
el

 
R

ai
l L

in
k 

- 
ex

te
n

t 
o

f 
sa

fe
g

u
ar

d
in

g
 

E
ur

os
ta

r 
ha

s 
m

ov
ed

 to
 S

tr
at

fo
rd

, b
ut

 s
af

eg
ua

rd
in

g 
ha

s 
no

t b
ee

n 
fo

rm
al

ly
 li

fte
d.

 

L
o

n
g

er
 D

is
ta

n
ce

 C
an

al
-s

id
e 

W
al

k 
D

es
ig

na
tio

n 
re

m
ai

ns
 a

s 
it 

fo
rm

s 
pa

rt
 o

f t
he

 M
ay

or
 o

f L
on

do
n’

s 
B

lu
e 

rib
bo

n 
ne

tw
or

k
S

tr
at

eg
ic

 R
o

u
te

s 
N

o 
ch

an
ge

 to
 th

e 
st

at
us

 o
f t

he
 S

tr
at

eg
ic

 R
ou

te
s 

in
 th

e 
bo

ro
ug

h.
  

L
o

n
d

o
n

 D
is

tr
ib

u
to

r 
R

o
ad

s 
N

o 
ch

an
ge

 to
 th

e 
st

at
us

 o
f t

he
 L

on
do

n 
di

st
rib

ut
or

 r
oa

ds
 in

 th
e 

bo
ro

ug
h.

B
o

ro
u

g
h

 D
is

tr
ib

u
to

r 
R

o
ad

s 
N

o 
ch

an
ge

 to
 th

e 
st

at
us

 o
f t

he
 B

or
ou

gh
’s

 d
is

tr
ib

ut
or

 r
oa

ds
.

S
tr

at
eg

ic
 V

ie
w

 
R

ic
hm

on
d 

P
ar

k 
to

 S
t. 

P
au

l’s
 C

at
he

dr
al

. T
hi

s 
is

 d
es

ig
na

te
d 

un
de

r 
se

pa
ra

te
 p

ol
ic

y 
in

 th
e 

Lo
nd

on
 P

la
n.

 
V

ie
w

s 
o

f 
la

n
d

m
ar

ks
 

D
es

ig
na

tio
n 

re
m

ai
ns

 u
nc

ha
ng

ed
. 

V
ie

w
s 

fr
o

m
 b

ri
d

g
es

 
D

es
ig

na
tio

n 
re

m
ai

ns
 u

nc
ha

ng
ed

. 
S

af
eg

u
ar

d
ed

 W
h

ar
ve

s 
D

es
ig

na
te

d 
un

de
r 

se
pa

ra
te

 p
ol

ic
y 

in
 th

e 
Lo

nd
on

 P
la

n.
 

T
h

am
es

 P
o

lic
y 

A
re

a 
T

hi
s 

is
 a

 lo
ca

lly
 d

es
ig

na
te

d 
ar

ea
. T

he
re

 a
re

 n
o 

pr
op

os
al

s 
to

 c
ha

ng
e 

th
e 

de
si

gn
at

ed
 a

re
a.

  
T

o
w

n
 C

en
tr

e 
B

o
u

n
d

ar
ie

s 
D

es
ig

na
tio

n 
re

m
ai

ns
 u

nc
ha

ng
ed

.  
P

ri
m

e 
R

et
ai

l F
ro

n
ta

g
es

 
N

o 
ch

an
ge

 to
 th

e 
de

si
gn

at
ed

 fr
on

ta
ge

s.

A
rc

h
ae

o
lo

g
ic

al
 P

ri
o

ri
ty

 A
re

a 
T

he
se

 a
re

 lo
ca

lly
 d

es
ig

na
te

d 
ar

ea
s.

 N
o 

pr
op

os
al

s 
to

 c
ha

ng
e 

th
e 

de
si

gn
at

ed
 a

re
a.

 

U
D

P
 P

ro
po

sa
ls

 
M

ap
 (

20
03

) 

G
re

en
 C

o
rr

id
o

rs
D

es
ig

na
tio

n 
re

m
ai

ns
 u

nc
ha

ng
ed

 

- 
15

 -
 

Page 222



T
ab

le
 5

: 
D

es
ig

n
at

io
n

s 
d

el
et

ed
 in

 2
00

7 
“S

av
ed

 p
o

lic
ie

s 
ex

er
ci

se
” 

(f
o

r 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n
 o

n
ly

) 

D
es

ig
n

at
io

n
P

ro
p

o
se

d
 d

el
et

io
n

s 
R

ea
so

n
 f

o
r 

th
e 

ch
an

g
es

M
ap

R
ef

E
m

p
lo

ym
en

t 
zo

n
es

 
E

m
pl

oy
m

en
t Z

on
es

 in
 th

e 
bo

ro
ug

h 

S
ite

 1
9 

F
ul

ha
m

 F
oo

tb
al

l G
ro

un
d 

S
ite

 5
5 

Li
m

e 
G

ro
ve

 1
0-

12
.

S
ite

 6
3A

 C
oo

m
er

 P
la

ce
 (

so
ut

hs
id

e)
 (

In
se

t A
) 

S
ite

 6
3B

 C
oo

m
er

 P
la

ce
 (

no
rt

hs
id

e)
 (

in
se

t A
) 

S
ite

 6
5 

D
u 

C
an

e 
R

oa
d.

. 
S

ite
 A

 R
iv

er
si

de
 In

du
st

ry
 B

lo
ck

 (
A

lb
er

t, 
S

w
ed

is
h 

an
d 

C
om

le
ys

 a
nd

 
F

ul
ha

m
 W

ha
rv

es
 in

 T
ow

nm
ea

d 
R

oa
d)

.. 
S

ite
 B

 C
ar

nw
at

h 
ro

ad
 W

ha
rv

es
 (

H
ur

lin
gh

am
 a

nd
 W

hi
ffe

n)
.  

S
ite

 C
 F

or
m

er
 B

T
 T

el
ep

ho
ne

 E
xc

ha
ng

e 
C

ar
 P

ar
k,

 T
ha

xt
on

 R
oa

d/
N

or
th

 
E

nd
 R

oa
d 

(I
ns

et
 A

) 
S

ite
 E

 F
ul

ha
m

 Is
la

nd
 S

ite
 (

In
se

t A
) 

S
ite

 G
 W

im
pe

ys
, 2

6-
28

 H
am

m
er

sm
ith

 G
ro

ve
 (

In
se

t c
) 

S
ite

 H
 A

40
/S

av
oy

 B
in

go
 C

lu
b 

V
ac

an
t L

an
d.

  
S

ite
 I 

Q
ue

en
 C

ha
rlo

tte
’s

 H
os

pi
ta

l. 
7.

 

S
it

e 
P

ro
p

o
sa

ls
 

R
em

ov
al

 o
f S

ite
 J

 3
92

-3
98

 U
xb

rid
ge

 R
oa

d.

D
es

ig
na

tio
ns

 
ex

pi
re

d 
as

 p
ar

t o
f 

th
e 

U
D

P
 s

av
ed

 
po

lic
ie

s 
ex

er
ci

se
 

in
 2

00
7 

U
D

P
P

ro
po

sa
ls

 M
ap

 
(2

00
3) - 
16

 -
 

Page 223



Page 224



Page 225



Page 226



Page 227



Page 228



Page 229



Page 230



Page 231



Page 232



Page 233



Page 234



Page 235



Page 236



Page 237



Page 238



Page 239



Page 240



Page 241



Page 242



Page 243



Page 244



Page 245



Page 246



Page 247



Page 248



Page 249



Page 250



Page 251



Page 252



Page 253



Page 254



Page 255



Page 256



Page 257



Page 258



Page 259



Page 260



Page 261



Page 262



Page 263



Page 264



0208 753 3317

0208 753 3317

0208 753 3317

0208 753 3317

0208 753 3317

0208 753 3317

0208 753 3317

0208 753 3317

0208 753 3317

0208 753 3317

0208 753 3317

0208 753 3317

0208 753 3317

0208 753 3317 Page 265



 
 
SPECIAL MOTION NO. 1 – RESOLUTION BUILDING SCHOOLS FOR THE FUTURE 
URGENT 
 
 
 
Standing in the names of: 
 
 (i) Councillor Caroline Needham 
 
 (ii) Councillor Elaine Chumnery 
 
 
 

“Labour Councillors note the devastating impact to Hammersmith and Fulham of the 
withdrawal of Building Schools for the Future Funding and calls on the Administration to 
use its influence with Central Government to restore money to implement a 
comprehensive building programme to enable schools to provide accommodation fit for 
purpose to enhance the life chances of all children at school within our Borough.” 
 

 
 

Agenda Item 6.1

Page 266



 
 
SPECIAL MOTION NO. 2 – THRESHOLD HOUSING ADVICE 
 
 
 
Standing in the names of: 
 
 (i) Councillor Stephen Cowan 
 
 (ii) Councillor Andrew Jones 
 
 
"This Council regrets the likely closure of Threshold Housing Advice following the 
cancelation of its funding and notes that it has been helping homeless people in this 
Borough since 1978.  
 
The Council recognizes the public service Threshold accomplished when it challenged 
the treatment of Ms. K and caused the Ombudsman to find the London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham to have been in Maladministration. The Council notes that 
Threshold was also challenging the Council on two further cases while the organizations 
funding was under review.  
 
This Council believes that it would be detrimental to homeless people for Threshold 
Housing Advice to disappear from Hammersmith and Fulham and agrees to immediately 
reinstate Council funding.” 
 
  
 
 

Agenda Item 6.2

Page 267



 
 
SPECIAL MOTION NO. 3 – WHITE CITY HEALTH CENTRE 
 
 
 
Standing in the names of: 
 
 (i) Councillor Rory Vaughan 
 
 (ii) Councillor Colin Aherne 
 
 
"This Council calls on the government to confirm funding for the White City Health Centre 
and agrees to do all it can to speed up the completion of this important service for the 
people of Shepherds Bush and White City.” 
 
  
 
 

Agenda Item 6.3

Page 268


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	5.1 Local Development Framework: Proposed Submission Core Strategy
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	6.1 Special Motion 1 - Resolution Building Schools for the Future Urgent
	6.2 Special Motion 2 - Threshold Housing Advice
	6.3 Special Motion 3 - White City Health Centre

